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The German-American Bund of the 1930s 
was only one of several hundred Nazi 
organizations outside Germany dedicated to 
spreading propaganda and winning foreign 
followers to the Hitler program. Directed by 
the Auslands-Organisation (AO) in Berlin, 
they helped promote the spectre of a world¬ 
wide Nazi conspiracy. 

In this detailed study of the AO, Dr. 
McKale traces its development from an 
obscure party agency in 1931 to an ambitious 
organization six years later that rivalled the 
Foreign Ministry. A key figure in the story is 
Wilhelm Bohle, and through his advancement 
to head of the organization by political 
manipulation, his position in the murky world 
of Nazi internal politics, and his trial at 
Nuremberg we see the inner workings of not 
only this organization but of the structure of 
Nazi power itself. 

Ironically, as McKale’s analysis indicates, 
in this as in many other instances the Nazis 
were often their own worst enemies. Some¬ 
times working at cross purposes to the 
Foreign Office, carried away by local enthu¬ 
siasms, frequently lacking guidance from the 
home office, subject to the internal power 
struggle of those seeking to gain Hitler’s 
favor, the foreign groups as often as not ended 
up alienating the very people the diplomatic 
corps was trying to woo. Not only was the 
blatant racism and bombastic political agita¬ 
tion an affront to many, but it helped solidify 
opposition to Germany as the Wardrew near. 

Digging deep into Nazi Party records, 
McKale’s study contributes to the demythifi- 
cation of the Nazi monolith. Far from being a 
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PREFACE 

This book deals with the origins and activities of Nazi 

party organizations formed in many countries in the 1930s by Ger¬ 

man Nazis. Small as they were, the party groups received much 

attention from the foreign press and political leaders who were 

convinced that the groups in the United States, Latin America, 

and elsewhere were a serious menace to freedom and democracy.1 

Their story, which can now be told from captured German records, 

makes a contribution to the study of the diplomacy of totalitarian 

regimes and the effort of Adolf Hitler’s Nazi movement to organize 

the thirty million racial Germans living outside Germany for his 

aggressive foreign policy. The rationale for the groups centered 

around the Nazis’ conviction that blood and race made foreign 

Germans natural allies of Hitler, particularly if the Germans were 

educated in the volkisch ideology of National Socialism and en¬ 

couraged to back Hitler. Once he took over the German govern¬ 

ment in 1933, the groups also developed from the belief of certain 

Nazi officials like Rudolf Hess that the party must dominate German 

diplomacy.2 

The following pages reveal more extensive action on the part of 

the Nazis in foreign lands than has commonly been assumed. The 

success of their groups abroad was, however, largely minimal. The 

branches found it impossible to turn German neighborhoods and 

communities in foreign countries into miniature Third Reichs. In 

their zeal to nazify foreign Germans and spread Hitler’s gospel of 

authoritarianism, anti-Semitism, anti-Communism, and anti¬ 

liberalism, they encountered obstacles unknown to Nazis in Ger¬ 

many—differing cultures, life styles, political systems, and moral 
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values. In most instances the Nazis found themselves alienated 

from their milieu, but they refused to adjust their objectives or 

modify their practices accordingly. The consequences were the 

banishment of the Nazi party from many countries by 1939 and the 

arrest of party members in neutral nations during World War II. 

But the failure of the foreign party organizations should not be a 

reason for ignoring them. Although they never came close to domi¬ 

nating German diplomacy or foreign Germans, their story illustrates 

what can happen when extremist and irresponsible elements claim 

control of a government. Their experience is yet another sad re¬ 

minder of the Nazi folly of basing Germany’s foreign relations 

solely on the ideas of race and power.3 

Analyzing these foreign Nazi branches involves the pitfall of over¬ 

emphasizing their significance in German foreign policy. Hans Nie- 

land and Ernst Wilhelm Bohle, the leaders of the central party 

agency in Germany entrusted with the directing of the groups, 

were never confidants of Hitler. Nor did they enjoy authority among 

elite Nazis like Himmler, Bormann, Goebbels, Goring, and Ribben- 

trop. The party affiliates abroad never determined foreign policy. 

This was done by Hitler, his foreign ministers and advisers, and 

professional diplomats of the German Foreign Ministry.4 The func¬ 

tion of the groups was to carry out what they believed was the 

desire of Hitler and his party for foreign Germans. But while Hitler 

rarely took the branches seriously as a mechanism of foreign policy, 

the groups’ leaders outside Germany viewed their work as crucial 

to the Reich. Often, they acted without the approval of Bohle or 

Nieland, which meant that the groups were hardly the monolithic 

apparatus their foreign critics claimed them to be. 

They also revealed a basic flaw in Hitler’s regime: it rewarded 

blind dedication and suppressed initiative and compromise. Time 

and again the groups’ meddling in the affairs of foreign countries 

and their blundering activities undermined Germany’s reputation, 

yet the Nazis equated this with devotion to Hitler and Germany. 

What is amazing about the groups is the support (and even reward) 

given by leaders in Germany to the incompetency that dominated 

much of their work. The more they were opposed abroad, the more 

praise they received in Germany. Each foreign reaction against the 

branches fed the belief of Hitler, Hess, Bohle, and other Nazi 

officials that Germans were persecuted by the world and that there 

existed a global conspiracy of Jews, Communists, and “liberals” 
to destroy the German race. 



PREFACE XI 

I wish to clarify the citations in the book that include newspapers 

and original documents I have used. Purposely, I cited full titles 

of newspaper articles where 1 felt such citations would be useful 

evidence in themselves. The same inconsistency is present in the 

citing of primary source materials (for example, letters, orders, 

and other correspondence of the Nazi party, German cultural 

agencies, and German Foreign Ministry). Some valuable documents 

stated the subject of their contents, and in such cases I have given 

the original statements of subject as they appeared in letters or 

official directives. When noting microfilm collections, which form the 

bulk of the evidence for the study, I have listed the microcopy, roll, 

and (where possible) frame or folder numbers. 
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1 
INTRODUCTION: EARLY ORIGINS OF 
THE NAZI PARTY IN 

FOREIGN COUNTRIES 

“Smash Hitler’s International!” This battle cry of a group 

of concerned Americans in 1941 was aimed at alerting the United 

States that Hitler’s war machine in Europe was about to be un¬ 

leashed on America. The frightening prophecy was soon to become a 

reality.1 Those voicing the warning believed with many people that 

Hitler possessed a political and military organization (i.e., a Nazi 

International) that would destroy whatever its lord and master 

commanded. Since January 1933, when Hitler was named German 

Chancellor and his National Socialist German Workers’ Party 

(Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeiterpartei, or NSDAP) be¬ 

gan its takeover of the Weimar government, the world had been 

conditioned by his Propaganda Minister, Joseph Goebbels, to be¬ 

lieve this view of the Third Reich. The belief was further strength¬ 

ened by Hitler’s rapid consolidation Of his regime in Germany, his 

bringing a sudden and shocking diplomatic revolution to Europe in 

the 1930s, and his quick victories during the early months of World 

War II. 
Still another source for this view of Nazi Germany was the ar¬ 

senal of agencies Hitler employed in his plans for world conquest. 

This study focuses on one of those institutions, the Nazi party’s 

Foreign Organization (Auslands-Organisation, or AO), and its cre¬ 

ation in the 1930s of a network of small and boisterous Nazi 

groups outside Germany. 
An analysis of any agency of Nazi foreign activity must begin with 

a summary of the attitudes held by Hitler and his party on foreign 

affairs. His ideas had been securely formed before his appointment 

in 1933. During the 1920s, as the NSDAP struggled to become a 
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prominent force in German politics, the movement included several 

factions—ranging from the so-called “Wilhelmine imperialists” 

through the “agrarian radicals” to the “revolutionary socialists” 

—which entertained different positions on foreign policy. All, 

however, shared a common goal in that they attempted to gain in¬ 

fluence in shaping Hitler’s ideas. 
The imperialists were mainly officers from the Wilhelmine Reich 

who urged Germany’s expansion overseas to win back the colonies 

in Africa and islands in the Pacific Ocean that Germany had lost 

by the Versailles Treaty in 1919. The socialist faction, eliminated 

from the party by the summer of 1930, held several views on for¬ 

eign affairs that differed from Hitler’s. Although the socialists re¬ 

jected colonialism and supported an attempt by Germany to find 

Lebensraum (“living space”) in central Europe, they were anti- 

Western and anti-British, and their bias lay towards the east and 

Russia. Cooperation with Russia, it was hoped, would enable Ger¬ 

many to assert her claims against the West and to revise the hated 

Versailles Treaty. 

The group nearest Hitler was the agrarian radicals, who emerged 

after 1930. They were committed to Nazi racial theories and to the 

party’s worship of German “blood and soil”; they argued that, to 

keep the German race pure, the future of Germany did not lie in 

capturing overseas colonies, but in the conquest of land in eastern 

Europe and Russia. Stressing racism and power politics, the agrar¬ 

ians pushed for Germany to ally with England to enable the Reich to 

conquer the living space in eastern Europe that was necessary for 

the settlement of German peasants and for the racial preservation 
of the German people.2 

Before 1933, Hitler’s ideas too centered on the doctrines of race 

and living space. In Mein Kampf (1925) and in his later and less 

publicized writings (which were little more than chapters from his 

memoir published separately), Die Siidtiroler Frage und das 

deutsche Biindnisproblem (1926), Der Weg zum Wiederaufstieg 

(1927), and Hitlers zweites Buck (1928), he discussed the corner¬ 

stones of his foreign policy: anti-Semitism, anti-Bolshevism, and 

conquest of Lebensraum in the east.3 By renouncing colonies over¬ 

seas and Germany’s claims to the South Tirol, he hoped to purchase 

the support of Britain and Italy for his overrunning of Europe and 

Russia, and for his later conflict with the United States over world 

supremacy. According to his racial plan, the German people were 

to be bred into a superior, Germanic elite, and the struggle for 
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world power could only end in a German triumph and in the fulfill¬ 
ment of the racial purpose of world history.4 

Nazi foreign activity after 1933 was pursued in two separate di¬ 

rections: the orthodox channels of intergovernmental diplomacy 

represented by the German Foreign Ministry (Auswartiges Amt, or 

A A), and the propaganda and subversive work of the Nazi party 

among Germans outside the Reich and among native fascist or 

Nazi-like movements in many countries. The basic goal was always 

to increase Germany’s influence around the world. The many agen¬ 

cies operated or controlled by the NSDAP that were involved 

abroad included the AO, the party’s Foreign Policy Office (Aus- 

senpolitisches Amt, or APA), the Dienststelle Ribbentrop, the 

German Foreign Institute (Deutsches Auslands-Institut, or DAI) 

as well as the League for Germandom Abroad (Volksbund fur das 

Deutschtum im Ausland, or VDA) in Stuttgart, and the Volks- 

deutsche Mittelstelle (VoMi), the central agency of Hitler’s elite 

guard (Schutzstaffel, or SS) for dealing with persons of German de¬ 
scent outside Germany.5 

As this study will illustrate, the dualism between the diplomatic 

service and NSDAP resulted in a lack of unity in German foreign 

policy, and in opposition among the party’s leaders abroad and 

German diplomats. It also lessened the power of the Auswartiges 

Amt, whose aristocratic tradition and professionalism were de¬ 

spised by Hitler and prompted him to call the Ministry an “intellec¬ 

tual garbage dump.” The independence of the AA was attacked 

after 1933 by party leaders like Goebbels, Rudolf Hess, Alfred 

Rosenberg, Martin Bormann, and Heinrich Himmler, and the Min¬ 

istry was forced to compete with the AO and the other agencies 

mentioned above. Even Joachim von Ribbentrop, on becoming 

Foreign Minister in 1938, employed the AA as a private or personal 

apparatus along with his Dienststelle.6 

Particularly after 1933, when Rosenberg had eliminated himself 

as the party’s candidate to head the AA, Hess and Goebbels viewed 

the AO as a weapon for “coordinating” the Ministry and filling 

it with loyal National Socialists. As the AO expanded to include 

several hundred small affiliates abroad, which clashed with the 

AA’s foreign missions, Hess and the German Foreign Minister, 

Constantin von Neurath, convinced Hitler to bring some unity to 

the party-state dichotomy by placing Ernst Wilhelm Bohle, head of 

the AO after May 1933, in the Ministry. But while Bohle worked 

hard to have party men appointed to the AA and while he was able 
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to make a few of his AO leaders abroad consuls or attaches, he 

failed to “nazify” the Ministry. He maintained to foreign govern¬ 

ments that were suspicious of the AO that the NSDAP had little 

interest in the Foreign Ministry or its missions. Yet his assurances 

were hardly the truth. He explained to another party leader in 1941 

that the cloaking of AO officials abroad with diplomatic titles (which 

had begun in 1936) was to enable such functionaries “to accom¬ 

plish” their “activity for the NSDAP under the protection of [diplo¬ 

matic] extraterritoriality.” In fact, he added, uniting party and dip¬ 

lomatic offices abroad was only “a camouflaging in the interest of 

performing party work.”7 

On the other hand, the view that the AA was reduced by the 

Nazis to impotence, as asserted by two of Hitler’s diplomats, Franz 

von Papen (the former Chancellor and the Ambassador to Austria 

and Turkey) and Ulrich von Hassell (the Ambassador to Italy), is 

untrue. Intrusions by the party caused frequent conflicts and con¬ 

fusion, but the basic apparatus of diplomacy (including the AA’s 

career personnel) remained intact; the embassies and consulates 

continued to perform their normal functions, and dispatches, recom¬ 

mendations, and instructions flowed to and from the AA’s head¬ 

quarters in Berlin. The confusion, the duplication of effort, and the 

ideological interference certainly contributed to the problems of 

the diplomats, yet their role was not destroyed and the day-to-day 

routine of the AA was not impaired. The Ministry remained a sig¬ 

nificant agency of German foreign policy.8 

Control of foreign Germans was the principal source of competi¬ 

tion and friction among the National Socialists and the AA. By 

1930 approximately thirty million Germans (i.e., German citizens 

or Reichsdeutscheri) and those of German descent who were citi¬ 

zens of foreign countries (Volksdeutschen) lived outside Germany. 

Technically, according to Nazi usage, such terms carried racial 

implications. Reichsdeutscheri were German nationals “residing in 

the Reich,” while Volksdeutschen were “Germans by race of foreign 

citizenship” and were a “racial elite” allegedly “enjoying privileges 

of German citizens.” The National Socialists, when discussing for¬ 

eign Germans, also employed the term Auslandsdeutschen, which 
meant “German nationals residing abroad.”9 

Large German minorities existed in eastern Europe, particularly 

in Poland and Czechoslovakia (parts of which had formerly belonged 

to Germany), and in many countries outside Europe Germans lived 

together in closely-knit communities (or colonies) that had devel- 
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oped since the middle of the nineteenth century. Large colonies, 
for example, had sprouted in southern Brazil, Argentina, South 
Africa, Egypt, and parts of the Far East (namely China, Japan, 
Australia, and Netherlands East Indies), where emigrant German 
farmers and businessmen had not been assimilated into the foreign 
cultures. Divided after World War I into supporters of the German 
monarchy and followers of the Weimar Republic, these self-con¬ 
tained colonies were nonpolitical in nature and were designed to 
preserve the cultural heritage of the Fatherland and to further the 
economic interests of foreign Germans. 

The colonies were not only proud of their private German schools 
{Deutsche Schule), but also of their sports groups, book clubs, 
women’s societies, youth organizations, and chambers of Com¬ 
merce.10 Each colony was incorporated according to the laws of its 
resident country, and most were operated by elected chairmen and 
executive committees. Such democratic principles were to be at¬ 
tacked after 1933 by the NSDAP and its foreign groups, which 
hoped to establish in the colonies an administration based on the 
party’s authoritarian maxim of organization, the Fiihrerprinzip 
(“leader principle”). 

The unofficial head of each colony was its local German consul 
or diplomatic representative, who often addressed his colony to 
celebrate a national holiday and invited it to be his guest in the 
mission building. An example was the arrival in London in Novem¬ 
ber 1925 of Gustav Stresemann, the German Foreign Minister, to 
sign the Locarno Pact between Germany, England, and France. 
Conclusion of the agreement, which guaranteed Germany’s western 
borders and allowed her to negotiate as an equal with the other 
European powers for the first time sihce World War I, was a mo¬ 
mentous occasion, and the German Embassy in London invited the 
local German community to a reception.11 

The Weimar government attempted wherever possible to estab¬ 
lish close ties with the colonies and to aid them in retaining their 
cultural identity. After Germany’s entry into the League of Nations 
in 1926, Stresemann became the champion of European minorities 
in the world body. Through his controversial “minorities diplomacy” 
(Minderheitenpolitik), he was able to call world attention to the 
problems of German communities in eastern Europe (particularly 
Poland) and to secure certain concessions for them. The German 
government also utilized the foreign communities for Germany’s 
political and economic advantage. Although it did not use the small 
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groups of German settlers in such areas as the Near East, it cared 

for communities that were being recreated in China after World 

War I. Following the German inflation of 1922 and 1923, a large 
number of Germans emigrated to China, finding considerable work 

with American industry and escaping worthless paper mark salaries. 

Accordingly, Berlin contributed to the re-establishment of the col¬ 

onies in the Far East by subsidizing German schools, churches, 

and newspapers. Moreover, although treaties between Germany 

and China in 1921 and 1924 made German citizens in China sub¬ 

ject to Chinese law, the Weimar regime tried to give as much legal 

protection as possible to its nationals there. 

The movement of Germans to China was not unusual; many also 

left the Weimar Republic and settled in the United States and Fat- 

in America. Between 1919 and 1933, for instance, roughly 430,000 

Germans arrived in the United States. Alienated by inflation, civil 

strife, political murders, chronic unemployment, and political 

factionalism at home, disillusioned proletarians and recently prole- 

tarianized elements of the middle class dreamed of finding a bet¬ 
ter life elsewhere. Not every German who emigrated to America 

or other foreign lands, however, was looking for a place to live 

permanently. Some were “self-proclaimed emigres” who hated the 

Republic, others were right-wing nationalists or members of Hitler’s 

movement, and still others hoped to raise money for German 

causes.13 

In addition to the German government, foreign Germans during 

the Weimar period were administered by two large cultural agen¬ 

cies in Stuttgart, the German Foreign Institute and the Teague for 

Germandom Abroad. The Institute, with its massive research facil¬ 

ities and library on foreign Deutschtum (translated variously as 

“Germandom,” “Germanism,” or “Germanness”), focused its at¬ 

tention on cultural Germanism abroad and concerned itself with 

preserving the German language and way of life among foreign 

German communities. But some of the more important studies on 

Germanism during the 1920s were written for the Institute by writ¬ 

ers whose emphasis on Deutschtum was toward volkisch solidarity 

among foreign Germans rather than on culture and ethnicity. Such 

persons, perhaps unwittingly, contributed to the later Nazi trans¬ 

formation of the meaning of Deutschtum into a racial and political 

concept.14 They also developed an ethnic vocabulary to describe 

the various classifications of Germans outside the Reich; these 

terms (Reichsdeutsche, Volksdeutsche, Auslandsdeutsche) were to 
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be used extensively after 1933 by the AO and its party branches 

abroad, and when the National Socialists seized power, these too 
took on distinct racial overtones. 

Thus, the fanatical concern of the NSDAP for foreign Germans 

was in part a continuation of German tradition. On the other hand, 

the National Socialists sought to disassociate themselves com¬ 

pletely from the policies of the Weimar government, and they re¬ 

peatedly asserted that their predecessor had paid little official atten¬ 

tion to Germans outside the Reich. Shortly after Hitler became 

Chancellor, his Deputy Ftihrer, Hess, remarked to an audience, 

“You know as well as I that the greatest mistake of the former 

regime was its refusal to keep up ties of blood which connect the 

Germans in their homeland with Germans abroad.” Bohle argued 

that under the Wilhelmine and Weimar regimes there had “existed 

such a massive gulf separating the foreign Germans and the native 

people, that one could rightly speak of a foreign German tragedy.”15 

Hitler, Hess, and Bohle believed that it was Germany’s mission 

to unify the thirty million Germans outside the Reich into a world¬ 

wide German Volksgemeinschaft (“racial community”); or, as Bohle 

stressed, to mold “foreign Germandom” into “a racial community 

in the sense of the Third Reich.”16 In his few foreign policy ad¬ 

dresses dealing with Germans abroad. Hitler revealed the broad 

interpretation and volkisch character which the Nazis applied to 

them by lumping them together under the term “foreign German¬ 

dom” (Auslandsdeutschtum). Although this word was also utilized 

in the 1920s by Deutschtum theorists, in Hitler’s view it meant the 

superiority of blood ties to political or state ties among Germans 

abroad. Nazi theorists were indeed bjunt on this point. Waldemar 

Darner’s Unsere Briider jenseits aer Grenzen (probably 1938), 

explained that Auslandsdeutschen were “all [persons] of German 

blood who are conscious of being German, and who possess German 

citizenship.”17 Like Hitler, Bohle’s interpretation was equally broad 

and confusing for the outside world. Speaking to a group of leaders 

from his party organizations around the world who were assembled 

at the Nazi party rally in Nuremberg in 1934, he bewildered even 

his listeners when he announced that all “Auslandsdeutschen are 

National Socialists!” On another occasion, he remarked that 

Auslandsdeutschen were persons “who think German and feel Ger¬ 

man.”18 
The Nazis, just as they became obsessed with saving the Reich’s 

Germanic population, were determined to preserve the persons of 
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German descent living abroad from the anti-German “conspiracy” 

of world Jewry, Communism, and liberalism. Moreover, the Nazi 

groups outside Germany were created as bases from which the 

historic struggle against the alleged plot could be carried on world¬ 

wide. The Jew, Nazi officials firmly believed, was out to enslave 

the world’s Aryan population; thus, it was crucial in fighting such 

a menace to confront it not only in Germany but throughout the 

world. 
In addition to supporting Nazi racism, the groups abroad func¬ 

tioned as instruments of German expansion. After 1934 the AO 

created party organizations (comprised mainly of German citizens) 

in Austria, Poland, and Czechoslovakia, and their propaganda, 

political agitation, and economic work among local Germans were 

aimed at building strong Pan German movements in each coun¬ 

try.19 The objective was the same as Hitler’s more noted diplomatic 

and military tactics; the party branches, despite their small size 

and limited significance, were to help push forward the day when 

eastern Europe would lie in National Socialist hands and when the 

German minorities there would become a part of a “Greater Ger¬ 

man Reich.” 

What was disturbing to world leaders was that such activities 

were scarcely limited to Poland and the small democracies on 

Germany’s eastern border. Nazi groups in the Latin American 

countries, the United States, the former German Southwest Africa, 

and the British dominion, the Union of South Africa, alarmed 

many foreign officials. Already in November 1934 the American 

Ambassador to Germany, William Dodd, informed his government, 

“It is not improbable that a guiding principle which is present in 

this constant agitation [of the AO] is political—to protect Germany 

in case of future war and to further her prestige and possible 

territorial expansion.” Four years later Cordell Hull, the American 

Secretary of State, warned that “the [German] danger to the West¬ 

ern Hemisphere is real and imminent.”20 

Although the NSDAP initially formed its foreign affiliates in the 

spring of 1931, their ideological origins lay much earlier in the 

party’s history. Foreign Germandom had already caught the eye of 

the extreme right-wing party in Munich in February 1920. The offi¬ 

cial program of the party, drafted partially by Hitler, made little 

distinction between German citizens and Volksdeutschen. While the 

party’s racial ideology was not yet fully developed, the program 

nevertheless suggested the volatile ethnic nationalism that was 
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later to stamp Hitler’s Reich and its aggressiveness toward foreign 

Germans. The program demanded “the consolidation of all Ger¬ 

mans . . . into a Greater Germany,” and it maintained that “every 

citizen of the [German] State” must live “for the usefulness of all” 
the people.21 

Hitler won full control over the NSDAP in July 1921, and prior 

to his abortive Putsch in Munich two years later, when he attempted 

to strike down the Weimar democracy with his semi-militarized 

and brown-shirted “storm troopers” (Sturmabteilung, or SA), he 

mentioned little in public about foreign policy and foreign Germans. 

His attention was riveted solely on seizing power at home and 

making himself the lord of Germany. But following his Putsch and 

resulting imprisonment, his philosophy matured into the racial and 

nationalist principles that were to become the basis of his party’s 

later efforts to organize Germandom on a worldwide scale.22 

Just as his thoughts on foreign affairs were developed signifi¬ 

cantly in the pages of Mein Kampf, so were his attitudes toward 

world Germandom and toward its role in his future Reich.23 “As 

a State,” he remarked, his Empire would have to include “all 

Germans,” because it was only by unifying the world’s Germans 

that his historic mission could be accomplished. His great task was 

“assembling and preserving the most valuable racial elements of 

this nation [Germany]” and “raising them gradually and securely to 

a ruling position” in the world.24 This radical stress on a racially- 

oriented foreign policy, the aims of which included disseminating 

Germandom abroad and establishing its supremacy among the other 

races of the world, was further acknowledged by Hitler in 1928. 

The foreign policy of the NSDAP, l>e argued, would know “no 

Germanizing or Teutonizing . . . but only the spread of its own 

people.” Moreover, the party’s “national conception” was “not 

determined by former patriotic ideas of government, but rather by 

volkisch racial views.”25 
Some Nazi ideologues were even more explicit about the party’s 

concept that it was blood and race that would tie Germans around 

the world to a common destiny under Hitler. In Nitz Volker’s 

Unser Grenz- und Auslanddeutschtum (published in 1931 by the 

party press in Munich), it was maintained that Hitler’s birth out¬ 

side the Reich was a “warning” that the future Nazi racial community 

would include more than simply Germany. Volker argued that for 

“all who are of German blood, we demand the right of sovereignty 

of peoples, and we renounce therefore no Germans, whether in 
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the South Tirol or in North Schleswig, in the West or in the East.” 

Bohle, in a speech commemorating Hitler’s birthday in 1944, ex¬ 

plained that for Germans there was “no greater sin than the 

voluntary relinquishing of German blood.” To justify the wooing 

of foreign Germans by the AO, he maintained: “Thus we firmly 
believe and we know that a German is everywhere a German, 

whether he lives in the Reich, in Africa, in Denmark or in China 

or elsewhere in this world. Not countries or continents, not climate 

or environment, but blood and race decide the thoughts and the 

obligations of Germans.”26 

Nazi policy toward foreign Germandom was not aimed at turn¬ 

ing foreign peoples into Germans, but instead, as Hitler explained 

publicly, making loyal National Socialists out of persons “who be¬ 

long to our people, who are of our blood, and who speak our 

language.”27 His ideas had been stimulated by Germany’s crushing 

defeat in World War I and his persistent feeling that Germans had 

been discriminated against by the rest of the world following the 

war. He and his followers were convinced that Germans abroad 

had been so little cared for by the Kaiser’s government that they 

had failed to support the Reich fully during the conflict. In a sense, 

when foreign Germans were accused by the National Socialists 

and other right-wing extremists in Germany of being disloyal to 

the Fatherland in the war, they were being cast by the rightists 

into that unfortunate class of Germans who had allegedly “stabbed 

the Reich in the back” in 1918. Obviously the Nazis did not relish 

a repetition of such behavior; consequently, when they seized 

power in Germany in 1933, they worked through the Auslands- 

Organisation and its affiliates abroad to “coordinate” foreign Ger¬ 

mandom, hoping thereby to assure Hitler of its support.28 

Hess and Bohle were also quick to tie the concept of “class 

struggle” to the NSDAP’s efforts to organize foreign Germans. 

As the party stressed, one of its chief concerns at home was to 

replace the Weimar Republic, which was torn by deep conflicts, 

with a Volksgemeinschaft united by German blood and a fanatical 

loyalty of the people to their superman Fiihrer, Hitler. The Nazis 

further believed that foreign Germans were threatened by Com¬ 

munist-inspired political differences and social antagonisms. How 

else could one explain why German communities abroad were 

structured along democratic lines, why they seemed to hold little 

respect for the Weimar regime or Fatherland, and why many were 

split between monarchists and republicans? According to Bohle, 
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testifying at his trial in Nuremberg in 1948, “whenever three or 

four Germans get together they think they must form some sort of 

a society or club, and the chief object of these societies seemed 

to be to fight one another, thereby forgetting altogether the ques¬ 
tion of national patriotism as such.”29 

If the theoretical foundations were present in National Socialism 
to encourage its interest in foreign Germans, the NSDAP was slow 

in realizing the value of such a resource for the party. From its 

inception it paid scant attention to Germans abroad. Except for 

the creation in 1927 and 1928 of party organizations and storm 

trooper units in Austria, Poland, and the Sudetenland in Czecho¬ 

slovakia,30 it made little effort to mobilize Nazi members and 

Reich citizens abroad until 1931. The party was deeply involved in 

its quest to overthrow the German government and capture the 

latter for itself. Throughout its short history its energies had been 
focused on putting Hitler into power. 

Progress toward this coveted goal was difficult and slow, however; 

in the Reichstag (“national legislature”) elections of May 1928, 

the NSDAP received a disappointing 2.6 percent of the national 

vote and placed only twelve deputies in the assembly. Hitler, ranting 

against the Treaty of Versailles and emphasizing the doctrines of 

race and Lebensraum, formulated little on foreign affairs that he 

had not already discussed in Mein Kampf31 The party reflected 

his overriding concern to conquer Germany; its money, for ex¬ 

ample, went almost exclusively for propaganda and for building its 

organizational apparatus inside the Reich.32 

Its initial interest in foreign Germans came from individual party 

members abroad and from Gregor Sjrasser, the organization chief 

of the NSDAP and second in line to Hitler. Following the dismal 

showing of the party in the Reichstag election in 1928, Strasser 

became head of an office in the NSDAP’s national leadership 

(Reichsleitung) in Munich, which handled foreign press and or¬ 

ganizational matters. He was also named the special expert on 

foreign affairs in the Nazi Reichstag fraction. Beyond Strasser, 

the party’s pseudoforeign service in the 1920s included Rosenberg, 

Kurt Ludecke, and Ernst (Putzi) Hanfstaengl, each having a degree 

of influence on Hitler’s foreign policy ideas. 
Although the NSDAP’s interest in foreign German communities 

was to reach its peak in 1933 and 1934, its efforts to penetrate 

them began sporadically and much earlier at the instigation of 

individual party members. Dedicated members who left Germany 
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in the 1920s because of political frustrations with the Weimar 

regime or to escape the authorities often attempted to organize 

the particular colony in their local area by recruiting Reich citizens 

for party membership. Wherever they could discover “political 

friends” (Gesinnungsgenossen), they formed small groups that 

concerned themselves with publicizing Hitler to foreign Germans 

and with contacting offices of the NSDAP in Germany.34 A willing¬ 

ness of foreign party members to act independently of the NSDAP 

was therefore revealed early, as some members interpreted the 

party’s aims as they saw fit (i.e., without orders from Germany). 

Such behavior was to manifest itself throughout the party’s history 

abroad. 
The earliest activity among foreign Nazi members developed in 

the Americas, South Africa, and China. In Latin America, nearly 

1.5 million persons of German descent and roughly 180,000 Reich 

citizens lived chiefly in southern Brazil, Argentina (especially in 

Buenos Aires), Chile, Paraguay, and Uruguay. Particularly alarm¬ 

ing to the Latin Americans was the refusal of the German settlers 

to be assimilated fully into the Latin way of life. Not only did the 

Germans reveal a strong national loyalty to their original homeland, 

but they held steadfastly to the German language in everyday 

speech, and they formed compact and isolated settlements that 

possessed their own cultural organizations. In many instances this 

strong cultural and political attachment to the Fatherland conflicted 

with (and even displaced) similar feelings felt for the local Latin 
American nation.35 

Such conflicts were slowly sharpened with the arrival of fanatical 

members of the NSDAP. Groups of Nazi members in Brazil and 

Paraguay first developed ties with the Munich Reichsleitung in 

1928. In July Hans Asanger, a doctor in Benedito Timbo in south¬ 

ern Brazil, created what the NSDAP later called its first Ortsgruppe 

(“local group”) abroad. In Paraguay a small collection of party 

members formed an “organization center,” which was headed until 

1930 by Otto Kiinze and an emigrant Danzig SA man, Bruno 

Fricke. Each party branch in Paraguay and Brazil was soon desig¬ 

nated by the Reichsleitung as a foreign Gruppenleitung (“group 
leadership”).36 

The most active organization at the end of the 1920s arose in 

Blumenau, a city in southern Brazil near the Atlantic coast. The 

leader of the group was a doctor who succeeded in recruiting from 

local German nationals twenty-one members for the NSDAP by 
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December 1930. The group established close contact with Munich, 

which sent the Blumenau organization propaganda materials for its 

theater group and monthly Sprechabende (“discussion evenings,” 

in which the group and its prospective members heard speeches 
on National Socialism by party leaders).37 

Nazi activities in the United States also began in the 1920s. 

The large number of Germans who had migrated to the United 

States since the nineteenth century (including almost a half million 

during the Weimar years) offered promising recruitment possibilities 

for the National Socialists. Like the Germans in Latin America, 

German emigrants to the United States had settled in large, tightly- 

knit clusters in the developing industrial cities of Pittsburgh, De¬ 

troit, Cleveland, Cincinnati, New York City, and Los Angeles. Party 

theorists in the AO, DAI, and VDA estimated that roughly seven 

million German-Americans in 1930 still spoke German as their 

principal language and that approximately a quarter of America 

was of German descent. Bohle and the AO believed that the sons 

and daughters of millions of German settlers who had arrived in 

America in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries could be unified 

into a vital political force for Germany. But never having visited 

America nor studied it closely, Bohle and other Nazis anxious 

to form party groups there never understood that such efforts were 

jeopardized seriously by the rapid and thorough assimilation of 

the Germans into American culture. 

Although a number of loyal Nazis fled to America after the Hitler 

Putsch, neither the NSDAP nor Hitler paid much attention to the 

United States until 1928. In Mein Kampf Hitler had written as 

if America hardly existed. It was only, in the summer of 1928, with 

the appearance in Germany of increasing numbers of American- 

made automobiles (cars always caught Hitler’s eye), that he noted 

the United States was a product of European migration and a great 

meeting place of the Aryan race. Also believing that he saw a 

powerful Jewish population in America, he suddenly began viewing 

the Americas as the chief threat to the German domination of the 

world, and he concluded that following Germany’s conquest of 

France and Russia (which he had outlined in Mein Kampf), a war 

with America would be inevitable. The AO, in its hopes of furthering 

Nazi influence in the United States by creating party groups and 

supporting German-American organizations there, applied to its 

policy Hitler’s racial interpretation of American history. Accord¬ 

ingly, the United States was a Jew-ridden plutocracy whose salva- 
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tion could only come from its large German element, which, the 

Nazis were convinced, was still untainted by Jewish influence. 

From the American side, the anti-German hysteria that had been 

touched off in the United States by World War I had disappeared 

by the mid-1920s. The debate over the Versailles Treaty had hardly 

closed when Americans began to doubt Germany’s responsibility 

for causing the war. Many German-Americans made the most of 

this opportunity. Although they had been subjected to harsh treat¬ 

ment during the war, they formed such organizations as the Steuben 

Society, which grew rapidly, emphasized the contribution of Ger¬ 

man emigrants to American institutions, and distributed literature. 

The Society, for example, republished Albert Bernhardt Faust’s 

The German Element in the United States: With Special Reference 

to Its Political, Moral, Social, and Educational Influence (1927), a 

massive study that stressed the German contribution to such Ameri¬ 

can causes as abolition, civil service reform, sound money policy, 

peace congresses, and personal liberty. Similar works included F. 

Eiselmeier’s Das Deutschtum in Angloamerika (1926) and C. E. 

Dale’s Amerikanisches Auskunftsbuch (1923).39 

Hitler, except for dispatching Ludecke, one of his political fund 

raisers and foreign policy advisers, to Detroit in 1924 to obtain 

money from Henry Ford (who had attracted Nazi attention by his 

anti-Semitic writings),40 made no effort in the 1920s to expand 

National Socialism to the United States. While it is true that as 

early as the fall of 1922, a tiny NSDAP group was founded in 

the northeast section of the Bronx, it was created independently of 

Munich and it hardly flourished. Nevertheless, some of Hitler’s 

followers tried to rally Germans in America to their hero. One was 

Edmund Ftirholzer, who emigrated from Germany to America in 

December 1926 and founded a newspaper in New York, the 

Deutsche Zeitung, which he hoped would attract local Germans to 
National Socialism.41 

But even before Ftirholzer had arrived, a cover organization for 

Nazi members and other extreme rightists from Germany had been 

formed in October 1924 in Detroit. Three Nazi and German emi¬ 

grants, Fritz and Peter Gissibl and Walter Kappe, founded the 

National Socialist Association of Teutonia (Nationalsozialistische 

Vereinigung Teutonia). It was no accident that the Teutonia was 

established in Detroit, because the city was undergoing what 

many American cities were experiencing in the 1920s—rapid in¬ 

dustrialization, mass production, and temporary unemployment. 
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Immigrant German laborers, especially those working for the Ford 

Motor Company, were dismissed from their jobs, and after 1929 

and the beginning of the Depression, the situation worsened. A 

handful of workers, some looking for security, others because of a 

belief that their problems had been caused by a Jewish-capitalist 

plot, joined the Teutonia. Fritz Gissibl, head of the ultra-conserva¬ 

tive organization, had arrived in America in December 1923, but 
he did not join the NSDAP until three years later. 

The Teutonia, even before its leader became a National Socialist, 

celebrated Hitler’s birthday by collecting money for the NSDAP in 

Munich. Sometimes, as in May 1926, the Association was rewarded 
for its financial sacrifices with a note of appreciation from Hitler. 

The Teutonia’s ideology and propaganda were thoroughly National 
Socialist. Through handbills, pamphlets, and its newspaper, Vor- 

posten, its leaders attacked the Jews, Communists, Weimar Re¬ 

public, and German revolution of 1918. But in Germany, it pro¬ 

claimed, the teachings of one man, Adolf Hitler, were emerging, 

and soon this “real German man” would come to power and crush 

such enemies.42 

Some hard-core National Socialists in America, many of whom 

were social misfits and political extremists like the Gissibls, chose 

not to join the Teutonia; instead, they worked to form their own 

Ortsgruppe, which they hoped might someday be officially recog¬ 

nized by Munich. An example was Christoph Klausfeldner, an “old 

fighter” from the early Nazi movement in Germany. A member 

of the militant Rossbach Freikorps (one of the many paramilitary 

and volkisch organizations formed in Germany after World War I) 

at seventeen years old, Klausfeldner ^entered the SA in Bavaria, 

became a personal courier for the Nuremberg Nazi chief, Julius 

Streicher, and participated in the Hitler Putsch. He fled to the 

United States soon after the Munich uprising. Klausfeldner, who 

could never free himself of his extreme political activism, organized 

a party group in Cincinnati in 1932 that was finally acknowledged 

by the Reichsleitung as an Ortsgruppe of the NSDAP.43 

Many more America-bound National Socialists in the 1920s de¬ 

cided to join Gissibl’s Teutonia. One was Heinz Spanknobel, later 

boss of the widely publicized German-American group of the mid- 

1930s, the Association of the Friends of the New Germany (Bund 

der Freunde des Neuen Deutschlands). Spanknobel, an employee 

of the Ford Motor Company, had arrived in the United States in 

1929, but as the Depression deepened, he lost his job and began 
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working full-time for the Teutonia. Concurrently, he joined the 

NSDAP and became close friends with Gissibl. By 1932 Teutonia 

had branches in Chicago, Los Angeles, New York City, Hudson 

County, and Cincinnati, and claimed a membership of roughly 

five hundred. 
The Hudson County group was located in Union City, New Jersey 

and was led by a dedicated Nazi transplanted from Frankfurt, 

Wilhelm Schneider. When he arrived in the United States in 1927, 

Schneider dreamed of developing a party organization that would 

have the official sanction of Hitler and Munich. The local German 

language newspapers, however, refused to cooperate with him; as he 

investigated further, he discovered that Hitler was hardly known to 

Germans in New Jersey and that there was very little interest in 

National Socialism. Unlike the Germans in South America, those 

in the United States were quickly and completely transformed into 

persons who felt themselves a part of the native way of life. Many, 

in fact, could not have cared less about the Fatherland or a political 

figure who was still barely known to Germans inside the Reich. 

Schneider, disappointed but undaunted, finally contacted Gissibl, 

and later formed the Teutonia affiliate in Hudson County.44 

The reaction of the party in Germany to the efforts by foreign 

members to spread Hitler’s ideas was to encourage them wherever 

possible and to begin plans for organizing them. Himmler, the 

party’s propaganda leader and chief of the SS, sent the Teutonia 

Nazi placards and pamphlets, and in September 1930 he issued the 

first set of directives for “foreign propaganda” (Auslandspropa- 

ganda).45 Munich also assembled a small mailing list of foreign mem¬ 

bers, and the Propaganda Department demanded and received 

political reports from the party branches abroad. A Nazi group in 

Windhoek, the capital of former German Southwest Africa, re¬ 

ported on its work among local German clubs and societies by noting 

optimistically, “The acceptance of the [Nazi] view is not unfavor¬ 

able, with a larger increase in and stronger effect on [German] 

associations definitely to be expected.”46 Moreover, new Gruppen- 

leitung were created in China, Southwest Africa, and New York 

City; each organization was headed by someone approved by Munich 

and was responsible for party members and German citizens in its 
country.47 

Yet, despite the party’s growing awareness of its foreign mem¬ 

bers, the main problem facing it abroad until 1930 was its anonym¬ 

ity and total lack of publicity outside Germany. Just as Hitler’s 
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views on foreign affairs were barely known inside Germany until 

his alliance with Alfred Hugenberg (the film and newspaper czar) 

and the German nationalists against the Young Plan in 1929, so 

most Germans around the globe had rarely heard of the Nazi 

Fiihrer. As party officials in Munich noted, any penetration of foreign 

Germandom with Nazi ideology would take time and money, ele¬ 

ments with which the NSDAP was hardly endowed once the De¬ 

pression began. What Nazi leaders recognized even more was that 

their party badly needed a dramatic success in national politics. 

Above all, this would take it closer to its supreme goal of gaining 

power in Germany. Strasser, Ludecke, and a few others believed 

that it could also help awaken world Germandom to Hitler and his 

historic mission. 



2 

HANS NIELAND AND THE 

AUSLANDS-ABTEILUNG, 1930-1933 

As Hitler climbed his way to power in Germany between 

1930 and 1933, his party took its first steps to attract and organize 

foreign Germandom. Although by no means a serious concern of 

the party, small groups (ranging in number from a few persons to 

fifty) of German citizens and Nazi members abroad were formed in 

many countries under Munich’s direction. While tiny and hardly 

significant to the NSDAP’s fortunes at home, the groups were nev¬ 

ertheless dedicated to Hitler, proud of their contact with the parent 

movement, often quarrelsome and unruly, and led by authoritarian- 

minded party bosses. 

The impetus for creating them came from Hitler’s surprising tri¬ 

umph in the Reichstag election in September 1930. Exploiting the 

misery caused by the Depression in Germany, the NSDAP sudden¬ 

ly became the second largest party in the national assembly. The 

victory, which made headlines in the foreign press,1 was also vital 

in arousing for the National Socialists at least the attention of a few 

Germans abroad. The party’s foreign members greeted the break¬ 

through with excitement. Some wrote the Reichsleitung offering 

their “heartiest good wishes for the powerful success that was 
achieved.”2 

Creation of the Auslands-Abteilung 

Only weeks after the election, a handful of Hamburg National 

Socialists met to discuss the development of a new Foreign De¬ 

partment (Auslands-Abteilung) in the NSDAP that could organize 

and guide the party’s foreign members. The group was led by Willy 
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Grothe, an SA man and local party bigwig who had been a private 

import-export dealer in Africa. His nationalism and sense of per¬ 

secution had been kindled when he was imprisoned in Africa during 

World War I by the British. He was convinced that a future Aus¬ 

lands-Abteilung should have its headquarters in Hamburg, the his¬ 

toric Hanseatic city from which ships left daily for all corners of the 

world. It was a symbol, he noted, with which foreign Germans could 
identify.3 

To persuade Munich that an Auslands-Abteilung was needed, 

Grothe and his circle approached a Nazi Reichstag deputy from Ham¬ 

burg, Hans Nieland. Nieland received the idea with enthusiasm, 

particularly after he began entertaining visions that he might be¬ 

come head of the Department and add to his stature in the party. 

At the beginning of 1931 he contacted the party’s organization 

leader, Strasser, proposing that such a Department be created and 

that he, Nieland, be commissioned its chief. To prove his sincerity 

he traveled to Munich in the spring and obtained the Reichsleitung's 

list of roughly fifty addi esses of foreign party members (most liv¬ 

ing in the United States and Canada).4 

Strasser, after discussing the affair with Hitler, fully agreed, and 

on 28 April 1931 he issued an order creating the Auslands-Abteilung 

with its headquarters in Hamburg, subordinating it to his office and 

handing the job of leader to Nieland. Although Strasser had always 

been hopeful of doing something for National Socialists outside 

Germany, he was mainly pleased for selfish reasons about the De¬ 

partment. Since the party’s victory the previous fall his office had 

been swamped with correspondence from foreign Germans sym¬ 

pathetic to Hitler and from foreign members, and he openly ad¬ 

mitted, “I needed someone to answer the letters from abroad.”5 

Nieland’s availability, however, hardly meant that he was quali¬ 

fied to organize the foreign members or to lure other Germans 

abroad into the party. Described derisively by a party opponent as 

an “ambitious little bourgeois,” he had never set foot outside Ger¬ 

many nor did he speak a foreign language.6 Except for holding a 

doctoral degree in political science and for having pursued a brief 

study of law, he had little to offer in dealing with and understand¬ 

ing the problems of Germans abroad. He had been born the son of a 

merchant on 3 October 1900 in Hagen, a small town in Westphalia. 

After serving for a few months in World War I, he spent several 

years in school and settled in Hamburg to become an export trader 

and legal adviser. Fancying himself an extreme German patriot 
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and an opponent of the Weimar regime (which, he believed, had 

been forced on Germany after the war), he had joined the party in 

1926.7 
Strasser’s directive gave the Auslands-Abteilung control over 

foreign members who were not under district party organizations in 

Austria, the Saar region in western Germany, and the free city of 

Danzig. At the beginning of June, Nieland issued his first command 

to the foreign members, proudly announcing that Hitler had shown 

“his interest in you and your happiness” by forming the Auslands- 

Abteilung and that the NSDAP now challenged the National 

Socialists abroad to become active for the movement. Involving 

oneself for the party, he maintained, was the most noble goal mem¬ 

bers abroad could achieve, and it would enable them to “join the 

battlefront of the German people.”8 

The order also laid down guidelines for financial dues to be paid 

by the members to Hamburg and for establishing Ortsgruppen of 

twenty members or more and “support points” (Stiitzpunkte), 

which were groups comprised of fewer members. In places with only 

a tiny number of Nazis there were no Ortsgruppen or Stiitzpunkte, 

but party cells (Zellen) that were subordinate either to a nearby 

Ortsgruppe or directly to the Auslands-Abteilung. As soon as 

enough members were available or had been recruited to form an 

Ortsgruppe or Stiitzpunkt, a list of members was forwarded to the 

Auslands-Abteilung for approval. 

Once the group had been created, it chose the “most capable 

leader” (i.e., an Ortsgruppenleiter, Stiitzpunktleiter, or Zellen- 

leiter) from its midst, and his selection was confirmed by Nieland. 

The foreign leaders were commissioned to assemble “a staff of as¬ 

sistants” who would handle the local party treasury, secretarial 

duties, and propaganda.9 Soon, these small affiliates abroad would 

find themselves subordinated to national party organizations called 

Landesgruppen (“country groups”), led by Landesgruppenleiters 

(“country group leaders”) who were responsible to Hamburg. 

Nieland also assembled his own staff. His only salaried employees 

were his father and sister, who were hired as office manager and 

bookkeeper; making the office a “family affair,” however, was to 

bring him a barrage of criticism later. The remainder of his staff in¬ 

cluded his special advisers (Referate), who headed regional divisions 

in the Auslands-Abteilung and corresponded with party members in 

their regions. While Grothe was the adviser for Africa, there were 
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similar officials for Europe, North America, Latin America, Aus¬ 

tralia, India, and East Asia.10 By late September the staff had been 

expanded to include divisions for foreign propaganda, membership, 

financial affairs, and the press.11 Most of the staff were recruited 

from the party organization in Hamburg, while others were not even 

Nazi members but offered their services free to the Department. 

An example was Bohle, a young, foreign-born commercial em¬ 

ployee; he joined the NSDAP and began work in December 1931 

with the Department as a specialist on the Union of South Africa.12 

It became apparent very quickly that one of the most important 

offices was the Propaganda Division. It busily collected a lengthy 

list of German newspapers abroad and sent them free articles on 

Hitler and his movement. This was to become a popular method for 

disseminating propaganda among foreign Germans, particularly af¬ 

ter a number of party groups abroad began publishing their own 

papers. The Division and Nieland also sent crudely typewritten 

information sheets to members abroad entitled the National- 

sozialistische Auslandsbrief (National Socialist Foreign Letter). A 

frequent contributor to the letters was Otto Langmann, an Evan¬ 

gelical pastor from Guatemala and a later AO official who became 

Germany’s Minister (Gesandter) to Uruguay.13 

By the fall of 1931 the recruiting of new Nazi members abroad 

and the forming of foreign affiliates had registered small gains. Nie¬ 

land reported to Munich that his Department had 751 foreign mem¬ 

bers enrolled in the party, including Volksdeutschen as well as 

German citizens.14 Enlisting Germans with foreign citizenship, how¬ 

ever, was criticized by Strasser and the Reichsleitung’s legal ad¬ 

viser, Hans Frank. Although Strasser issued an order directing the 

Auslands-Abteilung to recruit only Reich nationals and to command 

them not to intervene in the affairs of their host country,15 the 

question was to arise repeatedly in the future. Many groups abroad 

were unable to resist the temptation of expanding their membership 

by signing up interested ethnic Germans who were foreign citizens. 

But as Hitler informed the editor of the Leipziger Neueste Nach- 

richten, Richard Breiting, in an interview in May 1931, Nazi policy 

abroad would never be based on the views of foreign governments, 

world opinion, or long-range effects of the policy. It would instead 

be Machiavellian in nature and “dictated by the needs of the mo¬ 

ment” of the party and German government.16 Translated into prac¬ 

tice, this meant that Nazi groups outside Germany applied the self- 
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ish party law that said the “needs of the Nazi community came 

before those of the individual” (Gemeinnutz geht vor Eigennutz),17 

and they continued to direct their efforts at foreign citizens. 

Small Party Branches in the Americas and Europe 

The first party affiliates outside Germany recognized by the Aus- 

lands-Abteilung were in Argentina, Brazil, and Paraguay. In addi¬ 

tion to the large Volksdeutsch population (roughly 1.5 million per¬ 

sons), the Latin American penchant for dictatorships, for political 

parties led by a charismatic hero, and for militarism, combined 

with a depressed socio-economic development to breed a certain 

sympathy for the Nazi groups.18 In Argentina the situation seemed 

particularly favorable for the NSDAP. The party’s heavy nationalist 

propaganda complemented the extensive Deutschtum campaign 

that had been carried on since World War I (which had stressed 

that Germany was an anti-imperialist nation and not responsible 

for the war) by leaders of the German communities. Furthermore, 

German influence since Wilhelmine days on the Argentine army 

appeared to ensure the government’s friendliness toward the Nazi 

groups. 

The large German colony in Buenos Aires had been formed since 

the 1870s, and it possessed a heterogeneous political, economic, and 

social structure. Upper class Germans in the colony, many of them 

German citizens, were wealthy businessmen and employees of lead¬ 

ing German firms. This elite group held its distance from the ma¬ 

jority of the colony’s members, which included lesser employees, 

small merchants, artisans, shopkeepers, and laborers. Politically the 

colony was conservative, with many strong monarchists who out¬ 

numbered liberals and socialists. During World I a cultural orga¬ 

nization for Deutschtum work, the Deutsche Volksbund (“People’s 

League”), and a German Chamber of Commerce had been orga¬ 

nized, the latter as a defense for German economic interests 

against “blacklisting” by the Argentine government. The Novem¬ 

ber revolution of 1918 in Germany had far-reaching effects on 

the colony, as the formation of the Weimar Republic sharpened 

the old political divisions in the community. The social and economic 

leadership despised the Weimar regime and criticized the govern¬ 

ment vehemently in its major newspaper, the Deutsche La Plata- 

Zeitung. The paper of the democrats and republicans in the colony 

was the pro-Weimar Argentinisches Tageblatt, whose subscribers 
numbered roughly half those of its competitor. 
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The breach continued throughout the 1920s and was widened 

further by the appearance of the first Nazi Ortsgruppe in Buenos 

Aires in the spring of 1931. It included 59 members. The group 

grew slowly, held meetings and demonstration marches, and at¬ 

tracted the opposition of the Argentine press and German diplo¬ 

mats by its members’ wearing Nazi uniforms publicly. Local au¬ 

thorities also disliked the infiltration of some Nazis into Argentine 

fascist and conservative movements. The Ortsgruppe’s public de¬ 

but was a memorial service in May 1931, held jointly with German 

veterans’ groups like the Stahlhelm (“Steel Helmet”), for Albert 

Leo Schlageter, a former German officer executed by the French for 

sabotage during the French occupation of the Ruhr region in 

1923 and worshiped as a hero by the NSDAP. Two months later 

the group held its first mass meeting, where nationalist speakers at¬ 

tacked and berated the Weimar Republic. In the days that fol¬ 

lowed, the Ortsgruppe became increasingly active. A demonstration 

of the local in November attracted over eight hundred persons, 

and a similar event in January 1932, held with other nationalist 

German organizations, attracted five thousand colony members. 

In May 1932 Nieland ordered a thorough reorganization of the 

party in Argentina, and he established a national party unit or 

Landesgruppe. It published a special information sheet which 

every party member was expected to read and purchase. A “leader¬ 

ship school” was created to educate and train officials for the Landes¬ 

gruppe. By September 1932 the party had expanded outside the 

Buenos Aires local to include seven Stutzpunkte and 278 members.19 

Affiliates were also formed in Brazil. A group in Rio de Janeiro 

was assembled in October, and similar branches developed among 

the settlements of German farmers and merchants in the large 

southern states. In May a fifteen-member Stutzpunkt was created 

in Sao Paulo, and it held weekly meetings in the homes of its lead¬ 

ing members. It was directed by a young businessman, Hans-Hen- 

ning von Cossel, whose political activism and German nationalism 

could be traced to his earlier service in the German army and his 

membership in the Free Corps. The group’s work included spreading 

Nazi philosophy in the German colony, indoctrinating party mem¬ 

bers in the ideology of National Socialism, and pressuring local 

German newspapers to halt criticism of Hitler. By the end of 1931 

the group had doubled its membership and its meetings were draw¬ 

ing over a hundred visitors.20 A similar success was taking shape in 

Paraguay, where party affiliates had existed for two years. In August 

1931 the Auslands-Abteilung created a Landesgruppe in Asuncion, 
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• *21 
under the guidance of a retired army officer, Franz Reitzenstein. 

An organization also sprouted in Santiago, Chile behind the leader 

of the local German Railway Office, Karl Htibner, and Landesgrup- 

penleiter Willi Kohn.22 
In the United States, where the political situation was the reverse 

of that in South America, Nieland believed that the best method 

for developing Ortsgruppen and not attracting the attention of the 

authorities was to use Gissibl’s Teutonia group as a “cover orga¬ 

nization, with the [Nazi] local the heart.” Gissibl, above all, enter¬ 

tained hopes of leading the entire Nazi movement in the United 

States. But some party members there, like Klausfeldner in Cin¬ 

cinnati, noted for Nieland that Teutonia had never been designated 

a unit of the party. They had never joined Teutonia, but had cre¬ 

ated disorganized party cells in the major cities with large German 

populations. These members numbered less than two hundred, but 

they claimed that they were the nucleus of a party structure in 

America and that the Teutonia’s membership was composed largely 

of nonparty people. 

As Ludecke observed, Nieland was greatly interested in the 

United States, seeing in it a goldmine for acquiring new party 

members and dues. He also saw a chance to increase his authority 

in America by forcing Gissibl’s group and the disorganized cells of 

party members to compete for his approval of their leadership of a 

future party in the United States. Ignoring Teutonia, he placed 

the New York Gruppenleitung in the summer of 1931 under the 

Auslands-Abteilung and designated it the official Ortsgruppe of the 

NSDAP in New York.23 He also searched for a trusted Vertrauens- 

mann (“confidential agent”) for America, who could be counted on 

to expand the membership and report faithfully to him. 

His choices for such a leader were limited. One candidate was 

Alfred Krinn, commissioned by Strasser in 1930 to operate the 

Gruppenleitung New York.24 Another possibility was the editor of a 

German newspaper in Cincinnati and a ranking member of Teu¬ 

tonia, Walter Kappe.25 But for a time the strongest bet for the job 

seemed to be Ludecke, a personal friend of Hitler and one of the 

Ftihrer’s campaign fund raisers who had spent considerable time af¬ 

ter 1922 touring the United States and speaking to German orga¬ 

nizations about Hitler. At the beginning of 1931 he had joined the 

Teutonia and taken control of its propaganda for the states along 
the eastern coast.26 

Unfortunately for Ludecke, he proved to be too well qualified 
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for the post; he also appeared to Nieland to be overly ambitious. 

Krinn was eliminated from consideration in July 1931 when he be¬ 

came involved in a bitter quarrel with other members in New York 

and was ousted as their leader. In a rowdy meeting that was char¬ 

acteristic of the Ortsgruppe, a Long Island janitor named Paul 

Manger was chosen to succeed Krinn. The New York group was 

particularly prone to bickering and factionalism, which led some 

members to leave it and organize a new Nazi cell in Yorkville, a 

predominantly German-speaking section in Manhattan. This left 

Kappe, who finally became Vertrauensmann for North America 

until the beginning of 1932, when he was replaced by Manger. 

Nieland’s naming of Manger, however, hardly encouraged Gissibl; 

it ruined Teutonia’s hope of taking over the NSDAP in America, 

and any move by Gissibl to counter Hamburg’s decision would end 

completely his dream of leading the entire movement.27 

Such instability as shown by the party in America was hardly 

uncommon in the NSDAP’s foreign groups. Their members were 

equally dogmatic and subjective in their political beliefs and un¬ 

compromising in their tactics as were the party bosses directing 

the show from the Reich. The “totalitarian mind-set” of Nazi 

leaders made personal conflict and struggles for power common¬ 

place in the NSDAP at home, and the situation differed little in 

its small foreign groups.28 But while the Nazis were experiencing 

a less than spectacular beginning in America, their affiliates created 

by the Auslands-Abteilung during 1931 in Europe revealed a bit 

more promise. This was especially true of the organizations that 

sprang up in Switzerland and Italy. Although some groups had be¬ 

gun meeting unofficially in Switzerland,during the previous year, the 

first party branch was formed by National Socialists in Zurich in 

September 1931 and acknowledged by Hamburg several months 

later. 
The Ortsgruppe had a small staff that had been “trained in 

Munich,” which busily spread propaganda about Hitler throughout 

the colony. The local also recruited party members among the Ger¬ 

man citizens, and here too, the staff showed what it had learned 

in Munich. By compiling a list of persons who had fled from Ger¬ 

many to Zurich to escape paying income taxes or other financial 

obligations, the local was able to blackmail wealthy Germans and 

force them to join the party or to give donations to it. There were 

also small Stiitzpunkte in St. Gallen, Tessin, Davos, Berne, Geneva, 

and Basel, and the Auslands-Abteilung flooded every major Swiss 



26 THE SWASTIKA OUTSIDE GERMANY 

city with copies of the NSDAP’s national propaganda organ in the 

Reich, the Volkischer Beobachter.29 One of Hitler’s most fervent 

disciples in Switzerland was Wilhelm Gustloff, a German national 

from Mecklenburg who had settled in Davos in 1917. An extreme 

German nationalist and conservative, he had joined the virulently 

anti-Semitic German Racist League for Defense and Attack 

(Deutschvolkischer Schutz- und Trutzbund) in 1921, but after Hit¬ 

ler’s Putsch he became a convert to the NSDAP and sought to 

spread Hitler’s ideas in Switzerland. He spent his vacations in Ger¬ 

many, drilled with the SA, and eventually built a tiny Stiitzpunkt 

in Davos in 1930.30 

The growth of the party in Italy also began in 1931. Since 1929 

small clusters of party members had met in Rome, Milan, Meran, 

Bozen, Genoa, and Florence. Many members complained that Ger¬ 

mans in Catholic Italy had a problem in maintaining their national 

and cultural heritage.31 Their greatest protest, however, was over 

the South Tirol. By the Treaty of St. Germain of 1919, the southern 

portion of the Tirol had been transferred from Austria to Italy, 

with the frontier drawn at the Brenner Pass. Roughly 230,000 

German-Austrians were included in Italy, which created the “prob¬ 

lem” of the South Tirol (or Alto Adige as Italians called it) and 

formed the major stumbling block to an Italo-German alliance. 

There is ample evidence that following the “march on Rome” in 

October 1922 the Fascist government treated the German-Austrians 

badly. Beginning in 1923 Mussolini’s regime sought to “italianize” 

the Germans in the Tirol: Italian was declared the official language; 

family names were italianized; school instruction in German was 

forbidden; and German newspapers, journals, and cultural groups 

were suppressed. Persons who protested or sabotaged the Fascist 

effort were imprisoned.32 

Hitler, fascinated with Mussolini, was determined both to ally 

with Italy and to absorb Austria into Germany. Consequently he 

carefully avoided an Italo-German confrontation over the Tirol. In 

1922 he had learned from Ludecke, who visited Mussolini for the 

Nazi leader, that the Duce was sensitive about the Tirolean ques¬ 

tion. Subsequently, writing in Mein Kampf and in a brochure he 

drafted in 1926, Die Siidtiroler Frage und das deutsche Bundnis- 

problem (most of which has been lost but was a chapter from his 

memoir), he made no secret that his plan to unify Germans in 

Europe did not include those in the Tirol. 

His position apparently had a positive effect on Mussolini. Al- 
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though he was hardly an admirer of Hitler, the Duce sent money 

and secret shipments of arms to the NSDAP, and by 1928 and 

1929 a pleasant relationship had developed between Fascist and 

Nazi leaders.33 But Hitler’s view was not shared by many members 

of his own party in Germany, Austria, and the Tirol. Hans Frank 

flatly disagreed with Hitler in a letter to his boss in August 1926, 

and in the summer of 1931 he spoke to the Nazis in Innsbruck, 

demanding that Germany annex the Tirol (for which the NSDAP 

later apologized). Similar feelings were rampant among Nazi 
groups in Milan, Bozen, and Meran.34 

At the end of 1930 Hitler and Strasser dispatched a Vertrauens- 

mann to Italy to look into the creation of Ortsgruppen there. Since 

Hitler was already convinced that Italy must be one of the Reich’s 

allies when the National Socialists came to power, the Reichsleitung 

gave the Auslands-Abteilung strict orders to ensure that the groups 

in Italy would run smoothly and cause no trouble for the Fascist 

government.35 Despite Hitler’s demand for caution, the Department 

quickly organized a Landesgruppe during the latter half of 1931, 

the heart of which was a Stiitzpunkt created in Rome in October, 

which by the year’s end had enrolled twenty-five members. The 

Stiitzpunkt even attracted attention in Germany. The liberal press 

in Munich noted its appearance and claimed that its leaders were 

forming a political alliance with the chieftains of the Fascist party. 

Although the Volkischer Beobaehter grudgingly acknowledged that 

an affiliate existed in Rome, the paper maintained that “all of the 

[other] assertions are lies.”36 

Nieland also appointed Vertrauensmdnner to build Nazi organiza¬ 

tions in England, Poland, Denmark, Latvia, Spain, Portugal, and 

Yugoslavia.37 In England the party’s agent was Otto Bene, a 

personal acquaintance of Hess who had spent considerable time in 

London after 1927 as a representative for Trylisin hair tonic. 

Acting on orders from the Auslands-Abteilung, he organized a party 

group in the German community of London, and he established the 

party’s headquarters in the offices of a local German newspaper, 

the Neue Londoner Zeitung. His efforts were soon rewarded; in 

April 1932 the Auslands-Abteilung made him head of the London 

Ortsgruppe.38 
From their inception the Nazi affiliates abroad resembled the 

party groups inside Germany because the foreign groups developed 

not around the ideology of Nazism, but around strong-willed party 

bosses and men like Bene, Gustloff, Reitzenstein, Kohn, and Fried- 
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helm Burbach (the party’s leader in Portugal and Spain) who pro¬ 

claimed their total loyalty to Hitler. The groups abroad were 

rigidly organized according to the Fiihrerprinzip, and the authority 

of their leaders depended principally on each man’s charisma and 

his ability to convince his local German colony that he was Hitler’s 

personally anointed chieftain by virtue of his support from Ham¬ 

burg.39 This was particularly true for party leaders outside Europe. 

One of the first branches to arise in Africa, for example, was an 

Ortsgruppe in the Cameroons that was erected in December 1931 

around Bernhard Ruberg, a former German war hero, Free Corps 

leader (who once belonged to the group of right-wing assassins in 

Germany, the Organisation Escherich), and fanatical National 

Socialist.40 

Despite the work of such ambitious personalities, not every affili¬ 

ate abroad was established successfully or permitted by foreign 

authorities to operate. The Swedish government flatly refused to 

allow the NSDAP to form a branch in its country. When the 

Auslands-Abteilung's contact man for Sweden, Willy Meyer-Donner, 

entered Stockholm in December 1931 and began speaking to local 

Germans in his SA uniform, the government quickly imprisoned 

him and later ordered his expulsion from the country. Nieland’s 

stubborn response was to ask Hitler’s right arm and head of the 

Nazi Reichstag fraction, Herman Goring, if he would use his friend¬ 

ship with the King of Sweden to get Meyer-Donner readmitted to 

Sweden.41 Already the NSDAP was revealing its insensitivity to the 

opinion of foreign governments, and the party’s silly games were 
attracting official hostility abroad. 

1932: Hard Work and Frustration 

The Swedish blunder notwithstanding, Nieland and the Reichs- 

leitung greeted the beginning of 1932 with great optimism and 

confidence that this would be the crucial year when the party seized 

control of the German government. They noted that the Depression 

was deepening in Germany and causing massive unemployment and 

misery and that the democratic government in Berlin was helpless 

to halt the crisis. Walter Buch, head of the NSDAP’s intraparty 

courts for keeping order in the movement and for punishing dis¬ 

obedient members, the Investigation and Conciliation committees 

(Untersuchungs- und Schlichtungsaussch iisse, or Uschla), pro¬ 

claimed to a member in east Africa that “any child can see that we 
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will take control of the government in the not-too-distant future.” 

Nieland celebrated the arrival of the new year by traveling outside 

Germany for the first time to visit Ortsgruppen in Amsterdam, 

Rotterdam, The Hague, and London; at each he told his listeners 

that Hitler would soon be the lord and master of Germany.42 

Such presumptions proved to be a fool’s paradise. Not only was 

1932 to be a frustrating year that saw the NSDAP become em¬ 

broiled in a series of costly and demoralizing elections (particularly 

the Reichstag election in November, in which the party lost seats 

in the legislature), but Hitler failed to take control of the govern¬ 

ment as his leaders had prophesied. Furthermore (and less im¬ 

portant from the party’s viewpoint), the ensuing months were to 

be troublesome for Nieland, the Auslands-Abteilung, and its strug¬ 

gling affiliates abroad. A number of the groups were plagued with 

factionalism and organizational troubles, and had Hitler not come 

to power in early 1933 they would probably have collapsed. 

Troubles for the Auslands-Abteilung began in February when 

Hitler personally ordered Strasser to take over from the Depart¬ 

ment complete control of the Nazi groups in Italy and Switzerland 

and to appoint Landesgruppenleiters for each country. The reasons 

for Hitler’s directive centered around the significance he attached 

to both countries and around Nieland’s personal disagreements with 

several party officials in Italy. Another factor in his decision may have 

been the party’s troubles (which were unrelated to the Auslands- 

Abteilung) in Austria. In September 1931 the Nazis supported a 

coup against the Austrian government of Engelbert Dollfuss. The 

uprising was led by Walther Pfrimer, leader of the national-radical 

section of the Styrian Heimwehr and- advocate of the use of force 

to oppose the regime. This “march on Vienna” failed, and Pfrimer 

and his associates were tied to the National Socialists by a court at 

Graz.43 

The new Landesgruppenleiters chosen by Munich, Heinrich Brand 

in Italy and Gustloff in Switzerland, devoted themselves to collect¬ 

ing contributions for the upcoming German presidential election, 

where Hitler was opposing the incumbent, the military hero Paul 

von Hindenburg. Combining propaganda with blackmail, both lead¬ 

ers raised noticeable sums of money from Germans in Italy and 

Switzerland. Gustloffs organization participated in provincial Swiss 

elections by spending several thousand marks and using propaganda 

from Germany to elect politicians who were pro-German.44 Pay¬ 

ments from Brand’s organization, however, were discovered by a 
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Munich journalist, Werner Abel, who accused Hitler of receiving 
money from Italian citizens and other foreign nationals. In a libel 
suit brought by the Nazis against Abel following Hitler’s loss to 
Hindenburg in a runoff election, Hitler denied the accusations.45 

Evidently Hitler believed his denial that the NSDAP was med¬ 
dling in the affairs of foreign nations was not convincing enough. 
The Reichsleitung ordered party members abroad to carry special 
passbooks issued by the Auslands-Abteilung that directed members 
to “follow the laws of the country in which you are a guest.”46 
The leadership also created in June 1932 an organization to which 
foreign citizens who were sympathetic to Hitler could belong. 
This was the League of Friends of the Hitler Movement (Bund 
der Freunde der Hitler-Bewegung), and it represented a front group 
through which the Nazis could influence persons abroad who were 
not German nationals.47 

The new passbook and the League scarcely lessened the noisy and 
often trivial activity generated by the Auslands-Abteilung and its 
affiliates. More small groups were formed, and the veteran branches 
that had been created the previous year continued their dual task 
of spreading Nazi propaganda and gathering new members among 
foreign Germans. The first group in the Far East was founded in 
Shanghai by Franz Hasenohrl, a German salesman, an outspoken 
nationalist, a friend of Hess, and a party member beginning in 
October 1931. Born in Vienna, he had fought in World War I on 
the eastern front and been taken prisoner by the Russians.48 

Considering the large number of German communities in China, 
recruitment prospects for the party appeared excellent there. Since 
the end of the nineteenth century, closely-knit colonies had sprouted 
in Tientsin, Tsingtau, Hong Kong, Hankow, and Shanghai. Each 
colony had developed around branches of the German-Asiatic Bank 
and the trade of large German business firms like I.G. Farben 
and Krupp. In addition, the settlements were proud of their own 
consulate, small shops, school, men’s choir, town hall (Rathaus), 
women’s auxiliary, and church. Although some Germans had lost 
their property to the Chinese government during World War I, 
Sino-German trade revived after the conflict, and included in the 
exchange was a considerable supply of weapons, armaments, and 
military advisers shipped from Germany. In return the Chinese 
sent to the Reich high grade tungsten, wood-oil, sesame seeds, 
tallow, cotton, and animal skins.49 

Several small Stiitzpunkte also appeared during the early months 
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of 1932 in the Union of South Africa and in Southwest Africa. In 

the latter, which had been a German colony before World War I 

and had been taken from the Germans in 1919 and mandated to 

England’s dominion, the Union of South Africa, a tiny group of 

National Socialists in Windhoek agitated among the country’s ten 

thousand Germans for a return of the former colony to the Reich. 

In the nearby Union, a busy Stiitzpunkt was formed in May, and 

its leader was Hermann Bohle, a German national and professor 

of electrical engineering at South African College in Capetown. 

He was the elderly father of Ernst Bohle, the Auslands-Abteilung's 

adviser for the Union and the later chief of the AO. Bohle had been 

born of peasant origins in western Germany and had emigrated to 

England to seek a college degree. After teaching at colleges in 

Birmingham, Walsall, and Bradford, he had moved his family to 
Capetown in 1906. 

Despite his joining the ranks of foreign Germandom, he retained 

a deep national feeling for his Fatherland, and he sought to instill 

this quality in his children by rigidly demanding that they speak 

only German at home. When his family was mistreated by the Cape¬ 

town authorities and he was released from his professorship during 

the World War, he rapidly became a fanatical German nationalist 

and anti-Semite. In fact, he attempted to return to Germany in 

January 1920. Once he learned of Hitler’s radical right-wing 

philosophy through his son Ernst, who had applied for membership 

in the NSDAP in November 1931, the elder Bohle quickly became a 

Hitler convert. Bitter from the feeling that he had been persecuted 
because he was a German living in a foreign land and believing 

that the NSDAP held the key to Germany’s rebirth as a powerful 

nation, he began dabbling in South African politics. When he was 

refused by a group of German Jews the chance to address the 
Capetown German colony about the Hitler Youth Movement 

(Hitler-Jugend, or HJ) at the colony’s community hall, he promptly 

held his speech (which was virulently anti-Semitic) at a nearby 

hotel. By the end of the summer he had formed a number of 

Stutzpunkte in the Union, and the Auslands-Abteilung had promoted 

him to Landesgruppenleiler,50 
Still another Landesgruppe that revolved around a dominant per¬ 

sonality was that in the Netherlands, where party locals were formed 

in Amsterdam, The Hague, and other Dutch cities. The Hague Orts- 

gruppe quickly became a model of the busy activity that pleased 

the Auslands-Abteilung and Munich. Its thirty devoted members 
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met each Friday evening in a rented hall for a Sprechabend, where 

Nazi ideology and the problems of foreign Germans were discussed. 

For its main project, however, it arranged the supreme thrill for 

its members and their guests—in March 1932 the group crossed the 

German border to see and hear Hitler speak at a party rally in 

Diisseldorf.51 The Landesgruppenleiter was an Amsterdam sales¬ 

man, Martin Patzig, appointed in May and who operated his or¬ 

ganization in a rigidly dictatorial fashion. He printed elaborate 

propaganda brochures on Hitler for the Dutch public (stressing 

Hitler’s Catholic background and his potential for saving western 

Christendom from Bolshevism), and he sought to encourage Ger¬ 

mans to become active in the native Dutch National Socialist move¬ 

ment led by Anton Mussert. Nor did his work stop there; in June 

he arranged for Nieland to speak to the Ortsgruppe Amsterdam, 

and when anyone opposed his authority he ruthlessly employed his 

Party Court (Uschla) to expel them from the party.52 

Patzig’s propaganda efforts were aided considerably because 

Germany was just across the border, and plenty of propaganda 

could be smuggled into the Netherlands from Hamburg or Munich 

through various channels. But the Auslands-Abteilung's supplying 

its groups outside Europe with such material posed a far more 

difficult problem. How could Nazi books, pamphlets, and newspapers, 

for example, be dispatched safely to the affiliates in faraway 

Argentina, Brazil, Southwest Africa, or China? Already in 1931 the 

staff of the Auslands-Abteilung began wrestling with the question, 

and it soon decided that the answer lay with the German merchant 

marine. The NSDAP, as it sought to do with all groups in German 

society, did its utmost to attract the German seamen into its ranks. 

Its efforts in this regard started in the fall of 1931, when a special 

Seafarer Section (Abteilung Seefahrt) was formed in the Auslands- 

Abteilung. The party saw in the hardy travelers of the world’s 
seas a vital instrument for carrying propaganda to Germans in 

foreign lands and for serving as the connecting link between Ger¬ 

many and the Nazi affiliates abroad. 

But the Reichsleitung, reacting to a financial scandal in the lead¬ 

ership of the Section and to what appeared to be Nieland’s failure 

to administer the seamen effectively, reorganized the Section and 

freed it from the Auslands-Abteilung in March 1932. Under Kurt 

Thiele, a Nazi Reichstag deputy from Bremen, it busily enlisted 

shiphands and seamen—of whom roughly thirty-four percent were 

unemployed because of the Depression—in the large harbors of 
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Hamburg, Bremen, Bremerhaven, Kiel, Rostock, and Stettin. The 

Section placed Vertrauensmdnner on the Baltic and North Sea 

waterfronts, and among other duties they held public “recruiting 

evenings” and placed packets of propaganda aboard freighters 

bound for overseas ports. From the ships the packets were smug¬ 

gled ashore and sent to party groups and German colonies inland. 

By May the Section counted 688 members working loyally on 175 

ships to sign up new seamen for the NSDAP.53 

The Section smuggled increasing supplies of propaganda onto 

the ships, and it erected a sophisticated courier service whereby 

the material could be transferred among ships docked in overseas 

harbors. As the Depression intensified and Nazi political fortunes 

rose at home (with the party winning big in the Reichstag election 

in July), the membership rolls of the Section expanded correspond¬ 

ingly. By the close of 1932 it had enrolled 2,505 shiphands who 

were distributed among 371 ships.54 Not surprisingly, when the 

Third Reich began in January 1933, the NSDAP possessed a well- 

constructed nucleus of seamen to carry its propaganda around the 

world. But it was only in March 1934 that the AO (or the suc¬ 

cessor to the Auslands-Abteilung) regained administrative control 

over the Seafarer Section. 

Nieland’s inability to rule the Section was a tipoff of graver dif¬ 

ficulties that emerged at the end of 1932 to plague him. One of his 

problems was his membership in the Reichstag, which was work 

that ate heavily into his schedule and left him little time to devote 

to his rapidly growing Department in Hamburg. By the fall of 1932 

it had established 150 Ortsgruppen and Stutzpunkte, most of them 

very small. Added to the affiliates th<rf had emerged earlier in the 

year in the Netherlands, China, and South Africa, Vertrauensmdn¬ 

ner had organized branches in Sweden, Finland, Estonia, Norway, 

Lithuania, Iceland, Belgium, the Canary Islands, Morocco, Turkey, 

Palestine, Greece, Bulgaria, Hungary, Colombia, Guatemala, Peru, 

Uruguay, Netherlands East Indies, Australia, India, Manchuria, 

and Siam.55 Unfortunately for the Auslands-Abteilung, the rapid 

proliferation brought it far more headaches and problems than success. 

One of the worst troubles was the party in the United States, 

which was without firm leadership and was the object of several 

would-be chieftains who were maneuvering to take control of it. 

Manger’s appointment by Hamburg to head the Ortsgruppe 

New York and the party in America brought a brief pause in the 

power struggle and eventually restored a semblance of order to the 
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New York local. Regular meetings were held every Saturday night 

by the latter, attended by eighty to ninety members. But as the ef¬ 

fects of the Depression became increasingly severe in 1932, atten¬ 

dance dropped and the group became disorganized and again rid¬ 

dled with factionalism and dissension. Despite its meager financial 

resources, it did possess a newspaper, Amerikas Deutsches Post, 
which published articles sent from Hamburg and from party papers 

in Germany.56 
The final blow to Gissibl’s dream of leading the party in America 

was the defection from Teutonia of Spanknobel, his old friend. 

Spanknobel had lived in Detroit since 1929, and a year later he had 

joined the local Teutonia branch and the NSDAP. When Gissibl 

moved to Chicago and took Teutonia’s national headquarters with 

him, Spanknobel became head of the Detroit unit. He also orga¬ 

nized at the beginning of 1932 and led a Nazi Ortsgruppe in De¬ 

troit, while simultaneously currying the favor of Nieland and the 

Auslands-Abteilung. His ambition had become identical with Gis- 

sibl’s—to replace Manger and become the official leader of the 
NSDAP in the United States. The conflict was also organizational 

in nature. Many party members belonged to Teutonia, and small 

party locals (outside New York and Detroit) acknowledged by Ham¬ 

burg had appeared alongside Teutonia groups in Chicago (under 

Gissibl’s leadership), Los Angeles (Dr. Breiting), Hudson County 

(Schneider), and Paterson, New Jersey (Bredfeld). 

Spanknobel spent the early part of 1932 laying the groundwork 

for his move to seize power. With a flurry of activity he traveled 

around the United States speaking to party branches and Teutonia 

groups and collecting funds to be sent to the Auslands-Abteilung. 

Nieland wired him several enthusiastic telegrams urging that he 

collect more money for dispatch to Germany. Nieland’s view of the 

members in America was typical of most Nazis in the Reich; they 

were convinced that Americans—the Depression notwithstanding— 

were wealthy and that the NSDAP could do very well financially 

by tapping the pocketbooks of the German population in the United 

States. Most of the members in America, however, were fairly poor, 
and some were without jobs. 

Spanknobel, bursting with importance behind his Hitler-style 

moustache, hustled contributions from Teutonia groups and played 

favorites with their members, who gave him special information or 

gifts that he could forward to Hamburg. Although some Teutonia 

members disliked Spanknobel’s aggressiveness, Gissibl at the end 
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of February was forced to announce the dissolution of the Teu¬ 

tonia and to suggest that it become the core of the party groups 

across the country.57 Elated with the news, Spanknobel made a 

whirlwind trip to Germany, probably to confer with Nieland, and 

he returned to the United States to enroll in the NSDAP the Teu¬ 

tonia members who had not yet joined the party. 

He arrived in New York in early April, just in time to help the 

Ortsgruppe there celebrate the opening of its new party headquar¬ 

ters. The local had converted an old store into a meeting hall and 

decorated its windows and walls with swastika emblems. The cele¬ 
bration, which included over a hundred party members, was opened 

by Manger, the Ortsgruppenleiter and the nominal head of the 

party in America, who turned the program over to Spanknobel. 

Speaking with authority, the latter discussed Nazi ideology and 

described the worsening economic and political situation in Ger¬ 

many. Apparently, Manger never suspected that his guest was 

pushing to succeed him and that Spanknobel had made himself 

popular in Hamburg. The festivities brought the local for the first 

time to the attention of The New York Times, which noted the 

rally and misspelled Spanknobel’s name.58 

The old Teutonia people were welcomed into the party groups. 

This was particularly true in Hudson County, where the former lo¬ 

cal Teutonia boss, Schneider, formed a Nazi Ortsgruppe. The trade¬ 

mark of the group became its weekly Sprechabende, indoctrination 

meetings, and public rallies, each ending with Nazi songs and 

“Sieg heils” to Hitler. To protect its affairs from disruption by out¬ 

siders or opponents, the local established a storm trooper unit 

modeled along the lines of the SA in?Germany. Comprised of the 

Ortsgruppe’s roughest elements, the members of the unit wore uni¬ 

forms that included black trousers, white shirts, and swastika arm- 

bands. It was used to distribute party literature and newspapers 

sent from Germany like the Volkischer Beobachter, Der Angriff 

(Goebbels’s sheet in Berlin), and Der Stiirmer (Streicher’s anti- 

Semitic paper in Nuremberg). The storm troopers became notori¬ 

ous in nearby Union City and west New York City. Not only did 

they parade in public wearing uniforms and carrying swastika 

flags, but when they became involved in confrontations with the 

police and “communists” (as Schneider called the Ortsgruppe’s 

enemies), the authorities banned the party from holding public 

meetings. 
Even some Nazi members were displeased with such belliger- 
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ence. Ludecke himself, dreaming of one day commanding the party 

in the United States, was critical of the tactics of the Schneiders, 

Spanknobels, Gissibls, and Mangers. In the summer of 1932 he 

went to Munich and urged Strasser to expel the older members in 

America and re-establish the movement along less activist lines. 

Regarding the elder members (of which Ludecke counted between 

sixty and seventy), he bluntly informed the Reich organization 

leader, “They’re no credit to the Party. . . . They strut through the 

streets of German neighborhoods puffed up and loud-mouthed, 

parading their Storm Troop uniforms. As propaganda, they’re pretty 

bad. America doesn’t like strong-arm agitators, especially aliens.”59 

But Strasser refused to listen. He and others in the Reichslei- 
tung were told by Spanknobel that there were hundreds of German- 

Americans waiting anxiously to be led to Hitler’s bandwagon.60 
As the party in Germany was to do throughout its history, it fully 

accepted many of the exaggerated claims of its foreign groups 

about their successes, membership numbers, and recruitment possi¬ 

bilities. Moreover, it was extremely difficult to entertain ideas of re¬ 

straint when Munich believed dogmatically that its mission was to 

win the support of foreign Germans for Hitler, and alienating a 

few Americans hardly mattered as long as the NSDAP’s colors 

were being paraded. As for Spanknobel, the rosy picture he painted 

for Hamburg and Munich was to help vault him past Gissibl and 

Manger and into the leadership of the party in the spring of 1933. 

Petty clashes and power struggles also surfaced in 1932 in groups 

in Turkey, Brazil, and Southwest Africa. In Windhoek in July, the 

Ortsgruppenleiter, Ernst Wandke, was accused by dissident party 

members of having sexual relations with a black native. It was only 

after Nieland threatened to use the Uschla to expel the trouble¬ 

makers that they dropped their attack. From Rio de Janeiro the 

Auslands-Abteilung was informed in November that its local branch 

was creating a hotbed of discontent in the German community be¬ 

cause of the party’s blatant distribution of propaganda and its at¬ 

tempt to dominate the German School. Among other demands 

placed on the school, the local pressured the teachers to refrain 

from using the anti-World War I novel, All Quiet on the Western 

Front, in their classes. In a sharp letter to the party leader in Rio, 

Willi Meiss, Nieland’s chief aide in the Auslands-Abteilung, Bohle, 

ordered the group to stop causing trouble. Establishing discipline 

in the foreign groups was never easy, particularly when the 

branches had disagreements with the Auslands-Abteilung. During 
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the fall the leader of the Ortsgruppe Constantinople, Franz Reiner, 

quarreled with Nieland and a local German newspaper, the Tiir- 

kische Post, over the type of propaganda sent to the group by Ham¬ 
burg and printed in the Post.61 

About the only bright spot among the affiliates in 1932 was the 

Ortsgruppe Colombia, led by a German business representative in 

Barranquilla, Erwin Ettel. His success as a party leader was in 

large measure the result of his ventures as a businessman and trav¬ 

eler. After serving on a submarine in the Mediterranean in World 

War I, he worked during the 1920s for the Junkers Aircraft Com¬ 

pany in northern Europe, Turkey, Persia, and Iraq. In February 

1930 he became a top official in the German-Colombian Air Trans¬ 

portation Society, making frequent business trips to New York 

and aiding the Colombian government in its war with Peru. During 

the brief conflict he supplied the Colombians with German weap¬ 

ons and arranged for the training of Colombian pilots in Germany 

and the United States. Consequently, he was well known to Ger¬ 

man circles in many countries, and his entering the Nazi movement 

and forming an Ortsgruppe was greeted with enthusiasm by the 

German colony in Colombia.62 One of the few pre-1933 Nazi func¬ 

tionaries who could speak several foreign languages, Ettel was des¬ 

tined to become a ranking official in the AO and the German For¬ 

eign Ministry. 

Authoritarian Anarchy: Nieland and 

Lower Level Party Politics 

Nieland’s troubles with the foreign groups scarcely stopped with 

the strife and factionalism he encountered in them. On top of 

clashes (involving the Tiirkische Post affair) with the party’s Press 

Office and the Propaganda Department in Munich, he squabbled 

with other party offices over who possessed the authority to operate 

Nazi organizations in foreign countries. As his experiences illus¬ 

trated, politics at the lower levels of the NSDAP were not the bat¬ 

tles for power (about which much has been written) such as those 

fought among Goebbels, Strasser, Ernst Rohm (the SA chief). 

Goring, Himmler, and Franz Schwarz (the party’s treasurer). In¬ 

stead, politics in the lesser organizations was a chain of tiny wars 

interrupted by armistices and alliances that had little effect on 

either Hitler or the Reichsleitung. Despite the Nazi claim that the 

party was a totalitarian movement that functioned according to the 
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Fiihrerprinzip, it was in fact a picture of authoritarian anarchy 

caused by the dogmatism and ambition of party leaders and by the 

administrative chaos that characterized it.63 
Nieland’s competence in party affairs outside Germany over¬ 

lapped with that of several party offices. In Danzig and Austria the 

Reichsleitung had formed party districts that were answerable to 

Munich, and since February 1932 it had taken over control of Na¬ 

tional Socialists in Italy and Switzerland. Munich had also created 

in November 1931 a so-called Eastern Department (Abteilung Ost- 

land) under Karl Motz, to administer Germans in Scandinavia 
and eastern Europe. The Department, because of its encroachment 

into territory also under the jurisdiction of the Auslands-Abteilung, 

became the object of a complaint by Nieland to Strasser.64 

Nieland’s lack of popularity in the party also extended by the 

end of 1932 to several individual party officials. In the summer he 

tangled with Joseph Wagner, district leader in South Westphalia, 

and the argument became so heated that Nieland offered to duel his 

rival “with weapons.” Wagner accused him of failing to appear for 

speaking engagements with party groups in Westphalia, and the 

head of the Auslands-Abteilung believed that his “honor” as a Na¬ 

tional Socialist had been called into question. Discord even surfaced 

inside the Department, as his employment of his sister and father 

in the Hamburg office aroused a mountain of criticism against him. 

One in the Department who resented the “family affair” arrange¬ 

ment was Nieland’s close aide, Bohle, who believed that none of 

the Nielands understood their business, particularly since they had 

rarely been outside Germany. Bohle eventually resigned in disgust 

in May and only returned in the fall when Nieland asked him back 

to become a “district inspector” for the Department and promised 
to pay him.65 

Such strife was closely observed by Strasser, whose major con¬ 

cern was to build an efficiently administered party apparatus that 

would help Hitler win the massive electoral victories needed to make 

him Chancellor. To this end Hitler and Strasser announced in June 

1932 an impressive reform of the offices and departments in the 

Reichsleitung. The overhaul of the leadership came just in time, 

as the party soon found itself involved in costly Reichstag elec¬ 

tions in July and November and a series of Landtag (“state legis¬ 

lature”) elections. Strasser also hoped to improve the administra¬ 

tion of the foreign branches, but he believed this could be achieved 

only by Nieland’s submitting his choices for party leaders abroad to 
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Strasser’s office for final approval. The trouble in several of the 

groups, in Strasser’s view, could be traced to Nieland’s appoint¬ 

ment of “unsuitable people” as foreign leaders (e.g., Georg Wag¬ 

ner, a non-Nazi in Budapest, and Hans Sachsenberg, a suspected 
criminal in Constantinople).66 

Although the Reichsleitung received pressure during the autumn 

of 1932 to replace Nieland, it refused and even gave him a promo¬ 

tion. For one thing, in dismissing him, his superior, Strasser, would 

be admitting his bad judgment in hiring him. The fact remained, 

furthermore, that despite its mounting troubles, the Auslands- 

Abteilung had formed over 150 small groups outside Germany (an 

impressive expansion, despite their size, over the fifty addresses of 

foreign members Nieland had acquired in the spring of 1931), 

and was adding more daily. But this was only a tiny part of Stras¬ 

ser’s worries; his thoughts were focused mainly on the NSDAP’s 

worsening position inside Germany and on his own future. 

Still, he extended his organizational reforms of the summer by 

renaming the Auslands-Abteilung the Department for Germans 
Abroad (Abteilung fur Deutsche im Ausland). At Nieland’s urging, 

moreover, he upgraded the newly designated Department in mid- 

November to the status of a district organization and called it the 

Foreign District (Gau Ausland)\ a Gau (“district”) was the highest 

administrative level in the NS DAP below the Reichsleitung. Nieland 

was also promoted from Department Chief (Abteilungsleiler) to 

Gauleiter, and he thus joined in rank such party notables as Goeb- 

bels and Streicher.67 

But his advancement was short-lived. Strasser suddenly resigned 

on 8 December following the NSDAR’s demoralizing setback in the 

Reichstag election the previous month and Hitler’s refusal to com¬ 

promise and form a new government with the German Chancellor, 

General von Schleicher. Since Nieland and the Gau Ausland had 

been intimately tied to Strasser, the latter’s resignation weakened 

seriously the position of the new Gau and its boss. Hardly had 

Strasser’s letter of withdrawal to Hitler become public than several 

party leaders (among them Rosenberg, the party’s philosopher 

and rapidly emerging foreign affairs “expert”) began efforts to re¬ 

move Nieland and place his Gau in their hands. 
Meanwhile, Nieland’s troubles were compounded by difficulties 

which several of his affiliates suddenly experienced with foreign 

authorities. The Brazilian government dissolved the Porto Alegre 

local, and in January 1933 the government threatened to close the 
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German School in Rio de Janeiro because of National Socialist 

infiltration of the school and the opposition to the Nazis from the 

German colony.68 When Karl Kudorfer, the Vertrauensmann in 

Greece, held a rowdy and provocative “Hitler meeting” in Athens, 

the police banned him from further party work. Another action that 

caught the eye of foreign authorities was the racial discrimination 

practiced by the branches; following strict orders from Hamburg 

the groups categorically refused to admit Germans who were “of 

Jewish descent.”69 
Even the groups in Italy caught the mistrustful eye of the authori¬ 

ties, greatly displeasing Munich. When the Weimar government 

banned the SA from Germany in the spring of 1932 and the party 

dissolved the SA for a time, a number of unemployed and aimless 

storm troopers filtered into Italy and caused troubles for the local 

party groups (e.g., by stealing from members), native Fascist or¬ 

ganizations, and the Italian police. The problem became so acute, 

in fact, that the Landesgruppe Italy agreed to permit the Italian 

Ministry of Interior to arrest unemployed SA men and other “doubt¬ 

ful elements” who did not possess the NSDAP’s foreign passbook. 

By mid-February 1933 the affair forced Munich to dissolve several 

Ortsgruppen.10 The Landesgruppenleiter Brand, acting on orders 

from Germany, threatened to expel unruly members and to “pro¬ 

ceed with all recklessness” in the punishment of “undisciplined be¬ 

havior.”71 

Above all, the Reichsleitung hoped to assure Mussolini and the 

Italians that Nazis in Italy—despite their questionable conduct— 

posed no threat to the Duce’s regime. Before the Nazi seizure of 

power in Germany, foreign officials hardly suspected the party groups 

abroad of subversion or clandestine activity that would undermine the 

sovereignty of foreign nations. Although some governments observed 

the groups’ presence, rarely were the branches officially banned, 

and only occasionally were Nazi members expelled from foreign 

countries for illegal political activities.72 

This was not unusual. Most of the groups abroad were extremely 

small, their noisy and visible work hardly made them a serious 

danger, and they represented a party which had never governed 

Germany. On the other hand, there was little official intelligence 

work or “spying” done by the groups prior to 1933 that might 

have aroused suspicions abroad against them. Except for a few 

contacts with minor officials in German embassies and consulates,73 

the NSDAP possessed no espionage network abroad until after 

Hitler became Chancellor. In part, its lack of foreign intelligence 
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activity was because of its failure to infiltrate the Auswartiges Amt\ 

until 1933 only sixty-four of the roughly 2,500 employees of the 

Ministry and its foreign missions were National Socialist mem¬ 

bers.74 

While it became well known that very few of the Reich’s diplo¬ 

mats joined the NSDAP, a fact particularly disconcerting to Hitler 

and fueling his innate suspicion of them, this was not totally un¬ 

favorable for the party. The small number of National Socialists 

in German missions abroad helped further to conceal the true nature 

of Nazism to foreign governments and to preserve the party’s rela¬ 

tive obscurity outside Germany. Especially as the movement formed 

its foreign groups during 1931 and 1932, this anonymity proved 

profitable, helping the branches to remain free from harassment by 

foreign officials.75 

On New Year’s Day of 1933 the NSDAP counted 3,102 members 

living outside Germany, who represented the core of each party 

organization abroad. Most of them lived among the large German 

populations in South America, southeastern Europe, Southwest 

Africa, the United States, and China. 

Table 1 

Countries with the Largest 
Number of Nazi Members (January 1933) 

Country Number of Mt 
Brazil 348 

Chile 189 

Italy 168 
Austria 159 

Argentina 156 

Southwest Africa 149 

United States 115 

China 83 

Spain 80 

Paraguay 62 

England 59 

Netherlands 52 

Guatemala 51 

Czechoslovakia 50 

Mexico 41 

Portugal 40 

Sources: AO, “Parteimitglieder, Stand 30.6.1937.,” T-120/78/60145- 

60148; and Jacobsen, Nationalsozialistische Aussenpolitik, pp. 661-64. 
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Despite the advantages encouraging their growth, the Nazi groups 

abroad found themselves in the same demoralized state as that of 

the NSDAP at home. Many were split with factionalism and found 

it difficult to attract followers with their blatant propaganda and 

rowdy methods. They were also hurt because they represented a 

movement that had never governed Germany, and after the 

NSDAP’s reversal in the national election of November 1932 the 

party appeared to be further away than ever from ruling the coun¬ 

try. Still, the groups remained convinced that Germans abroad could 

be won for Hitler’s sacred racial and political cause by the same 

tactics that the party was employing at home. As future history 

revealed, the Nazis abroad had landed on a treadmill of chiefly 

meaningless and trivial activities that was soon to have far more 

influence on foreign opinion toward Germany than it warranted. 

Although buoyed by propaganda sent regularly from Hamburg 

worshiping Hitler and National Socialism, the foreign branches had 

not yet received the information they anxiously awaited: that Hitler 

had been named Chancellor and the head of a National Socialist 

government. But such news was not long in coming. 



3 
ERNST BOHLE AND THE EXPANSION 

AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE 

PARTY GROUPS ABROAD, 1933-1934 

Upon hearing that Hitler had been commissioned Chan¬ 

cellor on 30 January 1933, the small party groups outside Germany 

reacted with a flurry of enthusiasm and activity. In the months 

that followed, the Nazi political and social revolution inside Ger¬ 

many was accompanied by a determined (but disorganized and not 

always effective) effort by the affiliates abroad to win for Hitler 

total control over German colonies, clubs, and organizations. The 

three thousand National Socialists outside the Reich, with their 

Ftihrer now in power at home, believed that all Germans and per¬ 

sons of German descent abroad must be made to accept the Nazi 

ideology and support the new Hitler government. 

Foreign members watched with excitement as Hitler exploited 

the burning of the Reichstag building to give him a pretext to 

unleash a “reign of terror” in Germany/ against Communists, Jews, 

and “liberals.” The hated Geheime Staatspolizei (“Secret State 

Police,” or Gestapo) emerged, and the SA and Himmler’s SS took 

over the remainder of the important police positions. The new 

government set forth to capture the minds of Germans. On 13 

March a Ministry for People’s Enlightenment and Propaganda was 

created, headed by Goebbels. After the Reichstag election on 5 

March and the coercion of the legislature into voting Hitler dic¬ 

tatorial power for four years, many Nazi opponents landed in 

concentration camps, and the Nazis began the Gleichschaltung 

(“coordination”) of the German state governments. Hitler even 

moved to destroy the opposition in his own party; on the “night of 

the long knives” in June 1934 he coldly ordered the execution of the 
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SA leader, Rohm, and other SA and party officials. With the SA 

leadership decimated, the SS suddenly emerged as the party’s most 

powerful military arm. 

As Hitler sought to “nazify” Germany, the government began 

removing from its bureaucracy Jews, Communists, Socialists, and 

Weimar loyalists. Similar purges occurred in the professions; 

teachers, for example, were forced to enter the Nazi Teacher’s 

League (Nationalsozialistische Lehrerbund, or NSLB). To replace 

labor unions and rule the German working class the government 

created the much publicized German Labor Front (Deutsche 

Arbeitsfront, or DAF). Hitler’s aims were to destroy the Weimar 

Republic and bring Germany firmly under his authoritarian thumb. 

This, he believed, would enable him to revise the Versailles Treaty, 
rearm Germany, and transform the nation once again into a world 

power. 

His first moves in this regard came in the autumn of 1933 when 

he pulled Germany out of the League of Nations and withdrew it 

from the European Disarmament Conference at Geneva. The world 

reaction to the new regime and its policies was hostile. Particularly 

in the Western democracies, the suppression of freedom and polit¬ 

ical dissent, the attacks on the Jews, the dismissal of prominent 

university professors, the abolition of trade unions, the public burn¬ 

ing of books, and the campaign against the Christian churches 

combined to provoke anti-German sentiment among public opinion. 

Much of the respect for Germany among the Western powers that 

had developed during the Weimar years now reversed itself. 

This foreign response was heightened by aggressive and thought¬ 

less activities of the NSDAP groups abroad and their attempted 

Gleichschaltung of local German communities. Most party mem¬ 

bers outside Germany eagerly welcomed the nationalism, anti- 

Semitism, and revisionist foreign policy of the Reich government, 

and they made their admiration for the “new Germany” clear— 

often too clear—to their fellow Germans and non-Nazis abroad.1 

This campaign to dominate the foreign colonies was encouraged by 

Berlin and Munich, and particularly by the Gau Ausland in Ham¬ 

burg. The inspiration from Germany, however, was disorganized and 

haphazard, and the resulting work of the foreign party groups 

established a pattern of senseless behavior that was to hurt the 
branches throughout the Third Reich. 
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Hess and the Emergence of Bohle 

The poor communication between Germany and the groups re¬ 

sulted in part from a shake-up in the leadership of the Gau Ausland. 

In early March Nieland was named police president of Hamburg, 

and considering his difficulties during the previous months, it was 

not surprising that he was removed as head of the Gau two weeks 

later. The explanation for the dismissal was that his new post would 

prevent him from devoting adequate time to the Gau. His release, 

however, was more the result of intraparty politics and rivalries 

among several party leaders. Strasser’s successor as organization 

leader, Robert Ley, fired Nieland because Ley despised Strasser 

and hoped to rescind many administrative procedures that his 

predecessor had established. 

Another who wanted to strengthen his hand by subordinating the 

Gau to himself was Rosenberg, head of the NSDAP’s Loreign 

Policy Office (APA) formed in Berlin in April,2 who dreamed of one 

day becoming Hitler’s foreign minister. Although Nieland pro¬ 

tested the loss of his job, Ley replaced him with a close friend in 

the Reichsleitung, Rudolf Schmeer. Schmeer worked with Ley and 

Rosenberg; they ordered the dissolution of the party branches 

outside Germany and planned to rebuild the groups under the 

guidance of the APA. Ley added to the confusion by renaming the 

Gau the Department for Germans Abroad and removing its pres- 

tigious Gau status. 
The beleaguered Department and its independent control over 

Nazis abroad were saved only by the efforts of Hess, Hitler’s Deputy 

Liihrer, and Nieland’s former assistant, Bohle. Hess was himself a 

foreign German, born in Egypt. Hiving met Hitler in 1920 he 

immediately worshiped the beer hall agitator as Germany’s future 

political savior. Already in 1921 he had proclaimed to Germans 

living in Spain that Germany’s “most vital task is the recovery of 

the German reputation in the world.” To achieve this goal, he was 

convinced that foreign Germans could play a crucial role if they 

were mobilized for Hitler and made to support him.4 

His protege in the NSDAP was Bohle, who met Hess for the 

first time in March 1933. Bohle, whose thick brown hair, long face, 

slender body, swarthy complexion, and protruding ears made him 

resemble Hess more than “the legendary blue-eyed, fair-haired 

beautiful Nordics among the important party personages,” was born 
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in Bradford, England on 28 July 1903; three years later he moved 

to the Union of South Africa.5 Strongly influenced by his domineer¬ 

ing father, he was raised in a family where only German was spoken 

at home and where the greatness of Germany was continually 

stressed to the children. His sense of nationalism was also stimu¬ 

lated by his English schoolmates at Capetown High School; during 

World War I they ridiculed him with the nickname “Kaiser Will.” 

Because of his English education, he became a youthful admirer of 

the British Empire, which later prompted him to note that “I was 

absolutely fascinated and dominated by the conception of a German 

Reich which, in spite of a completely different structure, would, in 

every respect, enjoy absolute equality with England in the concert of 

world powers.” Upon graduating from high school in 1919 he was 

urged by his father to attend a German university.6 

He arrived in Germany during the following year and studied 

economics and political science at the Universities of Cologne and 

Berlin, graduating in December 1923 with a degree in commerce. 

After working with several export and merchandising firms in 

Hamburg, he purchased in 1930 his own automobile accessories 

shop, and he worked occasionally as an interpreter for the local 

Egyptian consulate. In November 1925 he married Gertrude Bach- 

mann from Cologne, a marriage that he claimed later was “a love 

match opposed by both families.”7 For both practical and philo¬ 

sophical reasons, he joined the NSDAP at the end of 1931 and 

began working in the Auslands-Abteilung. He firmly believed that 

he could be of great service to the party because of his knowledge 

of England, Africa, and other foreign countries—something, he noted, 

that was almost totally lacking among the provincial Nazi leader¬ 

ship. As a foreign German who had retained his British citizenship, 

he was greatly interested in the party’s Department for Germans 

Abroad and in the problems of his countrymen outside Germany.8 

He was also attracted to the party by its radical philosophy that 

mixed a fanatical German nationalism with an intense hatred of 

Communism and the Jews and a worship of Hitler as a “super¬ 

human” Ftihrer who would rebuild Germany into a world power. 

In 1931 and 1932, as the Depression deepened and the Weimar 

government proved itself incapable of meeting the crisis, Bohle be¬ 

came convinced that democracy could not succeed in Germany. 

He was firmly persuaded that it could never protect the nation from 

the danger of a Communist revolution; his glorification of Hitler, 
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in fact, centered around his deep fear of Communism (shared by 

many Germans) and his belief that only Hitler could rearm Germany 

and rescue the country from the “red peril.” He was also attracted 

to the Ftihrer because of Hitler’s anti-Semitism. Although he was 

not as openly crude in his denunciation of the Jews as were other 

Nazi officials, Bohle nevertheless disliked Jews and believed in the 

myth of a “Jewish conspiracy” against Germany, which said that 

the small Jewish minority in Germany dominated the important 

professions and controlled the larger cities like Berlin and Frank¬ 
furt.9 

Nor was Bohle solely against Communists and Jews. He had a 

profoundly hostile attitude toward religion, and after 1933 he was to 

become a fanatical supporter of the NSDAP’s campaign to destroy 

the Christian churches in Germany. He maintained that the Chris¬ 

tian religion was unsuitable for Germans because it had been 

founded by and received its orders from an “Asiatic” (i.e., Christ), 

and not an “Aryan.” He demanded the creation of a state religion 

where baptisms, marriages, and funerals would be secularized. 

His antagonism toward religion originated in his boyhood home; 

his mother was a Catholic, his father a Protestant, and the children 

were baptized in different faiths. The family had little religious 

education and never attended church or read the Bible.10 

When Nieland was removed and Ley and Rosenberg threatened 

to destroy the independence of the Department for Germans Abroad, 

Bohle asked to meet with Hess. They met in March, and Bohle 

made an appeal that the Department be preserved and that foreign 

Germans not be forgotten by the NSDAP. He maintained to Hess 

that dissolving it would cause trouble^ for the Hitler government, 

because foreign Germans would create their own political or¬ 

ganizations that would operate independently of Germany. It 

would be better, he suggested, to erect a disciplined organization 

controlled by the party than to permit groups in other countries to 

function on their own.11 
He also argued that the Department had a great potential value 

in foreign affairs. Its affiliates, for example, were “in the position 

to give the offices of the Reich party leadership vitally important 

material” on political and economic matters abroad, and they could 

take a “special interest” in “the question of the appointment of our 

representatives in foreign countries [i.e., ambassadors, consuls, and 

ministers of the Auswartiges Amt].”12 Thus Bohle had visions of 
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using the Department to “nazify” the foreign service, and because 

the AA had always been hostile ground for the party, his idea was 

pleasing to Hess and other leaders like Goebbels and Schwarz. 

Hess was obviously impressed with the young and aspiring Bohle, 

who informed Hess that he would welcome the chance to lead the 

Department. In sharp contrast, Bohle’s chief rival, Rosenberg, was 

making a very unpleasant showing in London, where he visited in 

May as a personal goodwill envoy from Hitler to the English gov¬ 

ernment. The would-be diplomat was criticized by the British press, 

indicating the failure of his mission, and he cut short his trip to 

return home a much weaker candidate for a leading post in the AA. 

In June the bombastic and drunken Ley created a number of ugly 

incidents at the International Labor Organization Conference in 

Geneva, which resulted in Germany’s leaving the meeting pre¬ 

maturely.13 As future history revealed, the record of such party 

men wishing to be diplomats was to be none too good, a lesson 

that Bohle was to learn. 

On 8 May 1933 Hess startled Rosenberg and Ley by naming 

Bohle the new head of the Department for Germans Abroad, but 

keeping the latter subordinate to Ley. When Rosenberg protested 

and tried to undermine Bohle by forming a Nazi Ortsgruppe for 

diplomats and the AA, he was thwarted by Hess and Schwarz.14 

But the greatest example of Bohle’s newly found authority was 

his meeting with Hitler in Munich in July, when a conference was 

held among Hess, Bohle, and party leaders from Portugal (Bur- 

bach), London (Bene), the Cameroons (Ruberg), China (Hasenohrl), 

and Egypt (Hess’s brother, Alfred), to discuss “new directives” for 
the Nazi groups abroad. 

Meeting with Hitler had the effect of legitimizing Bohle with the 

Nazi hierarchy and solidifying him in his new position, although 

he was never to become one of Hitler’s inner circle or close friends. 

Soon thereafter, on 3 October, Bohle was raised to the rank of 

Gauleiter and made directly responsible to Hess. Reacting to his 

promotion, he quickly claimed that his Department for Germans 

Abroad was now “the sole authoritative party office for all foreign 

countries,” and he informed his groups abroad that Hess had re¬ 

solved “many uncertainties in the movement regarding the com¬ 

petencies” of the Department. He also made his debut as an emerg¬ 

ing party figure by addressing a special conference (Sondertagung) 

of the Department at the annual party rally in Nuremberg in 

August. He discussed the “future tasks” of his organization, and 
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making it appear like a gigantic global structure, he boasted that it 

possessed over 230 party groups around the world (which was to 

expand to four hundred by the following summer).15 Already he was 

making extreme public claims, rarely tempered with qualifying re¬ 

marks, that could only arouse foreign suspicion toward himself 
and his country. 

The AO and Its Administrative Structure 

Bohle’s hard work, the elimination of Rosenberg as a rival, and 

his cordial relationship to Hess soon brought major organizational 

changes to the Department for Germans Abroad. In mid-February 

1934 Hess reconfirmed Bohle’s status as a Gauleiter, and he changed 

the name of the Department to that of Auslands-Organisation 

(AO). Subject to Hess’s directives, the AO was granted total con¬ 

trol over correspondence between party agencies in Germany and 

the foreign groups, and Nazis traveling abroad were ordered to 

report to the AO before their departure.16 A month later Hess re¬ 

affirmed the AO’s authority over the German seamen who were 

enrolled in the Seafarer Section, and by mid-1934 the Section had a 

membership of ten thousand.17 

While the changes meant little in expanding the AO’s decision¬ 

making powers, they were noted in the foreign press. But the AO’s 

growing prestige was especially underscored when Hess gave an 

address to a national conference (Reichstagung) of three thousand 

foreign Germans at the Nuremberg party rally in September 1934. 

Several nights later Hitler visited with twenty foreign party leaders 

at a reception. The attention from the Fiihrer was announced in 

the Nazi press, and it further legitimized the position of Bohle, 

the AO, and its affiliates abroad among the National Socialist 

hierarchy.18 
Throughout 1934 and the early months of 1935, the AO’s orga¬ 

nizational apparatus was expanded. A new information sheet or 

Mitteilungsblatt, containing orders from Hamburg for its groups 

abroad, was published monthly and dispatched with secrecy to the 

branches.19 The Landesgruppenleiters also found their duties de¬ 

fined. Following the Fiihrerprinzip, they were made subordinate 

to Bohle, yet, simultaneously, they were granted authority over the 

party groups in their country. No communication between their 

groups and Germany was allowed without their permission. If a 

Landesgruppenleiter disobeyed Bohle or proved “politically un- 
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reliable,” he was replaced. But to avoid such problems, Bohle 

personally selected and trained the party leaders, and when pos¬ 

sible, they were asked to travel to Hamburg for conferences with 

the AO staff. Many Landesgruppenleiters were businessmen who 

lived abroad and mixed politics with business when they returned 
• 20 

to Germany. Others returned for the Nuremberg rallies. 

The restructuring of the AO also involved an increase in the 

staff and offices in Hamburg. In May 1934 Bohle appointed Alfred 

Hess, the brother of Hitler’s Deputy and the founder of the party’s 

groups in Egypt, his Deputy Gauleiter and Commissioner for Eco¬ 

nomic Questions; Ruberg (who had returned to Germany from the 

Cameroons) his Staff Leader; and a young Ph.D. in English phi¬ 

lology, Emil Ehrich, his Adjutant. Several new departments were 

formed, including a Personnel Office (Personalamt), Inspection 

Office (Inspektionsamt), Foreign Trade Office (Aussenhandelsamt), 

Legal Office (Rechtsamt), Party Court (Parteigericht), Cultural 

Office (Kulturamt), Welfare Office (NS-Volkswohlfahrt), Repatriation 

Office (Riickwandereramt), Working Association of German Wom¬ 

en Abroad (Arbeitsgemeinschaft der deutschen Frau im Ausland), 

Youth Office (Jugendamt) affiliated with the HJ, and section of the 
21 

German Labor Front. 
Financing for the expansion came from several sources. Since the 

AO could no longer rely on monthly dues of its members to sup¬ 

port it, the party Treasury in Munich took care of most of its ex¬ 

penses. Funds were also contributed for special purposes from the 

Propaganda Ministry and from donations of wealthy Germans 

abroad. The foreign groups were financed through the monthly 

dues of their members, special subsidies from the AO, and covert 

schwarze Kassen (small collections employed for local work and 

never reported to the AO or Treasury in Munich).22 

The new departments that were most active in administering the 

groups abroad and in carrying the customs of the Third Reich to 
foreign Germans were the Welfare Office, Legal Office, Foreign Trade 

Office, and Party Court. The Welfare Office concerned itself with mo¬ 

bilizing foreign Germans for the NSDAP’s annual Winterhilfs- 

werke (“Winter Relief Program”). The Program was begun each 

fall, and the AO’s Welfare Office collected money and other items 

from Germans abroad and German businesses that could be dis¬ 

tributed to needy families in Germany. Those who failed to con¬ 

tribute were recorded by the Landesgruppen and blacklisted. In a 

few instances, as in Argentina, considerable native opposition arose 
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to the branches abroad sending the money gathered to Germany. 

But the Winter Relief collection was often a profitable operation 

for the Germans; in October 1934 Bohle proudly informed Goebbels 

that the Landesgruppe China had collected 165,000 marks (roughly 
40,000 dollars) for the Fatherland.23 

Since the Nazis believed that foreign Germans were not admin¬ 

istered adequately by the AA and its foreign missions, it was not 

surprising that the AO developed a Legal Office to look after the 

legal problems of Germans abroad. The Office was headed by Wolf¬ 

gang Kraneck, a judicial assessor and government bureaucrat, and 

it was designed to give legal advice to foreign party organizations, 

cooperate with the German government in supplying Germans 

abroad with private legal counsel, and draft legislative proposals 

for the government dealing with foreign Germans.24 But such ad¬ 

mirable goals notwithstanding, the Office concerned itself chiefly 

with juridical questions arising from the dual citizenship of foreign 

Germans (i.e., persons holding both German citizenship and nation¬ 

ality in the country where they resided). In a number of instances 

Kraneck and Bohle encouraged Nazi officials abroad to acquire dual 

citizenship to make their infiltration of foreign political organiza¬ 

tions easier.25 

The Nazis were also convinced that foreign Germans could be 

used more extensively in Germany’s economic plans. While the 

government began to rearm Germany and make the country eco¬ 

nomically self-sufficient, the AO’s Foreign Trade Office, led by Al¬ 

fred Hess and a retired army major, Eberhard von Jagwitz, tried 

to contribute to the policy of autarky by mobilizing the economic 

support of foreign Germans. The Fpreign Trade Office appointed 

an economic adviser who was generally a local German business¬ 

man (Wirtschaftsstellenleiter) in each of the Nazi groups abroad. 

The advisers, according to Nazi publications, sent monthly eco¬ 

nomic reports to the AO, worked to conclude foreign trade agree¬ 

ments for German firms, ensured the economic interests of foreign 

Germans, and publicized “the National Socialist economic view.” 

But most Wirtschaftsstellenleiter hardly worked toward such 

vital and noble goals. While many filed economic reports with the 

Foreign Trade Office (which always stressed the number of Aryans, 

Jews, and Freemasons that were employed in German firms and 

whether or not the firms contributed financially to the NSDAP), 

the bulk of their time was spent coercing foreign German busi¬ 

nesses to release Jewish or anti-Nazi employees and placing trusted 
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National Socialists at the head of German Chambers of Commerce 

abroad.27 
With respect to the latter, the advisers spent a great deal of en¬ 

ergy coordinating the Chambers, which were associations of Ger¬ 

man businessmen interested in encouraging German trade. Many 

Chambers had developed during World War I, mainly to protect 
German commerce and businesses abroad from hostile govern¬ 

ments. But following a conference of AO leaders with representa¬ 

tives of the Chambers (a meeting that featured an address by 

Hess) in Berlin in June 1934, an agreement was reached that 

placed the Chambers fully in the clutches of the NSDAP.28 For 

Chambers that failed to knuckle under to the AO, the reward was 

unmerciful harassment and pressure from foreign party groups. 

When Gustav Adolf Wulff, chairman of the Chamber in Chile who 

had influential connections to Chilean business, criticized the ter¬ 

rorism and stifling of freedom of speech in Germany, the AO at¬ 

tacked Wulff and ousted him from office. Wulff unfortunately learned 

that the Nazis could suppress the freedom of speech of foreign 

Germans as well as Germans at home.29 The episode, furthermore, 

illustrated that the AO worked at cross-purposes with the economic 

policy of the AA and German government. While the AA hoped to 

expand Germany’s trade (especially in the Americas and Far East), 

the AO and its groups eliminated (mainly for political reasons) 

German businessmen abroad who possessed extensive commercial 

contacts and who could have benefitted the German economy sig¬ 
nificantly. 

A similar policy was pursued toward German firms in foreign 

countries. The Foreign Trade Office did its utmost to control the se¬ 

lection of representatives abroad of German companies. Before 

I. G. Farben employees could be sent abroad, they had to receive 

“no objection” certificates from the AO, which judged the agents 

according to their “political reliability” (i.e., their racial purity and 

dedication to Nazism) rather than their commercial contacts or 

business prowess.30 When Hans Gast, an agent in Bogota, Colom¬ 

bia for the Gutehoffnungshiitte, refused to cooperate with his Nazi 

local, the AO ordered the industry’s central office in Oberhausen to 

replace Gast and recall him to Germany. To settle the affair and 

save Gast’s job, the firm had to appeal to the AA.31 

The Foreign Trade Office forced German businessmen abroad 

to join the NSDAP by threatening them with reprisals against rela¬ 

tives in Germany. The Office also blacklisted foreign German firms 
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that were anti-Nazi or that employed Jews. In the Balkans, Brazil, 

Denmark, Spain, and the Netherlands, the rabid anti-Semitism of 

the AO and its party groups became especially pronounced as 

German companies were pushed to release their Jewish workers or 

face the threat of boycotts organized by local party organizations. 

If the barons of big business in Germany disapproved of such poli¬ 

cies, they did little to stop it. Hermann Waibel, a director of Far- 

ben, praised the AO’s work publicly by noting that it “will result 

in the betterment of the entire nation.”32 Thus the racism of 

Hitler’s Germany affected the outside world as well as the Reich; 

Alfred Hess and his subordinates in the Foreign Trade Office were 

determined to play a key role in destroying what they alleged was 

the Jews’ stranglehold over the world’s economy. 

The Office in the Landesgruppe Spain was a model organization. 

It dominated the German Chamber of Commerce in Barcelona and 

pressed for the release of Jews and Freemasons from German com¬ 

panies like Siemens, AEG, Telefunken, Farben, and banks and 

shipping firms. Already by the end of 1935 the Jewish director of 

AEG in Madrid, David Falk, was forced to resign. The Office even 

dabbled in commercial espionage against foreign companies and 

governments. When Spain and Uruguay were about to sign a trade 

agreement in February 1935, it ordered its agents in Spain to learn 

the secret list of articles for trade in the pact, which the German 

government could use in bargaining for a more favorable commer¬ 

cial agreement with Uruguay and in easing out Spanish trade.33 

A serious difficulty posed by this increasing party work was the 

disciplining of the foreign groups and their members. The AO, to 

ensure that the Fiihrerprinzip would dominate the affiliates, estab¬ 

lished a special Party Court in Hamburg headed by Kraneck. The 

Court was created following the reorganization of the old Uschla 

system in December 1933, and the Tribunal was subordinated to the 

party’s Supreme Court (Oberstes Parteigericht) in Munich. The AO 

Court had specially appointed arbitrators (Schlichter) in the 

branches abroad, and their chief duties were to settle quarrels 

among party members, investigate cases of insubordination to party 

authority, and examine the worthiness of a foreign German to be¬ 

come a party member.34 Uppermost was the goal of concealing 

from foreign authorities (and Germans) any disunity or discontent in 

the Nazi organizations; at all costs the party’s image as a totali¬ 

tarian movement of fanatical Hitler followers had to be upheld. 

The Court and its arbitrators were especially careful to protect 
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the racial “purity” and political unity of the foreign groups. They 

expelled or banned from entering the groups Germans who were 

Freemasons or Jews, Germans who appeared to be “politically un¬ 

reliable,” and Germans who held foreign citizenship. On the race 

issue the Court was explicit. In a circular to the arbitrators in Janu¬ 

ary 1934, Kraneck instructed, “Predominant for the judgment of 

every case [i.e., membership] is the question whether or not the 

German reputation or the prestige of the white race has been 

jeopardized. ... A German who still insists on marriage with col¬ 

oreds or halfbreeds proves thereby that he consciously ignores the 

dominant view of the German people on the racial problem. He 

cannot become a party comrade.”35 

Bohle used the Court to remove unsatisfactory party leaders. 

At the beginning of 1934 he replaced the Ortsgruppenleiter in 

Budapest, Wagner, and a year later the Court expelled him from 

the party (whereupon he fell under the surveillance of the Gesta¬ 

po).36 But along with the Court, the AO had several other methods 

for handling troublemakers. On numerous occasions it sent special 

commissioners to groups that were experiencing difficulties; in the 

spring of 1935 it dispatched the Evangelical pastor, Langmann, to 

Mexico and Guatemala. In extraordinary instances, it cooperated 

with the AA in returning to Germany disobedient party members. 

Also, in checking the political attitudes of party leaders abroad, 

it worked with the Gestapo. The latter collected information for the 

AO and harassed relatives in Germany of unruly foreign officials 
to force them into line.37 

Institutional Warfare and Personal Ambitions 

If the Third Reich was characterized by massive power strug¬ 

gles among the Nazi elite, a similar but less significant series of 

battles was waged among lower level officials and institutions. The 

AO, despite its rise to a degree of prominence in the Nazi world 

in 1933 and 1934, fell into the latter category, and its less than 

amicable relations with other agencies illustrated much about the 

everyday operation of Nazi bureaucracy. When it suddenly emerged 

as a contender for the control of the large foreign German popu¬ 

lation, the AO became the adversary of several cultural and politi¬ 

cal organizations whose work also involved Germandom abroad. 

Bohle, often with the aid of Goebbels, sought to eliminate such 
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rivals by destroying their independence and by placing trusted 
National Socialists in key positions in each agency. 

First to be coordinated was the League of Foreign Germans 
(Bund der Auslanddeutschen), a cultural society formed in World 
War 1 as a community of interest of German citizens who had been 
pushed out of foreign countries by the war.38 The AO also infil¬ 
trated the German Foreign Institute (DAI), which possessed a large 
library for research on every aspect of German life abroad. With 
the appointment of a National Socialist, Richard Csaki, as its lead¬ 
er, the agency was quickly nazified. But Bohle and Karl Strolin, 
the president of the DAI and Lord Mayor of Stuttgart, quarreled 
frequently, and the AO never viewed the Institute as a political 
opponent. Wishing to be self-sufficient and collecting its own infor¬ 
mation on foreign Germans through its party affiliates, the AO 
rarely used the DATs research material. Much of it was published 
in an extensive statistical study, the Handworterbuch des Grenz- 
und Ausland-Deutschtums. But Bohle’s interest in foreign Ger¬ 
mans was political, and he had little use for the academic work of 
the DAI.39 

One of the bitterest enemies of the AO was the League for 
Germandom Abroad (VDA), whose purpose since its inception in 
1881 had been aiding foreign Germans in the areas of education 
and youth work. Headed by Hans Steinacher, it had cultural clubs 
and youth groups of foreign Germans. The conflict broke out in 
the summer of 1933 when the AO and Hitler Youth campaigned 
to undermine the VDA’s prestige by portraying the League’s lead¬ 
ership as being “aged” and out of touch with foreign Germans.40 
The VDA particularly resented the efforts by the AO’s Youth Of¬ 
fice and the Hitler Youth to build foreign HJ groups that were sub¬ 
ject to the party branches abroad. HJ groups blossomed in 1933 
and 1934 in association with the party in Greece, Belgium, Bul¬ 
garia, Holland, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, China, Southwest 
Africa, Argentina, and Brazil. Their activities included hiking, lis¬ 
tening to short wave broadcasts from Germany, celebrating Hitler’s 
birthday, learning HJ and national songs, dominating German 
schools, and training students in the German language.41 

Hess, in an effort to resolve the differences between the VDA and 
AO and unify Germany’s policy toward persons of German descent 
abroad, created in October 1933 a special Volksdeutsch Council, 
which was subject to him and led by Karl Haushofer, the geogra- 
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pher, and Steinacher. The Council’s liaison to Hess’s office was 

Heinrich Kersken, an SA officer.42 Although the Council was later 

reduced to an insignificant advisory body for Hess and the AA. it 

controlled temporarily the AO in matters concerning Volksdeut- 

schen and handled questions that dealt mainly with German minor¬ 

ities in eastern Europe. 
The main examples were the roughly three million Sudeten Ger¬ 

mans in Czechoslovakia and the large minority (about one million) 

in Poland, some of whom had been cut off from Germany by the 

peace treaties of 1919. In the former, ties of the Sudeten National 

Socialist party to Germany had forced the Czech government to 

pressure the movement into dissolving itself in September 1933. 

But the Council, Steinacher, and AA tried to implement a moder¬ 

ate or “traditionalist” policy among the Sudeten Germans, which 

stressed the welfare and protection of the minority by encouraging 

its integrity with the Czech government. According to Steinacher, 

both German-Czech relations and interests of the Sudeten Germans 

would best be served if Germany avoided interference in Sudeten 

German affairs by the NSDAP or any other unauthorized agency. 

Here he contacted and supported Konrad Henlein, leader of the 

moderate Sudeten German Heimatfront, which was dedicated to 

creating a united Sudeten German community to combat what it 

regarded as Czech oppression of Germans. This collaboration 

reached its peak in the spring of 1935, when Steinacher contrib¬ 

uted large sums of VDA money to the Henlein movement’s cam¬ 

paign in the Czech national elections. The stunning victory of the 

movement (renamed the Sudetendeutsche Partei, or Sudeten Ger¬ 

man party) in the May election led many observers to conclude 
that Henlein had now become a tool of the Germans. 

But Henlein’s moderate policy of assuring the Czechs of the 

loyalty of his party and of denying ties to Germany proved self- 

defeating. The Czechs remained unconvinced, and he found him¬ 

self the object of a massive attack by radicals in his party who 

demanded the union of the Sudetenland with Germany and the 

destruction of Czechoslovakia. The radicals were encouraged by 

Bohle and the AO, who worked through the Nazi consul in 

Reichenberg, Walter von Lierau, and mission official in Prague, 

Sigismund von Bibra. Not only did Lierau (who had joined the 

NSDAP in 1921 and the SS in 1932) and Bibra (who entered the 

party in May 1933) seek to subvert the relations between the AA 

and the Volksdeutsch Council, but they radicalized Sudeten Ger- 
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man youth and student clubs, supported anti-Henlein newspapers, 

and fomented discontent among Sudeten German nationalists. By 

the end of 1935 the Sudeten German party was badly split between 

the traditionalists and the radicals, a conflict that mirrored the 

fight in Germany between Bohle and Steinacher and which had 

serious future consequences for Henlein.43 

In Poland Bohle and the AO pursued a similar policy, despite 

Germany and Poland’s signing an agreement in January 1934 for 

the protection of the German minority. German nationals in Poland 

were headed by a Nazi mission official in Nromberg, Hans Ber¬ 

nard, whose effort to spread propaganda among the German 

minority favoring its reunification with Germany was concentrated 

in two Volksdeutsch groups, the Deutsche Vereinigung (“German 

Association”) and Jungdeutsche Partei (“Young German party”). 

Although the Polish government officially recognized the older unity 

organization, the Vereinigung, as the sole representative of the 

minority, Bernard and the AO supported the Jungdeutschen, a group 

of radicals that held racial and political ideas similar to the NSDAP 

and that demanded reunification with Germany. Bohle, operating 

through Bernard, tried to establish the AO’s supremacy over the 

Volksdeutsch Council in Polish affairs by infiltrating the Deutsche 

Vereinigung with Jungdeutschen. To nazify the Vereinigung and the 

major German cultural organization in Poland, the Deutsche Volks- 

bund (“People’s League”), Bohle also relied on his Ortsgruppen- 

leiter in Warsaw, Carl Burgam. 

But by the spring of 1935 Burgam and Bernard had only brought 

greater disunity to the minority. The AA and Steinacher, alarmed 

at the NSDAP’s apparent willingnes§>/to compromise the integrity 

and unity of the German community, opposed the AO vigorously. 

In April the German Foreign Minister, Neurath, warned Hess that 

the Polish government would not agree to its German minority 

being organized by the AO’s groups. Evidently, Hess was im¬ 

pressed with the threat to Polish-German relations, and he directed 

Bohle to halt his policy of “coordinating” the minority; increasingly 

the AA now intervened.44 
Conflict also surfaced over the AO’s activity among German 

minorities in several other eastern European countries. By the end 

of 1933 it possessed party groups in Bulgaria (led by Karl Brause- 

wetter, a doctor in Sofia, and Walter Rosengart in Plovdiv), Hungary 

(headed by Wagner in Budapest, who contented himself with 

harassing the local German mission and German-Hungarian 
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Chamber of Commerce), and Rumania. In the latter, the authorities 

had banned Nazi activities but the AO continued to operate an 

undercover Ortsgruppe in Bucharest. The party leader in Ru¬ 

mania, the Russian-born Artur Konradi, cooperated with the pro- 

Nazi Volksdeutsch leader, Fritz Fabritius, in spreading propaganda 

among the large German minority and in creating by 1935 a new 

nazified organization of German-Rumanians, the Volksgemeinschaft 

der Deutschen in Rumanien (“Racial Community of Germans in 

Rumania”).45 
But while Steinacher, the VDA, and the Volksdeutsch Council 

worked with the AA to unify the German minorities in eastern 

Europe, Bohle undermined Steinacher’s position at home by ex¬ 

tending his influence with Hess and the latter’s Staff Leader, Mar¬ 

tin Bormann. In the spring of 1934 the NSDAP replaced the VDA’s 

traditional designation of Auslanddeutsch with the Nazis’ more 

racial oriented term, Auslandsdeutsch, and in countries like Nor¬ 

way, VDA groups and the AO’s branches competed for the support 

of German nationals. When the exasperated Steinacher and Haus- 

hofer complained to Hess, the Deputy Ftihrer responded by remov¬ 

ing Kersken from his staff and naming Bohle his chief of Volks¬ 

deutsch affairs.46 

Bohle immediately took his promotion to mean that he possessed 

full control over all foreign Germans, and he increased his attack 

on the VDA. His Landesvertrauensmann for Canada, Karl Gerhard, 

after talking with Bohle while Gerhard was visiting Germany, 

bragged of having “primacy in all questions of foreign German- 

dom” in Canada. Without success, however, Gerhard tried to cap¬ 

ture the leadership of Canada’s principal Volksdeutsch organiza¬ 

tion, the Deutsche Bund (“German League”).47 Eventually, in 

October 1937, Steinacher was informed by Hess that he had been 

given a “leave of absence” from his position as head of the VDA; 

this prompted one of Bohle’s close associates to remark gleefully to 

the AO leader that another “bristly pillar” had fallen from compe¬ 
tition with the NSDAP.48 

For the moment, during early 1935 at least, Bohle had expanded 

his power beyond administering German citizens abroad, and he 

had won a major (albeit temporary) victory in the Volksdeutsch 

question. He later explained his ambition and drive to amass per¬ 

sonal authority by noting that the AO was not taken very seriously 

by many party officials, including Hitler. Bohle was known in party 
circles as the “gentleman Gauleiter,” and he was frequently twitted 
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for having been born in England. Indeed, he was never to be com¬ 

pletely “at home” with the party hierarchy, except for Hess, nor 

did he become an intimate friend of any of the highest Nazi 
officials.49 

He was blessed, however, with a love of power and an undying 

devotion to Hitler, necessities for survival in the brutal world of 

Nazi politics. At the beginning of 1935 he was secretly dreaming of 

one day becoming German Foreign Minister and using the AO to 

reconstruct the AA along National Socialist lines. Many of his 

Landesgruppenleiters and other functionaries abroad were begin¬ 

ning to view themselves as “party diplomats” whose jobs were 

more vital to Germany than its mission leaders. A series of petty 

battles was already brewing at the consular and legation level be¬ 

tween the AO and AA over which agency was to be the official 

German representative to the thirty million foreign Germans. 

In part, the hostility between the AO and Wilhelmstrasse was 

traced back to the suspicion with which the party and AA had 

observed one another before 1933. In Hitler’s eyes the career 

diplomats’ extensive education, international background, per¬ 

sonal friendships with foreigners, and knowledge and appreciation 

of other countries made them highly suspect. The mission officials 

were also taught a principle that Hitler detested as weakness: they 

believed in compromise, not only as a fundamental aspect of foreign 

policy, but as a general rule of life.50 

Despite such antagonism, Hitler did not purge the AA of its 

leading officials. Realizing that the diplomats could play vital roles 

in helping Germany project a peaceful image in foreign affairs and 

relieve the anxiety of its foreign critics/he saw little reason to bring 

wholesale changes to the agency. Also, many in the AA became 

convinced after 1933 that their own foreign policy goals were not 

entirely different from those Hitler publicly announced. They par¬ 

ticularly sympathized with his stress on peace and moderation, his 

anti-Marxism, and his demand for a revision of the Versailles Treaty. 

Examples of leading diplomats who were retained were Neurath, 

Bernhard Wilhelm von Biilow, Werner Otto Freiherr von Grtinau, 

Richard Meyer, Gerhard Kopke, Hans Heinrich Dieckhoff, Fried¬ 

rich Stieve, and Karl Ritter.51 

The party officials abroad viewed the diplomats with the same 

petty contempt as Hitler, and the party men urged already in 1933 

a major housecleaning of the AA, whereby only trustworthy Nazis 

would assume leadership of the Ministry and support without 
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hesitation Hitler’s foreign policy. The trivial everyday conflicts 

that surfaced between the party chieftains and diplomats centered 

in part around the desire of the former to replace the diplomats as 

the official leaders of the German communities. 

But tension among them was also personal in nature. Both 

groups lived in entirely different worlds that were not easily 

harmonized. The privileged position of the mission officials—their so¬ 

cial opportunities and high standards of living—often aroused feel¬ 

ings of envy among the Nazi leaders. The latter attached great 

value to their social status, which was partly because of their 

personal ambitions and partly because of their desire to be con¬ 

sidered influential by Bohle and others in Germany. Conse¬ 

quently, they made it a point to be invited to the social functions 

of the diplomatic missions, and in affairs where the party was 

formally acknowledged (e.g., at gatherings celebrating Hitler’s 

birthday), its leaders expected to be treated with the pomp and 

dignity accorded the mission officials. 

The party functionaries also reproached the diplomats for their 

alleged indifference to the interests of foreign Germans, and fol¬ 

lowing Bohle’s order of 28 February 1934, Landesgruppenleiters 

sent reports to the AO that contained personal data about the diplo¬ 

mats and that had the potential of having a decisive influence on 

the party’s attitude toward the officials and their families. Ac¬ 

cording to the directive, Landesgruppenleiters were to collect 

information about their mission officials’ activity in the NSDAP, 

membership in Freemasons lodges (which the Nazis deemed Jewish 

organizations), racial background, and politics during the Weimar 

period. Bohle instructed that the material be sent to him and that it 

contain a “summary judgment [of each diplomat] from the view¬ 

point of the movement [i.e., party leaders abroad]” and a comment 

on whether or not the diplomats “would be found worthy to be 

accepted into the ranks of our movement.” It was hardly surprising 

that the diplomat under Hitler discovered, in the words of Andor 

Hencke, the AA’s political expert for eastern Europe and Russia, 

that “more diplomacy and greater psychology were generally re¬ 

quired ... in his relations with the Party leaders than with the 

Governments of foreign countries.”52 

The resentment on both sides appeared in the spring of 1933. 

While some party leaders reported they were receiving friendly co¬ 

operation from their mission leaders, others complained bitterly to 

Bohle. Willi Meiss, the local leader in Rio de Janeiro, criticized 
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the new German Minister to Brazil, Arthur Schmidt-Elskop, and 

demanded that the German Legation in Rio be nazified immedi¬ 

ately. The party chieftain in Southwest Africa, Wandke, protested 

vigorously when the German Consul in Windhoek refused to fly 

the swastika flag atop the Consulate. He attributed the Consul’s 

action to his “republican attitude” and “Jewish wife.” Similar 

denunciations came from the Union of South Africa and China.53 

When Hess subordinated the AO to his office, a few diplomats 

became more friendly to the party leaders. In the fall Bohle pro¬ 

posed to his boss that a new Reich Ministry for Foreign German- 

dom be created that would be supervised by the AO and would 

handle the official government work with Germans abroad normally 

performed by the AA. When Hess refused to push the idea with 

Hitler, Bohle began holding private meetings with the head of the 

AA’s Personnel Department, Grtinau.54 From the conferences there 

developed in December 1933 a special agreement between the AO 

and AA regarding the membership of Foreign Service officials in 

the NSDAP. Accordingly, diplomats who wished to join the party 

were obliged to apply through the AO.55 

But the meetings and agreement failed to improve the unhappy 

relationship between the diplomatic missions and party leaders 

abroad.56 The party and AA especially clashed over efforts by the 

AO and Nazi Teacher’s League (NSLB) to infiltrate foreign German 

schools. During 1934 and 1935 there were 1,519 German schools 

abroad that were financially supported by the German government 

(with many more that were not); the total enrollment of the schools 

exceeded 82,000 students.57 While many teachers in the schools 

were well-educated German citizens op, ethnic Germans, the schools’ 

students included large numbers of non-German children, or “for¬ 

eigners.” The latter, the Nazis felt, made the penetration of the 

schools crucial: through the children, the AO and NSLB aimed at 

influencing favorably the parents and older generation, thus 

improving the image of the “new Germany” abroad. 

The approach of the NSLB to the schools was simple and 

straightforward. It sent them membership cards for the League and 

forms for ordering propaganda. Each school contacted was asked 

to select a group leader (who was, preferably, a German citizen 

and loyal Nazi) to organize its teachers along Nazi lines and re¬ 

cruit members for the NSLB. The group leaders were to form 

“working associations” from among their fellow teachers, and 

the leaders were to hold meetings that would be indoctrination ses- 
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sions on Nazism, and especially on the “racial foundations of the 

German people.” Some party leaders made their objectives ex¬ 

plicit to the teachers. The Ortsgruppenleiter in Havana, Cuba in¬ 

structed local German teachers that “pedagogy has to acknowledge 

that the chief function of education is political.” Determined to 

impress the point on his listeners, he continued, “With all educa¬ 

tional activity, the National Socialist ideology must be repre¬ 

sented. The significance of education in the school is that the teach¬ 

er must be associated with the [racial] community.”58 

While this blunt approach produced marked opposition from 

German communities in Rio de Janeiro, Sao Paulo, Guatemala, 

and Athens, it eventually worked well in schools in Tokyo, Yoko¬ 

hama, Bolivia, Uruguay, and several other Latin American nations.59 

The NSDAP even built new schools abroad.60 Such activities, how¬ 

ever, angered the AA, which began to fear that it would lose its 

cherished position as the official agency for placing teachers in 

German schools abroad. Already in November 1933 the Ministry 

had criticized the efforts of the NSLB to politicize the schools, 

but the clash especially heated up during the following summer.61 

The AO, supported by Rosenberg and the APA, campaigned to 

have the head of the AA’s School Department, Stieve, replaced. 

He was anathema to the NSDAP on two counts: he was not a Nazi 

member nor did he agree to support blindly the party’s policies. 

Furthermore, the AO’s Cultural Office, led by Bohle’s protege, 

Ehrich, had several fanatical National Socialists to recommend 

as Stieve’s replacement.62 Surprisingly (and much to the anger of 

the AO), he was able to retain his job, and the AA continued to 

have the final word on the appointment of teachers to the schools. 

But Stieve’s situation was threatening to become commonplace 

for diplomats who refused to hide their anti-Nazi sympathies. 

They began feeling considerable pressure to join the NSDAP to 

secure their jobs. In February 1934 Bohle approached Neurath 

about transferring Curt Priifer, a friend of the AO leader and a 

Ministerial Director in the AA, to the Personnel Department of 

the Ministry. As Bohle complained to Goebbels later, “we as you 

also are well aware, have in the Foreign Service a severe defi¬ 

ciency in National Socialist representatives of the Reich [i.e., 

diplomats].” Nazi appointments to the AA, he lamented further, 

were a “great rarity,” a fact whose change was an “unconditional 

necessity” for the AO.63 Hans Kroll, an official in the AA and later 

Embassy Counselor in Turkey, noted that before 1933 “it was 
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difficult and dangerous to enter the party,” but once Hitler became 

Chancellor, “it was difficult to remain out of the party, [so] that 

1 knew where my place was.” The diplomats were strongly urged 

to become Nazi members for several reasons. Sometimes, receiving 

promotions was aided by membership, and it was argued that 

membership would strengthen the authority of the mission leaders 

over German nationals and party functionaries under their juris¬ 
diction.64 

Despite the developing pressure, there was no stampede by the 

diplomats to join the party in 1933 and 1934. The party leader in 

Spain, Walter Zuchristian, reported to Bohle that only four persons 

(out of twenty-two) in the German Embassy in Madrid belonged 

to the movement. Leading mission officials who acquired member¬ 

ship included Erich von Luckwald (Albania), Edmund Freiherr von 

Thermann (Argentina), Otto Reinebeck (Estonia), Ulrich von 

Hassell (Italy), Heinrich Ruedt von Collenberg (Mexico), Viktor 

Prince zu Wied (Sweden), and Emil Wiehl (Southwest Africa). Yet, 

the foreign party leaders remained suspicious of the diplomats, 

and they recommended that only a few be admitted. In October 

1933 the Ortsgruppe London informed the AO of fifteen officials in 

the German Embassy who were unworthy of membership, includ¬ 

ing Hilger van Scherpenberg, the son-in-law of Hjalmar Schacht, 

Hitler’s chief economic adviser.65 

Organized Confusion: The 

Party in the Americas and the Far East 

While Bohle and Hess struggled t9 expand the influence of the 

AO, its groups outside Germany received little guidance from the 

Reich. As they had in the Kampfzeit (“years of struggle,” as the 

period before 1933 was called in the NSDAP), the branches took a 

back seat to the party’s more important activities inside Germany. 

When the groups began their campaign to seize control of local 

German communities and to replace the latter’s democratic adminis¬ 

tration with the Fiihrerprinzip, the groups were aided little by 

Bohle or the AO. By the spring of 1934, despite the poor communica¬ 

tion, the AO had succeeded in impressing on the affiliates that 

Germans abroad must be coordinated and made totally loyal to 

Germany. Zuchristian instructed his groups in Spain that they 

“must be in the position to rule the life of [their] entire German 

colony. The necessary strength for this will never express itself in 
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numbers, but solely in the unity, in the internal discipline, and in 

the resulting striking force that develops [against German ene¬ 

mies].”66 
During the spring of 1933, several groups, eager to act and to 

prove their loyalty to the new regime by disseminating National 

Socialism, tried to contact the AO for orders on how to proceed, 

but they received no reply. Since close ties with the NSDAP in 

Germany had always been a source of pride for the groups, many 

(like the Ortsgruppe Mexico City and locals in Southwest Africa) 

became disconcerted when they received “no answer from Ham¬ 

burg.”67 Without support from Germany, some party leaders 
abroad, such as the Landesgruppenleiter of Brazil, Cossel, found 

themselves helpless in disciplining their members. Several in the 

Sao Paulo local refused to obey Cossel’s orders when they learned 

he had not heard from Germany for several weeks, and it appeared 
68 

he no longer had the sanction of the NSDAP. 

Operating party groups and organizing local Germans were only 

two aspects of Nazi policy in Brazil and Latin America. The Ger¬ 

man government also sought to establish closer political and 

diplomatic ties there, to support native fascist movements (e.g., 

Integralism in Brazil), and to develop Germany’s trade relations. 

By 1935 the economic policy in particular had become so success¬ 

ful in South America that it began to alarm the United States.69 

In Brazil Cossel’s efforts were focused on the large communities 

in the south, where German-Brazilians numbered 520,000 in Rio 

Grande do Sul, 275,000 in Santa Catarina, and 126,000 in Parana. 

The Nazis used the communities, which were strong in import and 

retail trade, local manufacturing, and farming, as a major com¬ 

ponent in their rapid expansion of trade with Brazil. In March 1933 

Cossel was instrumental in drafting a plan for the AA that would 

have settled 40,000 families from Germany in Rio Grande do Sul 

and Parana and created a unified German state in the southern 

provinces. Although the project came to nothing, the NSDAP and 

Cossel pushed the plan, maintaining it would protect the racial 

purity of the Brazilian colonies from the threat of the large influx 

of Japanese settlers. 

Apparently, Hitler himself was intrigued with developing a 

strong racial outpost in Brazil and with displacing North American 

and Hispano-Portuguese influences throughout Latin America. On 

Brazil, he explained in private circles, “We shall create a new 

Germany there .... We shall find everything we need there.” 



ERNST BOHLE AND THE PARTY GROUPS ABROAD 65 

He added that establishing a Nazi foothold in Brazil could be 

achieved best through the local German colony: “We shall not 

land troops like William the Conqueror and gain Brazil by strength 

of arms. Our weapons are not visible ones. Our conquistadores 

. . . have a more difficult task than the original ones, and for this 

reason they have more difficult weapons.”70 

The goal of the Landesgruppe Brazil was to coordinate the 

German settlements in Sao Paulo, Rio de Janeiro, and the southern 

states. Cossel began by founding a weekly newspaper for the 

Ortsgruppe Sao Paulo, the Deutsche Morgen (which later became 

the paper of the Landesgruppe), and by sponsoring a beer party 

on 1 April for the local colony to celebrate the birthday of Bis¬ 

marck.71 Although many in the colony were conservative and 

nationalistic and therefore enjoyed such gatherings, most Germans 

deeply resented the Ortsgruppe when it began making extreme 

demands on the colony’s school. While the school’s director and 

teachers were German citizens, Cossel denounced the staff as being 

Marxists and insisted that the teachers become Nazi members. 

Also, he campaigned for the school to fly the swastika flag and 

for it to teach anti-Semitism in its classes. Such agitation quickly 

aroused the wrath of many parents, and after a hue and cry from 

both sides, the Nazis softened their demands as the parents with¬ 

drew their children from classes and complained strenuously to 

the AA in Berlin.72 

Similar unpleasant clashes occurred in other cities and villages 

where Nazi groups, totally unrestrained and receiving few orders 

from Germany on what tactics should be employed, antagonized 

their German communities. In Rio /Je Janeiro tension arose in 

March between the Ortsgruppe on the one hand, and Schmidt- 

Elskop, the German Minister to Brazil, and leaders of the colony 

on the other. The head of the local, Meiss, attempted to have him¬ 

self elected the leader of the colony, but failed. To restore order, 

that summer Bohle finally transferred to Rio the Landesgruppen- 

leiter of Chile, Kohn. 

Such shenanigans did not go unnoticed by the Brazilian govern¬ 

ment. Since 1930 it had sought to initiate mild measures to national¬ 

ize the large minorities (including the Germans) in the country, 

and in July 1934 a major step was taken when the President, 

Getulio Vargas, proclaimed a new constitution limiting the influx 

of foreigners into the country. Coupled with later laws, the con¬ 

stitution opened the way toward the official nationalizing of the 
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country’s large number of private (and particularly German) schools 

and the controlling of the number of foreigners in the labor 

market.73 Still, while local party groups seemed determined to 

make political pests of themselves without attracting much sympa¬ 

thy, their efforts were periodically crowned with success. When 

Cossel spoke on relations between National Socialism and foreign 

Germans in Curitiba, he drew twelve hundred persons; weekly 

meetings of the Ortsgruppe Porto Alegre (re-established after its 

ban in 1932) had over eighty members attending regularly.74 

The wide range of belligerent activities in Brazil was matched 

by party groups in other Latin American countries. In November 

1933 the party in Bolivia was reorganized; because of complaints 

from the German Legation in La Paz about Helmuth Knips, the 

unemployed and unpopular Landesgruppenleiter, he was replaced 

by Bohle with a highly decorated veteran from World War I, 

Captain Achim von Kries. Prior to Bohle’s reforming of the method 

for choosing Landesgruppenleiters, the NSDAP’s leadership 

abroad was recruited haphazardly, and anyone who was willing to 

serve was chosen. Consequently, numerous social misfits (e.g., 

Knips) and persons who were morally disreputable became party 

leaders, reflecting badly on the foreign groups and contributing 

to their failure. In Chile the party sponsored brief radio broadcasts, 

supplied a weekly propaganda page to the German newspaper in 

Santiago, published its own paper (the Westkiisten Beobachter), 

and held weekly Sprechabende,75 Nazi groups in Uruguay tried 

to seize control of German schools, which brought forth the usual 

resistance of many Volksdeutschen who despised the Nazis’ inter¬ 

ference and who feared repression from the Uruguayan govern- 
. 76 

ment. 

But it was in Argentina that Nazi penetration became es¬ 

pecially apparent. During 1934 Germany established close trade 

relations with Argentina and dispatched a new minister to Buenos 

Aires, Thermann. Thermann’s appointment was welcomed by 

Bohle, who was visited by Thermann before he left for his assign¬ 

ment, and by the Landesgruppe Argentina. Bohle, in discussing the 

minister with Hess, noted that “our entire work abroad would be 

much simpler if all Reich representatives were as positive toward 

the new state as Herr v. Thermann.” The minister was also greeted 

warmly by the conservative Deutsche La Plata-Zeitung, but when 

the German government and he were attacked by the Argentinisches 

Tageblatt, he pushed the Argentine government to prosecute the 
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paper. Hoping to destroy the nagging Tageblatt, the Landesgruppe 

pressured local Germans not to buy it, had the paper banned in 

Germany, and forced German banks and businesses not to place 
advertisements in it. 

Since several local Spanish newspapers criticized Berlin, the 

AO, Foreign Press Office (Auslandspresseamt) of the NSDAP, 

Ministry of Propaganda, and Press Department of the AA began a 

concentrated campaign to counter the anti-German sentiment. 

Articles painting a grossly pro-Nazi picture about Germany were 

sent to the principal party newspapers in Latin America, Der 

Trommler (published by the Landesgruppe Argentina), Deutsche 

Morgen, and Westkiisten Beobachter. 

But party activity in Argentina was not limited to spreading 

propaganda. Some of its groups allied with native right-wing 

extremist organizations, and the result was often violence. In Sep¬ 

tember 1934 bomb attempts were made on the Tageblatt, syna¬ 

gogues, and leftist organizations in Buenos Aires. Several months 

later a theater tnat had shown a controversial movie attacking 

Nazi anti-Semitism was bombed. Much to the anger of the German 

community, the Landesgruppe descended on the German schools 

and the Deutsche Volksbund, which was exposed in large headlines 

by the Tageblatt. It was only when Bohle sent his troubleshooter 

for South America, Kohn, to Buenos Aires, that the furor in the 

community subsided, and order was restored.77 

Kohn and his choice as Landesgruppenleiter, Gottfried Brandt, 

began the coordination of the Volksbund by forcing its chairman 

and a large number of its members to resign. In July 1934, Wilhelm 

Rohmer, a physician at the German?/Ministry and a National So¬ 

cialist sympathizer, was chosen the new chairman, and he gave 

permission for Volksbund members (most being Volksdeutscheri) 

to enter local NSDAP groups. Although Brandt and Rohmer 

represented the core of the party’s leadership, they contrasted 

sharply in their political views. Brandt’s specialty was Jew-baiting; 

he regularly carried in his pocket the latest edition of Streicher’s 

Der Sturmer, and his speeches at party meetings were anti-Semitic 

tirades. Rohmer had been one of the founders of the Volksbund, 

and while he was not a fanatical anti-Semite like Brandt, he was 

Brandt’s equal as an opportunist. Before 1918 he had been a 

monarchist, but during the Weimar years he had supported de¬ 

mocracy for Germany. Following Hitler’s seizure of power, how¬ 

ever, he had suddenly taken up the cause of National Socialism, 
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prompting one of his fellow Nazis to observe: “Indeed whatever 

direction the political wind blows in Germany, he [Rohmer] blows 

with it.” 
Through the Volksbund the NSDAP camouflaged its coordina¬ 

tion of the roughly two hundred German schools in the country. 

The party also organized a large demonstration with the Volks¬ 

bund, which celebrated Germany’s withdrawal from the League of 

Nations and Disarmament Conference and sent a congratulatory 

telegram to Hitler. A section of the German Labor Front was formed 

in the Landesgruppe, and it enrolled workers, technicians, and 

commercial employees of German firms and acted as a kind of 

labor union for the workers. Finally, the party infiltrated youth 

groups and sports clubs in German colonies and sponsored a sports 

contest in October 1933 that attracted 1,400 German and Volks- 
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deutsch youth. 
Outside Argentina, similar activities that appeared to meddle in 

the internal affairs of Latin American countries led to official govern¬ 

ment measures against the National Socialists. When the party in 

Guatemala caused an uproar in the local German colony by de¬ 

manding that the German school accept several Nazi members on 

its executive board, the government closed the school. Part of 

the uproar centered around the rabid Nazism of the party’s leader 

and a teacher, Walter Lehne, who was also head of a local Hitler 

Youth association.79 The foreign press also noted for the first time the 

NSDAP groups in South America. The New York Times riveted its 

attention on Nazi propaganda being smuggled into Brazil and Ar¬ 

gentina. In future articles the Times would significantly prepare 

the way for the myth later to arise in the United States that the 

Nazi organizations in South America represented a serious threat 

to the safety of the Western hemisphere and America.80 

Part of the myth rested on deliberate tales of sinister Nazi 

intrigue spread by anti-German elements, part originated with sen¬ 

sational reporting by liberal and left-wing newspapers, and part 

came from honestly held but erroneous impressions which many 

Americans had regarding Nazi activities in Latin America. But it 

was the party groups in the United States, with their thoughtless 

antics beginning in 1933, that also contributed to the myth. Through¬ 

out the 1930s Hitler and his subleaders generally ignored and 

underestimated “the significance of the United States;” as Bohle 

woefully admitted after World War II, “I did not know enough 
about America.”81 
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From its beginning the Hitler regime progressively destroyed 

the favorable attitude that had developed in the United States 

toward Germany in the 1920s. A number of factors arose quickly 

in 1933 to undermine German-American relations: differences over 

disarmament, problems involving trade and tariffs, conflicts over 

international payments, and sharp clashes between the political 

ideologies of the American and German governments. Nazi perse¬ 

cution of the Jews, hostility toward democracy, attacks on cultural 

and literary freedom, and the campaign to destroy the churches 

repulsed many Americans. In early March 1933 a delegation from 

several major Jewish organizations complained to Secretary of 

State Hull, and on 27 March they held a large rally in Madison 

Square Garden protesting Nazi anti-Semitism. The Department of 

State was bombarded with protests, and while Schacht was visiting 

the United States in May. an anti-Nazi demonstration with 100,000 

participants was held in New York City.82 

Amidst a public relations campaign by the AA, the new German 

Ambassador to America, Hans Luther, and the Consulate General 

in New York to improve Germany’s image in the United States, 

the local party affiliates moved in the opposite direction. They 
alienated Colonel Edward Emerson, an old friend of Fiirholzer 

who possessed connections to the influential United German So¬ 

cieties in Yorkville and the German-American Board of Trade, and 
the groups’ leaders began encountering difficulties from the American 

authorities. Manger, the nominal Vertrauensmann for America, 

lost his job and began thinking about returning to Germany. 

Manger was also attacked by his bickering Ortsgruppe New 

York. Neither he nor the AO could cohtrol the local, and by March 

a chaotic situation had developed. Even Spanknobel was forced 

to halt his work in Detroit, and in mid-March he sent an envoy 

to Hamburg to ask if he should return to Germany or try to carry 

on his activity by attaching himself to a German consulate in 

America.83 Hess, when informed of the mounting problems, in¬ 

structed Bohle that a continuation of the party groups in the United 

States was “asking for trouble,” and he ordered him to dissolve 

them.84 As it was to do in the future in other countries, the NSDAP 

quickly began a pseudoretreat in response to the American reac¬ 

tion to Nazism. 
On the other hand, Spanknobel traveled to Germany sometime 

in late March or the beginning of April and made the exaggerated 

claim to Hess and Bohle that thousands of German-Americans 
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were eagerly waiting for Berlin to form a genuine Nazi movement 

in the United States. Nothing could have been further from the 

truth, but Spanknobel’s view prevailed, and he returned to America 

with an order allegedly signed by Hitler to dismantle the NSDAP 

groups and to permit Nazi members to enter the Volksdeutsch- 

oriented Friends of the Hitler Movement (formed a year earlier 

and controlled by Hamburg). Some members joined the Move¬ 

ment while others, like the leader of the faction-ridden Hudson 

County local, Schneider, became disillusioned and returned to 

Germany.85 
Since the Movement was soon dissolved by Hamburg, most 

Nazi members joined a new organization, the Association of the 

Friends of the New Germany (Bund der Freunde des Neuen Deut¬ 

schland), created in May by Spanknobel. Although led by Spank- 

nobel and apparently acknowledged as a Nazi group by the 

Reichsleitung,86 the Friends included in its membership a catchall 

array of Reich nationals, Germans with American citizenship, party 

members, and non-Nazis. While the Friends was under orders from 

Germany to be less militant and less public than the former Nazi 

Ortsgruppen, Spanknobel exceeded his authority and became far 

too aggressive. To crush opposition to his rule among local Nazis, 

he employed the threat of force and violence; at the end of May he 

created a special Fighting Division (Ordnungsdienst), which wore 

Nazi-style uniforms and was modeled after the SA. 

Throughout the summer he toured the eastern United States, 

boasting that his new group was the sole Nazi organization in 

North America. Hoping to preserve a semi-American identity, he 

distributed leaflets and bumper stickers showing the swastika 

alongside the insignia of the Ku Klux Klan. Accompanying him 
was a small unit of the Ordnungsdienst, and during one of his 

anti-Semitic speeches in Newark, the presence of the storm troopers 

provoked a bloody brawl. In July the Friends of the New Germany 

held a convention in Chicago and it began publishing its own 

newspapers, the Deutsche Zeitung and Das neue Deutschland,87 

Spanknobel also carried his bellicose methods outside the party. 

He sought to seize control of the United German Societies (con¬ 

sisting of seventy clubs and 10,000 members) in New York and the 

German-American Society in Chicago, but his racist demands that 

German-Jewish groups be expelled from the societies and that they 

display swastika flags at their meetings were received with a flood 

of opposition. In September 1933 the Jewish members left the 
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United German Societies in protest against him. He attempted, 

in addition, to force the New Yorker Staats-Zeitung und Herold, 

America’s most prestigious German newspaper, to publish material 
favorable to the Third Reich. 

His downfall came in the autumn. At the end of September 

the Reichsleitung bowed to the furor he was creating by removing 

him as head of the Friends and ordering him “to refrain from any 

activity until further notice.”88 He was also undercut from Ger¬ 

many by Bohle, who directed two of Spanknobel’s accomplices 

from America, who were visiting Germany, to inform him to halt 

his activity. One visitor was John Wuerz, a former member of the 

defunct Ortsgruppe New York; the other was Captain Frederick 

Mensing, who had been Bohle’s Landesvertrauensmann for Ameri¬ 
ca since the summer. An official in the New York branch of the 

North German Lloyd shipping firm, Mensing had no party groups 

to control, and his only functions were to register party members 

in the United States and forward their dues and other contributions 

to the AO.89 It is also probable that he was to spy on Spanknobel 

and the Friends and report to Hamburg; his appointment, which 

was made without Spanknobel’s knowledge, was a further signal of 

the latter’s fall from grace with Bohle and Hess. 
In mid-October Mensing and the German consul in New York, 

Otto Kiep, asked Bohle to halt immediately all party work in Amer¬ 

ica. They secured his agreement, mainly because they were sup¬ 

ported by the senior counselor for American affairs in the AA and 

by the announcement of the opening of an investigation by the 

American House of Representatives (led by Samuel Dickstein) into 

pro-Nazi activities in the United States. Bohle agreed to a list of 

demands from Mensing and Kiep: only German citizens in America 

could become NSDAP members; Bohle would strictly prohibit the 

members from engaging in any party work; Spanknobel would be 

ordered to relinquish his leadership of the Friends in favor of an 

American citizen; and Mensing would ensure that the Friends re¬ 

frained from all political work while party members remained in 

the organization.90 
But many of the demands were more easily adopted than carried 

through. Before Mensing could return to implement the new policy, 

Spanknobel became embroiled in a public argument with the mayor 

of New York over celebrating “German Day” in the city, and the 

Nazi leader was charged by a federal grand jury with failing to 

register as an agent of the German government. His antics were 
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even discussed among President Roosevelt’s inner circle of advisers 

and noted in the foreign press. On the night of 29 October he 

quietly fled on a German freighter to Germany. Once home, the 

NSDAP gave him a hero’s welcome, and he became one of Him¬ 

mler’s SS officers.91 Although the affair had done severe damage to 

Germany’s reputation in the United States and had given consid¬ 

erable support to allegations by rabid anti-Nazis like Dickstein that 

Hitler had sent hundreds of Nazi spies to the United States, Ger¬ 

man leaders were fiercely proud of anyone who demonstrated blind 

loyalty to Hitler. 
Spanknobel escaped just in time. The night he set sail American 

customs officials began searching German ships for Nazi literature 

and propaganda. While the searches continued periodically into 

early 1934 and produced little evidence against the German gov¬ 

ernment, a massive cache of anti-Semitic pamphlets was uncovered 
92 

in New York in February on a German freighter, the Este. 

By 1934 the Nazi movement in America was probably doomed 

to failure; it had attracted public attention and was observed with 

suspicion by the American government. First the Nazi Ortsgruppen, 

and later the Friends of the New Germany, revealed to many Amer¬ 

icans a political and racial philosophy that seemed totally alien, 

and the groups played a significant role in conditioning many 

Americans to view National Socialism as a threat to the United 

States. But as the history of the groups was already revealing, this 

could hardly be true. Their work, much of it bordering on the 

ridiculous, was futile, and it alienated both Americans and German- 

Americans. In Germany Bohle, Hess, and other leaders were out 

of touch with reality in America (or else they did not care what 

happened there), because they stubbornly refused to dissolve their 

organizations in that country and held to the belief that German- 

Americans were waiting by the hundreds to join Hitler. 

While bigger troubles were brewing in the United States, the 

NSDAP found it impossible to form its groups in Russia and to 

penetrate the iron wall of security around the country that was 

Hitler’s archenemy. Hamburg was even forced in October 1933 to 

quit dispatching mail across Siberia to its groups in the Far East 

because the mail was falling into the clutches of the Communists. 

Since the Hitler government hardly relished a confrontation with 

the Soviet Union while the Nazis were immersed in consolidating 

their power at home and beginning rearmament, the AO com- 
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manded its Landesvertrauensmann for East Asia, Hasenohrl, to 

direct his branches in northern China near the Russian border not 
to engage in any “provocative” activities.93 

But in southern China the party made little effort to hide its 

intense hatred of Communism. While Sino-German relations were 

close during 1933 and 1934 and included strong military and com¬ 

mercial ties (e.g., German military advisers and weapons were 

sent to Chiang Kai-shek’s government in exchange for raw ma¬ 

terials needed for Germany’s rearmament), the party penetrated 

German colonies and exploited the strong fear of Communism 

shared by local Germans, Chinese, and the government. The 

largest and most active Ortsgruppe was Hasenohrl’s branch in 

Shanghai, which spent most of its time winning support from 

the local German colony and Consul General, R. C. W. Behrend. On 

16 March several hundred members of the colony attended a 

ceremony at which the nationalist “black-white-red” flag of pre- 

World War I Germany and the swastika flag were raised atop the 

Consulate General. In keeping with the order a few days earlier 

from the German president, Hindenburg, the “black-red-gold” flag 

of the Weimar regime was removed. Behrend and Hasenohrl spoke 

at the festivities, both denouncing Communism, and the Ortsgruppe 

sang the Horst Wessel song (the official tune of the NSDAP honor¬ 

ing an SA youth killed in Berlin in 1931).94 

Hasenohrl was also kept busy arranging for the formation of 

Nazi groups in other parts of the Far East. In 1934 he visited Japan 

and scouted the possibility of creating an organization there. 

Because of the close ties of the AA and the German army to China, 

the Berlin government had few contacts with China’s archrival, 

Japan. But beginning in 1933 and 1934 the NSDAP openly favored 

Japan and the establishment of stronger relations with Tokyo. 

While the party had been interested in Japan since the 1920s, 

the sudden fancy in her had developed because of the Japanese 

withdrawal from the League of Nations and the party’s specula¬ 

tion that Japan would soon go to war with Russia over imperialist 

possessions in the Far East. Hitler spoke about Japan on several 

occasions with Ribbentrop and Rosenberg, and Hiroshi Oshima, a 

highly pro-German diplomat, was appointed the military attache in 

Berlin. As a small part of this growing awareness of Japan, the 

first Nazi groups there arose in mid-1934 in Tokyo and Yokohama; 

appointed Landesgruppenleiter was a middle-aged businessman and 

recent convert to the NSDAP, Rudolf Hillmann.95 
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About the only concession Hitler made to Japan in 1933 was to 

dispatch a “party diplomat” and adventurer supported by the APA and 

Goring, Ferdinand Heye, to the Japanese puppet state of Man¬ 

churia. It was Heye’s scheme to shift German policy away from 

China to Japan; he hoped to do this by his government’s recogniz¬ 

ing officially Manchuria and developing stronger German-Manchu- 

rian trade (which centered around Manchurian soybeans). Over the 

objections of the AA, which feared alienating China, Heye blindly 

arranged a German-Manchurian trade agreement and promised 

German recognition of the country. But because of Germany’s ties 

with China, the Reich government refused recognition, the 

Manchurian regime responded politely by refusing the trade agree¬ 

ment, and Heye was so discredited that Hitler withdrew him from 

his mission in February 1935. The AO was also active in Manchuria. 

Its groups in Mukden, Darien, and Harbin, organized in June 1934 

by Hanns von Kirschbaum, pursued further commercial contacts 

and pushed for Manchuria’s recognition by Germany.96 The re¬ 

sults, however, were as unimpressive as Heye’s. 

The encouragement of trade became a principal task of numerous 

branches in the Far East. Foreign agents of the Krupp Steel Works 

and I. G. Farben were appointed Stiltzpunktleiters in Calcutta and 

Bombay, and German commercial employees headed party groups 

in the Dutch East Indies. Yet, the party was never to exclude politi¬ 

cal tasks for economic functions. Its affiliates in Australia and New 

Zealand became involved in bitter struggles when they sought to 

remove anti-Nazi officials from local German clubs. The Stiitzpunkt 

Auckland forced the president of the German Association to resign 

because of his “wavering attitude toward Germany.”97 

Minor Successes in Egypt and Europe 

If the main objective of the groups abroad was to nazify German 

communities and persuade them to support Hitler’s regime, no¬ 

where did the policy work better than in Egypt and in several 

European countries. But here again, such assertions must be 

qualified. It was only in Spain in 1936 and 1937 (and to a lesser 

extent in Austria) that the foreign organizations became significant 

agencies for aiding German political and economic expansion. 

Although an official Nazi policy toward the Middle East was not 

formulated until later, the AO commissioned party members there 
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in the spring of 1933 to build Stutzpunkte in Palestine and Iran 

and to reorganize the small branches in Turkey. 

Both the APA and Hamburg urged that Germany expand her 

activity in the Arab countries, and one of the most ardent advocates 

of this policy was Alfred Hess. He and several other Nazis had 

formed in 1932 active locals in Cairo and Alexandria.98 Following 

closely in his older brother’s footsteps, Hess had joined the NSDAP 

in August 1920; having served in World War 1 where he was 

wounded and decorated for heroism, he returned to Egypt in 1926 

and joined his family’s wholesale firm. After the Nazi seizure of 

power, he and several party friends began “coordinating” the 

major German colonies in Egypt. 

Aided by the German Minister to Egypt, Eberhard von Stohrer," 

the party in Alexandria gained complete domination over its colony 

and reorganized the community according to the Fiihrerprinzip. 

After a similar triumph over the colony in Cairo, the new Landes- 

gruppenleiter, Hans Schroder, happily reported to Bohle that “all 

German associations in Egypt” had given the party “unlimited 
authority,” thus revealing that “all of Germandom has been 

united.”100 Schroder’s groups were also busy spreading propaganda 

among the Arabs in Egypt and Palestine; it was anti-Jewish and 

anti-British and aimed at undermining England’s hold over the 

Suez Canal. The Germans in Egypt were also proud of the Arab 

National Socialist party which the NSDAP had helped to construct 

in Palestine. Anti-Jewish material printed in the Arabic language 

was supplied to the native party through the Egyptian NSDAP.101 

Along with its progress in Egypt, the AO concentrated its ef¬ 

forts on Germany’s neighboring lands in Europe. In several in¬ 

stances the results were noticeable, and they helped bring the 

progressive consolidation by 1935 of the intraparty power of the 

agency. Mainly because of the large masses of Germans in Europe 

and because they were within easy reach of the Reich, the NSDAP’s 
efforts there were more carefully coordinated from Germany than 

was its work elsewhere. 

Europe also ranked higher on the party’s list of priorities (than, 

for example, did South America or the Far East) because of its 

proximity to Germany and because of the latter’s being forced to 

deal extensively with the European countries to maintain security. 

But part of the party’s expansion in Europe was the result of the 

Nazi government’s massive propaganda campaign waged abroad to 
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counter foreign opinion against Hitler’s regime, and especially 

against its brutality, anti-Semitism, and persecution of the churches. 

Throughout 1933 and 1934 meetings on “the influencing of public 

opinion abroad” to soften foreign antagonism were held involving 

Hitler, Goebbels, the AA, and party agencies like the AO and APA. 

Hitler, in a remarkable moment of reflection on the situation, ex¬ 

plained at a conference in May 1933, “We find ourselves politically 

in an isolation in the world from which we can only emerge if we 
102 

are able to improve the mood abroad.” 

The answer, he surmised, was to flood Europe and the world with 

propaganda. All his fantasies notwithstanding, he was enough of a 

realist to recognize that his revolutionary goals (both at home and 

abroad) would be opposed vehemently in many foreign lands. To 

achieve his aims he cleverly combined throughout his regime 

propaganda, power politics, and a Machiavellian principle that 

said “justice is only that which serves the needs of the Nazi move¬ 

ment and German nation.”103 The party’s response to his call was 

to unleash in April 1933 what it termed “a defensive struggle” 

against the “campaign of slander” being waged against Germany 

by foreign Jews and Marxists. Hamburg ordered its affiliates in 

Europe to counter criticism of Germany by planting articles in the 

European press and by talking with discretion to “available foreign 

Germans” and “citizens of the native country” who were known 

friends of party members. Aiding the AO was the Fichte Bund, a 

highly nationalistic organization in Hamburg formed in 1914 in 

memory of the nineteenth-century philosopher and used as a secret 
cover after 1933 for Nazi propaganda.104 

Although few National Socialists in Europe had been in Germany 

since Hitler became Chancellor to witness for themselves what 
was happening, they combatted hostility in their countries to the 

Reichstag Fire affair, the purge of Rohm and the SA in June 1934, 

and other controversial incidents. Party groups tackled their propa¬ 

ganda tasks with fanaticism, and the opposition to their efforts 

from foreign Germans was summarized by a report of the German 

mission in Berne to the AA: “In the understandable zeal to ad¬ 

vertise for their idea. National Socialist organizations and locals 

in Switzerland make entirely too much noise. All too boisterously 

do they seek on foreign ground to attain a rapid development of 

the former German associations in their understanding of the 
terms.”105 

While the groups focused on propaganda matters, they also tried 
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to nazify German colonies and influence diplomats in German 

missions. They made sporadic progress. The Ortsgruppe Copen¬ 

hagen functioned as an intelligence service for the AO. As German 

Communists fled for protection to Denmark following the Reichstag 

Fire, the group sent Hamburg reports and press clippings with names 

of refugee Germans and stories of their accusing the Nazis of 

starting the blaze. The information was filed in the NSDAP’s 

records, and if the Communists (or their families) were unfortunate 

enough to be caught returning to Germany, it was used to arrest 

them.106 In London, Bene, the Landesgruppenleiter of Great Britain, 

developed friendly relations with Leopold von Hoesch, the German 

Ambassador. Considering Hoesch’s anti-party feelings, Bene’s 

accomplishment was no small feat. Described by Bohle as the 

party’s “most respectable local leader abroad,” he traveled to 

Ireland in May 1934, and with the aid of the German Legation in 
Dublin (and over the objections of the Irish President, Eamon De 

Valera), secretly formed a Stiitzpunkt in the Irish capital.107 

The party built more organizations in the Netherlands, which fell 

under the skeptical eye of the Dutch government and were even¬ 

tually banned. Not only did the groups infiltrate the police depart¬ 

ment in The Hague and become involved in street brawls with 

Communists, they followed their dictator, Patzig, who commanded 

them to coordinate at all costs their respective German communi¬ 

ties. By the autumn of 1934 the groups had conquered and re¬ 

organized colonies according to the Fuhrerprinzip in Amsterdam, 

Eindhoven, Utrecht, Rotterdam, The Hague, Helmond, Tilburg, 

and Alkmaar. As a result, the government outlawed foreign politi¬ 

cal organizations, but the NSDAP countered by creating undercover 

branches called the Reichsdeutsche Gemeinschaft (“Assocation 

of Reich Citizens”).108 
Although the party’s work brought a deterioration in official 

German-Dutch relations, Patzig continued to act like Hitler’s per¬ 

sonal “governor” for the Netherlands, and he became too brazen 

and bombastic for even his German superiors. When he wildly de¬ 

manded in party propaganda that Germany annex the Netherlands 

and when the Dutch threatened to expel him, Bohle dismissed him 

as Landesgruppenleiter. He was replaced by a retired army officer 

in Rotterdam, Major A. R. Witte, who became the party’s “Foreign 

Commissioner for the Netherlands.” Witte supported native pro- 

Nazi movements like Mussert’s Dutch National Socialist party and 

the National Socialist Netherlands Workers’ party, which cam- 
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paigned for a “greater Netherlands, including Flemish Belgium, 

affiliated with the Third Reich.”109 
While party groups in Belgium, Bulgaria, Greece, and Albania 

sought to coordinate their German colonies,110 active branches in 

Italy placed their men at the head of communities in Rome, Naples, 

Genoa, Florence, and Milan. Brand, the Landesgruppenleiter, sent 

trains carrying several hundred party members and Germans from 

Rome, Florence, and Milan to Munich to vote for the Nazis in the 

Reichstag election on 5 March 1933.111 While Brand ordered his 

groups not to alienate Mussolini’s government by wearing uni¬ 

forms, flying swastika flags, or holding provocative meetings, the 

AO instructed the locals, “The National Socialist movement is 

sympathetic to Fascism. The German people are pleased that both 

nations are bound by the same foreign policy aims.” When Brand 

proved incapable of ensuring that the branches in the South Tirol 

would follow the pro-Fascist line, he was relieved of his post, and 

the most troublesome affiliate, Meran, was dissolved and reorganized 

under new leadership.112 Because of feelings of irredenta and be¬ 

cause of repression by the Fascists, German-Austrians in the 

Tirol were hardly as enthusiastic about Mussolini as were Hitler 

and the NSDAP. 

When it came to Austria Mussolini correctly suspected that the 

Hitler government would be a danger to Italian interests. In Austria, 

the party had operated since August 1926 an organization of German 

nationals that had agitated for the unification of Austria with 

Germany. Led by Alfred Frauenfeld, the Gauleiter of Vienna, 

and Theo Habicht, a Reichstag member, the party created SA 

formations, Hitler Youth groups, and student clubs. Frauenfeld 

also helped to develop an Austrian National Socialist movement, 

which aimed at overthrowing the Austrian government headed by 

the Christian Socialist Chancellor, Dollfuss. Habicht undermined the 

Dollfuss government by distributing propaganda, holding demon¬ 

strations, and radicalizing the Austrian Nazis. By the summer of 

1933 such activity had expanded to include bombings and other 

acts of terrorism. The government reacted sharply by banning the 

NSDAP, SA, SS, and other rightist groups. Habicht quickly fled 

to Germany, and Frauenfeld was later arrested and imprisoned on 

suspicion of high treason; he was released in January 1934, and 

he too escaped to Germany. 

The ban of the party forced it to move underground and to claim 

to the Austrian authorities (and Mussolini) that Germans in Austria 



ERNST BOHLE AND THE PARTY GROUPS ABROAD 79 

had nothing to do with the Austrian National Socialists who were 

allegedly causing the trouble. But Habicht continued to lead the 

subversive campaign from Munich, piping propaganda by radio 

into Austria and dropping leaflets by plane which attacked Dollfuss 

and called on the Austrians to rise against their weak government. 

Hitler pushed hard toward a Nazi takeover in Austria, primarily 

through internal disruption and terror supported by outside pres¬ 

sure from Germany.113 

To complicate matters, Nazi groups in the South Tirol were 

caught smuggling propaganda, explosives, and weapons across the 

border to the illegal Austrian Nazis. In February 1934 the Italian 

police arrested the Ortsgruppenleiter of Trieste, Berger, and found 

his house full of ammunition and propaganda earmarked for 

Austria. Although the AO removed Berger from his post and Hess 

ordered a halt to the smuggling, arrests of party members con¬ 

tinued, and Nazi work in Italy came under the close scrutiny of 

the Italian press. As late as September Nazi activists like Richard 

Koderle, deprived of his Austrian citizenship in 1933 for illegal 

activities, were expelled from the South Tirol.114 Koderle was re¬ 

warded for his “sacrifice” with a leading position in the AO in 

Hamburg. 

But after the brutal murder of Dollfuss and the attempted over¬ 

throw of the democratic regime by the Austrian Nazis on 25 July 

1934, Bohle began secretly to rebuild the NSDAP’s group of Ger¬ 

man nationals in Austria. In October and November 1934 he 

negotiated with Hess and the German Minister in Vienna, Papen, 

to prepare the groundwork for the AO’s takeover of the major 

German organization for Reich citizens, the Bund der Reichsdeut- 

schen in Osterreich (“League of German Citizens in Austria”). 

The League, formed in 1919 and headquartered in Vienna, had 

numerous clubs and associations and claimed the allegiance of 

roughly 27,000 Germans. Bohle’s negotiations (which involved a 

visit to Vienna to confer with Papen) were crowned with success 

in April 1935, when Hess gave him full authority over German na¬ 

tionals in Austria. 
The expansion of his authority to Austria was particularly dis¬ 

concerting to Papen, who had been sent by Hitler to Vienna to 

centralize Germany’s Austrian policy and to return it to the pre- 

July tactic of “peaceful infiltration.” Before accepting Hitler’s 

appointment, Papen had laid down several conditions, including the 

severing of all relations between the German and Austrian Nazi 
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movements and the establishing of the union of Germany and 
Austria through strictly evolutionary means. Such a policy was 
necessary, he maintained, to relax international tension following 
the Dollfuss murder and until Austria could be removed from the 
world spotlight.115 But, if Papen had visions of centralizing Ger¬ 
many’s effort in Austria, Bohle had other ideas. While the AO 
used the League of German Citizens in Austria as a cover for its 
organizations, it decided early to recruit Austrians for its groups. 
Although Hess had ordered Frauenfeld and Habicht in August 1934 
to “have nothing at all to do with the National Socialists in Austria,” 
Bohle informed the AA at the end of the year that his groups in 
Austria could include Austrians.116 

The AO wasted little time in coordinating the League of German 
Citizens. In August 1935 the League’s chairman was forced out by 
an internal rebellion of pro-Nazi radicals led by Vertrauensmanner 
of the AO. The latter included the new director of the League, 
Robert Gunther, and an ambitious SS doctor and HJ leader in 
Lindau, Otto Butting. They purged the League’s membership rolls 
of Austrian names, communicated closely with Hamburg, sent dues 
collected from Nazi members to the Reich, and quarreled with 
Papen. Butting, who had been active in the Landesgruppe Switzer¬ 
land, reorganized the League into Ortsgruppen led by loyal Nazis 
and directed centrally from Vienna by Gunther. Butting was also 
an agent of the German Security Service (Sicherheitsdienst, or 
SD).117 

As the Germans continued to work in Austria (despite Hitler’s 
public claims to the contrary), the NSDAP developed branches in 
France and Spain, and it expanded its activity in Portugal. In 
Paris, above the disapproval of the German Ambassador Roland 
Roster, a group of one hundred members celebrated (on Bohle’s 
order) the murder of Dollfuss. In Spain most of the large German 
population was comprised of persons who had emigrated in the 
nineteenth century or Germans who had moved from the Came- 
roons following their expulsion from Africa in World War I. But 
Burbach, the party’s “Foreign Commissioner for Portugal and 
Spain,” built his organizations from young Germans who detested 
the Weimar Republic and who had fled Germany since 1920.118 

In June 1933 Burbach and Bohle named Zuchristian, an employee 
of the Siemens corporation in Madrid, as Landesgruppenleiter, 
and he rapidly created twenty-seven Ortsgruppen, twelve 
Stutzpunkte, and eight Zellen in the country and in Spanish 
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Morocco. Under his orders the groups met regularly each month at 

Kontrollversammlung (meetings closed to nonparty members), 

Werbeversammlung (propaganda meetings attended by outsiders or 

guests of members), and Kameradschaftsabende (social gatherings 
for cultivating the “spirit of comradeship” of the groups). The 

Madrid local was divided into Zellen, each operated by a cell fore¬ 

man (Zellenobmann) responsible for knowing the members in his 

area of the city, their ability to perform party work, and their 

“special relations” to the press. The cell leader also made certain 

that his people were ready to participate in party jobs. When the 

Ortsgruppe Madrid demanded such services, the members were 

instructed that “private and social interests must be largely de¬ 

ferred” and that those who refused to work would be expelled 
from the NSDAP. 

The groups in Spain devoted a great deal of time to propaganda 

and press work. They sent reports to the AO about Spanish news¬ 

papers, radio, and film; the political stance of the papers was noted, 

and the Landesgruppe informed Hamburg which papers were sus¬ 

ceptible to Nazi influence. The party also harassed German busi¬ 

nesses that advertised in papers that were anti-German. The left- 

wing and republican press, in response to the party’s work, attacked 

the Ortsgruppe Madrid’s propaganda and infiltration of the German 

school.119 

The Landesgruppe rapidly developed into a model organization. 

It became involved in a variety of matters that included arranging 

for the arrest by Spanish police of Germans who were anti-Nazi 

and spying on Nazi political enemies. In September 1935 it success¬ 

fully infiltrated Otto Strasser’s Schwarze Front (“Black Front”) 

and destroyed the group’s system for smuggling anti-Hitler propa¬ 

ganda to Germany.120 The party also kept German diplomats in 

Spain under surveillance, thereby following the directive from Bohle 

in February 1934 ordering Landesgruppenleiters to make character 

studies of the diplomats.121 

The party in Spanish Morocco was comprised of German busi¬ 

nessmen, engineers, and former officers of the Schwarze Reichswehr 

(“Black Army”), the illegal units of the German army during the 
Weimar Republic. Led by the Ortsgruppenleiter of Tetuan, Adolf 

Langenheim, the party developed intimate contacts with local 

Italian Fascists. The anti-Jewish propaganda of Langenheim and 

another party official, Karl Schlichting, attracted considerable atten¬ 

tion from the authorities. When the police in French Morocco 
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learned that propaganda denouncing the Jews and Versailles Treaty 

had been sent from the Ortsgruppe Tetuan, the French appealed to 

the Spanish to prevent the local from continuing its work. In 

response, houses of Germans in Tetuan were searched and local 

party functionaries like Schlichting, whose guilt he would admit 

only to Zuchristian, were interrogated. Nor was the party’s handi¬ 

work ignored outside Morocco. The foreign press ran sensational 

headlines about “Nazi Propaganda in Morocco” and about the 

arrest of German agents, which only damaged further Germany’s 

reputation and fueled the impression that Nazi spies were every¬ 

where.122 

The events of 1933 and 1934 were vital to the future of the Nazi 

party abroad, its ultimate failure to conquer foreign Germandom, 

and its feud with the AA. Amidst the confusion caused by the 

seizure of power in Germany and by the lack of restraint on the 

party’s foreign branches, the latter embarked on a pattern of 

behavior that could only be harmful to Germany. Most of their 

work among foreign Germans—from spreading blatant racial and 

political propaganda to threatening the freedom of German firms 

and businessmen abroad—was futile, because its base was far too 

narrow and selfish to contain anything attractive to the outside 

world. 

While alienating both Germans and foreigners, such activities fed 

(with the brutal nature of Hitler’s regime) the suspicion of many 

in the Western world that Germany was aggressive and potentially 

dangerous. In this respect, the groups already exercised an influence 

over foreign opinion that was vastly out of proportion to their small 

organizations, which had poor communication with Germany, 

lacked discipline, and were dominated by petty quarrels. Bohle, 

with his bombastic claims about the size of the AO and how it 

ruled all Germans abroad, compounded the comedy of errors. The 

fact that he and higher ranking leaders (like Hess and Hitler) 

refused to restrain foreign party members indicated that the Ger¬ 

mans cared little about earning the world’s respect and coopera¬ 

tion. By seeking to carry the customs and attitudes of the Third 

Reich to Germans outside Germany, the NSDAP was contributing 

to the other factors in Hitler’s policies that were to undermine 

feelings of security in the world and to prepare the atmosphere for 
war. 



4 
THE AO: MIXING PARTY AFFAIRS 

WITH DIPLOMACY, 1935-1937 

By the beginning of 1935 Hitler had consolidated his dicta¬ 

torship and started his bid to make Germany a world power. Al¬ 

though he stressed his desire to live at peace with Europe (as shown 

by his treaty with Poland), Germany’s withdrawal from the League 

of Nations and European Disarmament Conference had suggested 

otherwise. His confidence was strengthened by the domestic trou¬ 

bles in 1934 of the Austrian and French governments and by the 

death of his only political superior in Germany, Hindenburg. In 

immodest fashion he seized the powers of the Presidency and took 

the title of “Fiihrer and Chancellor.” 

He wasted little time in shocking the world by bringing a revolu¬ 

tion to the power relationships of Europe. Making a shambles of 

the Versailles Treaty and Locarno Pact, Germany increased its 

armed forces, signed a naval agreemepi with the English, moved its 

army into the demilitarized Rhineland, unleashed a rearmament 

program, and established the Anti-Comintern Pact with Japan and 

Italy. By the end of 1936 Germany had replaced France and Britain 

as the major power in Europe. 

A hint of what had happened was revealed in the summer of 1936 

when Hitler and Mussolini supported General Franco’s forces in 

the Spanish Civil War. The democracies chose to appease the dic¬ 

tators by refusing to help the Spanish Republicans. By November 

1937 Hitler had become so bold because of his foreign successes 

that he secretly informed his generals that Germany needed more 

Lebensraum to support her people; Austria and Czechoslovakia, he 

noted, must be conquered soon if the international situation per¬ 

mitted.' 
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One indication (among the many) of Germany’s growing belli¬ 

gerency in foreign relations was the persistent work of the Nazi 

party abroad, the meddling by its foreign groups into the domestic 

affairs of their host countries, and the sharpening of the attack by 

the AO on the Auswartiges Amt. As 1935 dawned the AO boasted 

of possessing five hundred groups abroad and of employing over 170 

officials and secretaries in its offices in Hamburg. On 20 March it 

moved its headquarters to Berlin, where Bohle and other function¬ 

aries were ceremoniously welcomed to the busy political life of the 

capital by representatives from the city, the AA, and the Propa¬ 

ganda Ministry, and by the President of the Iberian-American In¬ 

stitute (Ibero-Amerika Institut), the retired General, Wilhelm Fau- 

pel.2 Bohle’s rising significance brought him a private discussion 

on foreign Germandom with Hitler, which resulted in the upgrading 

of the AO to the status of a Gau organization in the party. Hitler, 

to identify AO leaders, even approved a special insignia, the so- 

called “AO diamond” (Raute) for them to wear on party uniforms.3 

Anti-Communism in Latin 

America and the Bund in the United States 

The AO was especially proud of the progress of its organizations 

in Latin America. From the larger states pleasant news often trick¬ 

led into Berlin; on 1 May the party led rallies allegedly involving 

twenty-five thousand persons in Sao Paulo and eleven thousand in 

Buenos Aires. Particularly friendly relations were established be¬ 

tween Germany and Brazil. Trade between them increased sharply, 

and the authoritarian government of Vargas moved closer to Berlin 

politically by opening a strong campaign against Communism in 

Brazil. Following a Communist uprising in November 1935 Vargas 

dissolved the local Communist party and forced it underground. The 

government extradited to Germany a group of Brazilian revolu¬ 

tionaries of German descent, including the wife of the chairman 

of the Communist party, Olga Benario. 

At the beginning of 1936 the Gestapo started unofficial negotia¬ 

tions with Felinto Muller, chief of police in Rio de Janeiro, and 

Captain A. H. Miranda Correa, head of the Brazilian police, for 

an agreement that would provide for an exchange of German and 

Brazilian police for training purposes and for an exchange of infor¬ 

mation about the Communists and their activities. A year later a 

group of Brazilian secret police were Himmler’s guests in Germany 
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to learn about the methods of the Gestapo. Such contacts were 

aided by the Landesgruppe Brazil, which negotiated during 1937 

with the Brazilian Minister of Justice, F. Luis da Silva, to arrive 

at a formal agreement whereby Brazilian police units could be 

trained in Germany to detect and battle Communism.4 

Much of this was a part of Germany’s campaign to persuade 

Brazil (together with Argentina and Uruguay) to sign a so-called 

Anti-Comintern agreement, similar to that concluded by Germany 

with Japan and Italy. Another aspect of German policy toward Bra¬ 

zil was the Landesgruppe's support of pro-Nazi elements in the 

Brazilian army and of the Brazilian fascist movement, Integralism. 

The Integralists, a fairly large group comprised of many Brazilian- 

Germans, were led by Plinio Salgado, a Brazilian nationalist. They 

demanded the strengthening of the Brazilian government, family 

life, property, Catholicism, and intellectuals, and they advocated 

ousting foreign capital from the country. The Nazis wished to use 

the large Volksdeutsch element in the movement to push it into 

influencing the Vargas government toward closer relations with 

Germany. 

But one of the German headaches in Brazil was the growing 

appeal of Integralism to young Brazilian-Germans. Although Sal¬ 

gado maintained that his mother had descended from a German 

family and that his movement did not intend to rival either the 

Nazis or Italian Fascists in Brazil, Cossel and Schmidt-Elskop com¬ 

plained to the AA that Integralism could damage Germany’s ef¬ 

forts to organize Brazilian-Germans.5 Cossel and the Landesgruppe 

also had other problems. When a group of Nazis in Rio de Janeiro 

criticized him, he expelled twenty-nipe from the party. Because of 

the Ortsgruppe Curitiba’s propaganda campaign among its German 

colony and its insistence that the colony’s social clubs open their 

doors to National Socialists, both the colony and local authorities 

threatened to abolish the affiliate. Of the twenty-five thousand Ger¬ 

mans in Curitiba, fifteen hundred were German citizens and only 

150 were party members. Thus, much of the antagonism arose 

from the claim of the small local to leadership over the Volksdeut- 

schen6 
Such difficulties notwithstanding, Berlin hoped to make Brazil an 

example of the cooperation of all elements of Germany’s expansion: 

friendship with the Brazilian government, supported by German 

positions in Brazilian trade, banks, and transportation, by influence 

on the army and police, and by developing a strong fascist movement. 
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Until the Vargas regime turned against the National Socialists at 

the beginning of 1938, Brazil was one of the few countries where 

foreign Germans became a threat to the state. In the absence of a 

German military invasion, the Brazilian-Germans became important 

through the only other method they could—influencing the govern¬ 

ment, army and police, and local fascist movements.7 
In Chile and Argentina, too, the Germans cultivated ties to native 

institutions and fascist organizations; the right-wing Chilean Na¬ 

tional Socialist party (or Nacistas) included Chilean-Germans who 

were friendly to the Landesgruppe. Between 1935 and 1937 the 

Nazis increased their contacts with the Argentine army and air 

force, opening the way for military delegations to visit Germany. 

German policy toward Argentina also emphasized the extension of 

close commercial relations (aimed at undercutting British and 

American trade), the founding of German firms, and the invest¬ 

ment by divisions of AEG, Siemens, and Farben in the electrical, 

chemical, transportation, and construction industries. 

Politically the Germans hoped to exploit the anti-Communism 

of the authoritarian government of Agustin Justo, which banned 

the left-wing press and crushed Communists and democrats. An¬ 

other cornerstone of German policy was its support (particularly 

through propaganda) of anti-North American attitudes, which pro¬ 

duced some success at the Inter-American Conference for the Main¬ 

tenance of Peace in Buenos Aires in December 1936. Although 

President Roosevelt received a warm welcome from over a half 

million persons on his arrival for the meeting, the Argentine gov¬ 

ernment refused to approve a proposal by the United States for an 

alliance of the Americas against the threatening situation in Europe. 

But an aspect of German activity that was particularly alarming to 

the United States was the continued penetration of Argentine- 

Germans by the AO’s groups; during 1935 and 1936 the Landes¬ 

gruppe Argentina enjoyed a free hand from harassment by local 

authorities to complete the coordination of the Deutsche Volksbund. 

Its executive committee now included several Nazi members, 

among them Brandt (who retired as party leader and was replaced 

by a merchant, Fritz Krister), Gottfried Sanstede, head of the Cen¬ 

tral German Railway Office, and Heinrich Volberg, the Landes¬ 
gruppe'’s economic adviser. 

Kuster had been active as a foreign representative for German 

firms since before World War I. He produced both local suspicion 

and hostility in the United States by contributing to the growing 
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friendliness between the German and Argentine armies. Argentine 

army units and officers went to Germany for “study trips” and mili¬ 

tary training, and in 1937 the chief of the Argentine air force visited 

Germany as Goring’s guest. The Landesgruppe also helped to es¬ 

tablish contacts with a number of influential Argentine civilian 

leaders, including the government’s ministers for agriculture and fi¬ 

nance, the directors of several banks, and the head of the Argen¬ 
tine Academy of War.8 

Despite the apparent success of the Landesgruppen and of Ger¬ 

man policy in Latin America, serious troubles were brewing there 

by 1937 for the National Socialists. It must be recalled that the 

Nazi groups remained extremely small in Latin America, that their 

noisy and visible activities helped them exercise a greater impact on 

public opinion than they should have, and that the majority of 

Volksdeutschen were not Nazi sympathizers. Opposition existed 

particularly from German Catholics, democrats, socialists, and 

Communists. In the spring of 1936, a Catholic bishop in Chile, 

Guido Beck, publicly attacked National Socialism and informed his 

parishioners: “In Germany a furious Kulturkampf has swept over 

the nation. The sanctuary of the conscience has been raped. One 

political party, National Socialism, has brutally destroyed all other 

parties and now leads a very frightening dictatorship.” In Argen¬ 

tina a priest from Caldera, Peter Fuchs, discouraged German Cath¬ 

olics from joining the Volksbund. 
Although the Landesgruppe Chile countered Catholic opposition 

by using its paper, the Westkusten Beobachter, to accuse priests 

and religious orders of homosexuality, anti-Nazi activity mounted. 

On May Day in 1936 one hundred;/thousand leftists attended a 

demonstration in Buenos Aires. Several months later special relief 

committees were organized to aid the Republicans in the Spanish 

Civil War, and a new anti-Nazi newspaper, Neues Spanien, ap¬ 

peared that boasted sixty thousand readers. Furthermore, the Ar- 

gentinisches Tageblatt continued its scathing criticism of the Lan¬ 

desgruppe Argentina and Volksbund. 

The Germans also began to feel opposition in Latin America 

from the United States. During the early months of 1936 the 

American government made plans to respond to the extensive 

German penetration, and using the Pan American Conference in 

December, it sought to counter German policy by applying pressure 

on the Latin American states to convert the Monroe Doctrine into 

a formal defensive alliance of the Americas.9 This sharpening of 
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resistance by the United States was to contribute significantly to 

the outlawing of the Nazi party and other foreign political organi¬ 

zations in Argentina and Brazil in 1938 and 1939. 

Nazi-supported groups in the United States also added to Amer¬ 

ica’s anti-German feeling. Although the AO had been forced to 

dissolve its branches there in April 1933 and to order party mem¬ 

bers to refrain from activity in the Friends of the New Germany, 

Bohle retained a personal agent in New York, Frederick Mensing. 

Despite a worsening of German-American relations (in part because 

of the earlier party groups) and a statement by the United States 

government condemning Mensing’s operating in America, Bohle di¬ 

rected him to continue. Mensing himself suggested to the AO that 

it should not function in America, but his idea fell on deaf ears.10 

The most serious bone of contention centered around the Friends 

of the New Germany, led after 1933 by Gissibl and a German- 

American Ph.D. from Yale University, Herbert Schnuch. During 

the early months of 1934 antagonism toward the Friends increased 

because of press reports from Germany that stressed the militari¬ 

zation of German life, persecution of the Jews, struggle against 

the Christian churches, and murders of Rohm and Dollfuss. The 

result of a Congressional investigation of fascist and Communist 

activities, spearheaded by Dickstein and Representative John 

McCormack of Massachusetts, was widely publicized and revealed 

that native right-wing groups had adopted Nazi ideas, such as the 

belief in a worldwide Jewish-Communist conspiracy. 

During the investigation Schnuch had boasted to McCormack 

that he (Schnuch) was the head of the Nazi movement in the 

United States, when in fact he was not, as this post was held by 

Mensing. Then came the mock trial on 7 March against Hitler, 

held before twenty thousand persons in Madison Square Garden 

and sponsored by the American Federation of Labor and the Amer¬ 

ican Jewish Congress. Hitler, when interviewed on the same day by 

Dodd, the American Ambassador in Berlin, did not mention the 

trial, but he denounced accusations that Nazi propaganda was being 

spread in the United States, and he blamed the Jews for them. But 

Luther, Dodd’s counterpart in Washington, protested to Secretary 

of State Hull, about what the Ambassador termed the wild “anti- 

Germanism” of the American public and government. A month 

later, alarmed at what was happening. President Roosevelt con¬ 

ferred about Nazi activities with his top advisers." 

The Friends themselves contributed to the unrest with their pro- 
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paganda that emphasized anti-Semitism, racist politics, equating 

Jews with Communists, and raising the specter of Negro domina¬ 

tion of America. Much of its propaganda was sent from Germany, 

and it was published by newspapers or scandal sheets of the 

Friends. The membership of the Friends fluctuated between five 

and six thousand persons, with many being skilled industrial work¬ 

ers or artisans who had been hit hard by the Depression. Although 

most members had been anti-Semites and National Socialists since 

they left Germany in the 1920s, their hatred of the Jews was stimu¬ 

lated by their individual economic troubles.12 

Bohle and Fless responded in February 1934 to the clamor caused 

by the Friends by publicly ordering all party members in the United 

States to resign from the group and to quit spreading “propaganda 

among non-Germans.”13 But simultaneously, Bohle continued the 

NSDAP’s involvement in America by secretly collecting from Men- 

sing and other sources (e.g., Nazi seamen and officials traveling in 

the United States for the DAI) information about the “political 

reliability” of the German consuls in New York (Hans Borchers), 

Cleveland (Hinrichs), Detroit (Hailer), Chicago (Jager), St. Louis 

(Freytag), and Pittsburgh (Loibl). Realizing the AO’s shaky posi¬ 

tion, Bohle planned to use the officials (whose diplomatic immu¬ 

nity offered them protection from the authorites) as further contacts 

with the Friends and Nazis in the United States. Except for Borch¬ 

ers and Jager, who were not Nazi members, the consuls impressed 

the AO and DAI as being “convinced National Socialists;” Bohle 

received favorable reports on the Vice Consul in New York and 

Mensing’s assistant, Friedhelm Draeger.14 

At the end of October, news of thp' difficulties in America with 

the Friends reached Hitler. In a conversation with Theodore Hoff¬ 

mann, the head of the Steuben Society, he was told that the leaders 

of the Friends were young Germans who were not American citi¬ 

zens and that Americans “assumed that they received their instruc¬ 

tions from a superior authority in Germany.” Hitler was evidently 

surprised at the news, but did little to remedy the situation. He 

told Hoffmann that he “had given strict instructions that National 

Socialists were in all circumstances to refrain from political activi¬ 

ties in the country which was their host,” and he ordered Hess to 

question Bohle about the AO’s ties to the Friends. Bohle denied 

any connections to the latter, which his superiors accepted without 

question, and he suggested that Hess investigate ties to the Friends 

of the Gestapo, Propaganda Ministry, and APA.13 
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His claim to Hitler and Hess that the AO had nothing to do 

with the Friends was false. Although the AO had no public dealings 

with the group, it nevertheless retained contacts with individual 

members. While visiting or vacationing in Germany, members were 

indoctrinated with Nazi propaganda at leadership schools operated 

by the AO near Hamburg, and when a delegation from the Steuben 

Society visited Germany, the AO, DAI, and Propaganda Ministry 

gave it the red carpet treatment to lure it into a more favorable 

attitude toward the NSDAP. Another bridge to the Friends was 

Ulrich von Gienanth, an SS leader assigned to the German Em¬ 

bassy.16 The AO also corresponded with German nationals who had 

left the NSDAP (at Bohle’s earlier command) so as to enable them 

to remain active in the Friends. However, during 1935, Bohle had 

their party membership suspended (instead of cancelled) to reward 

them for their work and to allow the AO to claim that only Ameri¬ 

cans were leading the Friends and that German citizens had with¬ 

drawn from it. Roughly three hundred Nazis had their membership 

suspended.17 

Throughout early 1935 the Friends flaunted its sympathy for Na¬ 

tional Socialism. It angered many Americans when it supported 

the German-born carpenter, Bruno Hauptmann, during his trial for 

the kidnap-murder, three years earlier, of the infant son of Charles 

Lindbergh. It also organized new groups in upstate New York, 

which the Jewish War Veterans sought to block with legal action. 

In April it sponsored a dance to celebrate Hitler’s birthday, and at 

a mass meeting in New York, the group adopted resolutions de¬ 

fending German rearmament and denouncing international Com¬ 

munism. By the late spring, such futile agitation had combined 

with a wave of new attacks in Germany on the Jews and churches 

(which culminated with the Nuremberg rally in September) to 

cause renewed tension between America and the Reich and to in¬ 

crease the pressure applied by the American authorities on the 
Friends.18 

The days of the Friends were numbered. Bohle and Hess with¬ 

drew their support from the organization when it began expanding 

in membership and splintering into hostile factions. The internal 

conflicts finally persuaded Bohle to wash his hands of the group; 

the AO refused to answer letters from it, and Bohle forwarded such 

mail to the DAI and made it responsible for the Friends. On 11 

October 1935 the AO, Hess’s office, and AA ordered all Auslands- 

deutschen to resign from the Friends, and Mensing documented 
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for the American authorities the NSDAP’s intention not to spread 
propaganda in the United States.19 

Since the Friends was comprised of roughly sixty percent Ger¬ 

man nationals, the directive from Berlin threatened to decimate the 

organization. While several of its leaders protested to Bohle and 

Hess (including Gissibl, who went to Germany to complain per¬ 

sonally), Hess released a letter to the Associated Press that officially 

confirmed the earlier order and divorced the NSDAP from the 
20 

group. 

But America had not seen the last of Nazi-manipulated groups. 

By the beginning of 1936 many in the Friends, seeing the apparent 

futility of continuing the group and learning that it was in serious 

financial difficulty, started transforming it into a successor organiza¬ 

tion, the German American Bund (Amerika Deutscher Volksbund), 

led by a man who loudly proclaimed himself the “American Ftihrer” 

and who was to become the great symbol of un-Americanism, 

Fritz Kuhn. As the heir to Gissibl, Manger, Spanknobel, and 

Schnuch, Kuhn was to help make Americans believe that National 

Socialism was a direct threat to the United States. Amazingly 

enough, he achieved this without much support from the NSDAP 

and German government, the very things that Americans feared 

most. 

A chemical engineer and former Free Corps soldier from Munich, 

Kuhn had arrived in the United States in 1927 and entered the 

Friends of the New Germany in 1933. Shortly thereafter he became 

an American citizen. He took official command of the Bund on 29 

March 1936, when he was elected Bundesleiter (“Federal Leader”) 

at the first annual convention of the group in Buffalo. Despite his 

claims to leading a mass movement of thousands of German- 

Americans, the Bund’s membership never exceeded twenty-five 

thousand persons, and the majority of it was comprised of German 

citizens who had formerly belonged to the Friends. Revealing Bohle 

and Hess’s apparent lack of control over German citizens in 

America, only ten percent of the Auslandsdeutschen in the Friends 

had withdrawn from it following the October directive, and the 

remainder entered the Bund. Flamboyant, forever proclaiming him¬ 

self the “American Ftihrer,” and maintaining that he was backed 

by Berlin, Kuhn built the Bund into a self-supporting, money¬ 

making operation. 
It was organized into fifty-five local groups (each with units of 

uniformed strong-arm men whom Kuhn called his SS), whose mem- 
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bers paraded in brown shirts, flew the swastika flag, made anti¬ 

democratic and anti-Semitic speeches, praised Germany, and dis¬ 

tributed to German communities questionnaires received from the 

NSDAP. It also operated a vigorous youth group, large summer 

camps for youth, a publishing company in Yorkville, newspapers, 

and several interlocking corporations that hid the membership of 

its German citizens. Kuhn, in his bombastic speeches, denounced 

the New Deal as a “Jew Deal,” and he maintained that Roosevelt 

and his Jewish advisers were tools of Moscow. His hatred also 

extended to American Blacks, who he alleged were allied with the 

Jews, were highly susceptible to Communism, and had been in¬ 

filtrated by Jews and Communists.21 

Despite his repeated assertion in public that the Bund was ap¬ 

proved and supported by Berlin, the claim was untrue. The AO, 

which now agreed with the AA that the group was too great of a 

liability to back, sent only insignificant amounts of cash and a few 

party speakers (e.g., the DAI official, Karl Gotz) to the Bund and 

other German-American groups, and it had little direct contact 

with the organization. Its chief connection with the Bund was 

through the Consulate General in New York and its leaders, Borch- 

ers and Draeger.22 But if the AO and other Nazi agencies had re¬ 

versed their attitude toward the German-American movement, 

the American public believed that Germany’s stance on Nazi-type 

groups in the United States had not changed. 

The view that Kuhn and his group were dangerous Nazi agents 

was heightened when the “American Fiihrer” met the German 

Ftihrer in Berlin on 2 August 1936. Although Hitler did not an¬ 

nounce his support of Kuhn or promise him the backing of Ger¬ 

many, news pictures of the German leader and Kuhn shaking hands 

had other effects. The meeting aroused increasing excitement in 

the United States, it enabled Kuhn to deceive his followers by 

making them believe that he took orders directly from Hitler, and 

it strengthened the popular American feeling that Hitler fully en¬ 
dorsed the Bund. 

The Bund was only one aspect of the deteriorating German- 

American relations during 1936 and the beginning of 1937. If the 

American public was hostile to Germany because of Nazi barbarism 

at home and Berlin’s sponsoring (as Americans believed) of groups 

like the Bund, the United States government was increasingly 

alienated from Germany for economic and diplomatic reasons. In 

the summer of 1936 the Germans tried and failed to extract signif- 
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icant trade concessions from the United States. Furthermore, be¬ 

cause of Germany’s remilitarization of the Rhineland and her ex¬ 

tensive involvement in Spain, sentiment grew in America toward 

isolationism, and Roosevelt began exploring an American role in a 

search for peace in Europe.23 Such antagonism toward Germany as 

had been provoked in the United States was eventually to become 
of great significance. 

Failures: German Schools 

Abroad, South Africa, and Switzerland 

While the NSDAP sought to disengage itself from German- 

American activities, the stubborn refusal of its foreign groups to 

halt their harassment of German colonies and mission officials led 

to the further alienation of foreign Germans from National Social¬ 

ism. Yet, while the groups’ shenanigans were damaging to Ger¬ 

many, the AO’s work was praised by Hitler and Hess.24 A serious 

bone of contention among the branches and German communities 

remained the party’s effort to dominate German schools and youth 

clubs abroad. In addition to petty quarrels between Nazi and non- 

Nazi teachers in Afghanistan (Kabul) and Buenos Aires, conflicts 

arose in Havana, Cuba and Guadalajara, Mexico between party 

locals and schools that sharply divided the German communities.25 

The perpetual uproar in many schools resulted from the continued 

infiltration of them by the AO and NSLB. On top of pressing 

the AA to send teachers to the schools who possessed “uncondi¬ 

tional National Socialist qualities,” the party agencies gave the 

schools numerous books, curriculum ;plans, and other teaching aids. 

For use by teachers, the NSDAP sent “examination copies” of 

books about politics, geography, and subjects dealing with the al¬ 

leged racial inferiority of the Jews and east European Slavs. To 

schools whose students were mainly children of foreign citizens, it 

generously dispatched books in foreign languages (e.g., Anglo- 

American Criticism on the Treaty of Versailles and Brave Fighters 

on the Western Front). In August 1935 the AO, HJ, and Propa¬ 

ganda Ministry sponsored a visit to Germany of twelve hundred 

German students residing in other European nations. The young 

people saw “historical sites of the [Nazi] movement” in Munich, 

and they were urged by party leaders to “be and remain a Ger¬ 

man!”26 In some instances, however, such projects backfired. 

When the Landesgruppe Chile sent a group of girls from the Ger- 
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man-Chilean Youth League (Jugendbund) to the Nuremberg rally 

in September and the girls were forced to parade in HJ uniforms, 

a wave of indignation swept over the German colony and provoked 

demands that the Nazis end their work with the League.27 

Despite Bohle’s claim at the rally that “foreign Germandom” 

was totally “united behind Adolf Hitler,” the assertion was untrue; 

numerous Volksdeutsch clubs (e.g., in Manila, Winnipeg, and Mon¬ 

treal) refused to cooperate with the Nazis.28 But while the AO 

ignored the disruption caused by its affiliates, it could not turn a 

deaf ear to the failure of the party organizations in South Africa, 

which agitated for a return of Southwest Africa and Tanganyika 

(formerly German East Africa) to Germany. Although such de¬ 

mands were echoed by several ranking officials in Germany (e.g., 

Ribbentrop, Goring, Schacht, Franz Ritter von Epp, and Heinrich 

Schnee), who urged Hitler to press England to give the lands back 

to the Reich, Hitler’s attitude toward overseas colonies was one of 

caution, authorizing only low-key propaganda that stressed Germany’s 

rights but did not attack England or other colonial powers. 

Unfortunately for the Nazi groups in South Africa, they rejected 

his moderation. The Landesgruppe Southwest Africa and its locals 

in Windhoek, Swakopmund, Ltideritz, Usakos, Otjiwarongo, and 

Walvis Bay, and cells among German farmers, criticized the British 

and campaigned for a German takeover of the territory. On 8 

August 1933 the Landesgruppenleiter, Major Weigel, reported to the 

German Consul General in Pretoria: “South-West is yearning for 

Germany. It wants to be German South-West Africa again. South- 

West has to have Germany, otherwise it will be dead soon. And 

the saddest part of it is that a portion of the second generation 

of Germans, the German youth, is in danger of becoming Afri¬ 

kaners.” The Landesgruppe took control of the major German or¬ 

ganization, the Deutsche Bund, established a prominent doctor, 

Schwietering, as its chairman, and pushed the Bund’s leadership 

(many of whom held German and British citizenship) to swear “a 
solemn oath of allegiance” to Hitler. 

The party demanded the same from German youth who held dual 

citizenship and who were organized into HJ units. When the Bund 

and parents of the youth protested about the oath, Weigel replied 

that it was necessary because it was an order from Germany. The 

Landesgruppe also collected information against local Germans who 

were anti-Nazi; the material was forwarded to the AO, which 

pressed the German government to withdraw Reich citizenship 
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from the rebels. Threats, too, were used. A local farmer was in¬ 

formed by a Bund leader, “If you and your wife do not sign [a 

Bund membership card] immediately, both of you will be driven 

from the country with a whip, should it become German again.” 

Germans were also encouraged to join several anti-Semitic and 

nationalist organizations like the South African Grey Shirts and 

South African National Socialist Movement. The Landesgruppe 

supported the Grey Shirts financially, and both cooperated in dis¬ 

tributing vulgar anti-Semitic propaganda urging the government 

of Southwest Africa to deprive Jews of their citizenship, positions 

in government and the professions, and property. Such propaganda 

also maintained that the Protocols of the Elders of Zion were au¬ 

thentic and that the Jewish religion used the blood of Christian 

children for ritual purposes. Other right-wing organizations infil¬ 

trated by the Nazis were the South African People’s Movement, 

National Democratic party (or “Blackshirts”), Fascists, and Gentile 
Protection League. 

But the most dangerous work of the party was its effort to seize 

control of Southwest Africa’s economy. While much of the country’s 

commerce lay in German hands, the Landesgruppe tried through 

propaganda and rumor-mongering (which advertised that Germany 

would soon regain Southwest Africa) to persuade British and Afri¬ 

can farmers to sell their land to Germans and resettle in the Union 

of South Africa. The Landesgruppe and AO drafted plans in March 

1934 for “a more extensive [German] settlement” that would 

“create a German majority” in Southwest Africa; as Weigel in¬ 

formed the AO, the proposal could soon become a reality if Germans 

purchased farms by using the small dpwnpayment for land required 

by the State Land Bank. According to the party leader, “The pos¬ 

sibility exists ... of acquiring through cleverly concealed manipu¬ 

lation comparatively cheap farms for German settlement pur- 
„30 

poses. 
Similar activity was carried on in the Union of South Africa 

under Hermann Bohle. Already in 1933 the police in Southwest 

Africa had searched the offices of the Ortsgruppe Windhoek and 

found letters from Bohle discussing Nazi strategy in the former 

German land. By mid-1934 the party had caused tremendous resent¬ 

ment among local Germans. In a moment of frustration, one per¬ 

son noted: “Here in South-West the Nazis have produced a deep 

division among the Germans, and this is not in the spirit of [their] 

Leader, Adolf Hitler.”31 Hostility to the AO from the Germans 
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focused around the Deutsche Afrika-Post, a pro-monarchist paper 

that identified local Nazi leaders and demanded that Bohle be re¬ 

moved as head of the AO and that the organization be dissolved. 

Following a wild Nazi youth meeting in Windhoek (which included 

a torchlight parade, speech by Weigel, short wave broadcasts from 

Germany, and “heils” to Hitler) in early July, the offices of the local 

were searched again by the police. Within hours the HJ was 

banned, and its leaders (including Weigel) were expelled from the 

country. On the heels of another police raid in October the entire 

NSDAP was outlawed.32 
The ban was an embarrassment to Germany and to Hitler’s low 

profile on the colonial issue. Obviously it revealed a sad lack of 

coordination among Hitler, his government, and the party, and 

the latter’s belligerency in South Africa threatened to alienate 

England, a country that Hitler still hoped to woo in 1934 and 1935. 

Even before the party’s expulsion, Neurath had complained to Hess 

about the undisciplined work in Southwest Africa of the NSDAP’s 

Colonial Policy Office (Kolonialpolitisches Amt, headed by Epp) 

and the AO. He had described the situation as “unbearable” 

and warned Hess that the ban was imminent.33 

Hess, refusing to understand what had happened and displaying 

a hardheadedness that was typical of the party leadership, placed 

the blame for the blunder on the Colonial Policy Office, APA, and 

HJ, and he commanded each agency to subordinate its future work 

to the AO (which was now to camouflage its activity through the 

Deutsche Bund), AA, and Special Commissioner appointed by 

Hitler for Disarmament Questions, Ribbentrop. The AO also sent 

two “troubleshooters” to Africa, a decorated naval commander, 

Heinz Menche, and the hereditary Archduke Friedrich von Mecklen¬ 

burg, who were to act as mediators between the party and local 

German communities.34 

The sudden rise to prominence of the smooth, snobbish, and as¬ 

piring Ribbentrop was no accident. The man who was to become 

after 1937 the bitterest opponent of the foreign party groups, the 

AO, and Bohle, was Hitler’s chief foreign affairs adviser and head of 

his own private Foreign Office in the NSDAP, the Dienststelle Rib¬ 

bentrop. Following his role in concluding the Anglo-German Naval 

Agreement in June 1935, Hitler granted him complete control over 

Germany’s colonial policy and presented him with the flowery title 

of Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of the German 

Reich. In a prelude to his later attempt to crush the AO, Ribben- 
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trop immediately attacked Bohle by visiting the AO’s headquarters 

on 3 July 1935 and informing Bohle that the “entire colonial policy 

in the future will officially be directed by me.” Commanding the 

AO to organize its work in South Africa strictly within the Deutsche 

Bund, he insisted that the tensions among Germans there and be¬ 

tween the Germans and the authorities be eliminated. Orders from 

Germany to the Bund were to be given only with his agreement 

and sent through the AA and its missions in South Africa. 

Two weeks later Bohle was dealt another blow when he demanded 

at a meeting with Hess, Ribbentrop, and Haushofer that the AO be 

granted jurisdiction over all Volksdeutschen. Hess refused the re¬ 

quest, whereupon Bohle threatened to resign his offices. But Hess 

was apparently able to soothe his protege by reminding him that the 

AO was still the supreme agency for Germandom in Latin America. 

Another result of Ribbentrop’s directives was a shake-up in the 

party leadership in the Union of South Africa. Hermann Bohle was 

replaced as Landesgruppenleiter by a Ribbentrop man, Helmut 

Kirchner, and Bohle was asked to return to Germany to join his son 

in Berlin.35 Like most Nazi leaders abroad who were deported or 

recalled, he was welcomed home as a hero and given a position as 

head of the AO’s Amt fur Technik (“Office for Technicians”). 

The sudden subordination to Ribbentrop also undermined the 

AO’s authority over the VDA and Volksdeutsch Council. In October 

Hess dissolved the Council and redistributed the duties of the VDA 

between the AO and the Dienststelle Ribbentrop. In agreement 

with Ribbentrop and Himmler, the powerful leader of the SS and 

German police, Hess ordered the AO to limit its work to German 

citizens abroad (i.e., Auslandsdeutschfri), and he granted increas¬ 

ing authority in Volksdeutsch matters to the SS and its central 

agency for dealing with persons of German descent abroad, the 

VoMi.36 Bohle himself was admitted to the SS in September 1936, 

and in the months that followed numerous AO officials became SS 

members. Bohle, obviously interested in solidifying his own position, 

actively pursued Himmler’s friendship, and the SS began pene¬ 

trating the AO, as it did many of the NSDAP’s organizations. 

Himmler’s primary motive in coming to terms with Bohle was to use 

the party groups abroad as espionage mechanisms for the SS and for 

Reinhard Heydrich’s SD.37 
In view of what lay ahead during 1936 Bohle sorely needed Himm¬ 

ler’s support. Although the party insisted publicly that its groups 

outside Germany were following Hitler’s wish by obeying strictly 
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the laws of their host countries, there was strong evidence that 

suggested otherwise. During the spring the leader of the NSDAP in 

Costa Rica, Herbert Knoehr, was caught red-handed cooperating 

with the Communists in an election campaign, and shortly thereafter 

in Venezuela, the entire party organization was prohibited by the 

state police. A flourishing campaign of the liberal press in the 

Netherlands East Indies and Australia attacked Germany’s racial 

laws and the anti-Semitism of the party’s locals. Nor was this all. 

The king of Rumania complained about the party’s encouragement 

of right-wing groups in his country, and the AO aroused further 

suspicion against itself in Czechoslovakia by contributing to radi¬ 

calism and disunity in the Sudeten German community.38 

The most profound indication of the resentment building outside 

Germany against the meddlesome NSDAP was the murder on 4 

February 1936 of Wilhelm Gustloff, the Swiss Landesgruppenleiter. 

But the assassination was only the culmination of hostility that had 

been mounting among the Swiss since 1933 against Gustloff and 

his organization. The party had infiltrated several Swiss “front” 

groups, coordinated German societies, and reported local Germans 

who were anti-Nazi to the Reich police, thus assuring their arrest 

if they visited Germany. By May 1934 the Landesgruppe was orga¬ 

nized into forty-five subgroups and units of the HJ, and it published 

a propaganda paper, Der Reichsdeutsche in der Schweiz, which 

stressed that all officials in the party had sworn an oath of loyalty 
to Hitler.39 

Its work drew considerable publicity during 1935, when Berthold 

Jacob, an emigrant German journalist (and friend of the Commu¬ 

nist publisher and writer, Willi Miinzenberg), was kidnapped and 

sent to Germany by a Gestapo agent, Hans Wesemann. In Decem¬ 

ber, Hans Kittelmann, a member of the Landesgruppe and the 

chief stenographer for the Swiss Federal Assembly, was dismissed 

for secret activities as a Nazi. It was further discovered that the 

Landesgruppe was using as spies German students in Swiss uni¬ 

versities. Such revelations stimulated a wave of anti-German feeling 

among the democratic-oriented Swiss and local German socialists. 

Just before his assassination, Gustloff was threatened with ex¬ 

pulsion from Switzerland, and the NSDAP was in danger of being 

outlawed.40 But the man who idolized Hitler and who “often looked 

at the ‘Fuhrer’s’ picture for hours on end ... ‘to gain strength,’ ” 

was suddenly shot to death by a young Jewish-Yugoslavian student, 

David Frankfurter.4' The murder created a sensation in Germany; 
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not only did it increase the Nazis’ fanatical belief that Germans were 

persecuted abroad, but Hitler, Hess, Bohle, and the NSDAP made 

a martyr out of the slain party leader. 

For the funeral and the cremation, Bohle and an impressive 

entourage from the AO went to Switzerland to accompany the body 

back to GustlofFs home in Schwerin. The funeral service, which was 

paid for by the NSDAP and German government and broadcast on 

German and Swiss radio, was highlighted by an address from Hitler. 

Amidst one of his most vicious attacks on the Jews, he asserted 

that “now every local [NSDAP] group in foreign countries has its 

National Socialist patron, its holy martyr, who died for this Move¬ 

ment and for our idea. In every office now his [Gustloffs] picture 

will hang, his name each will carry in his heart, and for all time 

he will never be forgotten.”42 The NSDAP did its best to fulfill 

Hitler’s pledge and make Gustloff a sort of Horst Wessel of the AO. 

It worked with the Propaganda Ministry and AA to unleash a major 

propaganda campaign that portrayed Frankfurter as the evil tool of 

the Communist International and the worldwide Jewish conspiracy 

against Germany.43 

Not everyone in the party and government was upset by the 

murder. The German Minister to Switzerland, Ernst von Weizsacker, 

had deeply resented Gustloff and his organization. Weizsacker 

wrote a lengthy report to the AA criticizing the Landesgruppe, 

and he later maintained that the Nazis had harassed the German 

Legation in Berne and himself unmercifully, saying that they had 

accused him of being a Francophile and of being unpatriotic, and 

that Gustloff had sent “official party reports” to Berlin dealing with 

politics, economic questions, non-Aryan Swiss businesses, attitudes 

of Germans in Switzerland, and officials at the Legation.44 

The uproar in Germany over the loss of Gustloff alarmed the 

Swiss government enough that it banned the NSDAP in mid- 

February. The Landesgruppe, while claiming to have dissolved it¬ 

self, continued undercover and under the direction of the new 

German Charge d’Affaires in Berne, Bibra (who was transferred, 

over Neurath’s protest, from Prague), and Erwin Kuske, a special 

“Commissioner of the AO for the Affairs of Reich Citizens in 

Switzerland.” Taking a cue from the Swiss, the Dutch government 

quickly demanded the separation of the AO from its cover or¬ 

ganization in the Netherlands, the Association of Reich Citizens. 

Also, despite efforts of the AA to prevent it, Sweden expelled the 

Landesgruppenleiter in Stockholm, Heinrich Bartels, and three 
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aides. They were accused of seeking to nazify the local German 

colony, distributing propaganda among Swedish citizens, and wear¬ 

ing Nazi uniforms in public.45 

Neither the setbacks in Switzerland nor the troubles with the 

Swedish, Dutch, and Swiss governments daunted the determination 

of the foreign Nazi groups to operate at full throttle. On the con¬ 

trary, the actions against the groups spurred them to even greater 

activity. In retaliation against the Swedes, the Germans expelled 

(at the proposal of Alfred Hess) two Swedish businessmen from the 

Reich. Only in Spain, where elections in mid-February strengthened 

the left-wing Republican government and aroused fears in the 

Nazi leadership that the Landesgruppe Spain might be outlawed, 

was the party abroad directed to curtail its work.46 The AO tres¬ 

passed against the independence of the AA, and following the scare 

in Spain, the party extended its influence deeper into that country 

and Austria. The renewed interest in Austria reflected Hitler’s 

budding friendship with Mussolini (who was willing to drop his 

opposition to German domination of Austria) and his wish to pre¬ 

pare for the Anschluss (“union”). 

Party Attaches and the Foreign Ministry 

One result of Gustloffs assassination was its encouragement of the 

AO to encroach on the freedom of the AA. An indication of this 

was Hitler’s suggestion to Neurath on 19 March 1936 that Landes- 

gruppenleiters be attached for their safety to Germany’s diplomatic 

missions. Wherever they were endangered by foreign opposition, 

such leaders were to be taken into the staff of their mission to enable 

them to enjoy extraterritoriality and other diplomatic immunities. 

According to Hitler’s idea, the leaders would be appointed to the 

missions as “Party attaches;” they would, however, still report to 

Bohle and be paid by the NSDAP.47 

Hitler made it clear, therefore, that he fully supported the party 

abroad and that he was willing to ensure its success at the expense 

of the AA. Whether or not he had other motives for the suggestion 

to Neurath is not clear. It seems unlikely that he was considering 

the AO a mechanism for one day reorganizing the AA along party 

lines, but he may have entertained the thought of using it as an 

instrument of competition to keep the Ministry in line. At any rate, 

the significance of his backing was not lost on Bohle. On 27 Feb¬ 

ruary 1936 the AO chief had talked to Hitler about incorporating 
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the AO into the AA and giving Bohle a high post in the Ministry. 

Arguing that Gustloff’s murder had made the unification of party 

and state in foreign affairs an “absolute necessity,” Bohle main¬ 

tained to Hitler that the AO must be granted an official (i.e., 

governmental) status to strengthen its authority over foreign Ger¬ 

mans and its relations with other governments. 

He also reminded the Chancellor that the AO administered over 

five hundred groups abroad and that its work was encouraged by 

Hess, Goebbels, and Goring. He emphasized too that in 1928 Mus¬ 

solini had united the foreign groups of the Fascist party with the 

Italian Foreign Office. His arguments were apparently well re¬ 

ceived. Although Hitler did not combine the AO with the AA, he 

issued his opinion favoring the insertion of party leaders in German 

missions, and he asked for a detailed memorandum from Bohle 

concerning his ideas. In the months that followed, discussions were 

held among Bohle, Hess, Neurath, and Heinrich Lammers, head of 

Hitler’s Reich Chancellery. 

Neurath, to establish a degree of control over Bohle and bring 

Deutschtum work more within the scope of the AA, agreed to the 

party attache solution only on certain conditions. Such demands 
included the attaches’ renouncing all “propaganda or organization¬ 

al activity [among Germans abroad],” their subordination to Ger¬ 

man mission chiefs, and a major role for the mission leaders in the 

choice of the attaches. While Bohle and Hess recognized that the 

acceptance of the conditions would mean a capitulation to the AA, 

they continued the conferences and even suggested that several 

Landesgruppenleiters be granted diplomatic status, including 

Heinrich Diehl (Luxemburg), Konrad' (Rumania), and Gerhard 

Hentschke (Guatemala).48 

A more subtle form of pressure was placed on the Ministry by 

the AO’s sharpening of its insistence that diplomats become party 

members or resign their offices. During 1936 Bohle suggested to 

Borchers (Consul General in New York), Herbert von Dirksen 

(Ambassador to Japan), and Kroll (a leading AA official) that they 

join. Other mission leaders who entered the party included Stohrer 

(Egypt), Herbert von Richthofen (Belgium), Eugen Rumelin (Bul¬ 

garia), Hans Frohwein (Estonia), Johannes von Welczeck (France), 

Hans Georg von Mackensen (Hungary, later State Secretary in the 

A A), Victor von Heeren (Yugoslavia), Count Zech-Burkersroda 

(Holland), Heinrich Sahm (Norway), and Friedrich Werner von 

der Schulenberg (Russia). Officials in other government positions 
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were even threatened. Ernst Adolf Hepp, a reporter in New York 

for the German news agency Deutsches Nachrichtenbiiro, was in¬ 

formed by Mensing that he would lose his job if he did not apply 

immediately for membership.49 
Further intrusion into the AA involved the intelligence reports 

received by Bohle from the Landesgruppenleiters that dealt with 

the political, economic, and military life of their nations and with 

the attitudes of German diplomats abroad. The reports, some 

apparently being sent from Bohle to Hess, Himmler, and even 

Hitler, were used in confirming some lower echelon appointments 

in the AA, pressuring it to release less significant diplomats sus¬ 

pected of being anti-Nazi, and having several party leaders ad¬ 

mitted to it (e.g.. Bene, named Consul General in Milan; and 

Schroder, named to the Personnel Department).50 

Although the reports were never as significant in decisions on 

appointments and promotions as the AO led the diplomats to 

believe, they were thoroughly resented by the AA. Their existence 

was called to Neurath’s attention by complaints from the diplomats, 

and on investigating their nature and final destination, he learned 

that some were sent to Hitler. Neurath allegedly approached Hitler 

about the subject and “protested against this illegal news service.” 

But Hitler was not impressed.51 The Foreign Minister, who appears 

to have been kept in the dark about the reports, consequently 

attached far more importance to them than they warranted. 

Spain and Austria 

The conflict with the AA was expanded by the Spanish Civil War, 

which exploded in July 1936 and continued until 1939. The war 

involved a bitter attack by rebels in the Spanish army, led in 

southern Spain by General Francisco Franco, and the Spanish 

fascists, the Falange, against the Republican government that had 

ruled in Madrid since 1931. Franco and the army, shortly after they 

launched their assault on the government from Spanish Morocco, 

appealed to Hitler for military aid. The request was presented to 

Hitler by two officials from the Ortsgruppe Tetuan, Langenheim, 

head of the branch, and Johannes Bernhardt, chief representative 

in Spanish Morocco of the AO’s Foreign Trade Office who owned 

an export company and possessed close ties to Spanish army offi¬ 
cers.52 

Prior to the outbreak of the war the Nazi government had shown 
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little interest in Spanish affairs. But the NSDAP, working through 

the Landesgruppe Spain, had retained intimate contact with the 

Falange and anti-government elements in the army, and there was 

evidence uncovered during the war that suggested the Landesgruppe 

anticipated it a month before it began. In mid-June, among other 

preparations for the war, it informed Berlin of the pending conflict 

and assembled a large contingent of former SA men, German 

army officers, and pilots in Spain to act as technicians, engineers, 

and propagandists for the rebels. Also, two party officials in Madrid, 

Erich Schnaus and Heinrich Rodatz, had been smuggling weapons 

and ammunition to Franco. Rodatz, Spanish representative for 

the Junkers Aircraft Factory, was a friend of the General, and he 

served as one of the Landesgruppe's propaganda agents.53 

On 22 July 1936 Franco sent Bernhardt and Langenheim with 

letters to Germany appealing to Hitler to send airplanes and weap¬ 

ons to the rebels. The emissaries flew to Berlin where Bohle and 

Hess quickly arranged for them an audience with Hitler and Goring, 

who were attending the Wagner music festival in Bayreuth. Ac¬ 

companying Bernhardt and Langenheim to Bayreuth were the 

leaders of the AO’s Legal Office, Kraneck and Robert Fischer, who 

argued that Germany had every legal justification for intervening in 

Spain. Meanwhile, the AA had been informed that the couriers 

were on their way to see Hitler. Since the AA favored a neutral 

attitude and believed it too risky for Germany to become involved 

in an international conflict, Neurath rushed to Bayreuth to argue 

against the aid to Franco. But he failed in his mission; on 26 July 

key conferences among Hitler, Goring, Werner von Blomberg (Ger¬ 

man Minister of War), and Admirab/Canaris (a friend of Franco 

and chief of German military intelligence, Abwehr), produced the 

decision to assist Franco. A few days later the AA was informed 

of the decision and told that Germany would eventually recognize 

the Junta government in Burgos that Franco had joined; such 

recognition was to follow in October.54 
In the meeting with Hitler, it was decided that all operations for 

moving weapons, planes, and troops to Franco would be conducted 
through a semi-official trading company, Compahia Hispano- 

Marroqui de Transportes (Hisma), which would be developed from 

Bernhardt’s export firm in Seville. It was also agreed that a com¬ 
pany called Rowak (Rohstoffe-und-Waren-Einkaufsgesellschaft) 

would be created in Berlin with Goring’s assistance to handle the 

German end of the economic cooperation with the rebels. German 
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aid was not agreed on without strings attached; the Nazis in¬ 

tended to extract copper and other valuable minerals and raw 

materials from Franco in return for Germany’s aid. On 2 August 

Hisma began the transport of rebel troops from Morocco to Seville, 

enabling Franco to achieve his first victories in southern Spain. 

Supplies also began reaching Spain by ship from Germany. The 

planning for full-scale operations began a day later, when German 

naval officials, Fischer (who had been attached temporarily to the 

German Embassy in Spain), Bernhardt, and Langenheim met 

Franco and his staff in Tetuan.55 
While Rowak and Hisma were organized for logistical purposes, 

the party groups in Spain, German merchant marine, and navy 

evacuated hundreds of German nationals and Volksdeutschen from 

Spain who had been caught in the crossfire of the war. The AO 

also constructed a special “relief committee” (Hilfsausschuss) for 

the refugees, which was headed by a young import dealer in 

Barcelona and long-time Nazi, Hans Hellermann. The committee 

also became a propaganda weapon for the AO, which never missed 

a chance to parade its work before Germans in the Reich. During 

the first months of the war fifteen thousand Germans were evacu¬ 

ated from Spanish harbors.56 

The sudden flurry of German activity in Spain earned a notorious 

reputation among foreign governments. In late August correspon¬ 

dence among the party groups was seized by the Republican gov¬ 

ernment and printed in London newspapers; immediately the AA 

ordered that party documents be stored for better protection in 

German missions in Spain and in other European countries.57 

Despite such problems, the AO worked feverishly with Goring (who 

was named chief of the Reich’s Four-Year-Plan in October), Hess, 

and the Ministries for Finance and Economics to coordinate trade 

with Franco and private Spanish markets. At Goring’s direction, 

Hess placed the entire personnel of the AO at the disposal of 

Rowak to handle the deliveries of materials to and from Spain. 

The influence of the party on the intervention in the war ex¬ 

panded in November 1936. Hitler, at the urging of Hess, Bohle, 

and Kohn, the former party leader in Chile and an official of the 

Propaganda Ministry assigned to Spain, named the head of the 

Iberian-American Institute, Faupel, German Ambassador to Fran¬ 

co’s Nationalist government in Salamanca. Although a profes¬ 

sional diplomat, Karl Schwendemann, served as Faupel’s chief 

counselor, Bohle was able to affect substantially Germany’s official 
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policy-making in Spain through Faupel, Kohn, and the Landes- 

gruppenleiter, Arthur Dietrich. When Faupel experienced opposi¬ 

tion from the AA or Schwendemann, he quickly appealed to Bohle. 

In March 1937 Bohle reminded Schwendemann that Faupel and 

Kohn were his (Bohle’s) personal agents in Spain and that the 

“NSDAP must occupy the same predominant position in a Na¬ 

tionalist Spain as it has been allowed in Fascist Italy.”58 

As Italy, Russia, England, and France became involved in the 

Spanish conflict, Faupel soon joined with the AA and German 

High Command in urging that Germany press Franco for agree¬ 

ments that would bring a larger and steadier volume of Spanish 

trade to Germany. Faupel and several officials in Hisma pushed 

Bernhardt to exploit his “very close relations” with Franco and 

his brother, Nicolas, in acquiring such agreements. Although Bern¬ 

hardt stubbornly refused to approach Franco, it was argued that 

Germany must insist on copper pledges from the Spanish leader 

while he was still in a precarious position and under pressure in 

the war. The time was ripe, Faupel and others maintained, to look 

out for Germany’s interests in Spain; otherwise, it was believed, 

Italy and England would “turn up at the last moment and pose as 

the real moving spirit.”59 

While the NSDAP was busy in Spain and while the world was 

focusing its attention on the Civil War, the party began to intensify 

its penetration of Austria. In October 1936, shortly before the Anti- 

Comintern Pact was concluded between Germany and Japan (and 

later Italy), which reflected the determination of those nations to 

ensure allies for themselves, Bohle looked increasingly like a pro¬ 

fessional diplomat. Acting as a sort pf party emissary, he made a 

whirlwind tour to Vienna and Rome to discuss politics with the 

Austrian government and with Mussolini. The Anti-Comintern pact 

had been made possible by the worsening of relations between 

Italy and the Western democracies over Mussolini’s invasion of 

Ethiopia, by Italo-German support of Franco, and by Italy’s will¬ 

ingness to drop much of its hostility toward Germany’s interference 

in Austria. 
The latter had been secured primarily through a major Austro- 

German agreement signed on 11 July 1936, which provided for 

German recognition of Austria’s independence, for Austria to follow 

a path closer to Germany in foreign affairs, and for the prepara¬ 

tion of further economic and cultural exchanges. Yet. while Hitler 

promised not to interfere in Austrian affairs and while he informed 
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the illegal Austrian Nazis that they would have to keep silent 

until Germany was ready to annex Austria, the AO quietly ex¬ 

panded its party groups of German nationals in the country under 

the cover of the League of German Citizens in Austria. Through 

the League Bohle staunchly supported the radical or militant fac¬ 

tion among the Austrian Nazis, centered after 1935 around its 

new leader, Josef Leopold. This faction, which opposed the more 

gradualist and peaceful approach to Anschluss stressed by the 

Vienna lawyer, Arthur Seyss-Inquart, still belonged to the pre-1934 

era of activism, violence, propaganda, and infiltration.60 

The significance Bohle attached to Austria became clear in 

September, when he invited the “unofficial” (i.e., not publicly named 

by the AO) Landesgruppenleiter of Austria and German Consul 

at Salzburg, Bernard, to speak to four thousand foreign party mem¬ 

bers at the fourth annual conference of the AO in Erlangen.61 

He also worked to persuade Schuschnigg’s government to legalize 

his undercover groups in Austria and to permit the AO to supervise 

them. Although such plans were questioned by the AA,62 he scored 

a major breakthrough with the Austrians when he visited Vienna 

on 23-24 October. On top of addressing a Thanksgiving Day festival 

of the local German colony and urging its members to be loyal 

Nazis and refrain from mixing in Austrian politics, he conversed 

with Austrian leaders and with Papen. Through his discussions 

with Guido Schmidt, the pro-Nazi Austrian Foreign Minister, per¬ 

mission was granted for the AO to continue building a Nazi 

organization in Austria for the roughly seventeen hundred German 

citizens there who were National Socialists. After securing the 

concession, he was convinced by the AA to postpone raising 

questions with Vienna about further privileges for German Nazis 

in Austria such as displaying the German flag and wearing uni¬ 

forms and insignia.63 

But acquiring such rights was no problem. When Schmidt visited 

Berlin at the end of November, he met with Bohle, and later he 

and Neurath signed a secret protocol (which Bohle helped to draft) 

that gave the owners of Austrian inns and hotels the permission to 

fly the German flag when German citizens were their guests.64 

The protocol and July agreement opened the door in a legal manner 

to the most massive intervention by the German Nazis since the 

terrorism of 1933 and 1934. Even Austrian nationalists began calling 

Schmidt the “Judas of Austria.” The AO, which formed a special 
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Austrian Section in its Berlin offices to coordinate its work across 

the border, founded numerous Reichsdeutsch newspapers in Austria 

that published Anschluss propaganda. It also retained close contact 

with the armed and illegal Austrian Nazis by working within the 

large League of German Citizens in Austria (which had become the 
de facto Landesgruppe Austria).65 

The League was reorganized in January 1937, and its leadership 

was placed in the hands of the unofficial Landesgruppenleiter, 

Bernard, and local party leader in Vienna, Schliephack (who pos¬ 

sessed an office in the German Embassy). Camouflaged in the League 

were four Ortsgruppen in Vienna, numerous other party branches 

around the country, and Nazi affiliated organizations like the Stu¬ 

dent’s League, HJ troop. Gymnastics Section, League of Disabled 

German War Veterans, and social club of the DAF.66 While the 

small number of German citizens in the League (roughly 27,000 

of the 44,000 Germans in Austria) signified little direct danger to 

Austria, the League’s ties to the Austrian National Socialists were 
a different matter. 

Many of the League’s leaders had been long-time members of the 

Austrian movement and had been arrested, imprisoned, or fined 

in 1933 and 1934. Such elements also formed a radical and ir¬ 

responsible wing in the League that secretly planned a new Putsch 

against the Austrian government. The group was tied closely to the 

militant faction in the Austrian NSDAP around Leopold; it met 

frequently in the German mission in Vienna but was fairly small 

and included a ranking League official, Peetz, an SA leader, Prech- 

eisen, and two legation counselors at the mission, Engelbert 

and von Heinz. With connections to pndercover Austrian SA and 

SS units, the would-be Putschists planned to use in their insurrec¬ 

tion the notorious Austrian Legion (political exiles from Austria) 

headquartered in Bavaria. The conspiracy, which failed to get off 

the ground, included smuggling weapons from Germany to the SA 

and SS in Austria.67 

The League’s activities prompted Bohle in January 1937 to ask 

the AA and Austrian government to approve the formal commission¬ 

ing of Bernard as Landesgruppenleiter. But the request evoked 

immediate opposition from both. The AA rejected the request (and 

Vienna agreed) on the basis that the foreign NSDAP groups were 

subordinate to the laws of their guest nation, while German mis¬ 

sions enjoyed extraterritoriality and diplomatic immunity. Com- 
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bining consular and party offices abroad, it was argued by the 

Wilhelmstrasse, could only destroy foreign respect for German 

diplomats and lead to serious difficulties with foreign governments.68 

But Hitler, Bohle, and the NSDAP viewed the problem in re¬ 

verse. To them the party was the state in Germany,69 and according 

to German law, its leaders abroad were representatives of the Ger¬ 

man Reich and equal in status to their diplomatic counterparts. 

While this extremely narrow interpretation acknowledged only 

German law (and the German political situation) and refused to 

respect what had been known by the world for centuries as inter¬ 

national law, it reflected the sharp party-state dualism in Germany. 

As for the NSDAP, it was apparently convinced of the AO’s argu¬ 

ment and of its growing importance; in December 1936 the party 

Treasury tripled its financial support of the organization.70 But most 

significant, the party’s insistence that its officials abroad were as 

authoritative as the diplomats helped contribute to a sudden effort 

by Hitler to unify the party and state in the administration of 

foreign Germans. 

Bohle’s Appointment at the Wilhelmstrasse 

Surprising the diplomatic world on 30 January 1937, Hitler pro¬ 

moted Bohle to the Foreign Ministry and named him “Chief of the 

Auslands-Organisation in the Auswartiges Amt.”71 Although the 

appointment was partly the outgrowth of the conflict over Ber¬ 

nard’s status in Austria, it was mainly the result of the feud center¬ 

ing around control of foreign Germans that had existed between the 

AO and AA since 1933. Following the Nazi seizure of power, they 

had clashed repeatedly over what Bohle termed the Menschen- 

fuhrung of Germans abroad, or the manipulation, administration, 

and education of foreign Germans in the tenets of National So¬ 
cialism. 

As part of the Menschenfuhrung of foreign Germans, the AO 

had claimed the right to dominate the economic development, legal 

affairs, schools, emigration, and repatriation of Germans outside the 

Reich. But since this work was normally handled by the AA, the 

question of competency had arisen: where did the authority of the 

AA cease, and where did that of the AO begin? By 1937 an an¬ 

swer had become vital to German foreign affairs; the AO’s role 

was developing rapidly in Spain and Austria, and serious difficulties 

were being caused by the lack of coordination between it and the AA 
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in South Africa, the United States, the Netherlands, Switzerland, 

Australia, the Dutch East Indies, Venezuela, Sweden, and other 

countries. Neurath, having been challenged during the previous 

months by the Nazi leadership to admit Bohle to the AA, proposed 

to Hitler that the AO leader be promoted to the Ministry. He 

hoped that by placing Bohle in the Ministry, he (Neurath) could 

finally gain “a certain control over the Auslandsorganisation.”72 

Although Bohle later maintained that the NSDAP had done noth¬ 

ing to secure his admission to the AA, he thanked Hess profusely for 

his “understanding assistance” in the affair in a personal letter in 

December 1937. Still another factor in the promotion may have been 

the sudden death in June 1936 of Biilow, the powerful anti-Nazi 

State Secretary of the AA, which removed an influential barrier 

to the party’s expansion into the Ministry.73 The appointment was 

also encouraged by Himmler and the SS, because it would limit 

the AO to handling only Auslandsdeutschen and would leave to the 

VoMi matters relating to Volksdeutschen,74 Another consideration 

in the promotion was that until 1937, the NSDAP had succeeded 

in placing no one in a ranking position in the AA who was a trained 

diplomat. Men like Neurath, Weizsacker (who was not yet a Nazi 

member), and Mackensen were hardly hard-core “party men” whom 

the National Socialists wished to place in high government posts. 

As for Hitler’s personal motives in naming Bohle, the picture is less 

clear. By now, with Ribbentrop having become his unofficial For¬ 

eign Minister and with the AO’s expansion in Spain and Austria, 

he may have been considering using the AO to reorganize the For¬ 

eign Service, or (what was more likely) to capture its total loyalty 

by making the AO a bonafide competitor. 

Although the commissioning of Bohle was interpreted by the 

foreign press as meaning that the AO was being incorporated whole¬ 

sale into the Ministry,75 the truth was that only its leader was 

taken into the AA. The AO remained a party institution and com¬ 

pletely separate from the Ministry. Bohle was given an office and 

a small staff in the AA, Ministry funds were channeled through 

him to the AO, and he attended daily conferences of AA officials 

that dealt with foreign Germans and related affairs. 

In the weeks that followed, while party members hailed Bohle as 

a potential successor to Neurath, the foreign press and several gov¬ 

ernments overestimated (partly because of Nazi propaganda) his 

authority in the AA and the meaning of his new position. The Times 

(London) called the appointment “the first spectacular incursion by 
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the National-Socialist Party into the conservative sanctuary of the 

Foreign Office.” Dodd, the American Ambassador, interpreted what 

had occurred similarly, and the reaction of his government was to 

see Bohle’s new post as a major expansion of the NSDAP’s influ¬ 

ence over the Wilhelmstrasse.16 In some quarters the reaction was 

even more extreme and incorrect. The London Daily Telegraph 

speculated that the new Secretary of State in the AA would be 

either Mackensen or Weizsacker. But, the paper stressed, whoever 

was selected “will, it is thought, only be keeping the place warm 

for Herr Bohle.” Then there was the complete inaccuracy of another 

London paper that contended Bohle had been “until recently head of 

the London Nazi group” and that his appointment “will mean 

changes in the London organization. ’ 

There is little doubt that Bohle himself viewed his good fortune 

as confirmation from Hitler that the AO had full authority to direct 

and supervise German citizens outside Germany. For Bohle, this 

was the realization of his perennial desire to exert greater influence 

over policy dealing with foreign Germandom. But as he was to dis¬ 

cover, his authority in the AA was restricted significantly, even in 

the area of administering Germans abroad. During 1937 and 1938, 

at the peak of the AO’s power, it was able to achieve solely minor 

changes in the AA’s personnel and to affect only the policy of the 

Cultural-Political Department of the Ministry. When Ribbentrop, 

Bohle’s archrival, became Foreign Minister in February 1938, its 

authority was limited even more. 

Bohle’s jurisdiction in the AA was quickly defined. It was re¬ 

stricted to matters concerning German citizens abroad, such as ar¬ 

ranging celebrations of party holidays; handling tension in Nazi 

locals; guiding relations among party leaders, their host govern¬ 

ments, and German diplomats; organizing the party’s negotiations 

with foreign governments over issues involving German nationals; 

advising Auslandsdeutschen on questions concerning citizenship; 

and influencing cultural policy by controlling foreign teachers and 

students. Bohle also completed regulations with the Propaganda 

Ministry for sending party mail abroad by diplomatic pouch. In 

addition, he worked on establishing a secret “slush fund” from the 

AA for the AO. He requested 750,000 marks (roughly $200,000) in 

January 1938 to enable him to “be in the position, from case to case, 

to help without bureaucratic or budgetary restrictions if an individ¬ 

ual crisis occurs ... in which the demands of foreign Germandom 

and therefore the Reich are served by the dispatch of funds.” But 
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in one of his many frustrations in the AA, he received less than 
one-third of the amount.79 

Capturing official control over German schools abroad and re¬ 

patriating foreign Germans for labor and military purposes in 

Germany were of special interest to him. Beginning in March 1937 

numerous functionaries in the Cultural-Political Department of the 

AA were purged, including the head of its School Section, Bohme, 

and the AO and Ministry of Education ensured (by working through 

SD reports on potential successors) that only “old reliable party 

comrades” replaced them. Bohle also ordered an immediate halt to 

the financial support of German missions abroad to “active Jewish 

or non-Aryan professors and other scientists.”80 Since Germany 

badly needed labor to supply Hitler’s rearmament program, the 

AO’s Repatriation Office worked through Bohle to supervise the re¬ 

turn of German citizens to Germany. The Office concluded an agree¬ 

ment with the AA whereby it was granted total command over the 

re-emigration process. It had repatriation camps throughout Ger¬ 

many; a camp in Munich, for example, administered the return of 

2,271 foreign Germans from 1936 to 1938.81 

Bohle introduced himself in his new role to the diplomats in a 

bombastic circular to the missions on 1 March, and he implied 

that he wielded more authority than he actually possessed. He be¬ 

gan by stressing that his appointment had been a “logical conse¬ 

quence” of the AO’s history. In a statement that must have 

sounded ominous to the diplomats, he instructed them that the 

NSDAP intended to use his position to recreate the Third Reich 

outside Germany: “Just as the National Socialist party possesses 

the sole right to educate the people ipside the Reich ... so must 

the communities of German citizens abroad be led by foreign groups 

of the party and trained in the spirit of our state today.” In appeal¬ 

ing for the diplomats’ cooperation, he informed them that he had 

given “strictest orders” to his “leaders of the party abroad” to 

observe the “authority of the official representatives of the Reich.” 

Yet, he reminded the mission officials that the party expected them 

to return the compliment and “consider the special place of the 

party in the lives of Reich citizens.” 
The diplomats were hardly overwhelmed with admiration for the 

new arrangement, and Bohle’s instructions were not always exe¬ 

cuted faithfully. A month later he had to chastise them angrily for 

using incorrect designations for Landesgruppenleiters in official 

correspondence. To educate them, he demanded that as many as 
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possible attend the fifth annual conference of the AO in Stuttgart 

(recently named by Hitler the “city of foreign Germandom”) in 

September. The encroachment into the affairs of the missions was 

further illustrated when he requested that they allow Landesgrup- 

penleiters to see their lists of Germans who had lost German citi¬ 

zenship, moved from one country to another, or emigrated from 

Germany to a foreign land. The information, he maintained, was 

absolutely necessary to help the AO “uncover quickly possible 

activity against National Socialist Germany” by Germans abroad. 

He also wasted little time in defining where the authority of mis¬ 

sion leaders over Auslandsdeutschen stopped and the power of for¬ 

eign party functionaries began. According to a directive he issued 

in October, the party leaders were to be consulted by the diplomats 

about many of the issues that he dealt with in Berlin, which in¬ 

cluded organizing German communities, planning party activities, 

and handling legal and cultural matters of German citizens.84 Al¬ 

though some mission leaders deeply resented the order, their juris¬ 

diction was curtailed only minimally, and the party’s authority was 

restricted to German nationals. 

Added to the directives that flooded the missions, Bohle made his 

presence in the AA felt in other ways. Landesgruppenleiters were 

given permission to use rooms in German embassies and consulates 

without paying rent (e.g., in Istanbul, Sofia, Brussels, New York, 

and Madrid).85 In rare instances, party leaders were able to prevent 

foreign governments from sending diplomatic representatives to 

Germany who were suspected of being hostile to the Reich. Emil 

Prtifert, Landesgruppenleiter of Colombia beginning in 1935, 

torpedoed plans of the Colombian government in the fall of 1937 

to send Jorge Soto del Corral as its Minister to Berlin.86 

A more frequent practice was the party’s use of Bohle’s position 

in the AA to threaten and punish disobedient German nationals. 

When an elderly German pastor in Oslo, Gunther, opposed cooper¬ 

ation of the local German colony with the Nazi local, Bohle or¬ 

dered the German Legation in Norway to send the rebel to Germany 

where he faced imprisonment and loss of his pension. A favorite 

tactic was to deprive uncooperative party members of their Ger¬ 

man citizenship, which meant, in effect, that their membership and 

privilege of returning to Germany were automatically destroyed and 

that their relatives in Germany were placed under immediate sur¬ 

veillance (and sometimes arrest) by the Gestapo.87 Nor was the AO 

above using Bohle’s status to strengthen its pressure on German 
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firms to release their business representatives abroad when they 

opposed National Socialism. Eduard Nagelsbach, an agent in 

Southwest Africa for the Otavi Mine and Railway Company in 

Berlin, was fired by the firm and forced to return to Germany for 

writing an article for a German newspaper attacking the AO.88 

The return of anti-Nazi elements to Germany was facilitated by the 

AO’s Office for Harbor Control (Hafendienstamt). It placed under¬ 

cover agents in many large seaports whose chief tasks were to ob¬ 

serve the arrival and departure of German nationals, and in rare 

instances, to take into custody persons whose activity was hostile 

toward Germany and send them home aboard German ships for 

punishment. The head of the Harbor Control operation was an old- 

timer in the AO, Kurt Wermke, described by Bohle as “a fanatical 

National Socialist” and who worked closely with the Gestapo and 

the intelligence section of the German War Ministry.89 

Closely connected with the Harbor Control agents and Landes- 

gruppen was the Nazi Seafarer Section. Its main responsibility 

was to organize German merchant and passenger ships into Orts- 

gruppen of the party; by 1937 there were 1,097 such “shipping 

locals” sailing the seas, often carrying (or smuggling) propaganda 

to Landesgruppen or cooperating with Harbor Control people. 

Most party leaders aboard the ships were given political training 

at the AO’s School of Leaders for Seamen and Germans Abroad, 

formed in April 1934 in Altona. In turn, the leaders trained rank 

and file seamen on the ships in Nazi ideology, German labor law, 

sports, and social policy (in conjunction with the DAF). In the har¬ 

bors of foreign countries, the DAF’s Strength through Joy (Kraft 

durch Freude) groups, organized witjv the Landesgruppen, enter¬ 

tained the crews of German ships. The NSDAP emphasized that a 

sort of mystical bond tied the seamen to its foreign groups; the 

latter busily arranged trips for the visiting mariners to acquaint 

them with harbor towns and the interior of foreign countries. 

But on the negative side, this did little to allay the mistrust 

of the party organizations by foreign governments. German ships 

were often searched by foreign officials who were looking for Nazi 

propaganda or agents being smuggled into their countries, and 

sporadically the seamen became public symbols of the antagonism 

Germany was generating abroad. In September 1935 a Nazi em¬ 

blem was torn from the German liner Bremen by an angry crowd 

in New York. Several weeks later, when the ship docked again in 

the city, the crew saluted the swastika flag as it was hoisted above 
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the pier. Raising their right arms stiffly, the seamen shouted a 

threefold “heil Hitler,” listened to an impassioned speech by their 

captain, and ended their spectacle by singing Deutschland iiber 

A lies and the Horst Wessel song. 
In some countries where party groups encountered hostility to their 

activities, the ships docked and permitted the groups to hold parties 

and celebrations on board. Children from German schools were of¬ 

ten invited onto the ships for tours, “indoctrination sessions,” and 

visits to the ships’ bookstore (which always featured copies of Mein 

Kampf). In Germany the mariners were praised and glorified by 

the NSDAP. A “National Congress of Seamen” was held annually, 

and the party’s leaders attempted to bolster the seafarers’ morale 

and sense of importance by speaking at the conference. Goebbels, 

comparing them to diplomats, once remarked that while the latter 

were “envoys of their Empire,” the seamen were “envoys of their 

people.”90 

Even the AO’s Party Court in Berlin capitalized on Bohle’s 

appointment. Not only did it begin a witch-hunt to remove Free¬ 

masons in party groups abroad and begin investigating the “Aryan 

descent” of spouses of foreign party leaders, but it increased its use 

of Gestapo files to issue judgments against disobedient Nazis. 

Such cooperation resulted in the return to Germany of a diplomat 

in Argentina, Arthur Koch, to be punished for selling military 

secrets to a foreign government.91 The Court worked with Heydrich 

and the SD to punish the captain and first officer (who were Nazi 

members) of the German passenger ship Milwaukee. They were 

accused of being involved in a homosexual clique aboard the ship, 

of refusing to celebrate properly Hitler’s birthday, and of tolerating 

jokes among the ship’s crew about Goring and Ley.92 

On occasion the AO was able to influence lower level Ministry 

appointments and to increase pressure on diplomats to join the 

NSDAP. Outside of forcing a few diplomats who were on leave or 

on vacation to submit speeches to the AA for approval before they 

were delivered abroad, thereby avoiding complaints from foreign 

party leaders who believed that they were not pro-Nazi enough,93 

Bohle tried to exert considerable authority in the approval of per¬ 

sonnel changes in the Ministry. Party membership was one of 

several aspects in such matters. An appointment or promotion 

rested on favorable judgments of candidates from the Ministries of 

Interior and Finance (for affairs concerning rank and budget), the 
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Foreign Minister, and Hess’s office (which received information on 

the candidates’ “political reliability” from the AO). When the party 

had finally arrived at a decision, the candidate’s name was sent to 

Hitler.94 The AO’s assessment of the diplomats rested significantly 

on reports received about the officials from Landesgruppenleiters. 
Bohle had initially enlisted the reports in February 1934, and by 

1937 he possessed an extensive file on most of the Foreign Service.95 

During 1937 several AO leaders were appointed to offices in the 

AA as aides to Bohle or as bureaucrats in the School Section of 

the Cultural-Political Department. Commissioned Legations- 

sekretdr (“legation secretaries”) were Fischer; Ehrich, who became 

head of Bohle’s office in the Ministry; Burbach; and Karl Klingenfuss, 

a leader of the AO’s Cultural Office, who was moved into the 

Cultural-Political Department. In addition, Kohn was named Con¬ 

sul General, and Fritz-Gebhardt von Hahn and Peter Bachmann 

were made attaches.96 

Simultaneously a handful of Landesgruppenleiters were com¬ 

missioned as secondary diplomats and attached to German mis¬ 

sions. What the AA had hoped to avoid began to occur on a modest 

scale: party positions were united with diplomatic offices, and the 

claim by the Ministry to foreign governments that it was acting 

as an independent arm of the German government was blemished. 

Included in the appointments were Bernard, Consul General in 

Salzburg, named Landesgruppenleiter for Austria; Carl Dedering, 

Landesgruppenleiter of Peru, named Consul in Lima; Ettel, party 

leader in Italy, named Legation Counselor in Rome; Butting, head 

of the party’s cover organization in the Netherlands, named attache 

in The Hague; Tiemann, party member and Consul General in Han¬ 

kow, named Consul in Batavia; Bene, former party chief in England, 

named Consul General in Milan; Walter Pausch, member of Bohle’s 

personal staff, named Legation Secretary in Tokyo; Georg Bohme, 

Ortsgruppenleiter in Davos, named “Administrator of the German 

Consulate in Davos”; Carl Burgam, Landesgruppenleiter of Poland, 

named Vice Consul in Warsaw; Wilhelm Rodde, named party 

leader in Canada and Consul in Winnipeg; Stiller, party leader in 

South Africa, named Legation Counselor in Capetown; and Wil¬ 

helm Graeb, party chief in Hungary, named Consul. The AO’s 

only significant appointment occurred in November 1937 when the 

founder of the party in Guatemala, Langmann, was named Minister 

to Uruguay.97 Probably more often, Bohle’s candidates for the A A 
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were rejected by Neurath and Mackensen. In the autumn of 1937 

he failed to have Friedrich Willis, a cofounder of the Ortsgruppe 

Rome and an AO official, placed in the Ministry. 

Party leaders who entered the Ministry reflected the influence of 

the SS on the AO. Not only had the AO lost its authority in 

Volksdeutsch affairs to the VoMi, but a large number of its officials 

were SS officers: Ettel, Walter Hewel (an old friend of Hitler and 

Hess and a former party leader in the Dutch East Indies), Lehne 

(head of a new AO office, the Amt fur Erzieher, or “Office for Edu¬ 

cators”), Heinrich Hammersen (Bohle’s adjutant), Rudolf Tesmann 

(Bohle’s personal adviser), Schnaus (in charge of the AO’s Inspec¬ 

tion Office), Ruberg (chief of the AO’s Stabsamt, or “Staff Office”), 

Butting, Friedrich Haus (Foreign Commissioner of the AO for 

South America), and Rodde. Bohle himself was promoted by Himm¬ 

ler in April 1937 to SS Gruppenfuhrer (“major general”), and soon 

thereafter, he renounced his British citizenship." 

The AO also involved itself in the cloak and dagger business 

of having career diplomats dismissed from their posts. While such 

instances were not extensive, a few officials were released (or trans¬ 

ferred to other posts in the AA) for the slightest opposition to the 

NSDAP—either they made an ill-conceived remark about the party 

or they behaved in a manner unbecoming a “Nazi diplomat”—or 

because of hostile reports against them sent to Bohle by Landes- 

gruppenleiters. Wilhelm Erythropel, mission chief in Cuba, was re¬ 

called to Berlin because of his opposition to local Nazi functionaries. 

A similar fate befell the anti-Nazi Vice Consul in Batavia, Kleiber, 

who was accused by the party in the Dutch East Indies of keeping a 

mistress and thereby creating a public “scandal.” Another example 

was the removal of the German Minister to Ireland, Schroetter, 

because he was criticized by the Ortsgruppenleiter in Dublin. A 

further instance was the transfer of Georg Vogel from the Embassy 

in London to Czechoslovakia; he was attacked by Otto Karlowa, 

the new Landesgruppenleiter of England, for not defending vigor¬ 

ously enough to British authorities a German caught stealing.100 

Mission officials could also be removed on racial grounds. Wilhelm 

Haas, Legation Secretary and chief of the Trade Department of 

the German Embassy in Tokyo, was “retired” by the A A in April 

1937 through pressure from the AO and Landesgruppenleiter of 

Japan, Hillmann. Not only was Haas’s wife a Jewess, but he refused 

to offer his “wholehearted support of the National Socialist ideol¬ 

ogy.” Furthermore, when he tried to land a job with I. G. Farben 
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in Japan, Hillmann blocked his efforts, and it was only in 1939 that 

he was permitted to go to work for the firm in northern China.101 

Although the AO was unable to exercise significant power in 

personnel affairs of the AA, it was hardly surprising that greater 

pressure was placed on Ministry officials to join the NSDAP. Ernst 

Woermann, the Embassy Counselor for Ribbentrop (who had been 

appointed Ambassador to England in August 1936), applied for 

party membership at the encouragement of Karlowa. Other ranking 

diplomats who joined the party were Otto von Erdmannsdorff and 

Faupel. Bohle also concluded an agreement with Goebbels, where¬ 

by Nazi members working in Wilhelmstrasse 74 would belong to the 

AO’s membership rolls instead of those of the Berlin Gau. The 

pact was later expanded when the AO created an Ortsgruppe 

Auswartiges Amt, which administered party members in the Foreign 

Service who lived outside Germany.102 

The peak of the AO’s authority in this regard appears to have 

developed in 1938. Woermann was finally accepted by the party and 

issued his membership card, and a month after Bohle approached 

Weizsacker (the choice of Ribbentrop, named Foreign Minister in 

February, as Secretary of State) about joining, he too had received 

a card. The Ambassador to Brazil, Karl Ritter, was accepted 

(especially pleasing Bohle, since his groups in Brazil were under a 

serious attack by the Vargas regime and badly needed Ritter’s sup¬ 

port), and the AO suggested to Ribbentrop that the new Ambassa¬ 

dor to Japan, Major Ott, be admitted. Mission leaders who entered 

the party were Hans Volckers (Cuba), Cecil von Renthe-Fink (Den¬ 

mark), Papen (Turkey), Hans Carl Busing (Paraguay), Otto Kocher 

(Switzerland), and Eduard Hempel (Ireland). In May Hitler ordered 

the Ortsgruppe Auswartiges Amt dissolved and that future accep¬ 

tance of diplomats be decided on by an agreement between Bohle 

and Ribbentrop.103 

While Bohle subsequently used his share of such authority to 

approve the enrolling of other diplomats (e.g., Diego von Bergen 

and Dieckhoff), he was adamant in blocking membership for offi¬ 

cials who were the least suspect. Freiherr von Mentzingen, a Vice 

Consul in Istanbul, was blackballed because he was too openly 

Catholic and had been educated in a Jesuit school. Membership for 

the Senior Counselor and Deputy Director of the AA’s Cultural 

Policy Department, Fritz von Twardowski, was delayed because he 

had a brother in the United States who was allegedly “an enemy 

of Germany.” Apparently, Bohle’s work earned him top marks 
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with the Nazi hierarchy; on his birthday in July 1938 he received 

telegrams and greetings from Hitler, Hess, Himmler, and Goring. 

But his job with the AA was nowhere near completion. Only one- 

third of its ninety-two higher officials in Berlin were party members, 

and 881 of its 2,665 employees had entered the NSDAP or declared 

their intention to do so.104 

Bohle’s promotion to the AA and his jockeying for power in the 

Ministry marked the height of the authority in the government 

of the AO and its groups outside Germany. He enjoyed for a brief 

time access to Hitler (which was always a mark of influence) to 

discuss important matters regarding foreign Germans. On at least 

one occasion he was asked by Hitler to report with Hess to the 

Fiihrer on the party’s development in Austria.105 Hitler also ap¬ 

parently persisted in viewing the AO as a counterweight to the AA; 

in June 1939 he threatened in confidential circles to discuss with 

Bohle the intervention against mission officials abroad who received 

foreign visits from German warships “too stiffly and formally.” Ac¬ 

cording to the Chancellor, “Here and there the AOrg. of the Party 

[AO] must intercede when a block-headed Ambassador makes „ 106 
nonsense. 

Yet, as shown above, the extent of the AO’s influence on the 

AA was minimal—in policy-making, personnel decisions, and affairs 

involving foreign missions. Perhaps the greatest threat the AO posed 

to the Ministry was psychological in nature: most diplomats ascribed 

to it an authority it never possessed. This, much more than any 

practical power it wielded, gave the strongest competition the party 

was to offer the Foreign Ministry. Except for petty quarrels among 

foreign party officials and diplomats and pressure exerted on the 

diplomats to join the party, the AA and its apparatus remained 

intact. But the image such difficulties projected to foreign govern¬ 

ments was that the Ministry had been nazified.107 In 1939 and 

1940 Bohle was mentioned in the foreign press as a potential suc¬ 

cessor to Ribbentrop, an assertion based purely on myth and one 

that infuriated the Foreign Minister. 

Myths seemed to surround the AO and its organizations abroad. 

Public opinion and foreign governments, particularly in the Western 

Hemisphere, believed honestly (but erroneously) that the groups 

formed a massive Nazi conspiracy or “fifth column” that threatened 

world security. On the other hand, the AO continued to function 

according to the legend that foreign Germans were as eager to 
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become Nazi followers as Germans at home. Adding fuel to this view 

were Bohle’s promotion to the AA, several partial successes of 

Landesgruppen in Spain and Austria, and misleading reports sent 

to Germany by party leaders that portrayed a far too favorable 

situation for their work. But beginning in 1938 and 1939, whatever 

hopes the AO entertained about becoming a vital agency in foreign 

affairs turned to disappointment. As the list of nations banning the 

noisy and visible Landesgruppen became longer, Berlin finally ack¬ 

nowledged that pushing the Nazi doctrines of race and power onto 

foreign Germans was a failure. The outlawing of the party abroad' 

also undermined Bohle’s position in the AA, an erosion that was 

accelerated by Ribbentrop’s being commissioned Foreign Minister 

and by his strengthening of the Ministry against rivals like the 

party. 



5 
THE THREAT OF WAR AND THE 

FOREIGN REACTION AGAINST THE 

PARTY GROUPS ABROAD, 1937-1939 

Following Hitler’s meeting with his advisers in November 

1937, in which he coldly outlined his intention to secure through 

any means Lebensraum in Austria and Czechoslovakia, Europe un¬ 

knowingly found itself on a collision course with Germany. A series 

of political crises, perpetuated by the German government and 

NSDAP, developed in Europe, bringing on the destructive Second 

World War in September 1939. In each crisis—the Anschluss of 

Austria, the destruction of Czechoslovakia, the ban of the Nazis 

from Latin America and elsewhere, and the attack on Poland—the 

Nazi party was almost as deeply involved as the German govern¬ 

ment and army. 
While the foothold of the party in the Foreign Service rested 

significantly on Bohle’s position in the AA, it also depended on the 

organization of the AO in Berlin and its several hundred groups 

outside Germany. By June 1937 the AO was administering 29,099 

Nazi members around the world and 22,469 German seamen.' 

Although the numbers were unimpressive (they represented barely 

five percent of the German nationals living abroad), the NSDAP 

had made gains in membership since 1933 in several countries that 

had tried to crush its indigenous groups: Southwest Africa, the 

Netherlands, Switzerland, Austria, and the United States. Accord¬ 

ing to a statistical analysis by the AO, the social composition of 

its groups was not radically different from the largely young, mid¬ 

dle-class party membership inside Germany. An overwhelming 

majority of the foreign members were males (90 percent), under 

thirty-eight years old (54 percent), and engaged in some type of 

business activity (32.5 percent) or other middle class profession.2 
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Table II 

Countries With the Largest 

Number of Nazi Members June 1937 
Country Members German Citizens 

Brazil 2,903 75,000 
Netherlands 1,925 75,000 
Austria 1,678 44,000 
Argentina 1,500 42,600 
Poland 1,379 6,500 
Switzerland 1,364 120,000 

Southwest Africa 1,127 13,000 
Italy 1,076 9,500 
Czechoslovakia 1,006 32,000 
Chile 985 5,300 
China 700 5,000 
Tanganyika 688 2,140 
Netherlands East Indies 682 3,000 
United States 569 

Source: AO, “Parteimitglieder, Stand 30.6. 1937 ” T-120/78 / 60145-60148. 

The membership figures include an undetermined number of Volksdeutschen 
and persons with dual citizenship. 

Although Bohle was extremely proud of his office in the AA, he 

spent most of his time at the AO, where a staff of eight hundred 

department leaders, bureaucrats, clerks, and secretaries were em¬ 

ployed. Most AO leaders had lived abroad as businessmen, teach¬ 

ers, engineers, or officers. The largest percentage of department 

chiefs was under forty years of age, and many spoke or read sev¬ 

eral languages, a fact that was always 7a source of pride for Bohle. 

Another fact that pleased him was that most of his subordinates, 

who had been Evangelical in religion before 1933, had declared 

themselves to be non-Christians (gottgldubig).3 

The leaders of the principal offices (Hauptstellenleiter) in the 

Zentrale in Berlin included Tesmann, who succeeded Ehrich as 

Bohle’s personal adviser; Hammersen and Willy Gohert, Bohle’s 

adjutants; Hess, Deputy Gauleiter; and Ruberg, leader of the Staff 

Office. In addition, eight regional departments (Ldnderdmter), each 

guided by a veteran resident of the region, were responsible for 

the development of Landesgruppen assigned to the departments. 

The central office was further divided into twenty-four special de¬ 

partments whose heads held the rank of Gauamtsleiter and boasted 

of having substantial foreign experience. The Seafarer Section was 
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headed by Wermke, a one-time merchant in Guatemala, and other 

departments led by persons who had lived abroad included the 

Foreign Trade Office (Wilhelm Bisse and Hess), Personnel Office 

(Reitzenstein), Inspection Office (Schnaus), Relief Committee for 

Spanish-Germans (Hellermann), DAF (Ruberg), Office for Techni¬ 

cians (Hermann Bohle), Amt fur Beamte (“Office for Civil Ser¬ 

vants,” Georg Winkelmann, a former official in the Ortsgruppe 

Madrid), and Office for Educators (Lehne).4 

The Landesgruppen: 

Organizations Against the Jews 

Beyond the Berlin headquarters the AO was comprised of rough¬ 

ly forty-nine Landesgruppen in nearly every corner of the world. 

The Landesgruppe served as a national organization that adminis¬ 

tered Kreis (“regional”) groups, Ortsgruppen, Stutzpunkte, and 

Zellen of the NSDAP in its country. (See Appendix II.) Bohle 

was a strict adherent to the Fiihrerprinzip in his relations with 

the Landesgruppenleiters; they were to obey his directives like 

robots and demand the same unstinting obedience from their sub¬ 

ordinates. Each Landesgruppenleiter was carefully chosen for his 

post by Bohle and confirmed by Hitler. In turn, the Landesgruppen¬ 

leiter appointed (with Bohle’s confirmation) the administrators who 

supervised the various offices in his organization and other party 

leaders (e.g., Ortsgruppenleiters) in his country. A large percentage 

of local and subordinate leaders were German merchants, owners 

of businesses, and teachers.5 

By 1937 and 1938 the Landesgruppenleiter corps had become 

fairly stabilized, and most of them were veteran Nazis (whose 

longevity in the party had allegedly proven their loyalty to Hitler) 

drawn by Bohle from the educated business and professional 

middle classes. (See Table III.) Often, they worked full-time at their 

jobs, which involved building a network of locals and cells in their 

countries, recruiting party members, disseminating propaganda, 

and handling problems of foreign Germans. Some were well paid 

for their work; in 1939 the party leaders of England, Palestine, 
Hungary, Paraguay, Bulgaria, Australia, Norway, Colombia, Italy, 

and Spain earned as much as several thousand dollars.6 

Most Landesgruppen had numerous departments and offices. An 

example was the party organization in the Union of South Africa, 

which administered 336 members through several local affiliates. 
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Concealing its activities wherever possible from the authorities, 

the Landesgruppe maintained an undercover headquarters in 

Capetown, and it employed officials to handle the party’s treasury, 

membership records, indoctrination work, press, radio, films, ar¬ 

chive for phonograph records, local economic affairs, harbor ser¬ 

vice, DAF, Winter Relief collections, and welfare work. Although 

the Landesgruppen were responsible for most of their propaganda, 

the AO sent them Nazi films (e.g., Triumph of the Will) and short 

wave radio sets that could receive broadcasts from Germany.7 

The usual materials, like pamphlets, brochures, books and swastika 

banners, were also sent from Berlin. 

Table 111 
Landesgruppenleiters* 

of the Auslands-Organisatioi n 1937-1940 

Country Landesgruppenleiter 

Date 

Entered 

NSDAP Profession 

Angola Hans Kisker Oct. 1930 Farmer 

Argentina Fritz Kiister Mar. 1932 Merchant 

Alfred Muller July 1931 Merchant 

Australia Ladendorff — Unemployed 

Austria Hans Bernard — Consul (AA) 

Belgium Adolf Schulze May 1933 Railroad 

Bolivia Ernst Wendler 

Official 

Minister (AA) 

Brazil Hans-Henning von Cossel May 1931 Businessman 

Bulgaria Joseph Drechsel Jan. 1931 Professor 

Canada Wilhelm Rodde Oct. 1932 Consul (AA) 

Otto Janssen — — 

Chile Karl Htibner Apr. 1932 Railroad 

China Siegfried Lahrmann Sept. 1930 

Official 

Merchant 

Colombia Emil Priifert Aug. 1931 Owner, 

Czechoslovakia Stechele _ 
German Firm 

Protectorate Richard Ziessig —■ 

Denmark Frielitz Mac 1928 Press 

* According to Jacobsen, Nationalsozialistische Aussenpolitik, 

Attache (AA) 

p. 664, 89.5 per- 

cent of the AO’s rank and file membership joined the NSDAP after January 1933; 

but 83.9 percent of the LGL (whose entry dates are known) were members before 

1933. 
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Ernst Schafer Oct. 1930 Merchant 

Egypt Krahn — Engineer 

England Otto Karlowa Apr. 1933 Interpreter 

(AA) 

Finland Wilhelm Jahre Apr. 1934 Chief Clerk 

France Rudolf Schleier — Wine Merchant 

Emil Ehrich Nov. 1930 AO, AA 

Greece Walther Wrede Jan. 1934 Archaeologist 

Guatemala Gerhard Hentschke Nov. 1931 Merchant 

Hungary Wilhelm Graeb June 1933 Consul (AA) 

Iran Erwin Ettel Mar. 1932 Legation 

Counselor 

(AA) 

Italy Ettel — — 

Ehrich — — 

Japan Rudolf Hillmann July 1933 Merchant 

Kenya/ Uganda Karl Hubl — — 

Latvia Henry Esp July 1932 Engineer 

Luxemburg Heinrich Diehl — Doctor 

Manchuria Hanns von Kirschbaum June 1934 Director, 

German Firm 

Mexico Wilhelm Wirtz May 1931 Merchant 

Netherlands 

Netherlands 

Otto Butting Mar. 1932 Doctor, 

Attache (AA) 

East Indies Otto Jaissle May 1934 Businessman 

Norway Karl Spanaus — — 

Palestine Cornelius Schwarz May 1933 Clerk 

Paraguay Rainer Behrens June 1934 Bank Clerk 

Peru Carl Dedering Apr. 1932 Consul (AA) 

Poland Carl Burgam — Vice Consul 

(AA) 

Ewald Krummer Legation 

Counselor 

(AA) 

Portugal Julius Claussen — — 

Rumania 

Southwest 

Artur Konradi Dec. 1931 Engineer 

Africa Michael Neuendorf 
\ 

Sheep Farmer 
Spain Hans Thomsen May 1933 Radio Operator, 

Navy 
Sweden Wilhelm Stengel — Engineer 
Switzerland Sigismund von Bibra May 1933 Legation 

Secretary 

(AA) 
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Tanganyika - - 

Turkey Viktor Friede - - 

Union of 

South Africa Helmuth Kirchner Editor (?) 
United States Frederick Mensing — Shipping 

Friedhelm Draeger 
Agent 

Vice Consul 

U ruguay Julius Dalldorf 
(AA) 

Businessman 
Venezuela Arnold Margerie June 1933 Merchant 
Yugoslavia — — — 

Source: DAI, “Anschriften der Landesgruppenleiter der AO. der NSDAP,” 14 

June 1940, T-81/350/5078482-5078483; issues of the AO’s Mitteilungsblatt, 1937- 

1940; Bohle’s discussion of the LGL, Bohle Interrogation, M-679/1 / 0092-0101; 

U.S. War Dept., Nazi Party Membership Records, passim; and biographical mate¬ 

rial from BDC and PA files. 

Although Bohle denied it, an unofficial task of the Landesgruppen 

was to involve themselves subtly in the internal affairs of their 

country, hoping thereby to further German aims abroad. As noted 

previously, this intervention took several forms, but much of it cen¬ 

tered around their following a doggedly anti-Semitic policy. Aside 

from their usual anti-Jewish propaganda and political activities, 

the groups’ economic policies were highly anti-Semitic in nature 

and aimed at smashing the alleged “world Jewish conspiracy” 

against Germany. 

Such practices extended even to Palestine, where the AO and 

Landesgruppe Palestine fought against the formation of a Jewish 

national home there, and against the' transfer into the country of 

Jewish property from Germany by the Haavara (Hebrew for Trans¬ 

fer) Company. Beginning in 1933 the Nazi government had intro¬ 

duced measures that aided the emigration of German Jews to Pal¬ 

estine and permitted them to take a portion of their property with 

them. The Haavara organization, in agreement with the German 

government, received a monopoly on the shipping of German 

goods to Palestine. But when the British government began con¬ 

sidering in the summer of 1937 the partition of Palestine and for¬ 

mation of a Jewish state there, the German government and 

NSDAP quickly opposed the idea. 

A key reason for the opposition was the roughly two thousand 

German citizens living in colonies in Jerusalem, Jaffa, Haifa, Sa- 

rona, Wilhelma, Waldheim, and Bethlehem. It was feared that if 
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Palestine was divided, German settlements would fall within the 

borders of the Jewish state. The Landesgruppe Palestine, which 

controlled most of the colonies, discouraged the Auslandsdeutschen 

from returning to Germany and ordered them not to sell their land 

to Jews. The group, led by an elderly Jaffa clerk, Cornelius Schwarz, 

fought the planned partition by enflaming the local Arab-Jewish 

conflict with propaganda, and aiding Arab guerilla bands that at¬ 

tacked Jews. 
Although the AA had opposed the creation of a Jewish state 

in Palestine before it became a serious British proposal, German 

hostility mounted rapidly in the fall of 1937. The AO’s Foreign 

Trade Office, the Landesgruppe, and the German Consul General 

in Jerusalem demanded that Germany ban Jewish emigration and 

the transfer of Jewish property to Palestine. According to the party, 

failure to prohibit such practices would alienate the Arabs from 

Germany and contribute to the formation of a Jewish state (Pales¬ 

tine had accepted over one-third of the Jews who had left Ger¬ 

many since 1933) with German money, skills, and knowledge ac¬ 

quired by Jews in Germany. The AO also maintained that 

Germany must keep the Jews dispersed and prevent the creation 

of a Jewish state that would surely become another center of power 

for “international Jewry.” But several ministries in the German 

government argued against the party, noting that if German Jews 

could not emigrate to Palestine, Hitler’s order that Germany must 

become Judenrein (“pure of Jews”) would never be achieved. In 

the end, there was no final decision regarding Haavara and Pales¬ 

tine, mainly because the British dropped the partition plan in 1938 

and seriously limited Jewish migration to Palestine.8 

Using the Landesgruppen, the AO persisted in trying to under¬ 

mine Jewish economic influence abroad and stimulate German 

trade, which were not always compatible goals. Under the direction 

of Goring’s Four-Year-Plan, the AO’s Foreign Trade Office employed 

244 agents or Wirtschaftsstellenleiter, who were attached to the 

Landesgruppen; their principal job was to gather information on 

Jewish businesses abroad and German firms hiring Jews. The 

Wirtschaftsstellenleiter in Buenos Aires, Volberg, supplied the 

German Economic Ministry and the German Embassy in Argentina 

with lists of banks, businesses, and individuals suspected of being 

Jewish, and these were boycotted by the Germans. The AO also 

succeeded in capturing control over the propaganda of German 

firms abroad; I. G. Farben, among other companies, harmonized its 
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public relations policy with the Foreign Trade Office. By 1939 the 

Office had amassed records on roughly 110,000 foreign German 

and Jewish businesses and German commercial representatives.9 

The Office had also tried since 1933 to have foreign workers of 

Farben and other companies dismissed for being “non-Aryan” or 

failing to be fanatical National Socialists. Initially, Farben re¬ 

sisted such pressures and retained its non-Aryan employees by play¬ 

ing off the AO against the APA and other agencies. Farben chiefs 

argued that the employees were valuable to German foreign trade 

and that they brought Germany foreign currency that was essential 

to the rearmament program. But during 1937 the struggle was re¬ 

solved in favor of the AO; a number of foreign representatives 

were dismissed by Farben.10 

Similar dismissals occurred in other German firms. The leader of 

the Ortsgruppe Shanghai, Alfred Kroeger, helped secure the removal 

of the Jew, Rudolf Herz, from the Agfa China Company. A Chilean 

citizen of German descent, who represented Krupp in Chile and 

employed a Jew, was threatened by the Landesgruppe Chile with 

the loss of his privilege to represent Krupp if he did not dismiss 

the Jew. By 1938 and 1939 an undetermined number of Jews had 

lost their positions in German firms abroad, and Jewish refugees 

from Germany were denied jobs in foreign German companies be¬ 

cause of the party’s pressure.11 But again, by arranging for the 

ousting of such persons, many with commercial contacts abroad, 

the AO undercut attempts by the AA and other German agencies 

to increase Germany’s trade. 

Anti-Comintern Politics and Criticism 

OF THE NAZINTERN 

Another key activity of the Landesgruppen was their campaign 

against Communism, which formed a small part of Germany’s 

Anti-Comintern policy that took official form with the agreements 

at the end of 1936 with Japan and Italy. While the Germans sought 

to balance their Far Eastern interests by expanding their commer¬ 

cial and military involvement in China, they also began negotia¬ 

tions with Japan that led to the Anti-Comintern pact in November. 

Once it had been signed, Germany found itself caught in the 

dilemma of maintaining friendly relations with both China and 

Japan (which were archenemies) and receiving from each what 

benefitted Germany. But when the Sino-Japanese war broke out in 
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July 1937, Hitler was forced to choose between the two countries, 

and he supported Japan. 
Although there were only twelve hundred German citizens and 

slightly over two hundred party members in Japan, Bohle firmly 

believed that the Landesgruppe Japan could do a great deal to 

foster German-Japanese trade and cement political relations be¬ 

tween the two nations. Much of its leadership was comprised of 

German businessmen and included a Legation Secretary at the 

German Embassy in Tokyo, Pausch. He was Bohle’s contact in¬ 

side the Embassy, and in addition to his spying on the other 

diplomats, he was probably responsible for the removal of Haas, 

the Legation Secretary and expert on German-Japanese trade, who 
12 

was a Jew. 

The work of the Landesgruppe was hardly the type that stimulated 

Japanese admiration for their new allies. It sponsored anti-Com- 

munist propaganda meetings for the German colony, such as a noisy 

reception in Tokyo harbor for the visiting German cruiser Emden 

which attracted the Ambassador, Herbert von Dirksen, and six 

hundred guests. The Landesgruppenleiter, Rudolf Hillmann, also 

built a thriving HJ group in the German schools in Tokyo and 

Yokohama.13 But the bulk of the party’s time was spent harassing 

Dirksen and the Embassy staff and keeping German travelers to 

Japan under tight surveillance. Although Germany and Japan were 

allies, the Nazis never forgot that the Japanese were racially 

different from the Germans, and therefore Germans in Japan were 

not allowed by the NSDAP to associate freely with the natives.14 

Bohle and Himmler also spied on the Embassy staff. They com¬ 

bined to have inserted in the Embassy special “police attaches,” 

who were allegedly to serve on the German commission that was 

supervising the Japanese execution of the Anti-Comintern pact. 

While they made life uncomfortable for Embassy workers who 

were not National Socialists, Dirksen was angered on several 

occasions by the meddling of the Landesgruppe into the Embassy’s 

cultural and economic affairs. Hillmann greatly embarrassed the 

Germans among Japanese government circles by publicly ques¬ 

tioning the honesty of a German armaments salesman who had 
been sent by Berlin to sell airplanes to Japan.15 

Another problem arising from Germany’s pro-Japanese policy 

was the resentment it provoked among Germans and party members 

in China. Many Germans there found themselves objects of govern¬ 

ment persecution because of the German-Japanese friendship. When 
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Siegfried Lahrmann, the Landesgruppenleiter of China, criticized 

Germany, Bohle commanded him to support Hitler’s policy at all 

costs and reminded him that he was responsible for representing it 

to the NSDAP in China. He instructed Lahrmann, “Personal 

sympathies toward the Chinese and material losses of our own 

racial comrades [in China] must under no circumstances be placed 

before the necessities of the great policy of the Fu'hrer.”16 

Thus Bohle’s dream that the party in Japan could strengthen 

German-Japanese ties was torpedoed by the Landesgruppe’s trivial 

propaganda and surveillance antics, and the AO faced difficulties 

with unhappy Germans in China. But such troubles did not appear 

to hurt significantly the party’s status with the Tokyo regime. When 
negotiations between Germany and Japan took place in the winter of 

1937 and 1938 concerning the former German colonial possessions 

in the Pacific, Samoa and New Guinea, the Japanese unofficially 

contacted the AO. Apparently, Japan hoped to purchase the former 

German islands to prepare the way for their incorporation into 

Japan’s planned empire in the Far East. When Ribbentrop led the 

Japanese to believe that Germany did not want to discuss the ques¬ 

tion on an official basis, the Japanese naval attache in Berlin visited 

Menche, head of the AO’s Far Eastern Department, and discussed 

Japan’s aims. Menche and Bohle told Ribbentrop, who ordered 

Menche to exercise the “greatest reservation” toward the attache. 

With Hitler having raised again in 1937 Germany’s claims to her 

former colonies overseas (claims that were aimed primarily at 

England and territories in Africa), the German government did not 

want to compromise its demands by a sale of its former Pacific 

possessions to Japan. Despite their Alliance against Communism, 

Germany and Japan had conflicting interests in colonial policy.17 

If German policy toward Japan was directed at the danger al¬ 

legedly posed by the Russians and Communism, the Nazis them¬ 

selves experienced mounting public opposition in 1937 to several of 

their party branches abroad that foreshadowed the mass foreign 

attack on the groups in 1938 and 1939. The hostility occurred for 

two reasons: Hitler’s aggressive foreign policy and his sharpening 

of demands for Lebensraum in Austria and eastern Europe, and 

Bohle’s brazen insistence that his foreign leaders be placed on an 

equal basis with Germany’s diplomats. 
Bohle greatly intensified foreign suspicion of his leaders abroad 

by asserting in an interview with the Berliner Tageblatt in August 

1937 that the “party organization in another country has a charac- 
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ter similar to the German [diplomatic] representation.”1X This 
incredible claim resulted in part from his anger over the expulsion 
of several German journalists from England. In retaliation the 
Germans expelled the Berlin correspondent for the London Times, 
which only increased the already tense relations between Germany 
and England over Hitler’s renewed demand that Germany’s former 
colonies in Africa and German minorities in eastern Europe be 
united with the Reich. 

Bowing to the pressure, Bohle had ordered a halt to the public 
operation of the Landesgruppe England in early August. Because of 
the expulsions, the organization and its new leader, Karlowa, had 
attracted attention from the British.14 But Bohle’s extreme state¬ 
ment demanding foreign protection for his officials abroad brought 
the German government a storm of criticism from the British, 
American, and European press. The sharpest denunciation came 
from Winston Churchill, who called the AO the “Nazintern” (i.e., 
the Nazi International, comparing it to the Comintern), warned that 
police should supervise NSDAP groups abroad tightly, and de¬ 
manded that their leaders be expelled from foreign countries. He 
also threatened an investigation by Parliament of the AO and its 
penetration of England.20 While his comparison was hardly an ac¬ 
curate one, it nevertheless served to increase the mythical view 
developing in the Western democracies that Nazi affiliates abroad 
formed a gigantic organization that threatened world security. 

The wave of criticism had other foreign repercussions. When 
party groups in Hungary were accused of distributing propaganda 
among Hungarian-Germans, the Hungarian government refused 
to permit the upgrading of the Ortsgruppe Budapest to a Landes¬ 
gruppe. The sour publicity stalking the AO was also employed by 
the United States government. A conflict between Dodd and his 
charge d’affaires, Prentiss Gilbert, was quickly suppressed in the 
German and American press when State Department officials (in¬ 
cluding Hull) reminded the press about Bohle’s “recent” statements 
and the increased operation of Nazi groups abroad.21 

But the strong reaction against the AO did little to daunt its 
belligerency. At its fifth annual Congress in Stuttgart in late 
August Bohle suggested that the party be allowed to send “cultural 
attaches” to German missions abroad, and Hess and Goebbels 
echoed the demand. Apparently, Hitler approved fully; he sent 
Bohle a telegram expressing “best wishes for your further work 
for Germandom abroad and the racial community of all Ger- 
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mans.”22 Such hard-line tactics, however, scarcely blunted the 

foreign outcry. Churchill noted repeatedly that the AO had become 

a major drawback to friendly Anglo-German relations and again 

hinted that he would call for an investigation by Parliament. 

Ribbentrop and the German Embassy in London deeply resented 

this obvious burden on their diplomacy to win concessions from the 

British on the former German colonies in Africa and German de¬ 

mands in eastern Europe. The situation became so unbearable that 

Ribbentrop asked his government to respond to Churchill’s attacks 

by sending Bohle to England to talk with the British leader. Such 

a trip had been planned since the summer, and before Bohle de¬ 

parted for England, Bene, his former party leader there, warned 

him not to repeat “the Rosenberg affair in London,” which “would 

not be welcome in many circles.” On 1 October 1937 Bohle and 

Churchill conversed privately for more than an hour at the latter’s 

London residence, emerging with smiles and a friendly handshake.23 

That evening Bohle addressed a Harvest Festival rally given by 

the Landesgruppe for the local German colony. A carefully selected 

audience of twelve hundred Germans attended the rally; seeking 

to reassure British leaders that the AO posed no threat to English 

democracy, he refused to allow British citizens to attend. After a 

“slight misunderstanding” at the meeting when Ribbentrop pre¬ 

maturely introduced him (a mix-up that seemed symbolic of the 

inability of the two to get along), a brief discussion was held at 

the platform, a band played several songs, and Karlowa spoke 

briefly. 

Finally, it was Bohle’s turn to speak. He began by denouncing 

foreigners who called his party members abroad “Nazi agitators” 

and “Gestapo agents,” and he indicated his displeasure at being 

referred to in the foreign press as “chief of the Nazintern” or “chief 

of a devilish espionage organization.” He flatly denied that his 

groups outside Germany intervened in the affairs of their host coun¬ 

tries, and he stressed instead that they were “envoys of good 

will” and of Hitler, “a defender of peace, of peace for Germany 

and of peace for the world.”24 When he finished, the celebration 

closed with loud renditions of Deutschland iiber Alles, the Horst 

Wessel Song, and God Save the King. During the anthem the 

audience gave the Hitler salute, and many ended it with a threefold 

shout of “Sieg heil.” 
Although the visit was generally well received by the Western 

press25 and persuaded Churchill to drop his opposition, Bohle’s 
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position had been seriously undermined in the AA and in his own 

government. His aggressive remarks in August had apparently 

been his own, without the approval of his superiors in the AA or 

the party. Consequently, because they damaged efforts by Ribben- 

trop to negotiate with England on several important issues, the 

statements were deeply resented by Neurath, Ribbentrop, and 

others in the AA. But while the diplomats complained about 

Bohle to Hitler, party leaders like Hess and Himmler rushed to 

his defense, and in keeping with the frequent Nazi policy of pro¬ 

moting loyal officials regardless of their blunderous actions. Hitler 

suddenly appointed him to the post of State Secretary in the AA. 

Hess in particular supported his underling and was primarily 

responsible for protecting him and securing his new title. Bohle 

was not ungrateful; he privately praised and thanked Hess, noting, 

“Through your intercession with the Fiihrer, I am cloaked with 

the highest honor of the Third Reich.”26 

Neurath, hoping for the “removal of a few troubles” concerning 

Bohle’s position in the Ministry, announced the promotion in a 

circular to mission officials and to other government agencies at 

the end of December.27 Although the appointment was interpreted 

abroad as meaning that Bohle had become the second ranking 

diplomat in Germany and that he was the peer of Mackensen, this 

was hardly correct. His new title did not give him the official rank 

of Secretary of State of the AA, which would have made him a 

Deputy Foreign Minister, but it granted him instead the title of 

Secretary of State in the Ministry. Consequently, while he was 

permitted to make decisions regarding foreign Germans that were 

independent of Neurath and were at the ministerial level in the 

AA, he had substantially less power than his new title seemed to 

indicate. His rank, in fact, was comparable to a department chief in 

the AA, and his role in the Ministry was barely changed.28 Yet, 

propaganda announcing his rank simply added fuel to the foreign 

notion that Bohle and the party were moving closer to capturing 

complete control of the Ministry. 

Bohle, for his part, was firmly persuaded that his trip to Fondon 

had been a “success” for the AO. But if he believed that he had 

avoided making a disastrous impression (a la Rosenberg in 1933), 

he had not convinced the British government. In December 1937 

and during April of the following year, debates were held in Parlia¬ 

ment that focused squarely on Nazi propaganda in England, the 
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Ortsgruppc London, and his visit. Calling Nazi groups in England 

“pretty formidable organisations,” an angry member of the House 

of Commons argued, “It is the responsibility of the Home Office 

and the Government to put an end at once to this interference 

on the part of the German Government with people in this country 

• • • • Everybody knows that agents are here and that they are ac¬ 
tive.”29 

The AA also informed Hess that Bohle’s use in his speeches of 

terms like Auslandsdeutsche, Reichsdeutsche, and Volksdeutsche 

was causing confusion among foreign governments and trouble for 

the Ministry. In a meeting among Mackensen, Hess, and Bohle, 

the latter was reminded that he should only use Auslandsdeutsche 

to mean “German citizens abroad” and that Volksdeutsche referred 

to ethnic Germans who possessed foreign citizenship.10 While the 

NSDAP was instructed on the decision, there was no announce¬ 

ment to foreign governments, and the AO’s “game of rhetoric” 

continued; so, unfortunately, did the difficulty the game caused for 
diplomacy. 

Austria and the South Tirol 

The hostility toward the AO and erosion of Bohle’s position in 

high government circles were heightened by Germany’s aggressive¬ 

ness toward Austria and by the resulting Anschluss in March 1938. 

Hitler’s Axis agreement with Mussolini, England’s complacency 

and her appeasement of Germany, and the Austro-German agree¬ 

ments of July and November 1936 had seriously weakened Austria 

and opened the door to a renewed w&Ve of Nazi interference there. 

While the German government steadfastly maintained that German 

Nazis were not active in Austria, the AO, SS, and Gestapo were 

pursuing another policy—pushing for the Anschluss and secretly sup¬ 

porting the militant Leopold faction in the illegal Austrian Nazi 

movement. 

Bernard, still working through the League of German Citizens in 

Austria, spread Anschluss propaganda that viciously attacked 

the Schuschnigg government. A camouflaged (and armed) SA unit 

was formed in the League’s Turncrriegc (“Gymnastics Club”) in 

Vienna, and SS men from Germany aided the unit’s organization 

and engaged in espionage for the Gestapo. The Turnerriege held 

military exercises for former German front soldiers and trained 
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them in “changes in war techniques” and new weapons. Similar 

groups were created in Salzburg, Linz, St. Polten, Graz, Volker- 

markt, and Bregenz.31 
This activity, however, was closely followed by the Austrian 

police, who raided a secret office of the NSDAP in Vienna and 

seized evidence that revealed extensive contacts between the Ger¬ 
man and Austrian Nazis. Austro-German relations were further 

strained by a clash between the German colony and a detachment 

of Austrian troops in Pinkafeld, a village in the province of Styria. 

The conflict involved the right of Germans to fly the Reich flag on 

national holidays, and while Papen de-emphasized the incident to 

Hitler, the AO gave him a highly emotional report which argued 

that the affair had gravely insulted the entire German community 

in Austria.32 The AO’s account was obviously the type of report 

Hitler wished to receive, particularly since it gave him further 

ammunition for annexing Austria and “protecting” the 6.5 million 

German-Austrians there. 
The incident also worsened relations between Papen and Bohle, 

who argued over the Minister’s membership in the Kulturbund, a 

“cultural association” in Vienna led by Jews and opposed to union 

with Germany. These and other difficulties that arose with the split 

in the leadership of the Austrian Nazis between the activist Leopold 

and gradualist Seyss-Inquart factions, prompted Hitler in July 

1937 to name a special Commissioner, Wilhelm Keppler, to handle 

Austrian affairs. Keppler’s appointment was also the result of the 

growing influence in Austro-German relations of Goring and Himm¬ 

ler, who now sought to expand their personal power by taking over 

control of the Reich’s policy in Austria. Through Keppler, the SS 

and SD pushed the evolutionary approach toward the Anschluss, 

which stressed the infiltration of the Austrian government with 

dedicated Nazis, and undermined Leopold’s radical faction in the 

Austrian NSDAP.33 

While Keppler’s appointment meant a defeat for Bohle’s pro- 

Leopold stance and may have caused him to begin rethinking his 

policy in Austria, it did not stop the AO’s work there. The Austrian 

police observed AO agents in Vienna operating through the League 

of German Citizens to spy on German tourists in Austria. It was 

also learned that the League was sending Austrian HJ boys to 

Germany for training in propaganda activities, espionage, and op¬ 

posing the Schuschnigg regime.34 In addition, older Germans in 

Vienna were rounded up by the League when they failed to display 
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the swastika flag outside their homes on national holidays; they 

were told that they were not being loyal to the Fatherland and that 

their names were being recorded in Germany so that punishments 

could be handed out when the Anschluss came. The AO also co¬ 

ordinated the youth club of the League, stressing to the young 

people the weaknesses of the Weimar Republic, Schuschnigg gov¬ 
ernment, and Catholic Church. 

An economic group in the League placed representatives on 

the executive committee of the German-Austrian Chamber of 

Commerce and removed Austrian firms from trade with Germany 

that did not have a favorable “national or racial view” in the Nazi 

sense. Another aspect of the group’s work was infiltrating Austrian 

businesses with AO agents who could increase German influence 

in them. Jewish businesses were blacklisted in German newspapers, 

and Germans were ordered not to trade with such firms or with 

German and Austrian shops that did business with Jews. The AO’s 

leaders also continued to harass Papen, quibbling with him over 

such petty things as the seating of party officials at diplomatic recep¬ 

tions.35 

When the Austrian government protested the AO’s ties to the 

Austrian Nazis, Bohle denied the connection. Traveling at the 

end of January 1938 to Budapest to confer with the Hungarian 

government about its approval for the AO to operate a Landesgruppe 

in the country, he gave a major speech that was designed to allay 

the world’s fears about his organization. Addressing the Hungarian 

Society for Foreign Policy, he maintained that the AO distinguished 

fully between Volksdeutschen and Auslandsdeutschen, and that it 

had nothing to do with the former. He;aJso argued that the NSDAP’s 

groups outside Germany “never and under no circumstances inter¬ 

vene in the internal political relations of foreign states,” and that 

“our groups [abroad] are also not diplomatic or consular representa¬ 

tives.”36 
His statements were aimed not only at luring the Austrians into 

a false sense of security, but they were an obvious retraction of his 

blatant assertions of several months earlier. This may also have 

been part of a move by Bohle away from the radical Austrian Nazi, 

Leopold (despised by Hitler because of his unwillingness to follow 

orders from Berlin), toward Seyss-Inquart, whom Bohle had previ¬ 

ously opposed. Against the propaganda and subversive circles 

among the Austrian Nazis, Seyss-Inquart had contacts (through 

Keppler and Papen) with Hitler, Goring, and Himmler; since mid- 
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1936 he had worked as a special mediator between the Schuschnigg 

government and the national opposition. His aim (and that of his 

superiors in Germany) was to legalize the NSDAP by infiltrating 

the government with persons who appeared to be moderate na¬ 

tionals and who would push the regime toward accepting the 

Anschluss. At the end of 1937, however, Schuschnigg took him into 

the government, hoping thereby to divide the pro-Anschluss move¬ 

ment while simultaneously cracking down on the illegal Austrian 

Nazis. 

These steps helped Hitler to conclude that the time was suddenly 

ripe to annex Austria. His final preparations began on 4 February 

1938, when he removed his military leaders for disagreeing with 

him over the Austrian conquest. He also replaced Neurath as Foreign 

Minister with Ribbentrop and made several other diplomatic 

changes, including recalling Papen from Vienna (and sending him 

to Turkey in April 19 3 9).37 Bohle must have winced at learning 

of Ribbentrop’s appointment. The two had been bitter enemies, 

and Ribbentrop’s pretentious attitude seemed far more oriented 

toward the career bureaucracy in the AA than toward the NSDAP. 

Not only did he want to avoid a feud with the diplomats, but he 

disdained the thought of having Bohle, a party rival, in the AA. 
Not surprisingly, he named Weizsacker his Secretary of State, 

quickly passing over Bohle, the person many Nazis believed should 

have received the post. 

Bohle, for his part, believed that Ribbentrop viewed him as a 

serious threat. While it is highly dubious that Ribbentrop had a 

great fear of his subordinate, Bohle claimed later that Ribbentrop 

was envious of his knowledge of the English and angry about 

rumors in the foreign press that he wished to become Foreign 

Minister. His intense dislike of his new boss also centered around 

Ribbentrop’s arrogant personality, “We always used to say that he 

sort of thought himself, ‘Jesus Christ,’ that ist [sic], he always gave 

that sort of impression.”38 Ribbentrop, on the other hand, despised 

even the sight of Bohle in the halls at the Wilhelmstrasse. The 

two rarely met personally, and after making an appointment, it 

took Bohle five weeks to see the Foreign Minister. 

The AO leader’s demise and subsequent withdrawal from ac¬ 

tivity in the AA did not become evident for some time. As noted 

earlier, he retained partial authority over admitting diplomats to the 

NSDAP. A few days after Ribbentrop’s appointment, the AO was 

able to push through the AA a decree requiring Germans residing 
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abroad longer than three months to report to their nearest German 

mission (or risk losing their citizenship). Furthermore, Bohle was 

still allowed to meet periodically with Hitler, as he did with his 
father and son on the Fiihrer’s birthday.39 

As the Anschluss grew nearer and rumors spread of pending ac¬ 

tion by Germany, Bernard and his agents in the League of German 

Citizens in Austria became increasingly brazen in their speeches to 

Nazi members and German citizens. League meetings became so 

inflammatory in their demands for a German takeover, in fact, that 

Bohle was forced to direct Bernard in mid-February 1938 not to 

cause “internal altercations” that would provoke the Austrian gov¬ 

ernment and attract foreign attention to the delicate Austrian situa¬ 

tion.40 Hitler, following his browbeating of Schuschnigg at Berch- 

tesgaden, forced the Austrian Chancellor to resign on 11 March; 

that night German troops began occupying Austria, and the 

Anschluss suddenly became a reality. 

Ironically, Bohle’s dedicated effort in Austria and the absorption 

of the country into Germany spelled doom for the AO there. Soon 

after Hitler named Joseph Biirckel the new Commissioner for the 

NSDAP in Austria, the AO’s organization there was dismantled 

and submerged into seven party districts, each ruled by a Gau¬ 

leiter. Bernard was “retired” and presented by Hitler with the 

NSDAP’s Golden Badge “in recognition of his service to the move¬ 

ment.” About the only remaining task for the AO in Austria was 

its being commissioned by Hitler to enroll in the party Austrian 

Nazi members in foreign countries and to prepare them for participa¬ 

tion in the Greater German plebescite on 10 April 1938 to approve 

the Anschluss,41 V 
Losing the administration of the NSDAP in Austria was a hint 

of what was to come; it was also the first indication of the vul¬ 

nerability of Bohle’s personal position and of the institutional ori¬ 

entation of his organization. From its creation the AO had been a 

partially successful tool for the NSDAP in spying on German mis¬ 

sion officials, spreading propaganda abroad, mobilizing some Ger¬ 

mans for the Third Reich, and meddling in the political and eco¬ 

nomic affairs of other nations. Yet it was unable to handle what 

was to become the party’s most crucial task once Hitler actually 

began his conquest of Europe: cementing the party’s control of the 

thousands of Germans employed in Nazi-occupied Europe as party 

functionaries, businessmen, and employees. 

Another factor undermining the AO was Germany’s rearmament 
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program, which expanded sharply after 1936. Because of the sub¬ 

sequent labor shortage in German industry, the government, SS, 

AO, and Gestapo began a concerted effort to repatriate Germans 

abroad back into Germany. Consequently, the number of Nazi 

members and German nationals abroad decreased rather signifi¬ 

cantly, a fact that greatly alarmed Bohle. As the campaign unfolded, 

the Gestapo examined closely the “political and philosophical 

reliability” of Auslandsdeutschen who returned to Germany through 

the AO’s repatriation camps. Its camp in Munich alone repatriated 

3,097 Germans during 1938 and 1939, most being Austrians and 

Germans from the South Tirol.42 

Despite the Axis agreement between Rome and Berlin and the 

personal friendship of Hitler and Mussolini, the NSDAP’s operation 

in the South Tirol was deeply resented by the Italians. Nor had 

Bohle’s efforts, beginning in October 1936 with his trip to Rome to 

visit with Mussolini and install a -new Landesgruppenleiter, Ettel, 

helped to foster Italo-German affection.43 Despite an agreement 

among Germany, Austria, and Italy in March 1934 to cooperate 

on the Tirolean question and despite Italy’s granting of several 

concessions to German schools in the region, tension among Ger- 

man-Austrians and Italians continued. In addition to the VDA’s 

agents in the South Tirol, the AO’s groups in Bozen, Meran, and 

Milan were busy spreading anti-Italian propaganda among local 

Germans and Austrians. Much of this occurred without Hitler’s 

knowledge and support, and it contributed significantly to the gen¬ 

eral Fascist mistrust of the Third Reich.44 

Whatever favors the Italians granted in the Tirol were lost during 

1935 in the outcry, stimulated by the Landesgruppe Italy, VDA, 

and DAI, over the drafting of Austrians and Germans from the 

Alto Adige to fight for Italy in Ethiopia. As a solution to the un¬ 

happy situation, the Fascist government planned to resettle Tirolean 

peasant families in Ethiopia, but the project was dumped because 

of opposition from the Tirol, Catholic Church, and German govern¬ 

ment. The Anschluss of Austria merely inflamed feelings in the 

Tirol on both sides. It had stimulated gross rumors, started by Nazi 

party groups in Salzburg, Linz, and Innsbruck that Italy was 

planning to give the Tirol as a gift to Germany (an idea also 

encouraged by Mussolini’s visit to Germany in September 1937). 

On the other hand, during the spring of 1938 the Italians made 

known their wish to resolve the problem by hinting to Berlin that 

Germans there could be transferred to Germany. 
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But during the high-level discussions on the Italian suggestion,45 

the NSDAP worked at cross-purposes with its government by 

continuing through the Landesgruppe Italy and VDA to encourage 

reckless pro-German demonstrations in the Tirol and clashes be¬ 

tween Germans and the Fascist police. Not only was the AO ship¬ 

ping Austrians and Germans from the Tirol to Germany, but its 

branches in Bozen and Meran and the German Consul General in 

Milan, Bene, distributed relief money to elderly and unemployed 

Austrians and disseminated propaganda that attacked Italy’s control 

of the Tirol. In Bozen a large gathering of Germans sponsored by 

the Ortsgruppe to celebrate Hitler’s birthday was disrupted by 

Fascist party members, and order was restored only by the police. 

A young German in nearby Cortsch, who made the mistake of 

hollering “heil Hitler” to a passing auto that sported a swastika 

emblem, was beaten and shot by angry Fascists. Bene reported 

to Berlin in April that the situation had worsened considerably, 

and he complained that the Fascist prefect of Bozen, Giuseppe 

Mastromattei, was “an industrious hater of Germans.”46 

Such problems may have been partly responsible for Hitler’s 

visit in early May 1938 to Rome and for his discussions with 

Mussolini. Prior to the trip the AO helped to tighten security 

for Hitler’s entourage by supervising the travel of Germans to Italy, 

and it arranged for Ettel to stand in the highest possible position 

in the reception line of the diplomatic corps in Rome. On the latter 

there was vigorous disagreement between the AO and AA, which 

was finally settled by Ribbentrop.47 Although Hitler was mainly 

concerned with showing to the world his solid alliance with the 

Duce after the conquest of Austria hnd with reciprocating Mus¬ 

solini’s visit to Germany, Bohle accompanied him (as did most of 

the NSDAP’s leadership), and one of his speeches was to a large 

rally of Germans in the Basilica Maxentius.48 
The highly celebrated visit brought cold comfort to the Italians, 

and troubles in the Tirol persisted. Although the Axis agreement 

gained increasing strength over the Sudeten crisis and Munich 

Conference in September 1938, the Tirol remained an area of 

tension between Germany and Italy. During the early months of 

1939 discussions were held among the AA, VoMi, AO, and Bene 

about transferring Germans in the South Tirol to Germany. Al¬ 

ready the number of Germans wishing to return to Germany was 
J .... 49 

greater than the AO’s Repatriation Office in Munich could handle. 

In March Hitler ordered Himmler to prepare for the repatriation 
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of thirty thousand South Tiroleans, but before the SS chief could 

execute the directive, an argument over a German protest march 

occurred in June in Bozen between the prefect, Mastromattei, and 

Nazi Orlsgruppenleiter, Kaufifmann. The affair soon came to the 

attention of Mussolini, and his resentment forced Hitler to inter¬ 

vene by commanding Kauffmann to return to Germany and Bohle 

to stop the Landesgruppe Italy’s provocative activities. The AO 

also circulated an order from Bormann prohibiting propaganda by 

party organizations that might aggravate the situation.50 
At the end of June discussions in Berlin among a German delega¬ 

tion (headed by Himmler and including Bohle) and a group from 

Italy produced a plan whereby persons of German descent in the 

Tirol would vote in a plebescite on whether or not they wished to 

be transferred to Germany. After the conferences. Bene assembled 

in Bozen and Meran over two hundred leaders from Nazi Ortsgrup- 

pen in the Tirol, to instruct them on the resettlement proposal. 

In December, following a formal Italo-German agreement, the 

plebescite was held, which revealed that ninety percent of the Ger¬ 

mans in the Tirol wished to live in Germany. 

Much to the anger of the Italians, the Ortsgruppen tried to 

persuade the largest possible number of Germans to move to 

Germany. Ignoring Bormann’s earlier directive, the groups de¬ 

liberately distorted the terms of the agreement and spread propa¬ 

ganda that played skillfully on such vital issues to local Germans 

as Pan Germanism, resentment toward Italy, and the prospect of 

material advantages in going to Germany. Above all, the NSDAP 

hoped for a mass exodus, creating the impression of a popular 

vote of loyalty to the Reich on the part of all Germans living 

abroad. While many Germans in the Tirol were sent to Germany at 

the end of 1939, only 74,500 of them had been transferred by the 

summer of 1943, when Hitler exploited the war situation and 

Mussolini’s overthrow to annex the Tirol.51 

The question of the South Tirol was a barometer of Italo-German 

relations in the 1930s. It was a constant and principal source of 

friction between Germany and Italy, which was greatly exacerbated 

by the Nazi party and its organizations in Italy. Yet, German policy 

toward the Tirol illustrated not only the sharp conflict between 

the Axis allies, but between different agencies of the Nazi regime. 

Despite Hitler’s friendship with Mussolini and his declarations that 

Germany had no claims to the Tirol and despite attempts by the 

AA to find a suitable agreement with the Italians regarding the 
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region, the party refused to stay out of the matter. Revealing its 

dearth of diplomatic sense and its stubborn view that all Germans 

abroad must be united into a worldwide Volksgemeinschaft, the 

party was willing even to undermine the Axis agreement with its 

agitation and propaganda in the Tirol. 

Ironically, it was toward Italy, Hitler’s most valued ally, that 

German foreign policy particularly revealed its characteristic 

dualism and lack of coordination between the government and 

NSDAP. Nevertheless, the world was led to believe by German 

and Italian propaganda that the Axis was a powerful alliance that 

stood ready to bring the triumph of fascism to Europe and the 

globe. One can only guess whether Hitler was totally ignorant of 

the NSDAP’s work in the Tirol or whether he knew about it and 

did not care. It was only when the party threatened Germany’s 

friendship with Italy as he was about to go to war that he finally 

intervened and halted the Landesgruppe's shenanigans in the Tirol. 

The Debacle in the United States and Latin America 

As Germany’s aggressiveness increased in 1938—first with the 

Anschluss and later the Sudeten crisis—angry reactions to the Nazi 

party groups abroad mounted. In January the AO was forced by 

complaints from the Minister-President of Rumania, who contacted 

Hitler, to stop sending propaganda packets to the Iron Guard, the 

Rumanian fascist organization. The government of Iran tried to 

curtail local Nazi affiliates by requiring foreign citizens to sign a 

pledge not to become “politically” active. Propaganda antics of 

Ortsgruppen in Singapore and Toronto were attacked by local 

newspapers, which erroneously estimated the size of the AO as 

running “into millions here and abroad,” and predicted that Bohle 

was soon to become German Foreign Minister. Switzerland, Latvia, 

and the Union of South Africa announced measures suppressing 

local Nazi organizations and civil rights of German nationals.52 

The portrait of the party groups outside Germany as representing 

a massive organization (or Nazintern) rigidly controlling millions 

of Germans around the world became increasingly popular in the 

United States. Among other things, it offered a useful tool that 

helped liberal leaders and opponents of Nazism in America to arouse 

further American opinion against Germany. By the end of 1937 the 

AO was withdrawing what was left of its meager structure in the 

United States. Mensing had been removed in July when the AO’s 
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Party Court and Nazi members in New York discovered that his 

wife was part Jewish. He was replaced by one who had led the 

attack on him, Draeger, the Vice Consul in New York, who super¬ 

vised membership details and gathered party documents that were 
53 

kept for protection in the Consulate General. 

Bohle, finally admitting in October that Germandom in the 

United States involved mainly Volksdeutschen and not German 

citizens, suggested to Hess and Neurath that the SS and VoMi take 

control of party activities in America. He also reorganized the party’s 

leadership there by relying less on Draeger and more on the other 

German mission officials.54 But organizational changes were scarcely 

what concerned the Americans about the NSDAP operating in 

the United States; instead, they were bothered by Germany’s ties 
to the boisterous and pro-Nazi German American Bund, led by 

Kuhn. 

During January and early February 1938 meetings among repre¬ 

sentatives from the AA, AO, VoMi, and Ministry of Propaganda 

produced a decision to sever completely Germany’s ties to the 

Bund. On 1 March an edict was issued which directed German 

nationals in America to leave the group, ordered it to stop using 

NSDAP insignia, and informed Kuhn that should he venture a trip 

to Germany, he would be received only by the VoMi and would 

be forbidden to discuss the Bund publicly.55 The reasons for the 

sharp break with Kuhn were numerous. One was the contempt 

toward the Bund of the German Ambassador to the United States, 

DieckhofT (who replaced Luther in March 1937). In countless dis¬ 

patches to the AA, he warned about the disastrous effects the group 

and Germany’s Deutschtum policy were having on American opin¬ 

ion. The split was further stimulated by the investigation of the 

Bund’s finances and “un-American” activities by several states, 

the Federal Bureau of Investigation, and a Congressional Com¬ 

mittee headed by the heir to Dickstein, Martin Dies. Following the 

Anschluss, moreover, a new wave of hostility was reported to the 

AA by DieckhofT56 

Kuhn was horrified at the March edict. To appeal personally 

against it, he visited Germany, where Fritz Wiedemann (acting 

for the VoMi) lectured him and commanded him to halt his group’s 

provocative behavior. Anticipating that he would not obey the 

March directive or Wiedemann, the AO, VoMi, and AA ordered 

the German consuls in America to undermine Kuhn (while he was 

still in Germany) by instructing Auslandsdeutschen to withdraw 
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from the Bund. Germany also stopped all support of the group, 

except for sending it a limited supply of Nazi literature. After 

March 1938 the Germans channeled their money and isolationist 

propaganda through the American Embassy, consulates, German 

Library of Information, German Railroads Information Office, Trans¬ 

ocean News Service, and American Fellowship Forum to a host of 

Nazi front organizations, isolationist groups, and private indi¬ 
viduals working for the German cause.57 

The Germans were correct about Kuhn; he refused to comply 

with Wiedemann’s command to temper his conduct. But what made 

German-American relations more critical was the negative reac¬ 

tion of America to the Nazi pogrom against German Jews on the 

night of 9-10 November 1938, provoked by the murder of embassy 

official Ernst vom Rath in Paris. The night of broken glass (Kristall- 

nacht) was condemned publicly by Roosevelt; shortly thereafter 

he recalled the American Ambassador from Berlin, and Germany 

countered by recalling Dieckhoff. American authorities also dis¬ 

covered that German seamen docking at East Coast harbors were 

engaging in espionage and kidnapping disobedient German-Ameri- 

cans and shipping them to Germany. Gissibl, who had emigrated 

to Germany and entered the Propaganda Ministry, was discovered 

in February 1939 advertising in Canada and the United States for 

Germans with strong ties to the Fatherland to migrate to Ger¬ 

many to help solve the labor shortage. He had also formed, with 

Bohle’s reluctant consent, the Kameradschaft USA, a German 

group for former Nazi members in the United States.58 

The early months of 1939 marked the beginning of the end for 

the Bund and Kuhn. In January the pies Committee issued a pre¬ 

liminary report, claiming in sensational fashion that “unless checked 

immediately, an American Nazi force may cause great unrest and 

serious repercussions in the United States.” The noisy and in¬ 

consequential Bund (which had less than twenty-five thousand 

members) was seen as a dangerous Nazi fifth column; as a force 

(among many) in the deterioration of German-American relations, 

it was this exciting myth, not the more mundane reality, to which 

most Americans reacted. But the Bund craved the publicity and 

limelight, and on 20 February it held a large pro-American rally 

in Madison Square Garden to celebrate George Washington’s birth¬ 

day and compare him to Hitler. 
The meeting elicited a storm in the American press against the 

group, as many journals and newspapers raised serious questions 
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concerning allowing it to continue.59 The uproar over what Ameri¬ 

cans believed was a Nazi conspiracy “to instill in the American 

citizen of German descent a consciousness of the German ‘race’ 
and a feeling of allegiance toward the German Reich,” finally 

succeeded in driving the NSDAP out of the United States entirely. 

In March the AO dissolved its department which handled party 

affairs in North America, and although Bohle retained contact with 

Draeger and other consuls until 1941, they were used chiefly for 

the VoMi and, when the war began, to suppress party members 

discussing publicly Germany’s war aims.60 However, when Kuhn 

was suddenly arrested in May 1939 and convicted for embezzling 

$14,500 from his beloved Bund, even the VoMi halted work in the 

United States.61 But the damage had been done. The antagonism 

generated by the confusing German policy toward America and by 

the NSDAP’s adamant refusal to disassociate itself totally from 

groups like the Bund during the 1930s, helped to lay a firm founda¬ 

tion for America’s later entry into the war against Germany. 

Another element alienating the United States was Germany’s 

continued commercial and political penetration of Latin America. 

An example was Mexico, where the German government stressed 

stronger political and economic ties with the Mexican regime, 

but where the Landesgruppe Mexico helped to create a native 

fascist movement that was hostile to the government, the Union 

Nacional Sinarquista (“National Assembly of the Enemies of 

Anarchism”). The founders of the right-wing movement, which 

dedicated itself to fighting Jews and Communists, were Hermann 

Schreiter, a member of the Landesgruppe, and Jose Urquiza, who 

had fought for Franco’s army in Spain.62 Except for an attack on 

the NSDAP by the Guatemalan government and the Venezuelan 

authorities, party affiliates in Latin America had enjoyed since 1933 

considerable freedom to pursue their activities. 

But beginning in 1937 and 1938 the Latin Americans reversed 

sharply their friendly policy toward Germany and its Landesgruppen, 

and in several major states party organizations were banned and 

their leaders arrested. The clampdown resulted from a combination 

of forces. Politically the Nazis were undercut by the growing 

strength of left-wing elements in several countries (e.g., in Mexico 

and Chile) and by the intervention of Germany in the Spanish 

Civil War, which impressed on many South Americans the po¬ 

tential danger of German expansion. The Anschluss and Sudeten 

crisis, bound with the noisy and undisguised activity of the AO in 
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Latin America, reinforced the feeling that the Nazis represented a 
threat to the South Americans. 

Following the Buenos Aires Conference in December 1936, there 

was also growing pressure placed by the United States on the 

Latin American nations to force them into a more pro-American 

and anti-German policy. American aims were helped substantially 

by the gradual decline of the World Depression, which expanded 

the economic dependence of most Latin American countries on 

the United States and robbed fascist groups (like the Nazis) of a 

portion of their lower-middle-class supporters in Latin America. 

Yet, while such factors prompted several South American nations 

to outlaw Nazi Landesgruppen and other fascist organizations, 

none broke off official relations with Germany. What apparently 

saved Berlin in this respect was Germany’s strong trade relations 

with Latin America, which provided the latter with a market for its 

raw materials and a source for purchasing armaments and manu¬ 

factured goods. Such ties also enabled the South Americans to 

play off the United States and Germany against one another, a 

policy that generally benefitted the Latin Americans.63 

Hints of what was about to happen in Latin America came in 

several of the lesser countries. Anti-Nazi feeling in Chile on the 

part of the government and the Catholic Church forced the Landes- 

gruppe Chile to lessen its support of the native Chilean National 

Socialist party and to camouflage its activities among Volksdeut- 

schen in a new organization, the Colony of Reich Citizens (Reichs- 

deutsche Kolonie). The Nazi-infested Jugendbund was dissolved by 

the authorities, and in September 1938 they threatened to outlaw 

the NSDAP when it was implicated i,n a coup against the govern¬ 

ment.64 The party’s pseudo-withdrawal was also forced in Bolivia, 

where it created a cover group called the Association of Reich 

Citizens. In Colombia the Landesgruppenleiter, Prtifert, was encour¬ 

aged by police harassment to move the party’s offices in Barranquilla 

into the German Consulate.65 Max Reichle, a Nazi member, was 

imprisoned in Honduras for supplying weapons to a group of 

generals trying to lead an insurrection against the government. 

Even in Uruguay, a party stronghold, the friendship that had de¬ 

veloped between the Landesgruppenleiter, Julius Dalldorf, and the 

army began dissolving, and the NSDAP was criticized for its 

control of the German-Uruguayan Youth League.66 

But the most serious blow to German relations with Latin 

America came with the ban of the NSDAP in Brazil, where the 
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party had its largest Landesgruppe and where German penetration 

of the government, army, native fascist movements, and economy 

had been noticeable. American pressure on Brazil against the 

growing German presence had resulted in February 1937 in the A A 

ordering its missions in Latin America to activate local Nazi or¬ 

ganizations as combatants against Yankee propaganda. On 10 

November, however, Vargas suddenly destroyed the constitution 

and increased his already dictatorial authority over the govern¬ 

ment. With the aid of the army, he eliminated every real or poten¬ 

tial opposition to his rule, and while he had suppressed the Com¬ 

munists since 1935, he now turned against right-wing movements 

like the Integralists, which were banned in December. 

The government also implemented a series of measures to sup¬ 

press Nazi and Fascist party groups and to expand its policy, begun 

several years earlier, of promoting a more extensive assimilation 

of foreign elements into society. Already in May 1937 the Landes- 

gruppenleiter, Cossel, had been accused of subversion in the Bra¬ 

zilian Congress by a leftist deputy. Cafe Filho, who demanded an 

investigation of the party’s influence on German-Brazilian youth. 

Filho’s argument received more support when a conflict over 

leadership of the Ortsgruppe Porto Alegre became public and 

involved both Germans and Brazilians. The new measures hit the 

Nazis first in southern Brazil, where German schools were 

ordered to use only the Portuguese and Spanish languages in class¬ 

rooms, German youth groups were submerged into Brazilian clubs, 

offices of Nazi Ortsgruppen were raided by police, and party leaders 
were arrested.67 

Despite repeated assurances by the Brazilian authorities to 

Cossel and the German Ambassador, Ritter, the NSDAP would not 

be outlawed, the states of Rio Grande do Sul, Parana, and Santa 

Catarina prohibited the party in March 1938. This anti-Nazi tide 

was impressed personally on Bohle. When his wife visited Brazil 

to recover from an illness, Ritter warned him, “If your wife travels 

further to Sao Paulo, then she will become exhausted with the 

unavoidable [anti-German] agitation. Rio is also much more interesting 
and pretty than Sao Paulo.” 

The AO halted party mail sent from Germany to Brazil, but on 

18 April a presidential decree banned all foreign political activities. 

Ritter was shocked and angrily protested the law, but with little 

success.68 As he informed the AA, Vargas’s measures had been 

prompted by fear of potential political rivals, pressure from the 
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United States, and the government’s belief that the German set¬ 

tlements in the south were a serious threat to national security. 

To these he could have added the influence of Brazilian army 

planners, who felt threatened by Nazi agents and their propaganda 

and were determined to force the assimilation of the German and 

other foreign colonies. Such suspicions were heightened even more 

when the Integralists, supported by a few naval units, tried to over¬ 

throw Vargas on the night of 10-11 May. The uprising, however, 

was crushed. Rumors circulated that Germans had participated in 

the fiasco, and in the days that followed, arrests of National So¬ 

cialists were made in Sao Paulo. 

Vargas, when pressed by Ritter for proof of Nazi ties to the plot, 

arrested one of Cossel’s key advisers in the Landesgruppe, a 

Volksdeutsche named Federico Colin Kopp. A day later Kopp al¬ 

legedly committed suicide, but Ritter was told by the police that 

he had been deeply involved in the conspiracy and that a large 

cache of documents dealing with the coup had been confiscated 

from him. Kopp was a high official in a pro-German, pro-lntegralist, 

and Volksdeutsch-oriented political group called the Federa<?ao 25 

de Julho (“Society of 25 July,” formed in 1935 to commemorate 

the day on which the first German settlers had arrived a century 

earlier in Sao Leopoldo). Ritter learned further that Kopp and others 

were planning another Integralist insurrection in the southern 

states, with the aim of creating a large state whose government 

would be friendly to Germany and located in Sao Paulo.69 

While Bohle should not have been surprised at what had hap¬ 

pened to his prize party organization, he was apparently stunned 

enough to issue a directive in May jthrough the German missions 

to the Landesgruppenleiters in Latin America. He ordered an im¬ 

mediate cessation of “any visible activity” (e.g., parades or public 

meetings) by Nazi groups and the “separation [of German citizens] 

from Volksdeutschen” (i.e., the removal of Volksdeutschen and Ger¬ 

mans with dual citizenship from the party and resignation of German 

nationals from Volksdeutsch political groups). He also commanded 

the party leaders to begin the “formation of associations of Reich 

citizens” that could function as cover groups for the party.70 

But again, as in countless instances before, the authorities recog¬ 

nized the nature of the new organizations, and they were not 

willing to tolerate them. More Germans, particularly editors of the 

Deutsche Morgen in Sao Paulo, were arrested and jailed, a press 

campaign against the Nazis ensued, and the police refused to give 
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the German Embassy information on the Germans imprisoned. 

Bohle, reacting to the pressure, called Cossel to Berlin for discus¬ 

sions with Hess, Ribbentrop, and other officials of the AA. It was 

decided that the leading party officials in Brazil, to protect them¬ 

selves and to ensure their freedom to guide the party’s underground 

operations, should be attached to German missions. Cossel re¬ 

turned to Brazil to become the “cultural adviser” to the Embassy, 

and in the weeks that followed, other party agents were inserted 

as attaches in the consulates.71 

Bohle also posed to his government the possibility of reprisals 

for the arrest of Germans in Brazil; he suggested to Himmler 

that the SS and police imprison Brazilians in Germany. But this 

radical idea was quickly vetoed by the AA, which argued that it 

would destroy completely German-Brazilian relations. The German 

tactic of infiltrating the missions failed to thwart the Brazilian 

government; soon the consulates and the Embassy became targets 

of the authorities. In September 1938 Ritter was declared persona 

non grata because of his aggressive behavior and front activities 

for the NSDAP; he was recalled to Germany, not to be replaced. 

The AO remained in contact with Cossel through the Embassy, 

poured money for propaganda purposes into German newspapers, 

and encouraged Germans in southern Brazil to migrate to 

Germany.72 But the heyday of the NSDAP in Brazil was over. 

The crisis in Brazil was viewed with great alarm in the AA, and 

particularly among German mission chiefs in South America. At 

the end of July 1938, Ritter, Wilhelm Schoen, Langmann, and 

Thermann met in Montevideo to discuss the situation. They gen¬ 

erally agreed with Bohle’s command in May to the Landesgruppen- 

leiters ordering the separation of Auslandsdeutschen from 

Volksdeutschen in party affairs and the elimination of public activity 

by the party. They also discussed the issue of Germans in Latin 

America holding dual citizenship and the strain which the policy 

(encouraged by the AO) was now placing on German-Latin Ameri¬ 

can relations. Bohle, in a surprising move to support their wishes 

and reaffirm his May directive, commanded his party leaders abroad 

not to recruit Germans with dual nationality and not to permit 

Volksdeutschen to remain in the party.73 The orders represented a 

major shift in German policy in Latin America. Above all, the AA 

(and to a lesser extent the AO) wanted to ensure Germany’s eco¬ 

nomic position in Latin America and to preserve the neutrality of 

the latter in the event of war in Europe. In August Thermann in- 
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formed the AA that he and his colleagues in Brazil, Chile, and 

Uruguay were convinced that Germany could not combat the 

United States politically in South America and that she would have 

to confine herself to cultivating economic and cultural relations.74 

But when it came to Argentina, the second largest haven for 

German citizens and Nazi members abroad, the AO refused to co¬ 

operate with the AA. Although there were rumblings among Ar¬ 

gentine leaders about following Brazil’s example, Bohle was de¬ 

termined not to withdraw in Argentina. As elsewhere, it was not 

his tactic to compromise or to avoid difficulties, but to encourage 

them in a mindless fashion. After the catastrophe in Brazil, his 

position and that of the AO in Germany scarcely needed the em¬ 

barrassment of an official ban of the party in Argentina. But his 

refusal to retreat was to bring himself and Germany another dis¬ 

aster equally damaging as that in Brazil. 

Even before the Brazilian move, the Justo government in Ar¬ 

gentina had become suspicious of German policy; while it did not 

believe that Germany posed a direct threat to Latin America, it 

began worrying about Germany’s role in the Spanish Civil War, in 

the growing ideological polarization of the world, and in the rise of 

extremist ideas in South America. Argentines were also progres¬ 

sively alarmed by the loud and visible activities of the Landesgruppe 

Argentina, which held large youth rallies and nationalist parades 

with marchers in SA uniforms. In October 1937 the police closed 

the meeting hall of the Nazi Stutzpunkt in Eldorado. 

While the left-wing press attacked the German annexation of 

Austria, the Landesgruppe did its best to attract more adverse 

publicity. On 10 April 1938 a party rally in the Luna Park hall in 

Buenos Aires, attended by twenty thousand persons, ended in 

violence. Anti-German demonstrations occurred outside, swastika 

flags were trampled, and windows of nearby German businesses 

were smashed. When police intervened to restore order, many Nazis 

and demonstrators were hurt, two persons died, and fifty-one were 

arrested. The Argentinisches Tageblatt gleefully described the 

fracas, and two weeks later, the government banned the displaying 

of foreign flags and issued new directives that instructed German 

schools to fly the Argentine flag, buy maps of Argentina, and offer 

classes that emphasized national heroes. Then came the startling 

news from Brazil of the Integralist coup and the arrest of a number 

of Brazilian Nazis.75 
The Landesgruppe also had internal problems. One of its strongest 



150 THE SWASTIKA OUTSIDE GERMANY 

supporters, the Deutsche La Plata Zeitung, was on the brink of 

bankruptcy and close to suspending publication for weeks at a 

time, and the Landesgruppe was riddled with petty conflicts. The 

main quarrel involved the deputy Landesgruppenleiter, Alfred 

Muller, and Ludwig Rauenbusch, the party court arbitrator. They 

had criticized the doctor attached to the German Embassy, Rohmer, 
for alleged negligence in examining Germans wishing to migrate to 

Germany to serve in the army or Labor Service. They also attacked 

Rohmer for not being a Nazi member and for retaining the post of 

chairman of the Deutsche Volksbund. Rohmer threatened to split 

the German community in Buenos Aires by exposing the attack 

on him to the press and by taking Muller and Rauenbusch to court 

to protect his “honor.” The argument thus endangered the Landes¬ 

gruppe by calling its internal discord to the attention of the 

Argentine authorities. 

Bohle, wishing to avoid such troubles and hoping to continue 

the AO’s work in Argentina partly through the Volksbund (there¬ 

by violating his May directive of 1938), ordered a halt to the attack 

on Rohmer and the formation of a cover organization, the Associa¬ 

tion of Reich Citizens, in Argentina. He also persuaded the AA to 

replace Rohmer in the Embassy, and he removed the Landesgrup¬ 

penleiter, Krister, who had attracted the suspicion of the authorities 

and who was unwilling to cooperate with the Volksbund. But such 

changes hardly brought peace to the Landesgruppe', it quarreled 

with Thermann and the Embassy over separating Volksdeutschen 

from German citizens in party organizations, and it disliked the idea 

of forming an Association of Reich Citizens to camouflage its 

activities.76 

Bohle’s hardnosed decision not to follow his May directive and 

to continue the NSDAP’s work through the Volksbund brought 

sharp disapproval from the AA. Thermann argued that there must be 

a total organizational separation of Germans from Volksdeutschen 

and that the NSDAP must extricate itself completely from the 

Volksbund. Bohle responded by sending a representative from the 

AO to Buenos Aires to confer with the Ambassador, and later he 

and Thermann met at the party rally in Nuremberg. The result was 

a compromise, albeit in the AO’s favor. Bohle agreed that Volks¬ 

deutschen and Germans with dual citizenship should be removed 

from the NSDAP, but he refused to stop infiltrating the Volksbund. 

He was also unwilling to pull teachers who were German nationals 

out of local Volksdeutsch schools. He even moved to make Ther- 
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mann and the Embassy more cooperative; to the Embassy staff, 

he added Klingenfuss, who was to serve as Legation Secretary 

and Landesgruppenleiter, and another party man and former offi¬ 

cial in the Landesgruppe, Sanstede, as Press Attache. In addition, 

he pushed the AA to appoint Brandt, a one-time party leader in 

Argentina, as a consul in the Embassy.77 

The Argentine reaction to the Czech crisis and the Munich 

Conference in September was extremely cynical; few people be¬ 

lieved that England and France could avoid war by appeasing 

Hitler. Amidst stricter measures from the government regarding 

German schools in Argentina and following the Kristallnacht, the 

Landesgruppe drafted a plan which it believed would benefit both 

Germany and its racial comrades in Latin America. The plan called 

for the exchange of German Jews for German settlers in Argentina 

and southern Brazil. But while the project would have helped rid 

Germany of its remaining Jews and would have brought valuable in¬ 

dustrial and farm labor to Germany, the Argentines refused to con¬ 

sider the exchange. 

By the beginning of 1939 the Germans were experiencing in 

Argentina heavy political and economic opposition from the United 

States, which stressed the alleged threat to South America of a 

German invasion. German propaganda, which countered with at¬ 

tacks on Roosevelt and with accusations of “Pan Americanism” 

against the United States, was poorly organized to meet the 

American challenge. The greatest problem was the complete lack 

of coordination among the host of German agencies in Argentina 

(including the Landesgruppe, Volksbund, and missions) that were 

distributing propaganda. The net effecffon Argentine press and radio 
78 

was extremely small. 

The NSDAP was finally thrown out of Argentina in the spring 

of 1939, when Muller was arrested and hauled before a court in 

Buenos Aires for allegedly planning espionage operations and a 

program for Germany’s annexation of Patagonia. The evidence 

against him was his signature on a supposed despatch from the 

German Embassy to the NSDAP’s Colonial Policy Office. Although 

he was eventually acquitted of the charges, public opinion was 

aroused further against Germany, and the government issued a 

report detailing the activities of the Landesgruppe and suggesting 

that it be suppressed. Muller, on his release, tried in incredible 

fashion to unify the Landesgruppe behind him by publishing a 

forged letter in Der Trommler from President Roosevelt congratu- 
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lating him on his acquittal. On 15 May the government responded 

by outlawing all foreign political groups.79 

Bohle’s reaction was hardly unique; he ordered the creation of an 

underground Landesgruppe with headquarters in the Embassy, 

promoted Muller to Landesgruppenleiter, and arranged for Ger¬ 

man threats of reprisals against Argentine citizens in Germany. 

But Ribbentrop had seen enough of the AO’s injurious meddling 

into German affairs in Latin America. Extremely irritated, he was 

unwilling to allow the Landesgruppe to work in the Embassy, he 

demanded a report from the AO justifying its continued presence 

in Argentina, and he called for a showdown meeting of leaders 

from the AO, AA, VoMi, and German missions in Latin America.80 

The result was the Ibero-American Conference held in Berlin in 

mid-June, which met amidst the worst foreign attack on the party 

groups in their brief history. In addition to their expulsion from 

Brazil and Argentina, they were banned during the summer from 

Guatemala and Honduras, the press adviser to the Landesgruppe 

Chile was deported for distributing anti-Semitic literature, and party 

officials were under heavy pressure to leave Iraq, Costa Rica, 

Australia, and the Philippines.81 The Conference was significant 

not only for the impressive array of diplomats and foreign party 

officials who were present, but for the sharp criticism expressed by 

both sides against one another. Rarely was the Nazi party so openly 

attacked inside Germany during the Third Reich as it was by the 

mission leaders from South America at the meeting. Thermann, 

Schoen, and even Langmann, a veteran official of the AO, pre¬ 

sented scathing indictments of the AO’s refusal in Latin America 

to distinguish fully between German citizens and persons of Ger¬ 

man descent and the party’s unwillingness to obey the commands of 
the mission leaders. 

Bohle, in defending the AO at the meeting, responded by noting 

that friction between the Landesgruppen and foreign governments 

was inevitable, and he denied that his officials in South America 

had not agreed or complied with the commands of the mission 

chiefs. He passionately defended the AO’s foreign propaganda, 

recruitment policies, assigning of party leaders to missions for 

protection, and anti-Semitic work. Following his adamant stand, 

Weizsacker, representing Ribbentrop, tried to summarize the re¬ 

sults of the Conference by glossing over the fundamental differences 

that had been expressed and stressing that they were not as di¬ 
vergent as they appeared.82 
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Although the Conference failed to solve the grave issue confront¬ 

ing both sides (i.e., the interference of the party in foreign policy) 

and the conflict was allowed to smolder further, Ribbentrop’s 

calling Bohle on the carpet to defend the AO’s policies reflected 

the Foreign Minister’s disgust with the AO and his anger at its 

leader. The Conference also signaled an abrupt end to the AO’s 

attempted penetration of the AA. After July 1939 Ribbentrop 

closed the Ministry’s doors tightly to the AO by permitting only a 

trickle of AO officials to become diplomats.83 In this respect, any 

hope the NSDAP harbored of infiltrating the AA on a large scale 

was dashed (except, perhaps, for functionaries being chosen from 

what was left of the Dienststelle Ribbentrop), and Ribbentrop’s 

personal vendetta against Bohle, which was to reach its peak in 
1941, was unfolding. 

Party Groups in Eastern Europe: 

Preparations for German Expansion 

Hardly had the party and AA approached a partial compromise 

over Latin America than the Czechoslovakian crisis reached its 

peak. At the Munich Conference on 29-30 September 1938, the 

Western democracies appeased Hitler a final time by permitting 

the Germans to occupy the bordering Czech territory of the Su- 

detenland. Hitler’s claim to the land was based on the fact that its 

population was predominantly German and that the democratic 

Czech government was allegedly persecuting the Sudeten Germans. 

While the SS, VoMi, VDA, and AA had been the principal German 

agencies agitating in the Sudetenland' for its return to Germany 

and supporting Henlein’s Sudeten German party with money and 

propaganda,84 the AO had also been active. Hoping to organize 

the roughly thirty thousand German citizens and one thousand 

party members in Czechoslovakia for the same goal, it had con¬ 

structed an undercover organization in the country since 1933. 

During 1935 and 1936 the A A had tried without success to per¬ 

suade the Czech government to legalize the NSDAP.85 Several 

Ortsgruppen were led by German consuls in Czechoslovakia, such 

as Lierau in Reichenberg, who was deeply involved in Nazi pene¬ 

tration of Sudeten German schools and cultural programs with the 

AA, Propaganda Ministry, and German Legation in Prague. Lierau 

smuggled propaganda to Henlein’s movement, staunchly supported 

the radicals in the Sudeten German party who demanded union 
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with Germany, and undermined the moderate wing of the party 

that concerned itself with the protection and unity of the German 

minority. The objective was to radicalize the movement and Sudeten 

German community and bring massive pressure against the Re¬ 

publican government of Eduard Benes. The Ortsgruppen also held 

“indoctrination sessions” to train party members in such tasks, and 

the locals drafted lists of Germans and Czechs who were hostile to 

Germany.86 This work did not go unnoticed by the government, 

and at the beginning of 1937 numerous Germans were arrested and 

deported from the country.87 

Reacting to the expulsions, the German government renewed its 

pressure on Prague to legalize the NSDAP, and when Benes re¬ 

fused, the AO, AA, and Reich Ministry of the Interior began 

planning reprisals against Czech nationals in Germany (e.g., im¬ 

prisoning them and confiscating their property). Although Bohle had 

a cordial discussion in November with the Czech Minister to Berlin, 

Vojtech Mastny, about legalizing the party, the German government 

soon began the ugly reprisals at the urging of the AO and SS. The 

countermeasures brought Bohle into a sharp conflict with Ernst 

Eisenlohr, German Minister in Prague, who demanded they be 

stopped. Eisenlohr also enraged Bohle when he reported to the 

AA that Benes sincerely desired to improve the situation of the 

Sudeten Germans and that German pressure on the Czech govern¬ 

ment could only arouse fear and hatred in Prague; this, he claimed, 

would work to the detriment of the German minority. Eisenlohr’s 

warning (which was repeated on several occasions) fell on deaf 

ears, except for Bohle, who complained about him to Ribbentrop 

with the hope of having the Minister dismissed. In a lengthy memo 

to Ribbentrop of 1 April 1938, he argued that Eisenlohr was too 

friendly with Benes, that the Minister had done nothing to further 

Germany’s cause in the Czech press, and that he had opposed the 

reprisals. But apparently Bohle’s fury was ignored, as were Eisen¬ 

lohr’s warnings, because the Minister remained at his post until 
September.88 

The final stage of the Czech crisis began following the Anschluss 

and Henlein’s secret visit to Berlin at the end of March; at that 

time he received directions from Hitler to step up his attack on the 

Czech government and to bring chaos to Czech politics. The 

NSDAP groups in the Sudetenland contributed to the intense 

emotional atmosphere by helping party, SA, and SS outposts on 
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the Czech-Austrian border plant rumors that German troops would 
soon march into Czechoslovakia. But if the groups engaged in 
rumor-mongering, they refused to be a part to arming the special 
fighting units of Sudeten Germans that were formed at the be¬ 
ginning of April; consequently, the units turned for weapons to SS 
formations inside the German border. At the end of May, amidst 
increasing rumors of German troop movements toward the Czech 
border that produced a sudden diplomatic crisis. Hitler ordered the 
German army to prepare to attack Czechoslovakia on 1 October. 
In the days that followed, an invasion was forestalled only by 
appeasement at the Munich Conference.89 

The incorporation of the Sudetenland into Germany in October 
1938 paved the way for the complete destruction of Czechoslovakia 
the following March. Although Bohle dissolved the party organiza¬ 
tion in the Sudetenland, his groups were allowed to operate freely 
in the remainder of the Czech state, and a special committee was 
formed in the AO to assist the German government in redrawing 
(according to the Munich Agreement) Czech frontiers so that all 
Germans who wished could become a part of the Third Reich.90 
Ribbentrop and the AA widely publicized the NSDAP’s activities 
in the rump Czech state, aiming thereby at concealing a vital rail¬ 
road pact between the Germans and Czechs in January 1939 that 
permitted the passage of German troops through Czech territory. 
The publicity was also directed at deflecting attention away from 
reports that Hitler was planning another surprise for Europe in 
mid-February or early March. On 15 March the rumors sadly 
turned to fact; Germany occupied the remainder of Czechoslovakia 
and created the German Protectorate Bohemia and Moravia and 
the “protected” state of Slovakia. A week later the Nazis seized 
Memel, a German city given to Lithuania after World War I. 
Hitler proudly announced to Memel Germans when he arrived on 
23 March, “I bring you back into that homeland which you have 
not forgotten and which has never forgotten you.”91 

Already in February Bohle had reorganized the party groups in 
Bohemia and Moravia and named Richard Ziessig, a well-paid 
Landesgruppenleiter (1300 marks per month), to rule them. But on 
the heels of the creation of the Reich Protectorate, Hitler issued a 
decree directing that it be divided into four rigidly policed party 
districts, each with its own Gauleiter to administer the NSDAP’s 
organization and German citizens. Subsequently, Bohle relieved his 
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officials throughout Czechoslovakia from their positions, and as with 

Austria, he and the AO found themselves sacrificed to Hitler’s 

plans for expansion. 
The disappearance of Czechoslovakia as a free nation suddenly 

awakened the Western democracies and the world to the fact that 

Hitler’s demands for Lebensraum could not be satisfied. Neville 

Chamberlain, the British Prime Minister, inaugurated a sharp 

change in England’s foreign policy: a wide and binding commitment 

would be undertaken in eastern Europe, and especially toward 

Poland and Rumania.92 Nazi party groups in Rumania, led by 

Konradi, had erected such close ties with the native fascist Iron 

Guard and agitated so aggressively (with Pan German propaganda) 

among the large Volksdeutsch minority that the king of Rumania 

asked Hitler to recall Konradi. The latter’s agents spied on Ru¬ 
manian officials and the German Ambassador, Wilhelm Fabrizius, 

and Konradi carried on a personal campaign to discredit anti-Nazi 

churches among the Germans.93 

But even before the Czech crisis had ended, some Europeans had 

tried singlehandedly to avenge Hitler’s brutality. On the morning 

of 7 November 1938 a third-rate German Embassy official in Paris, 

Ernst vom Rath, was shot to death by Herschel Grtinspan, a young 

Polish-German Jew, whose family had been driven from Germany 

by Nazi anti-Semitism. Hitler used the murder as a pretext for the 

riot against German Jews (the Krislallnacht) two days later, and 

Bohle exploited it for propaganda purposes by arguing at Rath’s 

funeral that the diplomat had been the “victim of Jewish-Bolshevist 

murderous schemes abroad.”94 

As Bohle discovered, however, the anti-Jewish riot hurt Ger¬ 

many’s prestige abroad and brought a flood of protest telegrams 

from foreign Germans to the AO. Yet he ruthlessly ordered his 

officials in Berlin to boycott Jewish businesses, and acting on 

orders from Goring and the Four-Year-Plan, the AO collected 

information from its groups abroad on damages done to foreign 

Germans because of the riot. Not surprisingly, the material was 

used as justification for the further persecution of the German 
Jews.95 

The anxiety building in Europe by the late spring of 1939 and 

the determination of England and France to stand firm against 

further German aggression were illustrated by the suppression of the 

Nazi Landesgruppen in both countries. The Landesgruppe France, 

with its headquarters in Paris and local groups in cities like 
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Marseilles, Nice, Bordeaux, Lyons, Le Havre, and Lille, was offi¬ 

cially dissolved by a French law limiting foreign political organiza¬ 

tions. The German Ambassador, Welczeck, and the new Landes- 

gruppenleiter of France, Ehrich (who had replaced Rudolf Schleier 

in July 1938), quickly camouflaged the party within a German cul¬ 

tural association in Paris called the Deutsche Gemeinschaft (“Ger¬ 

man Community”). In addition, the twelve leading officials of the 
party in Britain (including Karlowa) were expelled.96 

These setbacks more than overshadowed the wave of publicity 

in Germany that was showered on the AO for its participation in 

the Spanish Civil War, which had recently ended with Franco’s 

victory. The AO gave a hero’s welcome in Berlin to the Condor 

Legion, to which the Spanish Ambassador to Germany and leaders 

of the Falange were invited. Franco later awarded his government’s 

highest medal of honor to Bohle and several other Nazi leaders 

for their role in the war.97 But the success in Spain was not enough 

to compensate for the AO’s fiascos in the Americas and elsewhere. 

Considerable authority over foreign Germans (and even over the 

AO) had passed by mid-1939 to Himmler’s SS, and particularly 

to the VoMi. In addition to using party officials abroad as intelligence 

agents to spy on mission leaders and foreign Germans suspected 

of being unfaithful to Germany, the SS undercut the NSDAP’s 

activity among foreign Germans by developing Volksdeutsch polit¬ 

ical groups around the world administered by the VoMi.98 

The most important of these groups were in Yugoslavia, Latvia, 

Lithuania, Memel, Poland, Rumania, Czechoslovakia, Slovakia, 

Hungary, and the Carpathian-Ukraine region, where the SS hoped to 

use the large German minorities as; pawns in Hitler’s military ex¬ 

pansion for Lebensraum. Similar groups had been created in Bel¬ 

gium, Denmark, and France (Alsace-Lorraine), and the VoMi had 

contacts (thanks in part to the AO) with Volksdeutsch leagues in 

Argentina, Chile, Paraguay, Canada, Southwest Africa, Australia, 

the Netherlands East Indies, and the United States. Bohle, except 

for quarreling with the leader of the VoMi, Werner Lorenz, over his 

criticism of the competency of AO officials (such as Klingenfuss), 

did nothing to challenge his rival.99 

Another area where the VoMi had asserted its power over foreign 

Germandom involved the resettlement in Germany of Germans 

abroad. By the spring of 1939 Germany needed at least 800,000 

more laborers to ensure the succes of its rearmament program. Con¬ 

sequently, the VoMi, AO, AA, and German police were ordered 
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into high gear to encourage Germans abroad to return home. Some¬ 

times, the campaign included the use of force, blackmail, and extor¬ 

tion against the Germans. The AO informed a German professor 

in Istanbul that his Reich citizenship would be revoked if he did not 

persuade his son (who lived in the United States) to return to 

Germany for duty in the Labor Service and army. In July the role 

of the Landesgruppenleiters was increased in decisions regarding 

which Auslandsdeutschen were to be deprived of their nationality.100 

While the Germans were busy repatriating their countrymen. Hit¬ 

ler pushed Europe nearer to war by securing Germany’s eastern 

frontier through the signing of a nonaggression pact on 24 August 

with his archenemy, Russia. According to the agreement, eastern 

Europe from the Baltic Sea to Rumania was to be divided between 

Germany and the Soviet Union; but above all, Hitler had made full 

preparations for invading Poland, conquering the western half of 

the country, and returning to Germany the roughly one million 

Volksdeutschen there. The pact was absolutely necessary to his 

plans, because it ensured him the neutrality of Russia during the 

attack and the isolation of Poland. 

The Nazis, employing their usual combination of propaganda and 

political pressure, had controlled the Danzig government since May 

1933.101 Hitler’s justification for invading Poland lay not only in his 

demands for uniting Danzig with Germany, but for the return of 

the Polish Corridor to Germany and for a halt to the alleged perse¬ 

cution by the Poles of the Volksdeutsch minority. When World War 

II began, the AA published documents, which, according to Ribben- 

trop, revealed “Poland’s systematic campaign of extermination against 

Germans in Poland and Danzig” and established clearly “the irrefut¬ 

able and proven fact that England, and England alone is responsible 

for the war” because it supported Poland.102 

Such claims were untrue,103 but while Hitler publicly grieved over 

the alleged ill-treatment of Germans in Poland, the NSDAP, AA, 

and VoMi contributed to inflaming internal divisions and hatreds 

among Poles and Germans. As noted previously, party groups had 

existed in Poland since 1931, working amidst minority organiza¬ 

tions like the Polish-sanctioned Deutsche Vereinigung and the pro- 

Nazi Jungdeutsche Partei\ by June 1937 the Landesgruppe Poland 

administered 6,500 German citizens and 1,400 Nazi members. Large 

regional affiliates of the Landesgruppe existed in Warsaw, Thorn, 

Posen, and Kattowitz. Under the supervision of Burgam, the party 

leader and Vice Consul at the German Embassy in Warsaw, the 
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party distributed radical literature to arouse German emotions 

against the Poles, and it encouraged Volksdeutsch enthusiasm for 

union with Germany by dominating German schools and pas¬ 
tors.104 

The party’s leaders in Poland were often trained functionaries 

imported for periods of time from Germany, which was observed 

by the Polish government and resulted at the end of 1937 in the de¬ 

porting of Germans and canceling of passports of suspected party of¬ 

ficials. The Landesgruppe responded by asking the AO to have re¬ 

prisal measures initiated against Poles in Germany.105 After the 

conquest of Czechoslovakia in March 1939 and Bohle’s naming of 

a new Landesgruppenleiter, Ewald Krummer, the NSDAP expanded 

its work. Party leaders were attached to consulates for protection, 

and the Landesgruppe’s attention turned toward organizing a system 

for protecting Germans when the Reich invaded Poland.106 

Following 23 May, as Hitler instructed his generals that war with 

Poland was “inevitable,” the army began distributing through the 

Landesgruppe material on protection from gas attacks and air raids 

to the Germans. Provisions were also made to keep German refugees 

fleeing to Germany from blocking Polish streets and roads that 

were to be used by German troops, and the Landesgruppe, AO, 

and German police constructed “receiving camps” on the Polish- 

German border to administer the refugees. During July and August 

the system started to operate as Germans were evacuated. But when 

some of them wished to return to Poland, the Poles disapproved, 

suspecting that the refugees had been schooled in espionage, 

propaganda, and sabotage activities. The Polish authorities also 

uncovered a training center of tfyis nature, conducted by the 

Jungdeutsche Partei, in Kattowitz and other districts.107 

Another task was to prepare for the occupying of vital political 

and economic positions in Poland with “tested party comrades from 

the Old Reich” who would enter Poland after the invasion. Lists 

detailing such posts were drafted, and arrangements were made for 

officials in the Landesgruppe to govern Germans who remained in 

Poland until new party, police, and government institutions could 

be established by the Nazis to rule the country. These and other 

projects were financed by the AO and AA, which funneled money 

to the Landesgruppe through the Embassy in Warsaw. 

Germans in Poland were also to participate in the invasion. To 

aid the advancing German army, they were to avoid being mobilized 
in the Polish military, and instead join the Reich’s forces; prevent 
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the Poles from destroying bridges and highways; and sabotage 

“Polish rear communications.” They were further directed to para¬ 

lyze the movement of Polish troops by blocking roads, employing 

terror, circulating false information about German troop movements, 

spreading panic among Polish civilians, and starting fires. When the 

Germans attacked, such spies “commanded key positions in the 

communications as well as in other fields.”109 

Bohle, too, did his part to hasten the destruction of Poland. On 

21 August, addressing a gathering of lawyers in Danzig, he became 

one of Hitler’s propaganda mouthpieces on Poland by accusing the 

Poles (with material gathered by the AA and cleared through 

Weizsacker) of committing intolerable excesses against Germans 

which could not go unchallenged by Germany. He mentioned nothing 

of his political and propaganda organization in Poland, which was 

feverishly preparing for the German attack. Hardly had he returned 

to Germany when the Nazi-Soviet pact was announced, and he was 

ordered by the AA to command the Landesgruppe Poland to “de¬ 

stroy without delay all party documents.” At all costs, when the 

invasion came, there was to be no evidence left that could incrimin¬ 

ate Germany. Two days later Reich citizens in Poland, England, and 

France were directed to find the “quickest way” to Germany, and 

arrangements were made between the Italian government and 

Landesgruppe Italy to permit the free transportation of Germans to 

the German border.110 The calamity was about to begin, and ironi¬ 

cally, in light of what the war was to bring Germany, Bohle argued 

that the Auslandsdeutschen “stand loyal and determined behind 

the Reich” and that they were not foreign troublemakers because 
they had “everything to lose by war.”111 



6 
WAR IS “A PATRIOTIC DUTY 

TAKEN FOR GRANTED,” 

1939-1945 

Evacuations, Reprisals, and Sacrifices 

Early on the morning of 1 September 1939, Germany in¬ 

vaded Poland; World War II had begun. It was to be the most 

destructive conflict in history and the most debasing event ever to 

confront the human spirit. Two days later, England and France tried 

to save Poland by declaring war on Germany, but soon Poland lay 

conquered and divided by Germany and Russia. Hitler’s war ma¬ 

chine turned toward western Europe in the spring of 1940, smash¬ 

ing Norway, Denmark, Holland, Belgium, Luxemburg, and France. 

The Nazi armies appeared unstoppable. 

Wherever Germans marched in Europe they were greeted as 

saviors by the small Nazi party groups and by Germans who were 

sympathetic to the Fatherland. Germans abroad often found their 

lives changed dramatically by the War; they were asked to make 

great sacrifices of life and property, tolerate persecution from 

foreign authorities, and give up much of their freedom to wartime 

directives of the NSDAP. After a meeting in Berlin in October 

1939 of Landesgruppenleiters from Europe, foreign Germans were 

instructed that they must engage in “propaganda activity for the 

German cause” and “counterespionage.” “As always,” they were 

told, “it is of decisive importance to know where the enemy 

stands and what he does.”1 
The most pressing tasks facing the AO were evacuating Germans 

in Poland and the Baltic states who were threatened by Russia’s 

advance into eastern Europe, and supervising Russian and German 

seamen who were shipping goods and war materiel between their 
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nations as a by-product of the Nazi-Soviet agreement. When 

Russian ships and crews began docking in German harbors and 

vice versa, Bohle and the Seafarer Section were at a loss as to how 

to react to the Communists. After seeking advice from Count 

Friedrich von der Schulenberg, the German ambassador to Russia, 

they gave strict orders to German seamen not to mix with their 

Soviet counterparts or to enter seamens’ clubs in Russian harbors, 

because they were “propaganda places for Bolshevism.” 

Yet Bohle could not resist the temptation to seek control of the 

large number of German officials who were entering Russia in con¬ 

junction with the Nazi-Soviet pact. Since the AO had been unable 

to find a viable pretext for building an NSDAP organization in 

Russia, he now saw a key opportunity to form a German com¬ 

munity in Moscow according to “principles of the party.” Ap¬ 

parently, his only contact in Russia was the naval attache at the 

German Embassy in Moscow, Baumbach, who sent him reports on 

other German diplomats in the Soviet Union. Consequently, the 

AO argued to Hess that it must administer the visas to Russian- 

bound officials to ensure “their suitability for party work” there and 

to recall the “unsuitable elements” (i.e., nonparty members) from 

Russia. But while Bohle was secretly conspiring to send agents to 

Russia, he publicly courted the Soviets (in keeping with Hitler’s 

policy at the moment) by thanking them for treating German sea¬ 

men well while they were in Russian ports.2 

In anticipation of the Soviet takeover of the Baltic states and 

Finland, the AO (along with other agencies like the VoMi) hur¬ 

riedly evacuated Germans from both regions. The project was well 

executed. Rescue ships sailed from Danzig to harbors in Estonia 

and Latvia, where German mission officials secured the free departure 

of Germans and their property. Helping the mission leaders were 

special commissions, comprised of functionaries from the AO and 

VoMi. These decided which Germans should be allowed to emi¬ 

grate and what property should be left behind. In charge of trans¬ 

porting the Germans out of Lithuania was Stegmann, Ortsgruppen- 

leiter of Kaunas, who shipped several thousand Germans (including 

Volksdeutschen) out of the country through Eydtkau to Konigs- 

berg. To guide the evacuation of Germans in Finland, Bohle sent 

Ehrich; the last ship loaded with refugees to leave Helsinki sailed 

on 6 December, two days after the Russian invasion and beginning 

of the “winter war.” A large number of Baltic Germans, once they 
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were processed through receiving camps operated by the VoMi and 
AO, were resettled in Poland.3 

Resettling and recruiting foreign Germans for the war effort 

quickly turned into a brutal business, because the Germans and 

other nationalities became helpless pawns in the game of power 

that was unfolding. Nazi members abroad came under particularly 

close surveillance, and some, like Cornelius Schwarz, the Landes- 

gruppenleiter of Palestine, and fifty members of the party in Cuba, 

were imprisoned. Bohle immediately demanded reports from Ger¬ 

man missions regarding the treatment of Auslandsdeutschen by 

foreign authorities, and these were used by the AO to push for 

reprisal measures against foreign citizens in Germany. 

The AO, in fact, became the chief agency in Germany for order¬ 

ing reprisals against citizens of enemy and neutral nations. As 

German citizens were threatened with expulsion from Hungary, the 

AO and SS, rejecting a more conciliatory policy advocated by the 

German Embassy in Budapest, drafted lists of Hungarian nationals 

in Germany who were to be imprisoned.4 Following the imprison¬ 

ment by Egypt of officials of the Landesgruppe (including the 

Ortsgruppenleiter of Port Said, Bernard Rensinghoffi), who worked 

as camouflaged bureaucrats in German consulates, Germany re¬ 

taliated by banning the departure of Egyptian citizens and de¬ 

taining personnel of the Egyptian Legation. 

But the AO was not satisfied. During 1941, responding to a re¬ 

port that Germans were still in prison in Egypt, Bohle proposed 

to Weizsacker that Egyptians in occupied France be arrested, and 

he compiled a list of 283 candidates in Paris available for the 

retaliation. Reflecting his closed mind on the issue of reprisals, he 

maintained in a short wave broadcast to foreign Germans in De¬ 

cember 1941, “It is contrary to the German nature to make war on 

civilian persons and against women and children, and to confiscate 

and destroy their goods and property.” Eventually, German citizens 

moving to Germany were required to have in their possession spe¬ 

cial “political judgments” signed by their Landesgruppenleiter, 

which enabled German authorities to decide which returnees could 

be trusted to work in sensitive war industries.5 

The war also brought to the surface the old enmity between the 

AO and AA, and it provided Ribbentrop with an opportunity to 

persuade Hitler to make a firm decision on the authority of the A A 

and AO in matters concerning foreign Germans. Already on 3 Sep- 
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tember Hitler issued a decree whereby offices of the state and party 

abroad were placed under the strict jurisdiction of the German 

mission chiefs. While some mission leaders quickly demanded a 

declaration of loyalty from their Landesgruppenleiters,6 the party 

leaders lodged complaints against their superiors by continuing to 

file monthly reports with the AO. Some diplomats took advantage 

of the new decree to ban party work, as Papen did in Turkey. 

Ribbentrop himself sniped at Bohle’s position. He ordered the 

AO not to dispatch regular circulars to its leaders abroad, because 

valuable information might be intercepted by the enemy, and he 

demanded that Landesgruppenleiters be approved by himself or 

Weizsacker. By the beginning of 1940 Bohle quietly admitted that 

“a change in my position” in the A A was “creeping in.” His orders 

to diplomatic missions, in contrast to his directives in 1937 and 

1938, now dealt with mundane items such as the duty of diplomats 

and foreign party leaders to give aid to needy Germans and to 

collect for the Winter Relief program.8 

Ribbentrop also moved to capture sole control of wartime propa¬ 

ganda distributed abroad, a job coveted especially by Bohle, Goeb- 

bels, and agencies in the SS and police. As Bohle met in Berlin with 

Landesgruppenleiters from Europe on 7 September 1939 to discuss 

propaganda, Hitler issued another decree which granted the A A 

(and thereby Ribbentrop) the authority to clear for distribution all 

foreign propaganda from government and party organizations. The 

decree shocked Bohle and angered Goebbels, but it reflected Rib- 

bentrop’s great favor with Hitler (which declined as the war pro¬ 

gressed and as military decisions overrode diplomacy) and the 

Foreign Minister’s emphasis on propaganda as a tool of foreign pol¬ 
icy and war. 

Since the NSDAP considered its brand of fanatical propaganda 

vital to the control of Germans outside Germany, it was almost 

inevitable that a bitter quarrel would ensue. Goebbels, Bohle, and 

the Landesgruppenleiters complained vigorously that “not enough 

quick and driving propaganda” was processed through the AA, 

and that the Ministry, with its more subtle and sophisticated ma¬ 

terial, should have no authority over the party’s propaganda sent 

to foreign Germans and party branches. In August 1940 the party 

leaders allied against Ribbentrop by coordinating their foreign 

propaganda through a new Reich Propaganda Office for Foreign 

Countries (Reichspropagandaamt Ausland, or RPA), whose chief 

was an AO movie producer from Uruguay, Felix Schmidt-Decker.9 
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The RPA plunged into its work as though the AA never existed. 

Drawing liberally on the resources of the Propaganda Ministry and 

NSDAP, it used every instrument known to the Nazis to flood 

Germans and party groups abroad with political information—party 

speakers, brochures, books, films, phonograph records, film pro¬ 

jectors, radio receivers, pictures, calendars, newspapers, and swas¬ 

tika flags.10 Much of the RPA’s propaganda, which was oriented 

toward the European party groups, focused on Germany’s alleged 

war aims. The Landesgruppe Italy, receiving material from the RPA, 

instructed its subordinate leaders to stress to local Germans that 

the Western Powers had wanted the war for a long time to gain 

the “removal of the Fiihrer and his movement” from Germany, the 

“disarmament and pauperization of the German people,” and the 

“recovery of a situation whereby Germany will be the plaything of 

foreign powers.” The Germans were also told that Hitler’s foreign 

policy, on the contrary, was designed solely “to secure the vital 

rights of Germans” against foreign attack, and that Germans were 

“to confide blindly in the Fiihrer and to follow him without 

hesitation.” Foreign Germans were also forbidden to “second 

guess” Hitler among themselves and foreigners, “ ‘Armchair war 

aims politics’ only present our enemies with the opportunity to 

impute to us views and objectives that must call forth to the end 

the mistrust of other peoples in our policy.”11 

The one-sided and blatant propaganda of the party and the forma¬ 

tion of the RPA aroused such antagonism from Ribbentrop that he 

demanded a showdown with Bohle. At a meeting of their staffs in 

early December 1940, Ribbentrop spoke for three hours, bitterly 

denouncing Bohle and declaring that7 there was only one A A in 

Germany and not two. He insisted that the reports which Bohle 

received from his Landesgruppenleiters be channeled to the AO 

through the AA. Another matter discussed was limiting Bohle’s 

remaining authority over promotions and appointments in the Min¬ 

istry; although the AO’s power was minimal (except on the issue 

of party membership for diplomats), Ribbentrop believed otherwise, 

and he detested even its smallest input. After the meeting, Bohle 

appeared “very seldom” at his office in the Wilhelmstrasse, and he 

asked Hess to support him and to insist to Hitler that the AO re¬ 

main controlled by the party and not by the AA.12 

Although the war had not yet engulfed all of Europe, the party 

groups outside Germany at the beginning of 1940 were already 

feeling the effects of the conflict. Party members and Germans were 
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imprisoned in enemy nations such as France, England, Belgium, 

Sweden, South Africa, and Southwest Africa. The office of the 

Landesgruppe Uruguay was bombed, prompting the AO to dissolve 

its organizations there and in Paraguay, and place their under¬ 

ground development in the hands of German mission chiefs (e.g., 

Langmann). Most of the major party organizations in Latin America, 

therefore, had been banned or officially dissolved by mid-1940.11 

But if an Auslandsdeutsche managed to avoid prison or persecu¬ 

tion by a foreign government, he was hardly a free person. His 

activities were supervised from Germany by directives from Bohle, 

which were issued through German missions. He was strictly pro¬ 

hibited, for instance, from associating with his foreign or non- 

German friends abroad, and he was forbidden to discuss Germany’s 

territorial annexations in the war.14 The Landesgruppen played an 

equally vital role. Like the NSDAP inside Germany, they dominated 

their members and other Germans through a combination of 

threats to harm relatives in Germany and propaganda. Propa¬ 

ganda was used by the Stiitzpunkt Kunming in China in February 

1940 to silence defeatism and discontent among local Germans; 

party officials in Switzerland were commanded by the Landesgruppe 

to ensure that “every German racial comrade” acted as “a mirror 

of the invincible strength of Germany.”15 

Nazi members, if they disobeyed their party leader or were 

suspected of being unwilling to give themselves body and soul to 

Germany’s cause, were subject to expulsion from the NSDAP by 

the AO’s Party Court. Unfortunately, when a foreign member was 

expelled, he lost much more than his party membership. He auto¬ 

matically lost his German citizenship and contact with relatives 

and friends in Germany, because members who refused to co¬ 

operate actively in the war violated, in Bormann’s words, “the 

interests of the party” and the state, and they were “to be punished 
by the Party Courts.”16 

In most respects, however, party work outside Germany was 

carried on in a normal fashion. Agents abroad representing the AO’s 

Foreign Trade Office camouflaged foreign subsidiaries of 1. G. 

Farben and other German firms to prevent them from being closed 

down. Landesgruppenleiters prohibited German citizens abroad 

from buying in Jewish stores; Viktor Friede, the Commissioner for 

Questions on Reich Citizens in Turkey, sent a blacklist of such 

stores to the German Embassy in Ankara, and he asked the Em¬ 

bassy to inform German nationals in Turkey accordingly.17 
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The party organization that maintained the most ordinary life 

was the Landesgruppe Spain. Its leader was Hans Thomsen, a well- 

traveled naval officer, who mixed liberally in politics and espionage. 

Eberhard von Stohrer, the German Ambassador in Madrid, who 

was allegedly sympathetic to the Nazis, complained loudly of the 

“frequently incorrect information” collected by the Landesgruppe 

about himself and other political figures in Spain and sent to Ber¬ 

lin.18 But the central conflict separating Stohrer and the AA from 

the Landesgruppe was the question of Spain’s entry into the war. 

Following Franco’s refusal to join in a proposed German-Spanish 

assault against the British stronghold at Gibraltar at the begin¬ 

ning of 1941, the Germans became divided over their policy toward 

Spain. The AA and Stohrer favored Germany’s continuing to trade 

its military, political, and economic support of Spain for the latter’s 

raw materials and bases for German submarines. However, Thom¬ 

sen and the Landesgruppe insisted on drawing Spain into the war, 

and to this end Thomsen discussed in 1940 and 1941 with a circle 

of discontented Falangists and military officers possible German aid 

to overthrow Franco and create a military dictatorship. 

The peak of the conspiracy came in the spring of 1941, when 

Thomsen and Bernhardt met with the anti-Franco colonel, Antonio 

Aranda Mata, and a representative from an opposition group led 

by the general Emilio Tarduchy. Thomsen further arranged (with¬ 

out the knowledge of the German Embassy in Madrid) for Spanish 

leaders to visit Germany and confer with Goebbels, Fey, and other 

party officials. The Landesgruppenleiter also pushed for the formation 

of the Blue Division, a Spanish unit comprised of fanatical Falan¬ 

gists who fought alongside the Germah army against Russia. At the 

end of 1941, Thomsen spent two months on the eastern front, ap¬ 

parently with the Division. The anti-Franco machinations eventually 

came to nothing, mainly because Hitler did not support them active¬ 

ly (fearing their failure and accepting Spanish neutrality more than 

the forced entry of Spain into the war) and because Franco arrested 

or exiled the ranking conspirators.19 

Invasions, Intelligence Work, and the “New Order” 

On 9 April 1940 Hitler suddenly ended the uneasy Sitzkrieg 

(“phony war”) in western Europe by conquering Norway and Den¬ 

mark; a month later his armies blitzed the Netherlands, Belgium, 

Fuxemburg, and France. On 17 June one of the world’s most power- 
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ful nations, France, requested an armistice from him, and soon the 

Nazis occupied Paris and northern France while the German puppet 

government of Vichy ruled the south. As Hitler tried to bomb 

England into submission in the ensuing months, he halted his 

armies on the continent to give his administrators in the newly 

conquered lands time to consolidate Nazi power. Plans for the “New 

Order,” designed by Germany to exploit Europe economically and 

politically, began to unfold. A year later Hitler expanded the war 

to southeastern Europe and Russia, a move which added to the New 

Order but also proved to be Germany’s downfall and his own de¬ 

struction. 

The Landesgruppen in Norway and the Netherlands contributed 

to the German invasions of both countries. Bohle later noted that 

aiding advancing German troops was considered by the NSDAP 

to be “a patriotic duty taken for granted.”20 In Norway the Landes- 

gruppe helped to camouflage the landing of German troops. 

Coordinating efforts with the Seafarer Section and German High 

Command, it concealed for several days prior to the attack on 9 

April the presence of German troops aboard German freighters docked 

in Norwegian harbors. Already in September 1939 the Landes- 

gruppe (on orders from Berlin) had increased its staff sharply; 

Karl Spanaus, its leader, recruited Germans who were highly fa¬ 

miliar with the culture, language, and geography of Norway. Other 

Germans, like Hans Wilhelm Scheidt, a correspondent in Oslo for 

the Volkischer Beobachter, were sent from Germany to Norway to 

work with the party. The aim was to furnish the German army 

with information on possible targets of attack along the Norwegian 

coast. The increased staff also spread pro-Nazi propaganda among 

Norwegians. 

As in Poland, the party in Norway assisted the invading German 

troops by providing officers with translators and lists of foreigners 

and anti-German Norwegian leaders who were to be arrested. With¬ 

in hours the Gestapo began mass arrests and deportations, many 

of whose victims were identified by the Landesgruppe and included 

Germans who had fled to Scandinavia after 1933 and supported 

from there the German resistance to Hitler inside the Reich. In 

Oslo, when a rumor gripped the city on 9-10 April that an English 

air attack was imminent to repel the Germans, the party feverishly 

squashed the report in the streets and prevented panic that would 

have slowed the work of the German troops. Once the army had 

arrested several hundred English and French in Norway (and Den- 
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mark), Bohle urged Ribbentrop to exchange them for Germans be¬ 
ing held prisoners by the British.22 

But the shabby espionage of the Landesgruppe Netherlands gave 

the Dutch ample warning of the invasion of their country. A few 

days after the attack on Norway police in The Hague discovered a 

thick envelope lying in a street. It contained photocopies of highly 

classified Dutch military documents that were being sent through 

the mail by Otto Butting, the Landesgruppenleiter of the Nether¬ 

lands and member of the German Legation, to the AO. Similarly, 

the Nazi Ortsgruppenleiter in Amersfoort, Sommer, was arrested on 
charges of espionage. 

When the Dutch government presented the envelope and Som¬ 

mer’s case to the perplexed German Minister in The Hague, the 

latter received an admission from Butting that he had used the 

party organization in the Netherlands to construct a large “military 

espionage net.” When he was asked why he did not send the docu¬ 

ments by diplomatic pouch to Germany, he replied that German 

military intelligence (Abwehr) distrusted the AA and forbade him to 

do so. Both the Dutch and German Minister demanded that Butting 

leave the country, and he was quickly recalled to Germany. News 

of the embarrassing episode reached Ribbentrop, who personally 

directed Bohle to inform the Dutch government that Butting had 

acted completely on his own, that Bohle was furious over But¬ 

ting’s insubordination, and that the AO was recalling him to Ber¬ 

lin for punishment. But when he returned to Germany, Bohle re¬ 

warded his loyalty (and incompetency) by treating him as a hero 

and appointing him (with Ribbentrop’s approval) the party leader 

for Italy. Yet Butting was not finished in Holland. Following the 

German conquest of the Netherlands in mid-May, he returned to 

The Hague under a cover name and sneaked into the Dutch archives 

to destroy incriminating documents against him. He was quickly 

expelled by the German army.23 

At the end of May Bohle tried to strenthen the Landesgruppe by 

dispatching Ruberg to Holland to administer the roughly two thou¬ 

sand party members and 75,000 German nationals there. Ruberg’s 

aim was to establish his authority and make the Landesgruppe the 

supreme civilian agency for Germans.24 But instead of capturing 

control of the police and securing the cooperation of the German 

military authorities for his mission, he concerned himself with petty 

matters like rationing gasoline to his party groups and conferring 

medals of honor on German mothers. The AO soon proved itself 
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sadly incapable of converting its well-developed Landesgruppe 

(which had over 102 Ortsgruppen) into a structure that could effec¬ 

tively control the thousands of Germans in the Netherlands who 

were party and government officials, businessmen, and police per¬ 

sonnel. Furthermore, Ruberg was rivalled for leadership of the party 

by Bormann, who sent a special “political commissioner” to Hol¬ 

land, Fritz Schmidt, and by Seyss-Inquart, Hitler’s Reich Commis¬ 

sioner for the Occupied Netherlands. 
In short, Ruberg failed to transform his propaganda-oriented 

organization, which was designed to recruit and activate members 

for the NSDAP, into an institution that could firmly consolidate 

the party’s total control over Germans. Bohle, fearing the Landes¬ 

gruppe would be removed from the AO and placed under Seyss- 

Inquart, visited the latter in The Hague on 4 June; apparently he 

even considered turning to Hitler to prevent the loss of his Dutch 

operation. But he was hardly a match for his powerful superiors. 

To attain the full integration of government and party activities 

in the Netherlands, Hess, Bormann, and Himmler created in Oc¬ 

tober 1940 a new regional organization for the country called the 

Arbeitsbereich Netherlands, which was an “activity sphere” of 

the NSDAP that replaced the Landesgruppe. In charge of the 

Arbeitsbereich was Seyss-Inquart, who was presented with the Lan¬ 

desgruppe by Bohle in a festive ceremony at the end of October. 

About the only consolation for the AO was the naming of Bene to 

the Reich Commissioner’s staff and the promotion of Ruberg (who 

was highly embittered at what had happened) in the SS.25 

Along with the removal of the AO from the Netherlands, an 

Arbeitsbereich was formed in Poland, and the AO found itself 

being supplanted in Norway by the Nazi Commissioner, Joseph 

Terboven, who reduced the authority of the Landesgruppe to 

nothing. A bit later, after Germany’s invasion of Russia, a third 

Arbeitsbereich was organized in the Baltic region and the Ukraine 

under Rosenberg, Commissioner for the Occupied Eastern Terri- 

tones. Party leaders in the Baltic states, like Henry Esp in Latvia, 

were recalled'by the AO and sent elsewhere in Europe; Esp, for 

example, became Landesgruppenleiter in Hungary. 

By the end of 1940 the AO’s activity abroad had been limited 

significantly—the major Landesgruppen in Latin America had been 

dissolved or banned, and the AO had been removed from a large 

chunk of Europe (including England). Bohle obviously had little 

choice but to accept the dramatic curtailment of his organization. 
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He understood that the Arbeitsbereiche had been a product of 

power politics in the Nazi hierarchy. They were directly subordinate 

to the Deputy Ftihrer’s office (especially Bormann), and with Hess’s 

favor with Hitler having already slipped noticeably, Bormann and 

Himmler pushed for the creation of the Arbeitsbereiche and scram¬ 
bled to control them.27 

Despite the loss of the Landesgruppen, Bohle appeared un¬ 

daunted. He arranged for the imprisonment of Dutch leaders as a 

reprisal for the arrest of Germans in the Netherlands East Indies, 

and he became increasingly involved with Germany’s foreign intelli¬ 

gence work. Before the Landesgruppe Netherlands was dissolved, 

it carefully drafted lists of several hundred prominent Dutch, many 

of whom were arrested by Seyss-Inquart and deported in July to 

Nazi concentration camps at Buchenwald and Ravensbriick. When 

Seyss-Inquart allegedly refused to carry out Hitler’s order to arrest 

ten Dutch for every German interned in the East Indies, Bohle 

protested to Hess and demanded an “eye for an eye” and a “sharp 

retaliation.”28 

Eventually Seyss-Inquart sent several hundred more Dutch pris¬ 
oners to Buchenwald. Yet, when many of them died, he made nu¬ 

merous appeals to Bohle for the release of those that remained 

alive. In August 1942, following the freeing of the Germans in the 

Dutch East Indies, 220 of the “Buchenwald hostages” were re¬ 

turned to the Netherlands. There the prisoners remained captive, 

but they were granted leaves to see their families and were allegedly 

treated more humanely. At the end of the war Seyss-Inquart esti- 

mated that roughly one hundred were still behind bars. 

As Hitler organized for a massive 4ir attack on England during 

the late summer of 1940, the AO leadership anticipated (as did 

most Nazi officials) a quick German victory. Once Bohle received 

confirmation from Weizsacker that the German government was 

making “preparations for the annihilation of England,” he and Al¬ 

fred Hess drafted a set of guidelines for the AO’s participation in 

future peace agreements. Although the English successfully de¬ 

fended themselves in the “Battle of Britain” and the directives 

were never implemented, they are nevertheless interesting because 

they revealed the AO’s aims in conquered lands. They also speci¬ 

fically defined the types of persecution which the Nazis believed 

foreign Germans had received since World War 1. In agreements 

with both enemy and neutral countries, the AO intended to secure 

the indemnification of foreign Germans for economic and physical 



172 THE SWASTIKA OUTSIDE GERMANY 

damages caused by the war, removal of discrimination against 

Germans, complete freedom of Germans to join the NSDAP, pro¬ 

tection of Germans against hostile propaganda, equality of work for 

Germans, abolition of special tax systems aimed at foreigners, and 

establishment of most-favored-nation treatment in trade for Ger- 
30 

many. 
By the beginning of 1941 there was evidence that the AO was 

expanding its intelligence activities abroad and that foreign intelli¬ 

gence sections of the SD and Abwehr were using more of the AO’s 

agents in the Landesgruppen. Although Hitler heatedly denied to 

the foreign press during the war that Germany engaged in fifth 

column work abroad, nothing could have been further from the 

truth. But while many foreigners correctly disbelieved him, the same 

persons were convinced erroneously that the German espionage 

groups “had been built into a single consistent plan and one cen¬ 

tralised system of organization, in which all wires were pulled by 

one man: the Fiihrer.”31 The lack of truth in this view was illus¬ 

trated by the AO’s relationship to the SD and Abwehr, which pro¬ 

duced a picture of the administrative chaos that characterized the 

Third Reich. 

No agreements were concluded by the AO with the rival agen¬ 

cies,32 and the absence of a formal understanding invited sharp dis¬ 

agreement among them and resulted in the use of the AO by the 

others. Bohle complained personally to Himmler in November 1942 

that the Abwehr had been employing thirty-six Ortsgruppenleiters 

in Switzerland without his knowledge.33 Antagonism between the 

Abwehr and AO had surfaced in June 1938, when a prominent 

Nazi member in Copenhagen revealed publicly the identity of one 

of the Abwehr’s key agents in Denmark, and the army demanded 

that the member be recalled to Germany and tried for treason. 

The party’s main criticism of the agent was his alleged friendship 

with a half Jew.34 When the war began the quarreling increased. 

In December 1939, Canaris, chief of the Abwehr, attacked Bohle 

for disrupting the army’s intelligence network in Rumania; the 

Landesgruppe there had destroyed the cover of several Abwehr 

spies who had assisted the army in sabotaging Rumanian oil 

deliveries to Britain. Still other disagreements arose over the 

Butting affair in the Netherlands and the AO sending secret agents 

to Yugoslavia, who competed with army intelligence.35 

In Turkey officials of the Landesgruppe and Abwehr “were always 

getting in each other’s way,” and they so rivaled one another “that 
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they denounced each other’s agents to the Turkish police.” Abwehr 

agents eventually discovered that their work was better concealed 

if they dropped their Nazi membership and disassociated them¬ 

selves from the Landesgruppen. The exceptions were in Canada, 

where the AO had agents with code names serving simultaneously 

with military intelligence, and in Chile, where the undercover 

Landesgruppe gave protection to Abwehr men.36 Conflicts also 

arose between the AO and SD, particularly when the Security 

Service used party leaders without Bohle’s knowledge. The party 

organizations abroad also clashed with the SD and German Secu¬ 

rity Police (Sicherheitspolizei) over political authority; the Landes¬ 

gruppe France fought with the police over which possessed the 

power to withdraw Reich citizenship from German Jews in Oc¬ 

cupied France.37 

In a few instances the AO’s spy work was successful. In Belgium 

the Landesgruppe assisted the German army in separating the 

“doubtful opportunists” from the “reliable men” in Flemish and 

Dutch political groups which the Germans planned to use in re¬ 

constructing the government of the country. AO agents infiltrated 

the Hungarian political movement, the National Front, to keep its 

pro-Nazi activities under the guidance of persons of German de¬ 

scent.38 Throughout the war the docility to Germany of Balkan 

countries like Hungary, Rumania, and Bulgaria was fostered in part 

through the organizing of German minorities and other political 

forces in each country by the VoMi, SS, and to a lesser extent, 

the AO. The penetration of southeastern Europe was also the first 

step toward Hitler’s completing what was to become the Nazi New 

Order on the continent. y 
An example of the AO’s subversion in southeastern Europe was 

its work in Rumania. Since 1937 the Landesgruppe Rumania and 

its leader, Konradi, had supplied propaganda to the Rumanian 

Iron Guard, hoping to strengthen local fascists against the govern¬ 

ment and encourage them toward a pro-German policy. Konradi 

had been active for the NSDAP since 1930 and had formed the 

Landesgruppe singlehandedly. He had used his positions as Com¬ 

mercial Attache in the German Mission in Bucharest and Secretary 

of the Rumanian-German Chamber of Commerce to build by 1939 

an organization that included twenty Ortsgruppen and 250 Nazi 

members. Three German consular officials were local leaders: Hans 

Turiek (Cernowitz), Friedrich Roth (Craiova), and Ludwig Tomoor 

(Timosoara). 
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But the aim of the party was not solely to strengthen the position 

of the Iron Guard; it was also to persuade the German minority 

in Rumania (approximately 800,000 persons) that the country should 

become a base for German raw materials. Propaganda in the sum¬ 

mer of 1939 stressed the “right” of Germans to Lebensraum in 

eastern Europe and the obligation of the minority to support 

Hitler’s foreign policy at all costs. Along with the VoMi, APA, and 

DAF, the Landesgruppe cultivated ties to the Rumanian Volks- 

deutsch leader, Fabritius, whose political organizations claimed 

control over the minority. Konradi and his party affiliates also 

drafted and sent to Berlin lists of Rumanian officials and Germans 

who were allegedly anti-National Socialist. Their names were 

compiled into a kind of “Brown Book” to be used later in the war 

by the Nazis in imprisoning and removing from the Rumanian 

government persons who had been hostile to Germany.39 

With the outbreak of the war the party’s pressure increased, 

particularly its work with the Iron Guard. Hitler’s pseudo-legal con¬ 

trol over Rumania was greatly expanded in September 1940, when 

the Rumanian Defense Minister and protector of the Iron Guard, 

Jon Antonescu, was named Prime Minister by the king. Bohle, 

believing that he saw an opportunity to raise his prestige with 

Hitler, the Guard, and the new Antonescu regime, visited Bucha¬ 

rest on 30 November and discussed further AO activity with 

Horia Sima, leader of the Guard. But his dreams were quickly 

dashed when Hitler suddenly decided to support Antonescu and to 

strengthen the Prime Minister’s authority by aiding the crushing of 

the nationalist and unruly Guard. The puppet Antonescu responded 

by forcing the abdication of the king, suppressing a revolt of the 

Guard, and allying Rumania with the Axis powers. Revealing that 

Hitler had been correct in supporting Antonescu over the Rumanian 

fascists, the Prime Minister led his country into Germany’s war 

against Russia in June 1941. Several months later Bohle suffered 

another setback when Konradi and other Landesgruppe officials 

who had close ties to the Guard were expelled from the country.40 

The AO was also involved in Greece, Hungary, and Yugoslavia. 

When Hitler expanded the war into southeastern Europe and into 

Russia in the spring and summer of 1941, the Landesgruppen in 

the Balkans played a conspicuous role. As German troops entered 

Athens on 27 April the Landesgruppe Greece, headed by an 

archaeologist, Walther Wrede, assisted the army by supplying it 

with interpreters and guides and introducing German officers to co- 



A PATRIOTIC DUTY TAKEN FOR GRANTED” 175 
it 

operative Greek leaders.41 During the lightning campaign in Greece 

and Yugoslavia, the Landesgruppe Hungary and its leader Esp 

helped to administer German troops moving through the country to 

the front. Its women’s auxiliary established special “welcoming 

stations” for the soldiers, and the women visited the wounded in 

Hungarian hospitals, distributing among them “care packages” of 

cigarettes and chocolate. The German army estimated that the 

Landesgruppe contacted over 100,000 soldiers, and as a reward, 

Esp and his staff were presented with a military decoration.42 

Simultaneously the Nazis brutally conquered Yugoslavia, which 

refused to become a German satellite and thereby threatened the 

German advance into Russia. By mid-April 1941 the Germans had 

destroyed the old-Serbian-controlled government and created a 

Nazi puppet state, Croatia, which was occupied jointly by the Ger¬ 

mans in the northeast and Italians in the west, and was torn by a 

bloody civil war among Croats, Serbs, Turks, Bosnians, Volks- 

deutschen, and Communists. The approximately 250,000 Volks- 

deutschen and 3,300 German citizens in Croatia supported fully the 

government and the nationalist organization which formed the basis 

for it, the Ustasha movement. The Germans received large sums of 

money from the AA and VoMi, and they were administered by the 

VoMi through a political structure called the Deutsche Volksgruppe 

in Kroatien (“German Racial Group in Croatia”), led by Branimir 

Altgayer.43 

When the new state was formed, the AO created a Landesgruppe 

Croatia, headed by Rudolf Empting. Although the group was not 

extraordinarily large, its activities represented one aspect of Nazi 

policy in southeastern Europe. Its \york illustrated the NSDAP’s 

efforts to pursue the German policy of controlling the countries of 

southern and eastern Europe by tying them to Germany econom¬ 

ically, organizing their German minorities, influencing local politi¬ 

cal parties that were pro-German, and playing on internal divisions 

between peoples and classes in each country.44 

Empting’s personal activities in Croatia were designed to es¬ 

tablish ties to the government, and in this respect his role was 

almost as vital to Germany as that of the German Minister in 

Zagreb, Siegfried Kasche. Empting and Kasche visited one another 

regularly, and Empting met frequently with the Croatian Prime 

Minister and military commanders. The Landesgruppe's political 

operations had one objective—to assist Germany in controlling Croa¬ 

tia. The NSDAP flooded persons of German descent and Croatians 
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with propaganda against the rising Communist resistance movement 

under Tito, fed the Croatian press pro-Nazi political and economic 

reports, presented free records of German songs to radio stations, 

and offered German language courses in local schools. The Landes- 

gruppe operated its own school in Zagreb, trained teachers for 

Volksdeutsch schools, and persuaded the Croatian Ministry of 

Education to institute a series of “racial-biological courses” for 

teachers, professors, and doctors. 

The party also supported efforts to construct a National Socialist 

movement among the Croatians, and it assisted the Ustasha in 

organizing the latter’s leadership in a way similar to the NSDAP’s 

Fiihrerprinzip. Hitler Youth clubs in the Landesgruppe contributed 

directly to the German war effort. Like German youth in other 

eastern European countries, Volksdeutsch youth in Croatia and 

Serbia were used for espionage and recruited for SS and German 

army units. Many HJ members became officers in the army, and 

other HJ boys were drafted into a special SS division called “Prinz 

Eugen.” It was formed early in 1942 and was the first of many 

foreign divisions that were established in the SS during the war. 

The Nazis also did their utmost to preserve Germany’s economic 

domination of Croatia. Croatia and Hungary had to be retained in 

the German fold because of their large deposits of minerals for 

industrial production and building jet aircraft. The Landesgruppe’s 

commercial adviser was Hans Gerlach, an I. G. Farben agent and 

president of the local German Chamber of Commerce. In associa¬ 

tion with the AO’s Foreign Trade Office, he counseled Germans on 

forming new businesses, expelling Jews from German and Croatian 

firms, occupying administrative committees and boards of control 

of corporations, and supplying replacements for German business 

representatives recalled to Germany. The Landesgruppe also purged 

non-German elements from the Volksdeutsch business community, 

and Empting and Kasche presented a portrait of Hitler to the 

Croatian Chamber of Labor to celebrate the sending of the 

100,000th Croatian worker to Germany in June 1942.45 

Empting was one of Bohle’s more perceptive leaders in Europe, 

and he filed regular political reports that were passed by the AO 

to the SS and SD. His report of July 1942 discussed the growing 

desertion of Croatian soldiers to Tito’s Communist resistance and 

the Croatian army’s lack of control over large partisan groups that 

had been formed. He also stressed the “often sharp cross-purposes 

of Italo-German interests in Croatia,” the protection by Italian 
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troops of the Serbians (and Jews) from the government (and Ger¬ 

mans), and the refusal of the Italians to battle insurrectionary groups 

of Communists and other partisans. This information led in the fall 

of 1942 to a new German offensive to repress the Communists and 
another partisan group, the Chetniks.46 

The Landesgruppe's varied activities and its efforts to acquire 

Croatian labor for Germany represented one aspect of Nazi plans 

to establish a New Order in southern and eastern Europe. While 

the New Order was eventually to include all of Europe, its creation 

was planned during the war by a host of state, private and party 

agencies in Germany: the SS, party Chancellery, AO, AA, Ministry 

of Economics, Reichsbank, and numerous German corporate or¬ 

ganizations. It was based on Hitler’s idea that struggle is the natural 

form of relations between states and peoples and that only sub¬ 

ordination of the weaker to the stronger assures a degree of 

stability. The Nazi agencies were agreed on the basic objectives 

of the New Order—the establishment of the greatest possible German 

influence and power over the nations of Europe. 

Politically the goal was to subject Europe to varying degrees of 

German control; economically, the objective was to interweave the 

economies of Europe, place them under German domination, and 

use them to develop the German standard of living to its highest 

possible point.47 As a small part of this massive plan, the Landes- 

gruppe Croatia spread propaganda, attempted to influence the 

Croatian government, established an educational campaign among 

Croatian-Germans, recruited for the SS, infiltrated German “ad¬ 

visory” personnel into local professional and economic organiza¬ 

tions, and submitted regular intelligence reports to Berlin. In each 

respect, its work was a microcosm of the New Order’s development 

and of the Nazi party’s contribution to it. 

Hess’s Flight and Bohle’s Alliance 

with Himmler and Ribbentrop 

On 10 May 1941 a decisive pillar supporting the NSDAP groups 

abroad and the career of the Gauleiter and State Secretary in the 

AA, Bohle, suddenly dissolved. Hess, Hitler’s blindly loyal deputy 

and Bohle’s party superior and close friend, suddenly rocked the 

Nazi world by flying to Scotland to seek out the Duke of Hamilton 

about negotiations for a peace between England and Germany. His 

flight, which was in part a result of his desire to achieve a dramatic 
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coup and end his loss of influence with Hitler to Himmler and 

Bormann, was unwittingly assisted by Bohle. One October evening 

in 1940 the AO leader was summoned to Hess’s office, where he 

pledged Bohle to the strictest secrecy in translating a letter into 

English that he was preparing for the Duke. Bohle, hardly dream¬ 

ing that Hess was contemplating something as bizarre as a flight 

to England, believed that he was planning to meet the Duke in 

Switzerland. 
Bohle was called to Hess’s office on three other occasions until 

the letter was completed in January 1941. While Bohle noted that 

the letter pleaded for the ceasing of hostilities between Germany 

and England, he also saw that Hess portrayed to the Duke the 

horrors which further German bombings would bring to the British 

and that Hess clearly expressed his belief that Hitler would defeat 

England. Hess had also mentioned in the letter that he was writing 

“at the suggestion of Dr. Haushofer.” But that was all Bohle knew 

of the strange affair until he received the shocking news that Hess 

had landed in Scotland. Hitler, who may have known of Hess’s 

mission beforehand and encouraged it to rid himself of his deputy 

and to test the English reaction to a peace feeler,48 acted dumb¬ 

founded and called his government and party leaders to the 

Obersalzburg on 13 May. When they, including Bohle, had assem¬ 

bled, Bormann (who immediately succeeded Hess and was ap¬ 

pointed the head of the party Chancellery) read a letter that Hess 

had left for Hitler. 

Hitler then addressed the audience and angrily informed his 

listeners that he wanted absolutely no further interference by 

“unauthorized” persons or agencies into his foreign policy. A few 

minutes later Bohle was asked if he knew anything about the flight 

in advance, and when he sheepishly related that he had helped 

Hess translate the letter to the Duke of Hamilton, Hitler shouted: 

“What in the hell do you mean? How was it possible that you 

helped him to do this?” A sudden fear gripped Bohle, he noted 

later, as he envisioned himself being condemned to a concentration 

camp. At the end of the meeting, however, he quickly approached 

Hitler and tried to explain his behavior. He told Hitler that he had 

acted in accord with the Fiihrerprinzip when he assisted Hess, 

who was (he reminded the Nazi leader) Bohle’s superior and who 

had been appointed by the Fiihrer. Whether or not the explana¬ 

tion impressed Hitler it is difficult to know. Although Bohle was 

interrogated by Heydrich two days later, and he laid much of the 
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blame for Hess’s flight on Haushofer and his son Albrecht (the 

latter having worked for the Dienststelle Ribbentrop and having 

been denounced in 1938 as “politically unreliable” and a defeatist), 
he remained a free man.49 

But although he avoided internment in a concentration camp and 

was allowed to remain in his party and government offices, his 

power was gone. Alfred Hess, his Deputy Gauleiter, was stripped 

of his office and placed under continual surveillance by the police. 

Bohle’s little empire, which was already crumbling when the war 

began, was fully destroyed by the war and by Hess’s peace mission. 

Like many Nazi leaders, he found himself a victim of the war that 

he had believed was absolutely necessary to save Germany from 

Judaism and Bolshevism. Having been disgraced before Hitler 

and the other Nazi leaders, he became a figurehead whose future 

rested on the whims of Bormann, Himmler, and Ribbentrop. After 

the Hess affair he saw Hitler personally on only one occasion before 

the war’s end, and none of his efforts to send political reports from 

Landesgruppenleiters to Hitler received the slightest attention.50 

No one grasped the meaning of what had happened better than 

Ribbentrop. Anxious to apply the coup de grace to his old enemy, 

he went to Hitler on 9 June and requested that the AO be placed 

directly under his leadership. He admitted that “distinct differences” 

separated himself and Bohle and that consequently, “the Foreign 

Minister must also be the Chief of the Auslandsorganisation.” He 

further maintained that the “suitable” German mission chiefs abroad 

must also serve as leaders of the foreign party organizations. He 

noted, for example, that “old party comrades” like Kasche, Man¬ 

fred von Killinger, and Dietrich von Jagow, whom Ribbentrop had 

commissioned German ministers in southeastern Europe, could 

“also take over the leadership of the Landesgruppen” of the AO.51 

The issue was finally settled when Hitler and Ribbentrop met 

on 28 July, and Hitler decided against the recommendation. A 

loud quarrel, which had been brewing since their earlier disagree¬ 

ment over Germany’s war with Russia, ensued between them. The 

invasion of Russia, which Ribbentrop had strenuously opposed, had 

begun at Hitler’s command in mid-June. The heated dispute on 

the twenty-eighth was significant because it marked the begin¬ 

ning of Ribbentrop’s decline with Hitler, and it had the effect, 

in Hitler’s eyes, of dealing a further blow to the reputation of the 

AA. 
The dissension also saved Bohle. Although Hitler agreed to re- 
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move Bohle from his position as State Secretary in the AA, he 
decided that “any further changes in the Auslandsorganisation, as 
the Foreign Minister wishes them, will in no instance be carried 
out.” Holding firmly to the NSDAP’s traditional view that only the 
party could be responsible for the Menschenfuhrung, he noted that 
“the task of the Foreign Minister and his apparatus is foreign 
policy, and the organization and administration of foreign Germans 
is the task of the Auslandsorganisation of the NSDAP, and this 
job may in no case be supervised by officials of the Auswartiges 
Amt.”52 

Ribbentrop’s failure to bring the AO under his control was also 
a classic illustration of Hitler’s fondness for the competing authori¬ 
ties of the party and the state in his regime. It reflected, too, 
Bormann’s decisive influence on Hitler, his dislike of Ribbentrop, 
and his desire to retain full authority over the AO. Bormann in¬ 
formed Ribbentrop of Hitler’s decision at the beginning of August, 
saying that the AO was not to involve itself with “foreign policy 
affairs” in the future and that Ribbentrop should give Bormann 
“immediate communication” if “you have any complaints against 
the Auslandsorganisation.”53 

Bohle, reacting to his pending demotion, petitioned the head of 
Hitler’s Reich Chancellery, Lammers, maintaining that it would 
be intolerable for him to be retired from his offices and pleading 
with Lammers to persuade Hitler to let him retain his post as 
Secretary of State. His pathetic zeal for keeping his titles, and his 
deep sense of personal disgrace at possibly losing them, were not 
uncommon feelings among Nazi leaders. He later remarked, “It 
is a rather funny thing, but you are hardly considered a real human 
being in Germany unless you have some sort of title by which you 
can be addressed.”54 

Bohle’s request was successful, mainly because Hitler did not 
want to make a visible change in the AA that might appear to be a 
sign of weakness or hesitation on his part. What, for example, 
would the world (and especially Germans abroad) believe if the 
notorious leader of the Nazi party’s foreign groups were suddenly 
removed? He guessed that many foreigners would be convinced 
that Germany was softening her aggressive foreign policy and that 
the NSDAP was losing its alleged power over the Ministry. With 
the Nazis ruling most of Europe and achieving startling successes 
in Russia by the fall of 1941, such ideas could only undermine 
Germany’s position by giving the enemy hope. Lammers instructed 
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Bohle that his position as State Secretary had been dissolved, 

but that he could continue using the “official designation of Secre¬ 

tary of State” in public and that Hitler would decide at the end of 

the war if he should be returned to the AA. His future relation¬ 

ship with the AA, Lammers continued, would be governed by Rib¬ 
bentrop.55 

The Foreign Minister, aided by his Undersecretary of State in 

the AA, Martin Luther, immediately informed the Reich mission 

leaders abroad of the changes, and he cut back drastically Bohle’s 

staff in the AA. Another power seized from the AO was its authority 

to approve and to supervise official trips abroad by Nazi leaders: 

this was placed in the hands of the party Chancellery and AA.56 

Ribbentrop also settled the nagging question of who controlled 

foreign propaganda, the party (i.e., Goebbels and Bohle) or the AA. 

While he permitted the AO and Propaganda Ministry to continue 

operating the Reichspropagandaamt Ausland, he also ruthlessly 

squelched efforts by Goebbels and Bohle to influence German 

propaganda aimed at the United States, against which Germany 

declared war in December 1941.57 About all that Goebbels and 

Bohle could do was to console one another by exchanging reports 

and secretly denouncing Ribbentrop and the AA as “not fitted to 

conduct propaganda abroad.”58 

Still another function that had become important to the AO and 

that was snatched from it following the Hess affair was Germany’s 

administration of its former colonies in Africa, which Hitler fully 

expected to recover from England during the war. On 2 May 1941 

Hitler officially announced plans for the creation of a new Reich 

Colonial Ministry, whose leadership ^appeared to be destined for 

either Bohle, Epp, or Philip Bouhler (leader of the Ftihrer’s Chan¬ 

cellery and supreme censor of the NSDAP). Hess’s flight quickly 

eliminated Bohle.59 Yet a further indication of the AO’s waning 

authority was the low number of its officials joining the AA or 

promoted within the Ministry in 1940 and 1941. While there is no 

evidence that Bohle lost his share of power in admitting diplomats 

to the NSDAP, there were only six changes involving AO person¬ 

nel and the AA.60 
Slowly, following the deterioration of the Landesgruppen outside 

Europe and the continuation of difficulties between the AO and Rib¬ 

bentrop, Canaris, Bormann, and the mission chiefs abroad, Bohle 

began late in 1942 to attempt a political comeback by currying 

Himmler’s favor and making his peace with Ribbentrop. Except for 
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Chile and Argentina, most of the Latin American countries had 

broken off diplomatic relations with Germany, and the AO’s ac¬ 

tivities there had dwindled to nothing.61 Even relations between 

the Landesgruppe Japan and the Japanese became strained, which 

was probably an offshoot of the general antagonism between Ger¬ 

many and her ally during the war. 
Although the Landesgruppe Manchuria contributed money, col¬ 

lected from its Winter Relief program, to the Japanese army in 

March 1942, the Japanese were unimpressed. Reflecting the tense 

relationship between the allies, the Landesgruppe Japan and move¬ 

ments of local Germans were severely restricted by the govern¬ 

ment; merely the presence of a German political organization 

seemed to contribute to the hostile atmosphere. Bohle, hoping to 

offset the mistrust and suspicion surrounding the Landesgruppe, 

appointed a new party leader, Franz Joseph Spahn, at the begin¬ 

ning of 1943.62 

Bohle was also harassed throughout the summer of 1942 by a 

quarrel between the German Ambassador to Turkey, Papen, and 

Friede, the party leader in Turkey. When Friede claimed that Papen 

should either be shot or placed in a concentration camp for being 

lukewarm toward National Socialism, Papen responded by banning 

Friede from the Embassy. Matters were complicated because the 

Ambassador also became embroiled in a conflict with Ribbentrop’s 

brother-in-law, and the Foreign Minister sent Papen several threat¬ 

ening telegrams. The squabble was resolved when Friede left 

Turkey, and Ribbentrop pleaded with Papen to do his best to 

work with Bohle. But in a frustrating moment for Papen, Friede 

was rewarded for his “heroic” service abroad with a war medal from 

Hitler.63 

About the only bright spot for Bohle in relations between his 

leaders abroad and mission officials was Ettel, Germany’s envoy to 

Iran during the first years of the war. Next to the veteran German 

Minister to Iraq, Fritz Grobba, the former Landesgruppenleiter of 

Colombia and Italy was the most active German diplomat in the 

Near East during the war. He arranged for German arms shipments 

to Iraq, which aided the Iraqi rebellion against the British in the 

spring of 1941, and he organized an espionage network among Ger¬ 

mans in Iran that allegedly endangered Russian security and Brit¬ 

ish oil interests there. When a conflict developed between himself 

and Grobba, he secured Grobba’s transfer to Paris by accusing him 

of not being anti-Jewish enough.64 Following the occupation of 
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Iran in August 1941 by British and Russian troops to force the 

expulsion of the German colony, Ettel was recalled to Berlin to 

become Bohle’s contact with Ribbentrop and the AA. But compared 

to his previous posts, he found himself only a “letter carrier be¬ 

tween the Foreign Ministry and the AO,” and at the end of 1943 

he left the AA and entered the Waffen-SS (“Combat SS”).65 

Another factor that pushed Bohle toward allying himself with 

Himmler and seeking to befriend Ribbentrop was the discovery 

that Canaris and the Abwehr had organized a spy network inside 

the AO. In a move that brought greater chaos to German intelli¬ 

gence abroad, the Abwehr inserted inside the Landesgruppen 

agents who sent classified reports on the work of foreign party 

leaders to Heinz Cohrs, the AO’s contact with the Abwehr. Al¬ 

though Cohrs was nominally an AO official, his loyalties lay with 

the army; through his efforts, amazingly enough, two German intelli¬ 

gence services spied on one another, and Cohrs operated as a sort 

of “double agent.”66 

Also undermining the Landesgruppen was an order by Bormann in 

June 1942. The directive reinforced Hitler’s earlier decree that had 

subordinated party leaders abroad to German mission chiefs. 

Among other things, the Landesgruppenleiters were commanded 
to refrain entirely from intervening in German foreign policy, to 

submit their political reports to mission leaders for forwarding to 

Berlin, to secure the mission chiefs’ permission before instituting 

party measures that might have “foreign political repercussions,” 

and to subordinate the party’s foreign propaganda to the AA.67 

As a consequence of the order, the authority of the Landesgruppen 

dwindled to nothing; after a decade ofieonfusion and conflict among 

mission chiefs and foreign party leaders, the former finally reigned 

supreme. But the thrust toward a firm subordination of the NSDAP 

to the AA was almost a decade late, as the party had contributed 

significantly since 1933 to the Nazis’ destroying friendly relations 

between Germany and many countries. 

The AO’s reaction, for a change, was to carry out the directive. 

Bohle correctly noted that it was issued by the party Chancellery, 

which was the highest authority in the NSDAP and which acted 

for Hitler, and not by the A A, which had issued most previous com¬ 

mands limiting the AO. Disobeying Bormann would have placed 

Bohle in an extremely vulnerable position, particularly since Bor¬ 

mann exercised a decisive influence on Hitler and since disobedi¬ 

ence meant violating the Fuhrerprinzip. 
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Bohle even went a step further. He tried to mend his strife-torn 

relationship with the AA by proposing to Ribbentrop in April 1943 

that the mission leaders and Landesgruppen cooperate in a new 

campaign of propaganda and intelligence to counter the “ever- 

increasing enemy propaganda” in “the neutral European countries.” 

Ribbentrop, who was grasping the potential meaning of the dra¬ 

matic reverses suffered by Germany at Stalingrad and El Alamein 

several months earlier, grabbed the olive branch without hesitation. 

At the end of June the AO and AA formed a special Foreign In¬ 

formation Service (Auslandsinformationsdienst) in the Ministry, 

whose objective was to use the Landesgruppen and foreign Ger¬ 

mans in a massive “whispering campaign” (Flusterinformation) or 
• 68 

a subtle spreading of propaganda through rumor and gossip. 

Ribbentrop’s sudden willingness to collaborate with the AO was 

also the result of Bohle’s effort to resurrect himself through an alli¬ 

ance with Himmler and to re-establish himself with Hitler. Before 

the agreement between the AO and AA was reached, he had 

pleaded for Himmler’s assistance in acquiring the support of the AA 

for the Reichspropagandaamt Ausland. Foreign Germans, he told 

Himmler, “are our best propagandists outside the borders of the 

Reich, because their national experience, knowledge of language, 

and their tie to the people where they reside enable them to under¬ 

stand what must be done.” When Bormann stopped reading Bohle’s 

political reports from the Landesgruppenleiters and they were no 

longer forwarded to Hitler, the AO sent them to Himmler.69 

An accord with the SS was also noticeable at other levels. Not 

only were a growing number of SS officers dispatched as leaders to 

Landesgruppen (e.g., to Ecuador and Turkey), but the party orga¬ 

nizations in eastern Europe (e.g., Hungary and Croatia) were in¬ 

volved extensively in drafting Volksdeutschen into the Waffen-SS 

to bolster Germany’s military effort and in naturalizing the new 

recruits as German nationals.70 The groups also contributed to the 

destruction of the Jews being carried out by the SS in eastern 

Europe. Ludwig Kohlhammer, Landesgruppenleiter of Rumania, 

and his counterpart in Slovakia, Kurt Rudershausen, gave orders 

to their Ortsgruppen to assist the SS and AA in “aryanizing” 

Jewish businesses, forcing German firms to release Jewish em¬ 

ployees, and drafting blacklists of Jewish or German-Jewish firms 

that were off limits to German buyers. Still another popular anti- 

Semitic venture undertaken jointly by the Landesgruppen and SS 
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was the practice of removing Aryan children from Jewish or half- 

Jewish families.71 Thus, while the AO never involved itself in the 

Nazi extermination of the Jews, through its foreign affiliates it con¬ 

tributed its share towards removing Jews from the economic and 

political life of several southeastern European states. 

Finally, Bohle’s tie to Himmler was designed to counter his 

servitude to Bormann. By 1943 he had become convinced of the 

enormous power of both Bormann and Himmler, and he believed 

that they were responsible for the acts of brutality and terrorism 

that now appeared to rule his country. Although he was aware of 

foreign labor in massive numbers in Germany and had heard “by ru¬ 

mor” or “from other sources” that “large numbers [of Russian 

prisoners of war] died of starvation,” he never visited factories or 

plants that used such workers. He also knew of the lynching of 

Allied flyers, mainly from Goebbels’s newspaper articles glorifying 

the killings. 

While he knew, furthermore, that European Jews were being de¬ 

ported to the occupied territories in the east, he believed that they 

were being shipped to labor camps and used in road construction 

or in manufacturing war equipment. Above all, he apparently knew 

nothing of the “Final Solution” (i.e., the extermination of the Jews) 

or the conferences regarding it held among party, SS, and police 

functionaries. His knowledge about deportation came primarily from 

rumors and “general Party and State information;” the party Chan¬ 

cellery and SS were extremely careful to keep him and similar of¬ 

ficials uninformed, particularly because the horror that was occur¬ 

ring in the east might leak through the AO to foreign countries. 

It was only after the collapse of the'Third Reich that Bohle was 

to learn about Auschwitz for the first time, and until then, he 

testified at the Nuremberg trials, he had believed that Theresien- 

stadt had been merely “a kind of town reserved for Jews of old 

age.” Did Hitler know what was happening? Bohle thought not: 

. . . I was firmly convinced that Hitler himself was so absorbed by his 
tremendous duties, as Supreme Commander of the Armed Forces, that 
he simply had to neglect his other duties; and I thought that Bormann 
especially, and possibly Himmler, were taking advantage of this al¬ 
most total seclusion of Hitler, in order to form Germany slowly but 
surely into a terroristic state; and it was the hope that 1 and many 
others had that at the close of the war Hitler would use the iron broom.72 
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The Myth of Victory 

The brutal concept that annihiliating the Jews would bring Ger¬ 

many closer to freedom and victory proved to be illusory. By the 

early months of 1943 the war was weighing down heavily on Ger¬ 

many, and the initiative was shifting to the side of the democracies 

and Russia. In January several hundred thousand German troops 

surrendered at Stalingrad, thereby sealing Germany’s fate in the 
Soviet Union, and with large American assistance, the Allies ex¬ 

pelled the Germans from North Africa and began attacking Italy 

and southeastern Europe. Waves of Allied bombers hit German 

cities, and the Reich “situation reports” of the SD began to note 

the “deepest excitement” among the people and a sense of de¬ 

featism.73 
A similar feeling engulfed Germans living and working in oc¬ 

cupied Europe. Landesgruppen in the conquered countries were 

forced to focus their entire attention on propaganda to buoy the 

morale of foreign Germans and on relief measures for Germans 

ravaged by Allied bombing. The Landesgruppe France, which had 

fifty-four Ortsgruppen and filled Paris “with representatives of the 

party,” was faced with administering both German civilians in 

France and French laborers in local German-dominated indus¬ 

tries.74 The party and DAF collaborated with the Reich’s Com¬ 

missioner for Tabor Supply, Fritz Sauckel, in acquiring and in¬ 

creasing French labor by transferring peacetime businesses into 

war industries and flooding French industrial plants with propa¬ 

ganda. 

In France, as in most of the conquered territories, hundreds of 

Germans worked as labor managers, engineers, and special tech¬ 

nicians to operate factories and armaments industries. Factories in 

the hands of German management were run by iron-fisted workers’ 

delegates (Betriebsobmdnner), who were responsible to the DAF 

and party and whose function was to exploit ruthlessly workers 

for the sake of production. While Nazi propaganda stressed that 

such factories were decorated by the DAF in Germany’s “war 

efficiency competition” and that the factories operated with great 

“cooperation between local [French] workers and the Germans,” 

the opposite was more correct. Few French workers voluntarily 

labored for Nazi managers to the point where there was (as the 

AO claimed) “almost no friction.” 

The party in France also collected food and clothing for dispatch 
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to bombed-out areas of western Germany, distributed ration cards 

and gas masks to German workers, and protected Germans from 

air raids. In a short wave broadcast to Asia, the RPA leader, 

Schmidt-Decker, lauded the Landesgruppe for its collection of 

clothes for the needy in Germany, boasting that “even French 

people contributed voluntarily.”75 By December 1943 the loss of 

qualified party leaders in the war forced the Landesgruppe to draft 

German soldiers occupying France to serve during their free time 

in party offices, and because of heavy Allied air assaults and re¬ 

peated bombing alarms, the Ortsgruppe Paris-Boulogne found it 
impossible to hold party meetings.76 

The Landesgruppe Belgium also searched for methods to increase 

production of local Flemish and Belgian workers. To free mothers 

and fathers to work longer hours for German factories, the party 

established kindergartens and day-care centers, and several thou¬ 

sand Flemish children were sent to Germany for propaganda and 

schooling purposes.77 All Landesgruppen in Europe, however, spent 

the greater part of their time distributing propaganda among 

Germans and foreigners. It had the unenviable task of explaining 

away Germany’s deteriorating situation and of transforming mili¬ 

tary defeats into moral victories. The Landesgruppe Italy tried to 

counter Marshal Badoglio’s overthrow of Mussolini and bombing 

raids on Hamburg and Berlin in the summer of 1943 by emphasiz¬ 

ing that Germany was winning once again in Russia, that Germany 

w'ould firmly resist the Allies in Sicily, and that German armaments 

production would soon be ready to unleash “new German weapons” 

that would destroy the enemy.78 

In France the Landesgruppe argued that Germans must fight 

the war to the bitterest end because it was a racial conflict, pitting 

the “Jewish race and its allies against western culture and civiliza¬ 

tion.” Party radio broadcasts from Paris stressed the evil “alliance 

between Jew-ridden high capitalism of England and the USA 

and the exponents of ‘world revolution,’ Moscow.”79 But as the 

war continued to deteriorate for Germany, efforts to persuade the 

people to believe the propaganda became more difficult. In May 1943 

the Landesgruppe Belgium informed the RPA that many Germans 

no longer respected Germany and that propaganda could do little 

to remedy the situation. Still, the Landesgruppenleiters of Europe 

were frequently called to Berlin for special discussions with Bohle 

and Goebbels on the value of propaganda. In a meeting in Jan¬ 

uary 1944 Goebbels warned them that the coming year would be 
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“a year of difficult battles, but also of greater decisions and success¬ 

es.”80 As 1944 dragged on and the war entered its final phase, 

propaganda of the Landesgruppen clutched at anything that would 

spur exhausted Germans and foreigners to greater sacrifices. 

Although the Allies had landed at Normandy in June and were 

moving rapidly toward Paris, the Landesgruppe France told Ger¬ 

mans that the war had become a Jewish “attack on the nerves” 

and that a “general mobilization of heart” was needed to continue 

the conflict. Allegedly, the party continued, the war had displayed 

the “inferiority of the philosophical position of Bolshevism,” be¬ 

cause Stalin was being forced to unite Communism, Russian na¬ 

tionalism, and Greek Orthodox Catholicism to save his “reign of 

terror.”81 It mattered little to the NSDAP that the Russians had 

broken through the eastern front and were advancing speedily 

toward Germany. 

In some respects the last months of the war brought a perverted 

and carnival-like atmosphere to the work of the Landesgruppe 

France. As Hitler’s Fortress Europe crumbled around France, the 

party busily arranged for symphony concerts in Paris, speakers at 

rallies, flowers and choirs to celebrate Hitler’s birthday, and 

propaganda that worshiped the Fiihrer. Few in the party seemed 

to realize (or to care) that such activities were now totally frivolous 

and could hardly halt the advancing Allies.82 

A similar air of fantasy developed among Germans in eastern 

Europe. There Bohle contributed to their illusions by speaking 

to the Landesgruppe Slovakia in Bratislava in April, and assuring 

his audience that Hitler would still save Germany from Communism 

and “the danger from the east.” Claiming that “over 50,000 

Auslandsdeutschen” had returned to Germany since 1939 to enter 

the German army, he dwelled on his often repeated idea about 

the “eternal value of race and of blood” that must be protected 

among the world’s Germans. Then, to spur his listeners to fight 

on, he warned, prophetically, “Today we recognize that the struggle 

of the Fiihrer can only end with the production of a massive and 

powerful German Reich, or, if success will remain denied to him, 

with the annihilation of the Reich and the obliteration of our na- 

tion.” For several months prior to his address, the Landesgruppe 

Bulgaria had been evacuating Germans from Sofia, and the rescue 

effort could only be continued because of a subsidy from the AO.84 

A striking illustration of the disillusionment in Germany with 

Hitler and the war was the plot to assassinate him on 20 July 1944. 
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Because of the numerous officials from the AA who were implicated 

with the army in the affair, many in the Ministry were quickly 

dismissed from their posts or arrested. Hitler and the NSDAP 

viewed the conspiracy as final confirmation of their age-old sus¬ 

picions about the AA; it had clearly revealed itself to be subversive, 

anti-National Socialist, and “reactionary” in spirit. Goebbels took 

particular delight in the shattered prestige of the AA and demanded 

full control over Germany’s foreign propaganda—a coveted prize that 

had heretofore eluded him. He even went so far as to declare to 

Hitler that the AA lacked the proper “moral qualities” to operate 

foreign propaganda, as, he maintained, the involvement of several 

of its leading members in the assassination plot had shown! 

As an indication of Bohle’s success in establishing himself in 

Himmler’s favor by the end of 1944, the AO was asked by the SS 

and police chief to draft lists of “politically unreliable” diplomats 

who were to be purged. The SD compiled similar records. Even¬ 

tually, after negotiations among the SD, AO, and Personnel Direc¬ 

tor of the AA, Schroder, the lists were reduced.85 Bohle also re¬ 

ported to Himmler that 625 of the 690 higher officials in the AA still 

considered themselves Christians. To the AO leader, who frequently 

proclaimed the incompatibility of the party and Church and who 

urged that his party officials abroad leave the Church, the figures 

spoke for themselves. They were solid proof, he said, of the “inner 

rejection” of National Socialism by most of the Ministry; there was 

little doubt that he was accurate.86 

Just as the war was closing for the Landesgruppen and Germans 

in Europe who had supported Hitler, it began to end rapidly for 

Bohle and the AO Zentrale in Baffin. A tragic symbol was the 

sinking by a Russian submarine in the Baltic Sea of the huge 

German passenger ship Wilhelm Gustloff, named for the Nazi leader 

slain in Switzerland. Over 8,000 German refugees from East Prus¬ 

sia, frantic to escape the Russians, had boarded the ship at Danzig 

and perished in this greatest of all sea disasters. Because of mas¬ 

sive Allied bombing of Berlin, the AO’s offices and Bohle’s family 

were moved to Bad Schandau, a town southeast of the capital on 

the German-Czech border. Bohle saw Hitler for the final time in 

February 1945. Two months later Hitler was dead, a victim of 

suicide as the Russians advanced to within a few blocks of his 

bunker beneath the Reich Chancellery in Berlin. 

But Bohle was kept well informed about the powerful advance of 

the Russians from the east by his Landesgruppenleiter for Croatia, 
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Empting, who had fled for safety to Vienna following the Com¬ 

munist conquest of his country. In a report from Empting (which 

Bohle forwarded to Bormann) at the beginning of March 1945, 

he noted that the Austrian capital was swamped with refugees 

from Hungary and other southeastern states who were fleeing the 

Russians. Bohle, determined to fulfill his functions to the bitter 

end, complained to Bormann about the “public nuisance” which 

these uninvited “southeastern friends” had become for Germans in 

Vienna. Even outside Europe, what was left of the AO’s leadership 

blindly clung to the hope that Germany would reverse the military 

situation. In Tokyo the party leader, Spahn, attacked the naval 

attache at the German Embassy for his alleged defeatism.87 

After ordering two of his aides to burn the AO’s records in the 

Czech mountains, Bohle destroyed his identification papers to avoid 

capture by the Russians, whom he feared and hated. On 2 May he 

fled in an army plane across the Russian lines to Flensburg, home 

of the provisional German government. There, for the last time, he 

saw Himmler, who insisted on being a part of the Flensburg regime. 

But Bohle and the leaders of the new government realized the 
folly of negotiating with the Allies through a ministry that included 

the notorious SS chief. When Bohle tried to reason with Himmler 

in a brief discussion on 4 May, Himmler retorted, “Give me half 

an hour’s talk with General Eisenhower, and I’ll come to terms 

with him because he needs me as the element of order in Ger¬ 

many.” As Bohle laughed at the statement, Himmler met him with a 

chilling stare and walked away.88 Finally, on the afternoon of 23 

May, Bohle surrendered to the American Third Army at Falkenau 

on the Czech border. Among his belongings were a diplomatic pass¬ 

port from Flensburg and a phial of poison.89 The passport and 

poison were symbolic of the alternatives that were now presented 

to the Nazis in their hour of defeat. Bohle chose to live. 
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EPILOGUE: PLEADING GUILTY 

AT NUREMBERG 

With the fall of the curtain on the brutal war and the 

liberation of Europe from Hitler’s barbarism, the Nazi leadership 

and (as many Germans believed) the German nation went on trial 

before the International Tribunal at Nuremberg. In various ways 

the AO, Nazis in party organizations outside Germany, and foreign 

Germans were also placed on trial. They were represented before 

the Tribunal by their political whip for twelve years, Bohle, who 

was tried as a war criminal. The verdict on each remained in¬ 

conclusive, which was not necessarily the result of their being judged 

by the Allies as having done nothing wrong in Hitler’s system, but 

because their activities were dwarfed by the hideous war crimes of 

other Germans. 

Another factor was Bohle’s plea of guilty at Nuremberg and his 

receiving a light prison sentence fof/his role as helmsman of the 

AO. The fact that the AO was a secondary agency in German 

politics also tended to obscure its role in Nazi foreign policy; 

the masses of captured AA files, which contained large numbers of 

AO documents, were not yet completely examined and made 

available to the Nuremberg judges. Nevertheless, the Allied 

prosecution produced evidence linking the AO to Rudolf Hess, 

the AA, the destruction of Austria, and Nazi anti-Semitic policies. 

The Tribunal revealed how the AO collaborated in Hitler’s aggres¬ 

sive policy, pushing Germany into a corner from whence it could 

assert its claims to world power only through war. 

Bohle, following his surrender, was taken with Goring, Ribben- 

trop, and other Nazi leaders to the Allied prison camp at Mondorf- 

les-Bains in Luxemburg, where he remained until the beginning of 
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the Nuremberg trials in November. He was quickly indicted as a 

war criminal and interrogated numerous times.1 Immediately, it 

became apparent that he was far less belligerent toward his captors 

than the other Nazi leaders, and that he was even willing to admit 

he and his cohorts had committed some serious mistakes in follow¬ 

ing Hitler blindly. Before the Tribunal began trying the twenty-one 

major war criminals, he expressed the opinion to interrogators that 

Germany had lost the war because ninety-five percent of the Na¬ 

tional Socialist leaders had no knowledge of the world outside 

Germany or of foreign attitudes and ideas. The history of the Nazi 

party groups abroad supported his contention. On the other hand, he 

possessed as much exposure to foreign attitudes and cultures as 

any National Socialist, but the experience had hardly controlled 

his incredible claims to leadership of Germans in foreign countries 

or prompted him to stop the thoughtless work of his party groups 

abroad. 
He also sought to take the burden of guilt off foreign Germans 

by arguing that they had been “very disciplined, and they always 

did what I advised them” (which was less than correct). He ack¬ 

nowledged that what he had told foreign Germans had often been 

erroneous, that he had misdirected the AO, and that he was “ready 

to admit I made mistakes.”2 Still, he adamantly defended the AO 

against allegations that it had assisted Hitler’s expansion for 

Lebensraum and that it had engaged in espionage. At the end of 

March 1946 he was called at Nuremberg to testify on behalf of his 

former boss, Hess, who had been in an English jail cell since his 

flight in 1941. Responding to charges from the Allied prosecution 

that Hess had used him to erect and control the AO as an instru¬ 

ment for fifth column activities, he maintained (as he had done in 

London in 1937 and Budapest in 1938) that the AO had an “un- 

disputable legality” around the world. The banning of the NSDAP 

from numerous countries and the attack on party members in many 

neutral lands during the war had apparently done little to change 
his mind. 

He also argued that Germans abroad “would certainly be the 

last people who would let themselves be misused as warmongers 

or as conspirators against the peace.” A bit later he added flatly, 

“There is no basis whatsoever for applying the term ‘Fifth Column’ 

to the Auslands-Organisation of the NSDAP.”3 Evidently he was 

more concerned with protecting Hess and himself than with dis¬ 

cussing the extent to which the AO had collaborated with the AA 
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and SS in politicizing German minorities in eastern Europe and 

assisting with the invasions of Poland, Norway, Denmark, and the 

Netherlands. He also chose to ignore the AO’s role in the subversion, 

support of native fascist groups, and the anti-Communist campaign 
of the German government in Latin America. 

Several of his former enemies in the Nazi hierarchy were un¬ 

willing to defend him at Nuremberg. Papen claimed to interrogators 

that it was “well known” that Bohle had ambitions during the war 

of becoming Germany’s Foreign Minister or Minister of Colonies. 

Ribbentrop portrayed Bohle similarly, “He was young, capable and 

anxious to disseminate the National Socialist ideology.” In his 

memoirs, which were published after his execution in 1946, Ribben¬ 

trop noted that Bohle had been a “favorite child” of Hess and that 

the AO “had given me very grave difficulties abroad, especially in 

the first years of my activity as Foreign Minister.”4 

On the heels of the major trial that was completed in October 

1946, other trials were held against leading Nazi figures and Ger¬ 

man industrialists accused of supporting Hitler. Among them was 

Bohle, who was tried beginning in November 1947 with Weizsacker, 

Woermann, Lammers, Keppler, and sixteen other officials in the so- 

called “Ministries Case,” or the United States of America v. Ernst 

von Weizsacker et al. The defendants were arraigned in December, 

and each (including Bohle) entered a plea of “not guilty.” But much 

to the amazement of most of the people associated with the trial, 

Bohle changed his plea to “guilty” on 27 March 1948—the first 

and only Nazi leader to do so. In a statement released to the press, 

he noted, “The Nuremberg courts and courts in the American and 

British zones have handed down verdicts of Guilty for subordinates 

of mine, hence it would be irresponsible on my part to plead ‘Not 

Guilty’ and thereby shift the burden to others.”5 

He was indicted on several counts: planning, initiating, and 

waging aggressive war (count I); conspiracy to commit crimes 

against peace (II); atrocities against German citizens prior to the 

war (IV); atrocities against civilian populations (V); plunder and 

spoliation (VI); and membership in the SS, which the Tribunal 

considered a criminal organization because of its persecution of the 

Jews, operation of the extermination camps, and waging of war 

(VIII). According to his plea in March Bohle requested that counts 

I, II, and VI be withdrawn against him and that he be allowed to 

plead guilty to counts V and VIII (count IV was dropped against 

all defendants so charged in the trial).6 
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Inasmuch as he was the first at Nuremberg to plead guilty, the 

decision was not made lightly, and it was greeted with hostility 

by his former cohorts who had categorically denied any wrong¬ 

doing. Elisabeth Gombel, his defense counselor whom he greatly 

admired and later married, may have urged him to enter a guilty 

plea because she believed that the prosecution possessed a solid 

case against him. The attorney obviously felt a strong attachment 

to her client. In requesting favors from the Tribunal for him, she 

praised his “record of conduct” in prison, and she argued that 

his “general reputation” was “deserving of confidence” of the 

Court and that she was prepared “to accept any personal responsi¬ 

bility desired” for his activities outside the Tribunal or prison.7 

Several other factors weighed heavily on his decision to plead 

guilty; among them were his declining health while in prison since 

1945, his pro-Western attitude, and his apparently sincere belief 

that he and others in the Nazi leadership had been wrong to follow 

Hitler. The move was also encouraged by the prosecution, however, 

which reluctantly agreed to plea bargain with him. Before he 

pleaded guilty and during the prosecution’s presentation of its case 

against him, a conference was held among Gombel, counsel for 

the prosecution, and members of the Tribunal, whereupon Bohle 

proposed to change his plea in exchange for “the withdrawal of 

certain charges on the part of the Prosecution.” The Tribunal 

instructed the prosecution to examine the proposal and “to draw 

up a stipulation in the nature of a bill of particulars setting out the 

specific acts to which the defendant [Bohle] would plead guilty 

and the charges which the Prosecution would withdraw.” 

But arriving at such “a stipulation” proved “to be impossible.” 

Nevertheless, a misunderstanding occurred between Bohle’s 

counsel and the prosecution, which led the latter on 27 May 1948 

to recommend that the Tribunal accept his change of plea. In a 

carefully worded statement that was probably designed to protect the 

prosecution against potential accusations that it had made a deal 

with a Nazi war criminal, the prosecution explained its position 
to the Tribunal: 

It has never been the policy of the Prosecution before any of the 

Nurnberg Tribunals to agree to dismiss charges appearing to the Prosecu¬ 

tion to be well founded in return for a plea of guilty in response to other 

charges. However, it appears that during the conferences referred to 

above certain representations were made by members of the Prosecu- 



PLEADING GUILTY AT NUREMBERG 195 

tion staff on the basis of which counsel for the defendant Bohle may 

have been led to assume that the Prosecution would agree to dismiss 

Counts 1, II and VI of the Indictment, and may have filed his plea of 

guilty on the basis of that assumption. Solely for that reason, and in 

order that the rights of the Defendant Bohle shall not be prejudiced in 

any manner by representations made by the Prosecution, the Prosecution 

herewith respectfully moves that the name of the defendant Bohle be 

withdrawn from Counts I, II and VI of the Indictment. The Prosecution 

will continue to press the charges set forth against the defendant Bohle 

in Counts V and VIII of the Indictment.8 

Thus, either by accident or by design, during the negotiations the 

prosecution gave Bohle the impression that if he pleaded guilty, 

several charges against him would be dropped; when he entered his 

new plea, this was what occurred.9 Yet, the prosecution expressed 

the desire to continue pressing for a conviction of him on counts 

V and VIII. Before the Tribunal could act on his plea and on the 

prosecution’s motion, however, he filed still another plea on 1 June 

1948, maintaining his guilt under count VIII and withdrawing his 
guilty plea under count V. Three days later the Tribunal ordered 

that the charges against him on counts I, II, and VI be dropped 

and that his most recent plea be accepted. 

The effort by the prosecution to convict him on count V failed. 

Gombel, who recognized that the prosecution’s case rested on the 

fact that Bohle had held high offices in several Nazi party organiza¬ 

tions, claimed in her opening defense statement on 23 July 1948 

the he was “for this very reason alone already burdened with 

criminal guilt” in the eyes of his accusers. But she cautioned the 

Tribunal not to assume that such reasoning was valid, maintaining 

that the Court would be committing the same mistake as the Na¬ 

tional Socialists had made. Noting that the Nazis had engaged in 

“reducing life ... to a few typical and radically simplified facts,” 

she compared Bohle’s being “categorized” as a criminal merely 

because he was a Nazi leader to the Nazis refusing to consider 

the Jews as individuals and instead lumping them together into a 

massive group. The lawyer argued that “it is this collective way of 

thinking in its extreme which ultimately prompted criminal brains 

to plan and carry out the ghastly program known as the ‘Final 

Solution of the Jewish Question.’ ” The defense, she therefore main¬ 

tained, “takes the position that the words ‘National Socialist’ and 

‘Criminal’ are not necessarily and ipso facto synonymous.”10 
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Bohle buttressed her appeal when he took the witness stand on 

his own behalf. Following testimony regarding his childhood, pro- 

fessonal and party career, and knowledge (or lack thereof) of foreign 

labor and the Jewish persecution during the war, he made an 

apologia that was almost unheard of at Nuremberg. When asked 

about what had happened to the Jews, he responded: 

Retrospectively, I think that it was undoubtedly one of the most traggic 

fsic] and fundamental mistakes of all of us who held leading positions, 

no matter in what walk of life, to disregard or close our eyes to a 

development which ultimately led to such ghastly conditions. 1 believe 

that many of us who have no inmate [sic] anti-Jewish feelings should 

today frankly admit that the persecution of the Jews in Germany was 

not only, as we have seen, a terrible political error, but . . . that this 

persecution was an insult to human dignity and to the general honesty 

of character for which the Germans formerly were known." 

When questioned about his personal responsibility for the Ger¬ 

man catastrophe, he declared his readiness to accept his share of 

the guilt and expressed a deep desire to help return his defeated 

and war-torn people to a position of moral and cultural respectability 

in the world: 

We know that a low estimate of human life and carelessness to human 

misery is not and never has been a trait of the German character, and 

for that very reason 1 think that we should frankly admit the atrocities 

that have been committed and that have defiled the German name in 

the world .... And I think it is my firm conviction that the world 

will regain its belief in our national honesty, only if we ourselves are 

honest and straightforward in our confessions and thereafter also in our 

will to make amends. 1 think we leading men have this responsibility, 

not only to the victims of these crimes but just as much to the German 

people, as such, who, with or without our participation, were misled 

and misguided and are today, without any fault of their own, outlawed 

in the world.12 

There seems little reason to believe that his admission was not 

sincere or that he was offering a self-justifying apologia in the hope 

that self-accusation would be his best defense. While his remarks 

and guilty plea may have pleased his judges at Nuremberg, his 

behavior hardly made him popular with his own countrymen. But 

if he was basically an honest man wishing to clear his conscience 

by admitting his role in Hitler’s system, he was also guilty of seek- 
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ing to whitewash the German people. By hinting that the Germans 

had been “misled and misguided,” he was shifting the responsibility 

for the evils of Nazism away from the people onto a gang of 

criminals. Like Hitler and most other Nazis, he was a human puzzle 

and one who failed to acknowledge the entire truth. His worshiping 

of the German race remained with him, and it continued to be a 
veil between himself and reality. 

Several weeks later the Tribunal agreed to Bohle’s plea at the 

beginning of June. His sentence, which was administered in April 

1949, was five years in prison; in comparison, three defendants in 

the Ministries Case received twenty or more years in prison, five 

received ten or more years, and several others received seven years. 

According to the judgment, “Bohle’s acts” as head of the Nazi 

party groups outside Germany (and especially his depriving German 

Jews of their livelihood) were “reprehensible from a moral stand¬ 

point,” but in the Tribunal’s view, they “do not come within the 

scope of either count five of the indictment or of the crimes defined 

by the London Charter and Control Council Law No. 10.”13 

By the end of the trial Bohle was a sick and broken man whose 

life had become a testament to the tragedy of the war for numerous 

German leaders and their families. His father had died during the 

war, and property which the family owned in Berlin, the Rhineland, 

and Hanover could not be sold for enough money to support Bohle’s 

sisters and his son.14 Having been in jail since the summer of 

1945, he was granted an early parole from Landsberg prison in 

December 1949. He quickly withdrew to Hamburg, hoping to resume 

the commercial activities in which he had been engaged before 

the Nazis had rescued him from obscurity in 1931. But he found that 

he was anathema to most German firms; some refused to hire him 

because he had been a Nazi leader and tried at Nuremberg, while 

others disliked his being the only official to plead guilty. In March 

1951 he was finally given a job by the South African Research 

Society, and except for a letter to the editor of Die Zeit two years 

later contending (inaccurately) that the AA had included many 

Nazis and that Hess and the NSDAP had nothing to do with his 

appointment to the Ministry, his public life was finished. While on 

a business venture to Diisseldorf he died of a heart attack on 9 

November 1960, the thirty-seventh anniversary of the Hitler 

Putsch in Munich.15 
With his capture and Germany’s defeat came the destruction of 

the remaining Nazi party groups outside Germany that had not been 
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dismantled during the war. In some countries, like Switzerland, 

party leaders were investigated, their homes searched, and many 

were expelled. By 1945 the party’s total membership abroad had 

increased only minimally since 1937, as the war had encouraged 

few foreign Germans to join the NSDAP and Hitler.16 The groups 

abroad and the AO had found impossible their task of forcing the 

world to accept their ideology and leadership. 

In assessing the importance of the foreign party groups in Ger¬ 

man foreign policy, historians have differed greatly. Some, like 

Louis de Jong and the former German diplomat, Erich Kordt, have 

argued that the “practical significance” of the AO “has been vastly 

overestimated,” while several American historians have asserted 

that the organization had “considerable power.” Horst Kiihne, the 

East German scholar, has also argued that the “Auslandsorgani- 

sation of the NSDAP was the sharpest weapon which the German 

imperialists had ever possessed abroad.”17 Perhaps Hans-Adolf 

Jacobsen and Paul Seabury were more correct, however, in stress¬ 

ing that the AO was primarily an “auxiliary instrument” in Ger¬ 

many’s foreign policy, far less significant than the AA but similar 

to the VoMi, APA, DAI, VDA, and Dienststelle Ribbentrop}% 

Judged purely by the sheer numbers in its affiliates abroad, 

the AO was of little consequence; yet, measuring it solely by num¬ 

bers does not present an accurate picture of its impact on foreign 

Germans, the AA, and foreign public opinion. Nor would it re¬ 

veal the incredibly aggressive foreign policy advocated by the Nazi 

party. As illustrated by the history of the AO, the party was totally 

unrestrained, uncompromising, and without any sense of interna¬ 

tional law (except where it served the party’s interests). Hitler, in 

contrast to the super-radical views of his movement on foreign af¬ 

fairs, appears almost cautious and conservative, particularly before 

1939. 

Figures also cannot explain the problems and dilemmas created 

for Germans abroad by the pressure (e.g., threats, reprisals, black¬ 

mail, and withdrawal of German citizenship) exerted on them by 

Nazi groups to support Hitler. The small party groups outside Ger¬ 

many, with their raucous and mindless activities and their public 

declarations of loyalty to Germany, exercised a far greater influence 

on foreign opinion than their membership figures justified. As late 

as March 1948 The New York Times maintained in sensational 

fashion that Bohle was “once chief of the Nazi spy ring in the 

United States.”19 But except for several Latin American states, 
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where Landesgruppen infiltrated military and government circles 

on a limited scale and established close ties to native fascist move¬ 

ments whose goal was to overthrow their governments, the groups 

posed no danger to the world’s security. While organized nicely 

after 1931 according to a theoretical framework in Hamburg, 

Munich, and Berlin, most Landesgruppen were disorganized, un¬ 

disciplined, and rendered even more ineffective by factionalism 
and conflict. 

Yet, particularly in the United States, England, and other west¬ 

ern nations (some of whom outlawed the Nazis), popular opinion 

genuinely viewed the groups as a part of a monolithic political 

system that directly threatened the freedom of foreign nations. 

In this respect, the AO’s work often led to recurrent conflicts with 

the AA’s efforts to maintain normal diplomatic relations abroad. 

Many diplomats in the AA appear to have held the view, sincere 

but erroneous, that the AO was a powerful rival of the Ministry, 

when in fact it was not. While the AO failed in 1937 and 1938 to 

place a large number of National Socialists in the AA and while it 

fell far short of imposing its will on the Ministry, even Ribbentrop 

seemed to fear it as a serious competitor. This was particularly 

true during the war, when his prestige with Hitler declined, his 

daring diplomacy was superceded by military decisions, and his 

confidence was shaken. But in diplomacy Bohle and his subleaders 

were their own worst enemies. He represented the archetypal party 

diplomat; disdaining the regular diplomatic virtues of cooperation 

and compromise, he was loud, demanding, bombastic, and domi¬ 

nated by a totalitarian mind-set that knew only a blind loyalty to 

Hitler and Germany. 2/ 
German foreign policy was guided by decrees from Hitler and 

Ribbentrop, but the execution and enforcement of them depended 

on the everyday work of the AA and other agencies like the AO. 

In short, the AO converted Hitler’s wishes and Nazi ideology re¬ 

garding foreign Germans into policy. But again the significance of 

the AO must not be overemphasized. Although it had authority in 

enforcing and even determining the extent of directives that dealt 

with foreign Germans, it was a second-echelon institution, which 

had little positive effect on decision-making in foreign policy. It 

merely received the major decisions from above and transformed 

them into political and economic activity. 

Viewed solely by itself, the AO was one of many organizations 

competing for political power in Hitler’s totalitarian system. It also 
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represented a means by which ambitious men like Bohle could fur¬ 

ther their own political careers. Even the Landesgruppenleiters, 

many of them exercising party functions long distances from Ger¬ 

many, acted like “little Hitlers” and ruled their groups in a semi- 

feudal, authoritarian manner. In a number of instances, they clashed 

with German mission officials, but while such conflicts centered 

around how Nazi influence should be expanded abroad, they rarely 

involved the issue of whether or not the goal of expansion was cor¬ 

rect. In the latter, unfortunately for the AA, there was frequent 

agreement, which helps to explain the friendly relations among 

some diplomats and party officials. The history of the AO further 

illustrated the freedom of institutions in the Third Reich to operate 

as they pleased until they interfered with the interests of their 

competitors and such meddling came to the attention of Hitler or 

his key leaders. The AO enjoyed considerable freedom until it 

threatened in 1937 and 1938 to disrupt the regular diplomatic work 

of the AA and to destroy completely Germany’s relations with sev¬ 

eral countries. 

As with the entire National Socialist system in Germany, the seed 

of failure for the party organizations abroad lay in their totalitarian 

nature and in the substance of their mission. Germans outside the 

Reich and foreigners were generally unimpressed with the Nazi 

obsession with the mythical division of Jew and German and the 

Darwinian view of life and politics. The party’s groups were never 

able to overcome a fatal weakness—the belief that the world could 

be conquered by the principles of race and power. The idea that 

foreign Germans must be guided and supervised by the NSDAP 

just as Germans at home was another form of Nazi imperialism, 

and the demand rested on the party leaders’ highly deficient knowl¬ 

edge about foreign cultures and international law. The Nazis oper¬ 

ated according to assumptions about foreign relations that were un¬ 

believably naive—no modern foreign policy can survive very long the 

alienation of world opinion or the total lack of consideration of 
such a policy’s consequences. 

Nor can a successful foreign policy be based entirely on the 

premise that what works at home will produce comparable results in 

other nations. The NSDAP tried to nazify Germans abroad and 

foreign citizens by using the same tactics Hitler had exploited to 

conquer Germany: propaganda, extortion, blackmail, reprisals, 

persecution of Jews and non-Aryans, wearing of Nazi uniforms, and 

parading boisterously with swastika flags. Neither Bohle nor his 
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Landesgruppenleiters heeded the advice of Hermann Rauschning, 

the Nazi leader in Danzig who abandoned Hitler, when he re¬ 

marked in 1934 that “outside the Reich only a National Socialism 

adapted to the particular conditions of Germandom in the country 
in question was possible.”20 

The foreign party groups, while contributing to Germany’s poor 

image abroad and to the German war effort, illustrated that the 

German concept of nationality was far more ethnic in nature than 

political. Although Nazi leaders like Bohle claimed otherwise, 

they made no distinction between German citizens and Volksdeut- 

schen in their schemes to mobilize world Germandom for Hitler. 

But in this respect, Hitler had set the example for his underlings 

by advancing the idea in Mein Kampf that “once a German, al¬ 

ways a German,” and that it mattered little whether Germans lived 

inside or outside Germany.21 In his view what was of worldwide 

significance was their preservation through his leadership and 

through their loyalty to the Nazi community of blood and race. 

Despite the success of the Soviet Union in building a totalitarian 

state, Germany’s defeat and Hitler’s destruction were examples of 

the failure of totalitarianism, and particularly of the Gestapo, SS, 

concentration camps, and Nazi party’s racism. To these one may add 

the unsuccessful (and less notorious) party groups in foreign coun¬ 

tries. In view of their relentless work to carry the Third Reich to 

foreign Germans, it was ironical that Hitler could remark while 

“table-talking” at his military headquarters in May 1942, “I am 

firmly opposed to any attempt to export National Socialism. If 

other countries are determined to preserve their democratic systems 

and thus rush to their ruin, so much; the better for us.”22 As with 

much that he discussed or undertook, his theory failed completely 

to resemble reality. 
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Appendix I 
Diagram of the Auslands-Organisation January 1945 

NSDAP Party Chancellery, Martin Bormann 

Source: Bohle Interrogation, M-679/1 /0187, which noted: “This diagram is valid as 

of January, 1945, and was corrected and approved by Ernst Wilhelm Bohle on 

September 8, 1945, before W. W. Blancke.” 
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Appendix II 

The Auslands-Organisation and the Nazi Party Groups 

in Foreign Countries 1935-1945 

* For a diagram of the AO offices in Berlin, see Appendix I. 

** Between 1937 and 1940 there were forty-nine Landesgruppen, or country groups, 

around the world; there were thirty-seven in 1934. 

+ The number of Ortsgruppen in a country group varied with the size of the German 

population administered by the country group. In July 1940, for example, there were 

102 Ortsgruppen in the Landesgruppe Netherlands; in April 1936 the Landesgruppe 

Spain had nearly fifty Ortsgruppen and Stutzpunkle\ and in the spring of 1933 

there were six Ortsgruppen in the United States. 
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Appendix III 

Major Newspapers of the Auslands-Organisation (1937) 

Argentina 

Brazil 

Chile 

Paraguay 

Uruguay 

Costa Rica 

Guatemala 

Mexico 

China 

Netherlands East 

Indies 

Australia 

Kenya-Uganda 

Portuguese West 

Africa 

Italy 

Der Trommler, Buenos Aires 

Deutsche Morgen, Sao Paulo 

Furs Dritte Reich, Porto Alegre 

Westkiisten Beohachter, Santiago 

Deutsche Warte, Asuncion 

Deutsche Wacht, Montevideo 

Mitteilungsblatt der Ortsgruppe San Jose 

de Costa Rica 

NS.-Pionier, Guatemala 

NS.-Herold, Mexico City 

Ostasiatischer Beohachter, Shanghai 

Deutsche Wacht, Batavia 

Die Brucke, Sydney 

Ostafrika-Warte, Kitale 

Rundbrief of the Landkreis Angola 

Italien Beohachter, Rome 

Source: Jacobsen, Nationalsozialistische Aussenpolitik, p. 655; an extensive list of 

German language newspapers worldwide that were pro-Nazi or influenced directly 

by the Germans, is in Das Braune Netz, pp. 33-38. 



NOTES 

PREFACE 

1. For a lengthy list of books published in the 1930s and 1940s warning of the 
danger, see the Library of Congress, The Nazi State, War Crimes and War Criminals, 
compiled by Helen F. Conover for the U.S. Chief of Counsel for the Prosecution of 
Axis Criminality (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1945). Even 
a recent scholarly work has exaggerated the strength of the groups. Note Louis L. 
Snyder, Encyclopedia of the Third Reich (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1976), p. 14, 
which claims the Nazi party “had some 60,000 members in 1939” in Argentina. 

2. The party agency in Germany assigned the task of directing the foreign 
affiliates was the Foreign Organization (Auslands-Organisation, or AO). Its ad¬ 
ministrative history and place in German foreign policy are surveyed by Hans-Adolf 
Jacobsen, Nationalsozialistische Aussenpolitik, 1933-1938 (Frankfurt/Main: Alfred 
Metzner, 1968), pp. 90-160, 495-598. My study is intended to complement his 
pioneering work, especially by stressing the history of the AO’s groups in foreign 
countries, linking their activities more closely^ yvith the fortunes of the AO, and 
dealing with the period after 1938. About the only monograph focusing mainly 
on German Nazis outside Germany, at least to my knowledge, is Herbert S. Levine, 
Hitler’s Free City. A History of the Nazi Party in Danzig, 1925-39 (Chicago: Uni¬ 
versity of Chicago Press, 1973). In this connection, Mussolini’s Fascist party also 
had foreign affiliates and agents; Alan Cassels, Mussolini’s Early Diplomacy 
(Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, 1970), pp. 97, 141, 173-74, 190, 196-98, 
353-54. 

3. One could not agree more with the statement by Klaus Hildebrand, “Hitler’s 
War Aims,” a review article in the Journal of Modern History, 48 (1976), 524, 
“that studies on the foreign policy of a nation-state, seen within the context of 
the international state system, remain one of the indispensable tasks of historiog¬ 

raphy.” 
4. See, for example, Gerhard L. Weinberg, The Foreign Policy of Hitler’s Ger¬ 

many. Diplomatic Revolution in Europe, 1933-36 (Chicago: University of Chicago 

Press, 1970). 
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